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Preface
by Jan van Eijk

Working on a hitherto little studied language has two immediate and deeply
gratifying benefits for the field worker who carries out such research. In
the first place, there is the sheer joy of discovering a wealth of data, thereby
adding not only to our insight into the language under study, but also into
the miracle of human language in general. In the second place, and no less
importantly, the field worker gets to know people who have kept their lan-
guage alive under often very trying circumstances, and have done so with
unfathomably deep resources of courage, forbearance and wisdom, avoid-
ing bitterness in favour of forgiveness, and anger in favour of kindness and
dignity.

The saddest thing that can happen to a field worker, after she or he has
left the field, is when the last fluent speakers pass on without the next gen-
eration having had a chance to learn the language, so the field worker feels
that she or he has not been able to do much more than giving palliative care
to the language.

I feel extraordinarily blessed in that my work on St’dt’'imcets has given
me the opportunity to work with Sam Mitchell, Martina LaRochelle and
Bill Edwards, who gave us the stories that are presented in this book, and
that, after my career path had taken me first to the University of Vic-
toria and since 1989 to First Nations University of Canada, my work on
St’dt’imcets has been continued in more than exemplary fashion by many



Preface

others, including Henry Davis, John Lyon and Rose Whitley, whose careful
stewardship of the texts in this book reflects both their deep understand-
ing of the language and their profound respect for Sam, Martina and Bill,
whose knowledge and gentle wisdom shines through every sentence in the
stories presented here.

It is thus with great joy and profound gratitude that I invite the reader
to enter this treasure house of traditional St’it’imcets literature, in the se-
cure expectation that you will derive as much joy from them as I experienced
when Sam, Martina and Bill first shared these stories with me.

Cuystwi malh matq lki nt’akemniba i skelkekla7lhkalba!
Jan van Eijk

vi



Introduction

by Henry Davis

The fifteen stories included in this collection feature well-known Upper
St’dc’imc storytellers Bill Edwards of Ts’k’waylacw (Pavilion) (Chapters 1-
5), Martina LaR ochelle of Sek’wel’wis (Cayoose Creek) (Chapters 6-7), and
Sam Mitchell of Ciclep (Fountain) (Chapters 8-15). Martina LaRochelle
and Sam Mitchell were recorded by Jan van Eijk in Lillooet in 1972-1973,
and Bill Edwards was recorded by Aert Kuipers in Ts'k’wéylacw in 1974 or
1975.

Several other recordings from this period featuring the same speakers
were first published in van Eijk and Williams (k981), and subsequently in
van EijK (2o15); however, the stories included here remained untranscribed
and untranslated until 2006, when Kerry Coast, editor of the now-defunct
community newspaper The St’dt’imc Runner approached Henry Davis
about including some St’t"imcets stories in the paper.[|

At that time, Davis was working closely on transcription and trans-
lation of previously recorded stories with the late Rose Agnes Whitley,
funded by a Social Sciences and Humanities Research Council (SSHRC)
grant whose mandate was specifically to increase the amount of accessible
textual material for the language. Rose had copies of the Kuipers/van Eijk

"Jan van Eijk did transcribe and translate ‘“The Grizzly’ by Martina LaRochelle,
but his transcription and translation were not widely circulated, and there are no extant
copies remaining.
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Introduction

recordings of Bill Edwards and Martina LaRochelle, and it was Rose who
made the initial transcriptions and translations of the first seven stories
which appear in this volume. These stories, edited and with glossaries sup-
plied by Davis, subsequently appeared in The St’it’imc Runner in the pe-
riod from 2006-2008.

With the demise of the newspaper, and the subsequent ill health of
Rose Whitley, who passed away in December 2011, the project fell into
abeyance until 2014. At that point, van Eijk supplied Davis with digitized
copies of all his Upper St’dt’'imcets material, with a view to transcription
and translation of the remaining unpublished stories. Aside from the sto-
ries which had already appeared in The St’it’imc Runner, these turned out
to consist exclusively of recordings of Sam Mitchell.

John Lyon, who had recently begun postdoctoral work on St’dt’imcets
at Simon Fraser University under a SSHRC Partnership Grant with the Up-
per St’dt’imcets Language, Culture and Education Society (USLCES), then
transcribed, translated and analyzed the Sam Mitchell recordings together
with Davis. Lyon and Davis worked through the texts with van Eijk, as
well as consulting with fluent Upper St’dt’imcets speakers Carl Alexander,
Desmond Peters, Sr., and Linda Redan. Any remaining errors in transcrip-
tion, translation, and analysis are the responsibility of the first author of
this volume, to whom queries should be addressed.

The Format

Chapters 1-8, which include the Bill Edwards and Martina LaR ochelle sto-
ries as well as the one sptakwlh (legend) in the collection, told by Sam
Mitchell, are given in three parts. The firstis an ucwalmicwtsj transcription
of the text, the second an English translation, and the third, a fully analyzed
interlinear gloss. The rest of Sam Mitchell’s stories (Chapters 9-15) diverge

*Ucwalmicwts ‘speech of the people of the land’ is the preferred term amongst the
St’at’imc for their language, though technically it refers to any indigenous language, in
contrast to sdm7ats (‘white people’s speech’). We use it here where no confusion is likely
with other indigenous languages.
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by Henry Davis

from this format, due to Sam’s preferred method of storytelling, in which
he would first tell a story in English and then repeat it in ucwalmicwts.
Partly because Sam’s English versions sometimes include important details
missing from the ucwalmicwts versions, and partly because he is an accom-
plished raconteur in both languages, we give two different English versions
of these stories: Sam’s own English version at the beginning of each chapter,
followed by a literal English translation of the St’it’imcets.

In writing ucwalmicwts, we employ a slightly modified version of the
practical orthography devised by Jan van Eijk for the Lil’'wat First Nation in
the 1980s and subsequently adopted by all St’dt’imcets-speaking communi-
ties. Aside from being easy to use and familiar to speakers, students, and
teachers, the van Eijk alphabet stands in a one-to-one correspondence with
the Americanist Phonemic Alphabet (APA) used by scholars of Salish lan-
guages, to which it can be converted with no loss of information. A conver-
sion chart from the van Eijk alphabet to the APA can be found in Appendix
11, together with a list of minor modifications to the original alphabet.

Since these stories are spoken, recorded and then transcribed, rather
than written, there are occasional false starts, hesitations, and unclear pas-
sages in the text; these occur naturally in any narrative or conversation,
no matter how fluent the speaker is. To mark unclear places in the text,
we employ two conventions. First, we enclose hesitations, false starts, and
other extraneous material in parentheses (...). Second, where we have in-
terpolated material (e.g., missing determiners), we enclose our additions in
square brackets [...]. In the latter case, we have tried to err on the side of
caution: that is, we only add material to the text where we are reasonably
certain the grammar of the language requires it. There are also occasional
passages where in spite of repeated listening by multiple transcribers, we
have been unable to recover the original sense of the ucwalmicwts: we mark
these with footnotes.

In addition, we employ two prosodic conventions, which will be par-
ticularly helpful for those who wish to read the stories out loud (though
of course, there is no substitution for carefully listening to the original au-
dio recordings). Prosody refers to the way in which speakers vary the pitch,
length, and loudness of their utterances.

ix
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The first of these conventions involves stress. A stressed vowel is pro-
nounced as longer, louder, and higher in pitch than an unstressed one. In
general, we follow the van Eijk orthography with respect to stress marking:
each word with more than one vowel carries an (acute) accent, marking the
rightmost primary stress. However, we diverge from this practice in one
case: if the stress shifts onto an enclitic (a small word with no stress of its
own, but which can under certain circumstances attract the stress from a
full word to its left) we write an accent both on the enclitic and on the orig-
inal stressed vowel in the word to its left.

Second, we mark rhetorical lengthening on a vowel by two colons (::).
Rhetorical lengthening is a device often used by traditional Stdt’imc sto-
rytellers to emphasize the duration or intensity of an activity or event. For
example, it occurs frequently with ciz’ ‘to last a long time’, which becomes
ci::n’, meaning ‘to last a really long time’.

Both of these prosodic features are illustrated in the following line from
Martina LaR ochelle’s story ‘Grizzly Bear’ (Chapter 6, p.s8):

(1) Wia::7wit ku7 14::ti7 kém’em, k’winas k4 wi7 et7d sq’it kwas
kem’emwit.

They were there digging roots for a few days.

Rhetorical lengthening is illustrated in the first clause in (f): it serves to
emphasize the length of the time that the women in the story were staying
in the alpine area digging roots, and also perhaps to set the scene of the
events to follow. Stress shift can be seen in the following clause, where the
full word k’winas has an accent on its stressed vowel, as expected, but there
is also a stress-marking accent on the following &’z. The reason for this is
that both £’z and the following wz7 are enclitics which form a single stress
unit with k’winas, allowing k’a to receive primary stress.

After the ucwalmicwts-only section of each story, we give an English
translation. Here we have endeavoured to maintain a balance between ac-
curacy and naturalness, but it is undoubtedly true — and more so for a lan-
guage whose structure is as different from English as that of St’dt’'imcets —
that much islostin translation. For this reason, even if you are a beginner or
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have no experience at all with ucwalmicwts, we still reccommend you try to
follow the stories in their original language, with the audio, before turning
to English.

The last part of each chapter consists of a fully interlinearized analysis
of the text. For those unfamiliar with interlinear glosses, the basic idea is
to break down all words into their smallest identifiable components (7zo7-
phemes) to show how they are put together to create larger units (words
and sentences). This exercise is useful not only for linguists but also for ad-
vanced language students and teachers who are interested in learning how
fluent speakers break down complex words and recombine the morphemes
to create new ones.

In the interlinear gloss, each story is divided into a sequence of num-
bered stanzas for ease of reference: a stanza more or less corresponds to
a sentence, though sometimes longer sentences are broken into two or
more stanzas to facilitate comprehension. Each line of a stanza consists of
two parts, aligned vertically, with an English translation given below corre-
sponding directly to a sentence as given in the English version of the stories.

The first part (the top line) is identical to its counterpart in the
ucwalmicwts-only text, with the exception that (i) the text is broken down
into its component morphemes, and (ii) the morphemes are grouped to-
gether into prosodic words, that is, single stress units: this means that each
prosodic word contains one and only one accented vowel f| Within prosodic
words, bound morphemes (that is, morphemes which cannot stand on their
own) are linked to other morphemes either by hyphens (-) for affixes, which
always attach to the same host, or equal signs (=) for c/itics, which may at-
tach to different hosts. Where it is not easy to segment a word into its com-
ponent morphemes, no boundaries are inserted in the top line, but a (+)
sign is used to link the component morphemes in the second line. This
practice is followed, for example, in cases where two or more morphemes
are fused together, as in auxiliary contractions. Special symbols are used for

*This is an oversimplification from a phonetic point of view: in fact, as shown by
Caldecot{ (2009), when stress shifts to the right, prominence is retained on previously
accented vowels.

xi



Introduction

certain morphological processes which are not easy to represent by a linear
string of morphemes: these include bullet signs (*) for reduplication and
angle brackets <...> for infixation.

In the second part of each line, immediately below and aligned with
the first, each morpheme is given a label. In the case of morphemes with
lexical (as opposed to grammatical) content, irrespective of whether they
are bound or free, the label will correspond to its referent: thus tsitcw, for
example, will be labeled as ‘house’, ¢’/hil as ‘run’ and both skwakst and
-aka7 as ‘hand’. In the case of morphemes with mainly grammatical con-
tent, however, a special set of standardized abbreviations for grammatical
terms are used, largely following the Leipzig Glossing Rules, which is a set
of abbreviations used by linguists when glossing examples in sentences and
texts. By convention, these are written with ‘small caps’: for example, wa7
is glossed 1PFV for ‘imperfective’, and ta is glossed DET for ‘determiner’. A
complete list of abbreviations used for morpheme glosses is given in Ap-
pendix IL.

By way of illustration, here is the same excerpt from Martina
LaRochelle’s ‘Grizzly Bear’ story as in (J), this time in interlinearized for-
mat (stanza 10 on p.62):

(2) (a) win7=wit=ku7 ld::ti7 kém’-em,
(b) be=gp1]=QUuoT at+there[vi§ dig.roots-MID
(a) kKwin=as=k’a=wi7 e=t7u sqit

(b) how.many=fsBjVi=EPI§=EMPH to=thatj1§ day

(a) kwas kem’-em=wit.
(b) PET+NMLZ+[PFV+fPOsy dig.roots-MID=RpI|
(c) “They were there digging roots for a few days.’

The stanza consists of two connected sentences spread over three lines
of text. I have divided each line into (a) and (b) parts for ease of reference;
the English translation is in (c).

xii



by Henry Davis

In the (a) part, morphemes are gathered into eight prosodic words, each
with a single main stress (not marked on sq’it or kwas, since stress marking
is redundant on words with a single vowel.) Each prosodic word contains a
root, the only obligatory element in every word, plus various clitics, affixes,
and ‘fused’ morphemes.

The (b) part labels each morpheme. Clitics, defined here as grammat-
ically independent but prosodically dependent elements, are represented
here by the pronouns =w:t (fp1]) and =as (§sB]V), and the sentence-level
adverbials =kx7 (QuoT)) =k’a (EP1§) and =wi7 (EMpH). The middle
marker -em (M1D]), on the other hand, is a suffix, which is both grammat-
ically and prosodically dependent. Finally, the prosodic words et7# and
kwas are fused forms: kwas, for example, is made up of four different mor-
phemes, with its root, the imperfective auxiliary wa7 (fpFV|), almost com-
pletely obscured on the surface by a cluster of clitics, including a determiner
(PET), the nominalizer (NMLZ), and a subject pronoun (fposg). Though
(most of) the individual parts of the cluster are recognizable, we treat the
whole combination here as a single prosodic word whose component parts
cannot be easily segmented into a linear string of morphemes.

For those of a linguistic bent, itis worth outlining here a few of the more
important analytical decisions we have made in compiling the interlinear
glosses. To start with, where an intransitive verb surfaces with a ‘patient-
oriented” meaning (a distinctive property of Salish languages), we give this
as the basic meaning of the root, essentially following the analysis of Davis
(1997). Thus, \/mays is glossed as ‘get.fixed’, \/gqwez as ‘get.used’, and
V/q’il as ‘get.put.onto.something’. However, unlike Davis (1997), we do
not extend this analysis to all verbs, only to those where a patient-oriented
formisindependently attested: for example, since the putative verb *k’walh
‘to get hired” is not yet attested, we gloss the root v/k’walh as ‘hire’, not
‘get.hired.” Obviously, this decision is provisional: it might be that the rele-
vant patient-oriented verb will one day show up given an appropriate con-
text, in which case our glosses will need to be revised.[|

*See Davis and Matthewson (2ood) for a discussion of this issue.
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Second, we have used the criterion of compositionality in deciding
whether to analyze verb forms into component morphemes. Composition-
ality refers to a transparent meaning relation between the parts of a complex
word. For example, the verb xdt’em ‘to climb a hill’ looks very much like
it consists of the root y/xat’ ‘difficult’ and the middle intransitivizer -em:
however, this combination should yield the meaning ‘to cause difhculty’,
not ‘to climb a hill’ (even if the latter does sometimes entail the former!), so
we treat xdt’em as a lexicalized intransitive verb and do not break it down
further.

Third, following Kroeber (1999) and Davis (kood), we have made a
three-way distinction in our treatment of the nominalizer s. Where the
nominalizer is introduced at the clausal level, we treat it morphologically
as a (pro-)clitic s=; where it is introduced at the predicate level, we treat it
asa prefix s;; but where itis introduced lexically (as part of a noun), we leave
it unsegmented completely. This is not an ideal solution, given that even
the lexical nominalizer displays morphologically independent behaviour (it
never reduplicates, for example): butit does allow us to distinguish between
three different types of nominalization within the limited range of possibil-
ities afforded by standard morpheme boundary symbols.

We hope that even without grasping the function of many of the mor-
phemes themselves, it is possible to understand how an interlinear gloss
like this displays the kind of information necessary to analyze the structure
of words and sentences in ucwalmicwts, as well as illustrating some of the
many analytical issues it raises. Obviously, however, there is much more to
a full analysis than a string of labels: if you are interested in understanding
more of the structure of the language, you should start with Jan van Eijjk’s
(1997) grammar, and pursue further study from there.

The Language

All three storytellers featured here are speakers of the ‘Upper’ or ‘Northern’

dialect of St’dt’imcets. This dialect is referred to as ‘Fountain’ in jvan EijK
(1997) and (po13), but we do not use this term here, because the dialect is

Xiv



by Henry Davis

spoken all over the northern half of S£dt’imc territory, from Tsal’dlh (Sha-
lalth) to Ts’k’wéylacw. Though a ‘dialect’ is always an idealization, because
every community, every family, and in fact even every individual speaker
has their own distinctive grammar, there are certain characteristics which
speakers of the Upper dialect share, and which distinguish their language
from that of Lower St’it’imcets speakers, who occupy the area roughly
from Lil’'wat7ul (Mount Currie), to the south and west. (Nk’'wwdtqwa
(D’Arcy) is a transitional area.) These include differences in pronunciation,
vocabulary, and grammar.

As far as pronunciation is concerned, Upper dialect speakers typically
have ‘higher’ vowels than Lower dialect speakers: their stressed 7 is phonet-
ically [i] rather than [e]; their stressed # is [u], rather than [o]; and their
stressed 4 is [2] or [¢] rather than [a]. In addition, while in the Lower di-
alect the consonants z and z’ retract (lower) the preceding vowel, yielding
for example [Alaz] for £laz’ ‘canoe’, Upper dialect speakers do not, pro-
nouncing the same word as [5&12%]. The consonants z/z’ themselves are
also pronounced differently in the two dialects: the Lower dialect z/Z” is
very lax and lateralized, sometimes sounding almost like a voiced version
of Ih [1]; the Upper dialect pronunciation is much more similar to English
z. However, these differences are all relative; some Upper dialect speakers
have a z which is close to that of Lower dialects speakers, and Bill Edwards,
who was born, raised, and lived all his life in Ts’k’wéylacw, at the extreme
northeastern end of the territory, has a noticeably lowered 4: he often pro-
nounces wa/ ‘be (...ing)" as [wa?] rather than [wz?], for example.

A special case is provided by the ‘present’ and ‘absent’ singular deter-
miners t2/ta and ni/na, respectively. The ‘official’ Lower dialect pronun-
ciation is tz/71, and the ‘official’ Upper dialect pronunciation is ta/7a, but
all three speakers here freely alternate between both. The actual situation
(which also characterizes contemporary speakers) seems to be that while
Lower dialect speakers consistently use ¢2/71, Upper dialect speakers use
either ti/ni or ta/na.

Distinctive Upper St’dt’imcets vocabulary items include sm#lhats and
its diminutive form smém lhats for ‘woman’ and ‘girl’, respectively, as op-
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posed to the Lower dialect forms sydqtsa7 and syéy’gtsa7; ilhen rather than
q’a7 for ‘eat’; tayt rather than q’7dl’men for ‘hungry’; and qw(e)nsixw
rather than dolsem for ‘sick’. Unsurprisingly, all of these Upper di-
alect forms resemble their counterparts in neighbouring Scwdpemcets
(the Shuswap language), whereas the vocabulary of the Lower dialect has
had more influence from the Central (Coast) Salish languages Sxzm’is
(Squamish) and Tsetcwdwt (Sto:lo/Upriver Halkomelem). In fact, Sam
Mitchell spoke Scwipmecets, as evidenced by the sprinkling of Scwédpme-
cets words in the story of “The Woman who Mistook a Black Man for The
Devil’, which takes place in Shuswap territory, as does much of the action
in the long narrative of “The Outlaws’.

The most characteristic grammatical difference between Upper and
Lower St’dt’imcets is in the use of contracted forms with combinations of
determiners, the nominalizer s= and the auxiliary wa7. In general, contrac-
tions used by Upper St’dt’imcets speakers retain the nominalizer and associ-
ated possessive subject marking, whereas Lower St’dt’'imcets speakers often
omit the nominalizer, and sometimes substitute subjunctive for possessive
subject marking: thus we have e.g. tenswd (determiner + first person sin-
gular possessive subject + nominalizer + wa7 + existential enclitic) in the
Upper dialect, but tsdna (determiner + nominalizer + wa7 + first person
singular subjunctive subject + existential enclitic) in the Lower dialect; and
kwelbkdlh (determiner + nominalizer + wa7 + first person plural possessive
subject) in the Upper dialect, but kwat (determiner + nominalizer + wa7
+ first person plural subjunctive subject) in the Lower dialect. A particu-
larly striking example of this trend is the use of kan, kacw, kalh and kal’ap
in Lower St’4c’imcets as alternatives to wd/lbkan, wi7lbkacw, wi7lbkalh
and wa7lbkal ‘ap, respectively, which are used in both dialects; in the Lower
St’at’imcets contraction, wa7 is simply deleted altogether, though its mean-
ing is retained.

As a rule, all of the speakers here employ Upper St’dt’imcets rather
than Lower St’dt’'imcets contracted forms, although there are a couple of
surprising exceptions in the Bill Edwards stories. In ‘Another Story about
my Childhood’, Bill describes the events leading up to a car crash using the
Lower St’4t’'imcets form kwat:
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(3) ...20 kwat
DETHNMLZ+PFV+PL 53TV
ka-siw-lec-a...
C1rd-go.off .to.the.sideAUTCIR]

‘...we weren’t able to get off the road, ...’ (stanza 13, p. 27)

Andin ‘Bill and his Father’, we find a characteristic Lower St’dt’imcets ques-
tion:

(4) kacw  kdn-em?
Plsd.sB] whether-MID|

‘What are you doing?’ (stanza 34, p. 42)

As already mentioned, Bill Edwards was from Ts’k’wdylacw, at the
northeastern periphery of St’dt’imc territory, which in the not too dis-
tant past was Scwipemcets-speaking. This makes it puzzling as to why his
speech should show more Lower St’dt’imcets influence than that of either
Sam Mitchell or Martina LaRochelle. One possibility is that his family lin-
eage had an influence; though Bill’s father (Francis Edwards) was also from
Ts’k’wiylacw, his grandfather originally came from Sechelt, and it is pos-
sible that the family retained some characteristics of Central (Coast) Salish
speech.

Aside from dialect differences, learners who are used to pedagogically
‘clean’ material will also notice a number of characteristics of fluent con-
nected speech in these narratives which are often missing from sentences
presented in isolation. One of the most important of these is that con-
nected speech uses more ‘shortcuts’ in the form of contractions and dele-
tions. For example, determiners are generally taken to be obligatory on
arguments in St’dc’imcets, but in fast or casual speech, the unmarked de-
terminer t2=/ta= is frequently dropped (virtually always when it precedes
an 72- prefix). When speaking more slowly or formally, speakers will restore
the missing determiner, and even in fast speech its presence can be detected
by its accompanying existential enclitic =a, which is never dropped.
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There are also some elements which appear far more frequently in nar-
rative contexts than in isolated sentences. Most notable amongst these are
locative adverbs, particularly /iti7 and kdti7, meaning ‘at that place’ and
‘around that place’, respectively. These elements are used not only in their
literal sense, but also more abstractly to anchor a narrative to an abstract
space involving participants in an event. Their use is characteristic of highly
fluent speakers, and very tricky for language learners to grasp: the best way
to learn how to use them is simply to listen to as many narratives as possible.

The Stories

This volume includes fourteen sgwégwel’ (broadly, ‘true stories’) and one
sptakwlh (‘legend’) ]| Perhaps the most striking thing about these stories is
how much they reveal the character of the individual storytellers. This is
partly a matter of content and partly of style.

Bill Edwards focuses on incidents in his own life, from his childhood to
his young adult days. The first two of his stories ‘How Bill got his Name’
and ‘Apples’ both take place at residential school, but rather than simply
adding to the catalogue of misery and abuse that took place there, Bill man-
ages to use humor to illuminate in a particularly poignant way the experi-
ence of a small boy taken from his home and family, and plunged into an
alien culture and language. Details such as how he raises both hands in-
stead of one when told to put his hand up on his first arrival at school, and
how he happily follows along with a group of boys about to be beaten for
stealing apples, because ‘apples’ is the only English word he knows, show
us through a child’s eyes exactly how strange and heartless the residential
school system was for generations of First Nations students, in a way that
bald facts cannot.

The other three Bill Edwards stories all show the same gentle, self-
deprecating sense of humor as his residential school reminiscences. In

>The reason for the preponderance of sqgwégwel’ over sptakwlh in this volume is
that most of the sptakwlh recorded by van Eijk and Kuipers have already appeared in
van Eijk and Williamg (1981) and yan EijK (2013).
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‘Another Story about my Childhood’, he manages to turn a potentially
lethal car-crash into a tribute to his mother, to whom he could not lie;
in ‘Bill and his Father’, he recounts an all-night walk home from Lillooet
to Ts’k’wéylacw in which he and his father take turns keeping each other
awake, in the process indirectly conveying the depth of their affection for
each other; and in “The Dance at Fountain’, an ill-fated attempt to attend a
dance becomes a kind of buddy story, with Bill and his partner dancing the
‘Home Waltz’ together after riding through the night and finally limping
into Céclep just as the dance ends.

There are only two relatively short stories here from Martina
LaRochelle, but both show her consummate skill as a storyteller, and the
middle ground her stories often occupy between sqwéqwel’ and sptakwlh.
The first, “The Grizzly Bear’, is a well-known Upper St’dt’imc story; an-
other version is told by Carl Alexander, published in Alexander et al] (2016).
While Carllocates the action on Mission Ridge, Martina sets itin Nlhdxten,
the area around Duffey Lake. The details of the two versions and the moral
of the story are the same, though Carl spells out the moral, while Martina
leaves it implicit.

Martina’s second story, ‘August Peter,” is particularly effective at cap-
turing the connection between the natural and supernatural that is an in-
tegral part of the traditional St’4t’imc world view. The story opens with a
‘shost owl’ (nkcwans, probably a Saw-whet Owl: see Davis and van EjjK,
2014)), whose appearance presages imminent death. In spite of the fact that
Martina’s brother shoots the owl, the inevitable death takes place, as Au-
gust Peter accidentally shoots himself while crossing a snow slide high in
the mountains. The story ends with the difficult job of finding and bring-
ing the body home.

The majority of the sgwéqwel’ in this collection, as well as the sole sp-
takwlh, are told by Sam Mitchell of Ciclep, who, along with Charlie Mack
and Baptiste Ritchie of Lil’'wat71l, was one of the trio of famous storytellers
who spearheaded the revival of the ucwalmicwts oral tradition in the 1960s
and 1970s, working first with Randy Bouchard and then with Jan van Eijk.

“The Abandoned Boy’ is, as far as we can tell, the only sptakwlh which
Sam recorded; as Jan van Eijk recollects, he was generally more interested
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in documenting real life adventures than in retelling legends. In fact, this
is one of the best known Upper St’4t’imc sptakwlh: another full version
by Martina LaRochelle is published in yan Eijk and Williamg (1981) and
van EijK (ro1s), and the story is also referred to in Beverley Frank’s auto-
biographical narrative, published in Matthewson (zoos). Sam’s version of
the story, while generally close to Martina’s, differs in some interesting de-
tails: most notably, the Sun (snégwem) is a supernatural intervener in the
action, trading a magic net for the magpie skin cloak that the boy’s grand-
mother has made for him. The moral (that lazy boys often turn into chiefs
when they grow up) is also unique to Sam’s retelling.

The other seven stories which Sam recounts here are all sgwégwel’, and
illustrate the full range of his skill as a raconteur, both in English and in
ucwalmicwts. Four of them, including the long narrative of “The Outlaws’
as well as the stories of ‘Frank Gott’, ‘Big Frank’, and “The Man who Mur-
dered the Campers’, are true crime stories of the Wild West, replete with
murder and mayhem - and an impressive body count.

In fact, the stories of “The Outlaws’ and of ‘Frank Gott’ are fairly well
documented elsewhere, partly because both concern the cases of murder
of colonial law enforcement officers by indigenous people. Comparison of
Sam’s versions of these stories with both contemporary and modern-day
retellings is instructive in a number of ways.

“The Outlaws’ pieces together a complex sequence of events from eye-
witness accounts, beginning with the unsolved murder of a teamster near
Clinton, leading to two more murders and an extensive manhunt all over
the southern Cariboo, and culminating in the trial and conviction of the
outlaws Paul Spintlum, who was hung in December 1913, and Moses Paul
(Qdgqis), who was sentenced to life imprisonment. Sam’s narrative differs
from the ‘official’ story, which is largely based on testimony from the trial,
in three important respects. First, it is based on interviews (either at first
or second hand) with many of the actual participants in the story. Second,
it embodies an indigenous perspective on events that have otherwise been
viewed almost exclusively through the lens of the colonial government and
its law enforcement agencies. And third, it is enhanced by the skills Sam
Mitchell inherited from the pre-existing St’ati’mc oral tradition.
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As far as the first point is concerned, since it is based on personal rec-
ollection, sometimes long after the events themselves took place, Sam’s ver-
sion of the story gets some details wrong. For example, he overestimates the
time the outlaws spent on the run, claiming at one point that it was four or
five years, when in fact it was less than two; and he pegs the government re-
ward as four thousand dollars, when contemporary posters have it as three ]
On the other hand, Sam’s version contains many incidents and details miss-
ing entirely from the official story, including the way in which the outlaws
outwitted the trackers pursuing them by alternately riding and walking,
stealing horses and hanging saddles in the bush to use when they needed
them, and how they fooled the authorities guarding the bridges across the
Fraser River by dressing as old women in skirts which they had stolen from
a washing line.

As far as narrative perspective is concerned, Sam is notably even-
handed, in contrast to other accounts (both contemporary and modern),
which largely take the side of the authorities. For example, the most
comprehensive modern account, that of ex-provincial police officer Ce-
cil Clark (2014) voices Constable McMillan’s suspicions (never confirmed)
that Spintlum must have sprung Moses from jail, because he had been
seen buying groceries and ammunition at a nearby store, while in contrast
Sam comments drily (in ucwalmicwts, editors’ translation) that “...since he
[Spintlum] was there at the time, and the white people always blamed the
Indians, they said it was him...”.

In the same vein, contemporary newspaper accounts of the trial are lit-
tered with disparaging remarks about the outlaws: The San Francisco Call
of June 29th 1913, reporting on the verdict at the Spintlum trial, remarks that
“Stolidly, rather than stoically, the Indian took the verdict and sentence.
His Indian cunning to the last made him pretend he did not understand the
words of the judge...”. In contrast, Sam takes no side (though he does ap-
pear to take a certain pleasure in recounting how thoroughly the fugitives

°It should also be pointed out that Clark’s (2014) account is not free of error. In fact,
he ends up hanging the wrong man, claiming incorrectly that Moses Paul was executed
and Paul Spintlum sentenced to life imprisonment.
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manage to outwit the government). In fact, if there are any heroes in his
version of the story, it is neither the outlaws nor the police, but ‘Old Ma-
jor’, the West Pavilion chief who eventually persuades the outlaws to give
themselves up peacefully, and uses his own money to pay for their lawyers.

Sam’s most important contribution to the story, however, is his ability
to vividly dramatize events, a skill which derives directly from his immer-
sion in the St’dt’imc oral tradition. Drawing on the eyewitness accounts
of his sources, he gives a sense of immediacy to the narrative by including
details which could only come from direct participants in the action, such
as the bacon and eggs still sizzling in the pan as the trackers just miss their
quarry, and the twitching face of the lead tracker, Tom Evans, as he loses
his nerve at a crucial point in the pursuit. Sam further enlivens his account
with a series of directly reported dialogues, both serious (the encounter be-
tween Spintlum and Jack McMillan which culminates in the former telling
the latter: “Jack McMillan, next time I seen you in the bush, you’re gonna
be a dead man.”) and comic (Cultus Jack’s conversation with Judge Mor-
rison at the trial about the origin of his name provides light relief for the
deadly serious business at hand.). The result is that the raw material of the
narrative is transformed into a dramatic recreation, in much the same way
that traditional storytellers made stories come alive in the older St’4t’imc
oral tradition.

The other well-known story recounted here by Sam Mitchell is that of
Frank Gott, who is something of a legend in the Lillooet area, and is com-
memorated by both a mountain (Gott Peak) and a creek (Gott Creek).]] In
fact, Gott was already alocal hero when he committed the murder of Albert
“Bert” Farey, a provincial game warden and ex-provincial policeman. Gott
was one of the oldest veterans of the First World War, having volunteered
as part of the British Columbia Battalion of the Canadian Expeditionary
Force in 1916 when he was over 6o years of age. He had dyed his hair to fool
the recruiting officers and pretended to be 47, which was the maximum age
for recruitment. He served with distinction as a sniper before he was sent

”And even the subject of a local ballad: see
https://www.youtube.com/watch?v=70zKW3qmLWs.
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home, much to his chagrin, apparently because he had contracted tuber-
culosis (Conradi, boid). He then became a well-known hunting guide in
the Lillooet area, but fell foul of the authorities over what they considered
illegal hunting, leading to the fatal confrontation with Farey.

As with “The Outlaws’, Sam’s version of ‘Frank Gott’ agrees in sub-
stance with other accounts, though there are discrepancies in detail. In par-
ticular, Sam identifies the murdered game warden as ‘Frank Perry’: ‘Perry’
probably comes from the St’dt’ imcets pronunciation of Farey, which would
be ‘Pali’, but it’s hard to say where he got ‘Frank’ from. In addition, Sam
dates the murder to 1933, a year later than it actually took place.

However, the most interesting difference between Sam’s version and
other accounts, such as that of Cecil Clark (1986), lies in their differing treat-
ment of the fatal encounter between Frank Gottand Albert Farey. In Sam’s
dramatic recreation, Frank twice warns the game warden to leave his kill
alone, but ‘Perry’ just laughs in his face; in Clark’s version, Gott shoots Farey
in the back without warning. Which of these versions the listener/reader
believes makes all the difference: in one version, Gott is an old, proud war-
rior exasperated beyond endurance by the harassment of a vindictive game
warden; in the other, he is a cold-blooded killer taking revenge for a past
grudge by shooting a defenceless officer in the back. In fact, Sam cites cir-
cumstantial evidence that, contrary to official reports (for example, Game
Commissioner A. Bryan Williams’ posthumous assessment of Farey as “...a
popular officer with a splendid war and peacetime recordf]), Farey may
have been over-zealous in carrying out his duties, particularly when dealing
with indigenous people. In the English version of his story, Sam recounts
that ‘Perry’ was invited to supper by a woman who had just caught a fish
in a creek oft the Bridge River, and after the meal, promptly arrested and
jailed her because the fish was undersized. Once again, Sam’s tcwalmicw
perspective provides a valuable corrective to history that is otherwise almost
invariably written from a colonialist viewpoint.

From Farey’s memorial page on the website ‘Officer Down’: http://canada.
odmp.org/officer/681-game-warden-albert-edward-farey.
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Not all of the Sam Mitchell sgwéqwel” represented here involve crime
and retribution: three stories are in a lighter vein, and two of them touch on
another of Sam’s favourite themes, the ‘ignorance’ - though we might more
accurately call itinnocence — of First Nations people when dealing with the
modern world. In the story Johnny Milgaw’, the protagonist is hit by a car
and wakes up in what he thinks must be heaven, though it turns out to be
a hospital; and in ‘the Woman who Mistook a Black Man for The Devil’,
which takes place in Sewdpmec territory, a woman who encounters a black
person for the first time believes he must be The Devil, and desperately tries
to chase him away by fervent prayer.

Overall, the stories here, ranging from tragedy to history to comedy,
and from whimsy to high drama, reveal the richness and variety of St’4t’imc
language and culture in a period of great challenge and change. We hope
they will give insight into recent S’dt’imc history, and inspire new gen-
erations of St’dt’imc as they, too, come to terms with the challenges and
changes of the modern world.
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Maps of Place Names

The following five maps indicate the approximate locations of all place

names mentioned in this collection of narratives. Fig.

Note that we have included ucwalmicwts place names and pronun-

ciations here only when they are used in the text. This means that we

have made no attempt to translate English names used in the stories into

ucwalmicwts, even where an ucwalmicwts equivalent exists: for example,
we use Lytton rather than t’egemtsin. In addition, where two pronuncia-
tions for an ucwalmicwts name are attested, we include only the one men-
tioned in the stories: thus, we employ k’emlsips for Kamloops rather than

the alternative tk’emlips.

1. askrdop (Ashcroft)

2. Beaver Dam*

4. ciclep (“brow of the hill”, Fountain)

5. Canoe Creek

7. Kemlaps (Kamloops)

8. kwlii7 (“green place”, any green alpine area)

9. Leon’s Creek
1. Meadow Lake*

13. mule (“wood”)
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4.

Is.

16.

17.
18.

19.
20.

21.

22.
23.
24.
25.
26.
27.
28.
29.
30.

31.
32.
33.

necnactdm’ (“flat on top”, Chasm)

New Westminster

nq’ipqw*

nsat’dtqwa? (Fraser River)

ntsew’tsew entsutten (“thrashing-about place”)
nxwisten (Bridge River Reserve)

pelhtiq’t (“has white earth,” Kelley Creek Reserve)
Porcupine Creek

q’dqel’cen* (a fishing rock, where the outlaws stole the canoe)
qém’qem’ (Upper Bridge River Valley)

geqdyten™*

sat’ (Lillooet)

Seattle

sek’wel’'wis (Cayoose Creek)

Spence’s Bridge

ta tsitewsa sTdyka (Mosquito Jim’s place)

steq (“logjam”, Duffey Lake)

vitqet (12-mile / Lillooet Reserve)

ts’k’wéylacw (Pavilion)

Vashon Island

*possible location given

**approximate location given
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Map data courtesy of LDEO-Columbia, NSE, NOAA, SIO, U.S. Naby NGA, GEBCO;
Image courtesy of Landsat, Google. 2016

Figure 1: Wide overview map with locations
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Map courtesy of Google, Landsat, Province of British Columbia, <2016

Figure 2: Overview map of detail area maps

Map courtesy of Google, District of Lillooet, Province of British Columbia, 2016

Map 1: Aerial view of Lillooet and the Fraser River
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Map 2: Detailed map with locations
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Map courtesy of Google, Landsat, Province of British Columbia, 2016

Map 3: Expanded detailed map with locations

XXXii



Part |

Stories from Bill Edwards






CHAPTER I

Bill nskwatsitsa
Bill Is My Name

. St’at’imcets

Icin’as, iwdn twéww'et, skéla7s nspapt skul, aoz t’'u7 kiti7 kwa... kwisu
qan’imens ku sdm7ats. Ucwalmicwts, a0z kwenswd qan’im snukws i
tsicwan aylh skul.

I tsicwan aylh skul 14ti7, wa7, tsicwkalh ekw7una ltswisa k’a gay’twit i
twéww'eta. Sketskitsleckalh plan tikem. Kaq’ila ta skukwpi7lhkalha k’a,
naplit, xzum sqaycw. Wa7 qwel'qwal’él’t kdti7, wa7 qwal’tt, catakd7em
telh i tewtwéwweta. Wa7lhkan 4ti7 skitslec, wa7 aylh 4ti7 ta wa7 skitslec
nsq’uta, tsintsas:

“Catakd7em!”

Gee, catakd7emlhkan, tiwasdka7. Q’tta cwilh t'u7 séna7 skwakst ts7a
ku cdtan’acw, k’dmalh tqwaw’s lhas kacit.skana nskwiksta. Sdwenlhkan ta
npédotenha:

“Kénem aylh nswa catakd7em?”

“0O,” tsuntsas, “Wa7 siawlhen lhswitas ku skwdtsitssu. Wa7 ken-
skwincitas i skwitsitssa i tsitsela t'iq.” Aylh l4ti7 nswa escdtaka?.

T’iq ta naplita, wa7 qwal’at 14ti7.
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“Cuy sqwilen ta skwitsitswa,” tstintsas l4ti7 wa7 nsq’ata.

Gee, wi7lhkan ptinusem:

“Switas k’4 malh ku nskwitsits, switas k’4 malh ku nskwitsits?”

Ao kwenswi zewiten. Wa7lhkan wa7 zewiten kw sEdwards ta dw’ta
nskwitsits, tsukw t'u7 ta wa7 zewdtenan. Ti kél7a malh skwitsits kaxléqa
lta nq’dmgqena, Bi/l. Nilh t'u7 stsinan:

“Bill Edwards.” Nilh malh aylh nswa?7.

Wia7lhkalh aylh skul pdla7 k’a sxetspdsqet, metscalstumulem. Tak aylh
ta twéww'eta ta wa7 win’acw es7énts, nilh t'u7 smetscitsas, metscitsas l4ti7,
sqwalenan i nslalil'tema kw nsplan wa7 tsicw. Gee, wi7lhkan tsut aylh
lhkdnsa lhkwanenstwitas k’a ta pipha, tsatwit k’a:

“Nilh k’a wa7 sxek wa7 sBill Ihkansa.” Wa7 aylh... nilh malh aylh sBi/]
1hl4ni7 t'u7, t'u wa7 lhkdnsa. Ao kiti7 swat ku zewatentili, zwitenas ku
stexw nskwitsits.

“Nilh ta téxwa nskwitsits,” kan tsun, “nilh wa7 sFrancis.” Francis ta
stéxwa nskwitsits, t'u7 aoz tu7 kdti7 put kwas cw7it kwa zewatentéli ti7.
Bill ti7 ta wa7 nskwitsits papt. Tsukw ti7.
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.2 English

A long time ago when I was a boy, before I went to school, you didn’t hear
any English. Just ucwalmicwts: I didn’t understand anything else when I
went to school.

When I got to school, we went to the boys’ dormitory. We were all lying
there on our beds. Our supervisor came up; he was a priest, a big man. He
was talking, and the boys raised their hands.

I was lying there, and there was a boy lying next to me who told me:
“Put up your hand!”

Gee, I put up both my hands. You were only supposed to raise one
hand, but I went and put them both up. I asked my partner:

“Why did I raise my hands?”

“Oh,” he told me, “He was asking for your name. He wants to get the
names of the new arrivals.” So I kept my hands up.

The priest came over and was talking.

“Go ahead and tell him your name,” said the boy next to me.

“Gee,” I thought, “I wonder what my name is: whatever can it be?” I
didn’tknow it. I knew my last name was Edwards, but that’s all Tknew. The
very first name that popped into my head was Bill. So, I said to him:

“Bill Edwards.” And so that’s who I am.

About a week later we were told to write home to our parents. There
was a boy like me, and he did the writing for me. I told my parents that I
had arrived at the school. I still think today that when they got my letter
they must have thought:

“He must be Bill now, I guess.” So from then on I was Bill, and I am
still Bill now.

Nobody knows what my real name is. “My real name...,” I tell them,
“is Francis.” My real name is Francis, but only a few people know that. I’ve
always just been Bill. That’s all!
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1.3 Interlinear Gloss

(1) i=cin’=as, i=win
when PAsT=long.time=fsB]V] when PAST=[PFV+{sG[sB]V]
twéwwet, [s]-kéla7-s n=s=papt
boy NMLZ-firstgposy [5G Pos§=NMLZ=always
skul,  doz=t'u7 kati7 kwa...
school NEG=EXCI| around+there[vi§ PDET+IPFV
kwiésu gan’im-ens
DPET+HNMLZ+[PFV+pFG.Posy  hearpIR
ku=sdm7a-ts.

pPET=white.person-mouth

A long time ago when I was a boy, before I went to school, you

didn’t hear any English.
(2) ucwalmicw-ts, aoz
indigenous.person-mouth NEG
kwenswi qan’im s-nukw-s
DPET+HfsGPosy+NMLZ+[PFY hear NMLZ-other-gposy
i=tsicw=an aylh  skul.

when pAsT=get.there=jlsd.sBJV] then school

Just ucwalmicwts: I didn’t understand anything else when I went
to school.
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(3) [i]=tsicw=an aylh  skul l4ti7,
when pAsT=get.there=jlsdsBJY] then school at+therelvig
wa7, tsicw=kalh e=kw70-[w]na
get.there=ffp1lfB]  to=that[NVI§-precisely
I=tswdsa=k’a guy’t=wit
at=PET+NMLZ+[PFV+JPOSY+HEXIY=EPIY sleep=fp1]
i=twéww'et=a.
PIBET-boy—F13

When I got to school, we went to the boys’ dormitory.

(4) s-kets-kits-lec=kalh plan  tdkem.
STATHTRED!get.laid.down-AUT|=jfp1l sB] already all

We were all lying there on our beds.

(s) (ka]-q’il-a
[c1rd-get.Jaid.on.something.flat-CIRg
ta=skukwpi7-lhkdlh=a=k’, naplit, xzum sqaycw.
DET=chief-{p1] POS§=EXI§=[EPI§ priest big  man

Our supervisor came up; he was a priest, a big man.

(6) wa7  qwel*qwal™élt  kétd7, wa7  qwal’ut,
[PFV] [TRED'talkfCRED around+there 1y speak
cat-akd7-em=telh i=tew*twéww'et=a.

raise-hand-MID=at.that.time [PI.DET=RED*boy=EX1g
He was talking, and the boys raised their hands.



Bill nskwatsitsa

(7) wd7=Ilhkan 4ti7 s-kits-lec,
[PFvi=lsd.fB] to+there[viy [TAT-get.laid.down{fauT
wa7 aylh 4ti7 (wa7...)

be then to+there V1§
ta=wa7=s-kits-lec
DPET=[PFVi=FTAT-get.laid.down-aUT
n-sq’at=a, tstin-ts-as,
FaFoss one.ide-fXTy  say+BIRSGEHERT
“cat-akd7-em!”
raise-hand-MID|

I was lying there, and there was a boy lying next to me who told

me, “Put up your hand!”

(8) gee, cat-akd7-em=lhkan, tiwas-dka7.
gee raise-hand-MID=ffsdsB] both-hand
Gee, I put up both my hands.

(9) q'ut=a=cwilh=t'u7 séna7 skwakst  ts7a
one.side=p=after.all=gxc1] though hand this.j1g
ku=cit-an’-acw, kK’dmalh  cqw-aw’s
DPET=liftjpIR-PSGERG however together-collective
lhas [ka]-cit-s=kan-a’

comp+PFV+EsB]V  [CIRd-lift-CAUS=}5 G SBJHCIRG
[i]=n-skwikst=a.
PI.PET= G posg-hand=Ex1g

You were only supposed to raise one hand, but I went and put

them both up.

'The expected form of [has kacdt.skana in this stanza is either lhen kacdt.sa or
lbhkacdt.sana.
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(10) sdw-en=lhkan ta=n-piotenh=a, “kdn-em
sk PIR-BGFE] PET-BQFOSS partner=EXTy do.whac i)
aylh nswa cat-akd7-em?”

then [sgPOSI+HNMLZ+PFV] raise-hand{MID|
I asked my partner, “Why did I raise my hands?”

(1) “0,”  tstin-ts-as, “wa7 siwlhen
oh tell+p1R-fs 4 [oBJ-BERG ask.question+pIR
lh=swit=as ku=skwitsits-su.”

Eong-who=fFE] BET-namefFaFosy

“Oh,” he told me, “He was asking for your name.”

(r2) “wa7  kens-kwin-cit-as i=skwatsits-s=a
wantco-take fNDHEERG  POPET-name fFO53-EXTY
i=tsitsel=a viq.”

PI.DET=new= arrive

“He wants to get the names of the new arrivals.”

(13) aylh  14ti7 nswa es-cit-aka7.
then at+there 1y [GPos§+HNMLZA+[PFY [TAT-raise-hand
So I kept my hands up.

(14)  tiq  ta=naplit=a, wa7 qwalut l4d7.

arrive [DETj=priest=EXIS speak  at+there[V1g

The priest came over and was talking.
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(15)

(17)

I0

“cuy sqwial’-en ta=skwitsits-sw=a,”
goon  reporcpI  PET-name fFa oS3
tsdn-ts-as l4ti7 wa7
tell+PIRJoBJJERG  at+there 1y
n-sq’ut=a.

flsgposg-one.side=EX1g

“Go ahead and tell him your name,” said the boy next to me.

“gee,” wi7=lhkan  ptinus-em, “swat=as=k’d=malh
gee [PFV=jsdB] thinkMID who=psB]Vi=EPI§=[ADHORT
ku=n-skwitsits, swat=as=k’d=malh
PET=jsg[posg-name  who=fsB]V|=EPI§=ADHORT]
ku=n-skwdtsits?”

BET-GFosS name

“Gee,” I thought, “I wonder what my name is, whatever canitbe?”

a0  kwenswi zewat-en.
NEG DET+HFG Posy+HNMLZ+[PFY be.known-pIR

I didn’t know it.

wi7=lhkan wa7  zewit-en kw=s=Edwards
Fr-afs] BF beknownbH PET-FMIZ-Edwards
ta=74w’t=a n-skwitsits, tsukw=t"u7

pPET=behind=Ex1y [sg[possname finish=fxcI|
ta=wa7=zewdit-en-an.
PET-FFv=be. known BIRFG ERG

I knew my last name was Edwards, but that’s all T knew.
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(19)

(20)

(21)

(22)

(23)

ti=kél7=a=malh skwitsits
PET-firsc-EXI§-ADROR] name
ka-xlég-a
[c1rd-fit.into.something{CIR
|=ta=n-q’imqen=a, Bill.

at=pET=jf g posg-head=Ex1g Bill
The very first name that popped into my head was Bill.

nilh=c’u7  s=tstn-an, “Bill Edwards.”
con=Exc1 NMLZ=say+DIR{SG[ERG Bill Edwards
So, I said to him, “Bill Edwards.”

nilh=malh aylh n=s=wa7.
Co-Rorow] chen f5q oSS RiEa-be

And so that’s who I am.

wi7=lhkalh  aylh  skul pila7=k’a  sxetspdsqet,
[PFV=ffplsB] then school onefrIy  week

mets-cal-s-tumul-em.

getwitten T} CAUS 7T PR} ERG

About a week later we were told to write home to our parents.

tak aylh ta=twéwwet=a
go.along then DET=boy=Ex14
ta=wa7=win’acw e=s7énts, nilh=tu7

PE-fFr-similar  1o—FQNDE oR-ExCl]
s=mets-ci[ t]-ts-as,
NMLZ=get.written-IND-SG.0BJ-BERG

mets-ci[t]-ts-as 14¢i7...

get.written-IND-SG.OBJ-HERG at+there [v1g

There was a boy like me, and he did the writing for me...

II
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(24)

(25)

(26)

(27)

I2

...[s]=sqwil’-en-an i=n-slali’tem=a
RMLZ-rcporc DIRHEGERG  F}DETHEGFOSY parcnts—XTS
kw=n=s=plan wa7  tsicw.

DET=s g Posg=NMLZ=already get.there

...I told my parents that I had arrived at the school.

gee, wi7=lhkan tsut aylh lhkdnsa
gee  [PFV=flsdfB] say  then  today
Ih=kwan*en-s-twitas=k’a ta=piph=a,
[coMB=take*FREDHCAUS-fPLERG=EPIY DET=paper=
tsut=wit=k’a, “nilh=k'a wa7 sxek wa7

say-PI-EFT§ [EOT-EPTY maybe
s=Bill lhkdnsa.”
NMLZ=Bill today
I sdill think today that when they got my letter they must have
thought, “He must be Bill now, I guess.”

wa7  aylh.. nilh=malh aylh s=Bill
then  GoR-EDWOW then [EZ-Bil
lhl4ni7=tu7, tu  wa7 lhkansa.

from+thereAB§=ExXc1] until be today

So from then on I was Bill, and I am still Bill now.

a0 kati7 swat ku=zewat-en-tili,
NEG around+thereyiy who PET=be.known-pIR-NTSY
zwit-en-as ku=stéxw n-skwidtsits.

be.known-DIR-BERG [DET=real [sd[posg-name

Nobody knows what my real name is.
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(28) “nilh  ta=téxw=a n-skwiétsits,” (kan]  tsun,
Eol DEf-rcal-fXTy [GFosnme [AFE] suy+pid
“nilh wa7 s=Francis.”
cof [pFY NMLZ=Francis

“My real name...,” I tell them, “is Francis.”

(29)  Prancis ta=stéxw=a n-skwitsits, tu7 doz=t’u7
Francis [pET=real=gx1y [fg[posg-name but [NEG=ExcI
kéti7 put kwas
around+there V1§ exactly [PET+NMLZ+[PFV+FPOsS
cw7it  kwa=zewat-en-tdli ti7.
many PET+PFvi=be.knownpIR-NTY that[v1g

My real name is Francis, but only a few people know that.

(30)  Bill 7 ta=wa7=n-skwitsits papt.
Bill thatjviy PET=[PFV=fsdPosg-name always

I’ve always just been Bill.

(31) tsukw 7.
finish  that[vig

That’s all!
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CHAPTER 2

Aopvls

Apples

2.1 St’atimcets

Na skela7sd cwilh ldti7 kw nsqwéd’len, sqwal’'min’an izdwna, skéla7s kw
nsqwatsdts skul, tdkem i swin’acwsa skwitsits wa7 nahentsdlem, ucwalmicw
tu7 skwitsits. Pila7 papt wa7 qweznitas: Apa7. Nilh ti7 wa7 twéww'et,
nilh iz’ wa7 snaheném i tewtweww’etd t'u7 kéti7: Apa7. Nilh muta7 kwa
Tsu7cwimem, Petsklhdnk, Pexwpank; o, tdkem swin’acws i skwitsitsa wa7
snahentsilitas, ao kwensw4 lexldxs i nukwa.

Elh wa7 aylh muata7 ts7dwna, nilh aylh nslan wa7 skdla, Cu7 muta7
sqwal’min’an, wa::7 ses kati7 alkst, lanlhkalh t’u7...ﬂ wa7 ses lati7 alkst,
tak ta skukwpiZlhkdlha, wa7 qwelqwal’él’t, wa7 qwel’qwal’él’t, ao kw
nszwéten lhas inwat, pila7 t'u7 ti7 ta qan’imensdna sqwal’tat.s ku dopvls.

“Apples,” tsut. Gee! Catakd7em 14ti7 ta twéww'eta.

“Gee,” tsutkan k’a, “Wa7 k’a kw siwlhen swétas ku qwendn ku
dopvls,” tsutkan. Cataka7emlhkdn telh. Qwatsits t'u7, nilh skdkelcals

'There is a break in the recording here.
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i nakwa. Nilh malh kwsat.stum’cas ta pdpl7a lhlaku7 ntmicwa, nsmat’
laku7. T 4kkalh 14ti7, sdwentsas:

“Tsicwkacw ha?”

“Nka7?” tsunlhkan.

“Niq’'wtsam’ ku dopvls.”

“Ao kiti7!” tsinlhkan, “Ao kiti7 kw nstsicw!”

“Sqwilen, xwem, sqwélen, xwem!” Niésa cwilh malh sekném.
K’4dmalh, t’dkkan tsa7cw, tsutkan kwas cuz’ um’entsilem ku dopvls.

16



Apples

2.2 English

Before the time I am talking about here, before I left for school, I was called
by all kinds of different names, just Indian names. One they always used was
Apa7. It’s aboy’s name, it’s what we use for all little boys: Apa7. Then there
was Tsu7cwimem, Petsklhdnk, Pexwpénk. Oh, they called me all kinds of
names. I don’t remember the others.

By the time what I'm talking about here took place, I was already in
school. We were working when our supervisor came along, talking away,
but I didn’t understand what he was saying. The only thing I understood
him say was ‘apples’.

“Apples,” he said. Gee! One of the boys raised his hand.

“Gee!” I must have thought, “He must be asking who wants an apple.”
So then I raised my hand and off he went, followed by the others. I was
rescued by someone from back home, who happened to be mixed in with
the others. We were going along, and he asked me:

“Did you go there?”

“Where?” I asked.

“To steal apples.”

“Certainly not!” I told him, “I certainly did not go!”

“Tell him! Hurry! Tell him! Hurry!” he told me. It turns out they
were going to get whipped. And there was I, going along as happy as can
be, because I thought I was going to be given some apples.

17
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2.3 Interlinear Gloss

(1) na=s-kela7-s=4=cwilh l4d7
ABY PET=NMLZ-first-gposg=Ex1g=after.all  at+there[V1g
kw=n=s=[s]qwil’-en, sqwal’-min’-an
DPET=HsGPosg=NMLZ=report-DIR  talk-RLTHjsGERG
izd-wna, s-kéla7-s

these-precisely NMLZ-first-Bposy

kw=n=s=qwatsits skul...
PET=jsG[posg=NMLZ=leave school

Before the time I am talking about here, before I left for school”...

(2) ..tdkem  i=swin’acw[s]=a skwitsits  wa7
all p1lpET=different.kinds=fx1§ name
nah-en-tsilem, ucwalmicw=tu7 skwidtsits.

name-PIRfG[Pasy Indian= name

...I was called by all kinds of different names, just Indian names.

(3) pila7 papt wa7 qwez-n-ftas: dpa7.
one  always get.usedDIRBPIERG dear.boy
One they always used was Apa7.

(4) nilh=ti7 wa7  twéwwet, nilh=iz’ wa7
Eof-thacf§ [P boy  Eom-thoseffH
s-nah-en-ém i=tew tweww'et=4=t"u’7
RLZ-name PIRFAS  FDET-FREDboy—EXTS-EXCl]
kéti7: dpa’.
around+there [y1§ dear.boy

It’s a boy’s name, it’s what we use for all little boys, Apa7.

*There is some unclear material in this stanza, so our transcription here is tentative.
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(s) nilh muta7 kwa=Tsu7cwimem,
fcoq again PET+HPFV}=Tsu7cwimem
Petsklhink,®  Pexwpink; o, takem
Petsklhdnk Pexwpink oh all
swin’acws i=skwidtsits=a wa7
differentkinds  PIpET=name=EXIs
s=nah-en-tsil-itas, a0
RTZ-name REGPEHFIER NG

kwenswi lexl4x-s

DET+isG POSS+HNMLZ+[PFY remember{CAUS

i=ntukw=a.
PI.DET=other=EX1g

Then there was Tsu7cwimem, Petsklhdnk, Pexwpdnk. Oh, they
called me all kinds of names. I don’t remember the others.

*The name Petsklhénk literally means ‘leaf belly’, and Pexwpank means ‘sprayed on
belly’.
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(6) elh wa7 aylh muta7 ts74-wna, nilh  aylh
and.then be  then again this-precisely [coH then

n=s=lan wa7  skul=a, t'u7
FaFoSS-FiZ-already PR school=EXI
muta7 sqwal’-min’-an, wa::7 ses
again reportRLIHSGERG be  NMLZ+[PFV+fPosy
kati7 alkst, lin=lhkalh=cu7*...
around+there[y1§ work already=ffp1lsBj=EXCI|

wa7  ses 14ti7 alkst,
be NMLZ+[PFVi+fposy at+there[vi§ work
tak ta=skukwpi7-lhkdlh=a,
go.along PET=chief-p1] posg=ExI1
wa7  qwel*qwal*élt, wa7
[pFv] [REDtalkCRED* [PFV]
qwel*qwal*él™t...
FEREDtalk EREDF

By the time what I’'m talking about here took place, I was already in

school. We were working when our supervisor came along, talking
away...

*“There is a break in the recording here, between lin=Ihkalh=t'n7 and wa7.
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(7) ...20 kw=n=s=zewdt-en
PET-#5q FOS§-RALZ-be known P
lhas inwat, pala7=t'u7
comi+PFVi+gsB]Y  say.what  one=
ti7 ta=qan’im-ens-dn=a
thaefT§  PET-hear PIHEERG-EXT
(kw]=[s]=qwal’tt=s ku=74opvls.

PET-fiLZ-speak=§FOs3 PET-apples
...but I didn’t understand what he was saying. The only thing I
understood him say was ‘apples’.

(8) “apples,”  tsut. gee! cat-akd7-em 14ti7
Apples say Gee raise-hand-MID  at+therey1g
ta=twéww'et=a.
BE-boy~EXT
“Apples,” he said. Gee! One of the boys raised his hand.

(9) “gee,” tsut=kan=k’a, “wi7=k’a
Gee say=[sG sBJ=EPI] [PFvj=EP1Y
kw=[s]=sdwlhen swit=as ku=qwenin

PET=NMLZ=ask.question+pIR who=}sB]V [PET=want

ku=74opvls,” tsut=kan.
BET-apples  say-F5355]

“Gee!” I must have thought, “He must be asking who wants an

apple.”

(10) cat-aka7-em=lhkin=rt%elh...
raise-hand-MID=[fsG SBj=at.that.time
So then I raised my hand...
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()

(12)

(13)

(14)

(15)

22

..qwatsits=t’'u7, nilh  s=kd-kel-cal=s

leave-EXe] ol RIZ-[REDtollow ACH-FFosS
i=nukw=a.
PIDET=0ther=fX1g

...and off he went, followed by the others.

nilh=malh kw-stt-s-tum’c-as
Fof-RDHORY  gecsaved5odEATHEAOEHERT
ta=pd-pel7=a lhliku7
DET=[REDone=EX1§  from+there [NVI§
n-tmicw=a, n-s-mat’ ldku?.

f5qFossland=FX1§ [odFTaTimix at+there [NVIS

I was rescued by someone from back home, who happened to be
mixed in with the others.

t'ak=kalh 14ti7, [s]=sdw-en-ts-as,
go.along=fp1 5B} at+there[vi§ NMLZ=ask-DIR-§5G0B]J-HERG
“tsicw=kacw=ha?”

get.there=psq.5BJ=d

We were going along, and he asked me, “Did you go there?”

“nka7?” tsian=lhkan.
where  tell+pIR=}sG.sB]
“Where?” I asked.

“ndq’w-ts-am’ ku=74opvls.”
steal-mouth-MID| [PET=apples
“To steal apples.”
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(16)

(17)

(18)

(19)

“a0 kati7!?” tsun=lhkan, “a0
NEG  around+thereviy  tell+pIR=fsGfB]
kati7 kw=n=s=tsicw!”

around+there V1§ PET=ffsd Posg=NMLZ=get.there

“Certainly not!” I told him, “I certainly did not go!”

“sqwél’-en, xwem, sqwil-en, xwem!”
report{pIR fast talkpIR  fast
“Tell him! Hurry! Tell him! Hurry!” he told me.

nas=a=cwilh=malh sek-n-ém.
go=[=after.all=ADHORT get.whipped-DIR-fPAsS

It turns out they were going to get whipped.

kK’4malh, t’dk=kan tsa7cw,  tsdt=kan
but go.along=[sg.sB] happy  say=[fsq.fB]
kwas cuz’ um’-en-tsilem

DET+NMLZ+[PFV+gPOsy going.to be.given-DIR-ISG PAsY
ku=74opvls.
PET=apples
And there was I, going along as happy as can be, because I thought
I was going to be given some apples.
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CHAPTER 3

Wa7 sqweqwel’minas sBill na
nukwa szayten iwas tweww’et
Another Story about my Childhood

3.1 St’at’imcets

Nilh ts7a muta7 szdytenlhkalh icin’as ts7dwna, lhen wa7 twéww'et kiti7.
K’winaszdnucwan K, ... hundred and ... nilh malh nswa lexlaxs.[|

Icin’as, a0 kwas dts’xnem izdwna i wa7 tsunitas government truck, wa7
tstnitas lhas p’akusemwit kiti7 ku ts’xut, ku iq’usem lhas médqa7. Lini7
lhask’imal’tsic.wdlha ts’fla €’'u7 ku nk’wandtsten’, na, ao kdti7 kw swa7 kiti7
ku p’dkusem.

Qwatsitskalh ta ciclepa, nts’item ta ciclepa, Christmasntcw. Wa7
estruck k’a kati7 nsqdtsez7a pindni7. Stdm’as k’4 wi7 ni7, Model T k’4 ni7.

Qwatsa::tskalh, stexw t'u7 k’wantdsten ti7 ta cwilha. >4kkalh,
ptakkalh lta titqeta. T dkkalh ldd7 elh q’flem 14ti7 ta pdl7a xéxtem
ti7 t cwilha, q’flemlhkalh 4ti7, kalhéxwa lhelkw7una ta nikwa kaoh.

"This section of the recording is unclear, and the transcription here our best guess,
given the surrounding context.
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Wa7 sqweqwel’minas sBill na nikwa szayten iwas twéww’et

Wa7 ti7 kenstalaki7em, ao kw skat’dla, tak qwetxw ti kdohsa. Ao
kw snp’elk’dsem, kenssiwlec, ao kw skasiwleca, txwilemintumalhas t’u7.
Xilem ta kdohlhkalha: ao kwat kasiwleca, ts'q’alhtsa7mintumulhas
lts7dwna q’'welhniw’ta. Kakélha ta wa7 tstnitas running board. Wa7 ti7
14ti7 lhktnsa skits, wa7 lhkdnsa.

Ni:lh sqwatsdtskalh aylh lhlati7. T dkkalh ta ciclepa, q’illhkalh
dku7. Wi:7lhkalh kdku7, qwatsitswit suxwast muta7. Wa7 slhay
kiti7 ku szdytens ku twéw'wet. Nsknik t'u7, ao kiti7 kwenswé lh-
walawilh.  Suxwastwit telh, wi7a cwilh kdti7 sqlhitkwa7 ta pdpel7a
laku7 xdwena. Tsicwkalh ldku7, wa7wit liti7 47qwa7, qwatsdtskalh
xdt’em. watsdtskalh muta7 xdtem. Aozas kekékew’a 4ti7, cik'eném
telh ta cwilha. Kanq'ép’tskalha, ti7 xelq’, pdla7 ti7 kw scwetps, sx-
elg’s, kat’dla. Kelhkelhelhwit Ihldti7 tdkem, nilh sxdtemi, kaq’flwita 4ti7
cwilha. T’u7 wi7lhkan s7ents ldku7 nk’ip’us. Wa7lhkan nk’ip’us lati7,
a0 kw nskakélha. We74wlhkan aylh, q’dylec.wit, nsexwstuxwastwit lhldta7,
viq.wit. U, cwdocwlaom k’4 wi7 i kdoha sxek icin’as, scatan’itas, kakélhkana
lhldku?7.

Ni::lh st'4kkalh xitem, nmatqkalh aylh, kaq’fllhkalha. Ulhcwkan 4ti7
ltskdlha wa7, ao kwas wa7 nskicez7a, nilh nsqwatsits cwil'en, cdkkan,
panlhkan. Ulhcwkan 14ti7, ats’xentsds tu7:

“Tay, kdinemlhkacw? Kdnemlhkacw?”

“Ao kiti7 kwenswi kdnem,” tsdnlhkan, “Ao kiti7 kwensw4 kinem.”

“Kénem zam’? U,” tsut, “Kdnem zam’ sas ptéla7 ta skwt’Gstswa? Tse-
qwtsiqwal’us ti skwt'tstswa ta ptél7a.”

Aoz t'u7 kati7 kw nskalegwtsim’a aylh, sqwél’enlhkan ta szaytenlhkalha
It7una, ta skanq’ép’tskalha lkw7u xdw’ena. Tsukw ti7.
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Another Story about my Childhood

3.2 English

This is something else that happened a long while back, when I was a boy.
I must have been a few years old, ... hundred and ... that’s why I remember
it.

We never saw government trucks around here back then, the kind that
spread gravel and scrape the road when there’s snow. Back then, when the
roads used to get icy like glass, no-one sanded them.

We had set off towards Fountain to spend Christmas there. My father
must have had a truck at that time, I think it was a Model T. We set off, and
the road was really like glass. We were going along and we passed Twelve
Mile. We were going along a stretch of road where there was a little hill. We
were almost at the top when another vehicle appeared. The driver tried to
brake, but he couldn’t stop, and his car started sliding. He couldn’t turn, he
tried to veer off to the side of the road, but he couldn’t manage it. He was
coming straight toward us. The same thing happened to us: we weren’table
to get off the road, and the other car hit us on the right side. The running
board came oft. It is still lying there to this day.

Well, we went on our way. We set off for Fountain, and we got up there.
We were up there, and then some of the boys decided to go back down the
hill. Youknow how boys think they can do anything. I was hanging around,
and there was no way I was going to be left behind. So down the hill they
went, it turned out one of them had a bottle of liquor stashed down there.
We got down there and the boys had a bit to drink, then we started up the
hill. We started back up the hill. We didn’t get far before we missed the road.
We flipped the car, it rolled, turned over once, and then stopped. The boys
all got out of the truck and walked up the hill until they got to the road at
the top. Butin the meantime, my head was stuck. My face was stuck there,
and I couldn’t get free. T hollered and they ran back downbhill. I guess cars
might have been light in those days, because they lifted it up, and I managed
to get free.

Then we all walked back up to the top of the hill. When I went into
the house we were staying in, my mother was not there, so I went looking
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for her and found her. As soon as I went into the house, my mother looked
at me:

“Hey, what happened to you? What happened to you?”

“Nothing,” I told her, “Nothing happened to me.”

“Oh really?” she said, “How come there’s blood on your face, then?
Your face is all red with blood.”

I couldn’t lie, so I told her what happened to us, how we flipped over
down below. That’s all!

2.8



Another Story about my Childhood

3.3 Interlinear Gloss

(1) nilh ts7a muta7  szdyten-lhkalh
coy this. 19 again doingsp1lposs
i=cin’=as ts74-wna,
when pasT=long.time=fsB]V]  this-precisely
lhen wa7 twéww’et
CoMA+iPFVi+lsG BV [PFY  boy
kati7.
around-+there V1§

This is something else that happened a long while back, when I
was a boy.

(2) kK’win=as zénucw=an=k’a,’ [..] hundred
how.many=psB]Y]  years=[fsG.5BJVI=EPIg hundred
and [..] nilh=malh nswa
and Con=pDHORT [5G POSY+HNMLZ+[PFV
lexldx-s.

remember{CAUY

I must have been a few years old, hundred and... that’s why I re-
member it.

*This section of the recording is unclear, and the transcription here our best guess,
given the surrounding context.
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(3) i=cin’=as, a0 kwas
when pAsT=long.time=fsB]V DET+NMLZ+[PFV+gPosy
its’x-n-em izd-wna
get.seen-DIR-IPIERG these-precisely
i=wa7=tstn-itas government  truck,
P PET=[PFVi=say+DPIR-JPI.ERG government truck
wa7  tsun-itas lhas

say +PIRPIERG  COMB+PFVH+HFEN
p’tkw-us-em=wit
pour.solid.objects-faceMID=}p1]
kati7 ku=ts’xtt,
around+there[y1§  [PETj=gravel
ku=7iq’-us-em
DET=scrape-face-MID]
lhas miqa7.

[COMB+HPFV+SB]V snow

We never saw government trucks around here back then, the kind

that spread gravel and scrape the road when there’s snow.
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(4) l4ni7 lhas k’imal’ts
at+theresBy  [coMH+PFVi+HsB]Y]  freeze
i=c.wilh=a ts’fla=’'u7 ku=[n]-k’'wan-ts-ten’,
PIpET=road=EX1g like=Exc1] PET=Lod-look-facefiNg
na, 20 kati7
well NEG around-+there V1§
kw=s... wa7  kiti7

DET=NMLZ  be around+there V1§
ku=p’dkw-us-em.
DET=pour.solid.objects-face-MID]

Back then, when the roads used to get icy like glass, no-one sanded

them.
(s) qwatsdts=kalh  ta=ciclep=a, n-ts’ftem
leave=[fp1lfB] = PET=Fountain=fx1§ [od-go.towards
ta=ciclep=a, Christmas-nticw.

DET=Fountain=fx19 Christmas-get.somewhere
g

We had set off towards Fountain to spend Christmas there.

(6) wa7 es=truck=k’a kati7
have=truck=EP1y  around+there[vig
n-sqdtsez7=a pindni7.

fisd.posg-father=EX1g at.that.time

My father must have had a truck at that time,

(7) stam’=as=k’d=wi7=ni7, Model T=K4i=ni7.
what=fFB[-EP§==thati5§ Modcl T=EPi§~that/isg
I think it was a Model T.
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(8)

(9)

(10)

32

qwatsd:ts=kalh, stéxw=tu7 Kk'wan-ts-ten  ti7
leave=[jp1].sB] real=gxc1]  look-face-INg  that[vig
ta=c.wilh=a.
We set oft, and the road was really like glass.
t’ak=kalh, ptik=kalh
go.along=Jfp1]sB] passed.by=jp1].5B]
|=ta=t’itqlet=a.
at=pET=white.earth[ Twelve.Mile]=EX19

We were going along and we passed Twelve Mile.

t’dk=kalh l4ti7 elh
go.along=fP1]sB]  at+there[yi§  and.then
q’fl-em laci7 ta=pdl7=a
get.put.onto.something-MID at+there V1§ DPET=one=EXI1g
xé*x*t’-em ati7 ti=c.wilh=a,

climb’CRED*MID to+therevl§ [DET=road=EXIY
q’fl-em=lhkalh
get.put.onto.something-MID=}p1].5B]
ti7, ka-lhéxw-a
to+there v1§ [CIRG-come.up.suddenly{cIRd
lhel=kw74-[w]na
from=that INVI§-precisely
ta=ndkw=a kaoh.
DET=other=EX1§ car
We were going along a stretch of road where there was a little hill.
We were almost at the top when another vehicle appeared.
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(1)

(12)

(13)

wa7 ti7 kens-t’al-akd7-em,
that[vi§  want.to-stop-hand-MiD| -
kw=s=ka-t’4l-a, tak qwetxw
DPET=NMLZ=[CIRd-stopCIRd  go.along slide
ti=kdoh-s=a.

DETj=car-gPOSY=EXIY
The driver tried to brake, but he couldn’t stop, and his car started
sliding.

ao kw=[s]=n-pelk’-ts-em,
DET=NMLZ=L0d-get.turned.around-faceMID|
kens-siw-lec, a0

want.to-go.off.to.the.side-aAUT
kw=s=ka-siw-lec-a,
DPET=NMLZ=[CIRd-go.off .t0.the.sideAUT-CIRG
txw-ilc-min-tumulh-as=t’u7.
staighe 0T T} PEHEERG-EXC

He couldn’t turn, he tried to veer off to the side of the road, but

he couldn’t manage it. He was coming straight toward us.

xil-em ta=kdoh-lhkalh=a: a0
do{MID DET=car-{fp1]posg=fEx1g NEG
kwat ka-stw-lec-a,

DET+PFV+IPLSB]V  [CIRd-go.off.to.the.side-AUTHCIRG
ts'q’-alhts’a7-min-tumdlh-as
strike-inside.body-RLTH{P1].oBJ-ERG

|=ts74-wna q'welh-[lh]niw’t=a.’

at=this.y1g-precisely right-side.of.body=EX1g
The same thing happened to us: we weren’table to get off the road,
and the other car hit us on the right side.
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(14) ka-kélh-a ta=wa7=tsin-itas running
CIRd-come.oft{CIRd PET=[PFVi=say+DIR-GPIERG running
board.
board

The running board came off.

(15) wa7 7 l4d7 lhkdnsa  s-kits,
be  that[vi§ at+therefi§ today fTAT-get.laid.down

wa7 lhkinsa.

be  today
It is still lying there to this day.

(16) nizlh  s=qwatsdts=kalh aylh  Ihl4d7.
cof [NMLZ=leave=jp1lposg then from+theref1g

Well, we went on our way.

(17) t’dk=kalh ta=ciclep=a,
go.along=P1].5B] DET=Fountain=EX1g
q’il=lhkalh dku7.

get.put.onto.something=[p15B] to+there [NVIg

We set oft for Fountain, and we got up there.

(18) wid::7=lhkalh kdku7, qwatsits=wit stxwast
be=[fp1lsB]  around+thereINVI§ leave=fp1] go.downbhill
muta’7.
again

We were up there, and then some of the boys decided to go back
down the hill.

*Desmond Peters, Sr. provided the gloss ‘right side’ for ¢’welhniw’t, hitherto un-
recorded.
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(19)

(20)

(21)

wa?7 s-lhay” kdd7
fTAT-overconfident  around+therevig
ku=szdyten-s ku=twéw’wet.

BE-doings JF05 PET-boy
You know how boys think they can do anything.

n=s=kn-dk=t'u7,

20
fisd.Posg=NMLZ=around-be.there=EXcI]

kati7 kwensw4
around+theref1§  PET+ISGPOSI+HNMLZ+[PFY]
lhwal-awilh.

get.abandoned-conveyance

I was hanging around, and there was no way I was going to be left

behind.

suxwast=wit=telh, wi7=a=cwilh
go.downhill=fpIl=at.that.time  [PFVi=[=after.all
k4ti7 s-qlh-dtkwa7 ta=pd-pel7=a
around-+there v1§ TAT-store-liquid PET=[REDrone=EXI1g
liku7 xdw'en=a.

at+there [NVI§ below=EXI19

So down the hill they went, it turned out one of them had a bottle
of liquor stashed down there.

“The word s/hay has not been previously recorded. The translation ‘overconfident’

was provided by Linda Redan.
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(22) tsicw=kalh liku7, wé7=wit  1ati7
get.there=ffp1]5B]] at+thereInvig [PFV=fp1] at+theref1g
u7°qwa’7,  qwatsits=kalh xdtem.
drink*CRED* leave=[fp1]B] climb
We got down there and the boys had a bit to drink, then we started
up the hill.

(23) qwatsdts=kalh muta7 xdtem.
leave=ffp1l5B)] again climb
We started back up the hill.

(24) doz=as [ke]*kékew’=h>  4ti7,
NEG=F5sB]V farCRED! =4 to+there. 1
cik’-en-ém=t’elh ta=c.wilh=a.

miss.a.target-DIR-JPI] ERG=at.that.time [PET=road=EXIg

We didn’t get far before we missed the road.

(25) [ka]-n-q’ép’-ts=kalh-a,
CIrd-Lod-get.overturned-mouth=fp1].5Bj-{CIRd
ti7° xelq’, pila7 7
thatjiy  getrolled  one that 1y
kw=s=cwet-p=s,
[s]=xelq’=s, [ka]-t’dl-a.
NMLZ=get.rolled=fposy [CIRd-stop{CIRG

We flipped the car, it rolled, turned over once, and then stopped.

°It is unclear why there is an = encliticized to kekékew’ in this stanza, but we as-
sume it to be =4 which has been converted to =/ in order to avoid vowel hiatus with the
following a on dt17.
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(26)

(27)

(28)

(29)

kelh-kelh*elh=wit lhl4ti7
TRED!come.off*FRED=P1] from+there. 1§
takem, nilh s=xit’em=i,
Al Eol  RMZ-climb-FOFoss
ka-q’fl=wit-a ati7
CIRd-get.put.onto.something=BPI{CIR] to+there V1§
c.walh=a.
road=EX1g

The boys all got out of the truck and walked up the hill until they
got to the road at the top.

w7  wi7=lhkan s7ents laku7

but  [PFV=fsGFB] [FGINDEH at+thereNVIg
n-k’ip’-us.
[Lod-pinched-face

But in the meantime, my head was stuck.

wi7=lhkan n-k’ip’-us 14¢i7, a0

iPFV=fsdfB] [Eod-pinched-face at+theref1g
kw=n=s=ka-kélh-a.
DET=}sGPOss=NMLZ=[CIRd-come.oft-CIR]

My face was stuck there, and I couldn’t get free.

we74dw=lhkan aylh, q’dy-lec=wit,

holler=fsd.fB] then run{AUT}=fp1]
n-sexwesuxwast=wit lhl4ta7, viq=wit.
Lod{rrREDgo.downhill=fp1] from-+there[vig arrive=fp1]

I hollered and they ran back downbhill.

°The demonstrative £27 occupies an unusual clause-initial position, functioning as

the subject of the following predicate, xelg’.
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(30) u, cwaocwlaom=k’d=wi7 i=kdoh=a sxek
oh lightweight=EP1§= PI.pET=car=ExX1§ maybe
i=cin’=as, s=cat-an’-itas,
when PAsT=long.time=fsB]V] NMLZ=lift-DIR-BPI.ERG
ka-kélh=kan-a lhlaku?.

[CIRg-come.oft=f§d.FBJHCIRG from+there NVI§

I guess cars might have been light in those days, because they lifted
it up, and I managed to get free.

(31) nizlh  s=t’dk=kalh xdtem, n-matq=kalh
o RNMLZ=continue=fpIl[posy climb [Eod-walk=[fp1.5B]
aylh, ka-q’il=lhkalh-a.
then [cIRd-get.put.onto.something=[fp1].5Bj-CIR]
Then we all walked back up to the top of the hill.

(32) ulhew=kan ti7
enter=fsg.sB] to+there [v1g
l=tskilha wa7,
at=pET+NMLZA+[PFV+Hp1lposg+EX1§  be
ao kwas wa7
DET+NMLZ+[PFV+fPosy  be
n-skicez7=a, nilh
FaFosg mother—fXTy o
n=s=qwatsats cwil’-en,
s poss=NmLZ=leave  look.for-pIR
t’dk=kan, pun=lhkan.

go.along=lsg[B] get.found+PIR=fsd.[B]
When I went into the house we were staying in, my mother was
not there, so I went looking for her and found her.
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(33)

(34)

(35)

(36)

tulhcw=kan 14ti7, ats’x-en-ts-ds=t’u7:
enter=ffsG/sB)] at+there[vid get.seen-pIR-IsG.oBJ-JERG=EXCI]
“tay, kédn-em=lhkacw? kin-em=lhkacw?”

hey  do.what-MID=psG[B] do.what-MID=pd.5B]

As soon as I went into the house, my mother looked at me: “Hey,
what happened to you? What happened to you?”

“ao  kétd7 kwenswi
NEG around+there 1§ PET+{sd PoSI+NMLZ+[PFV
kin-em,” tsin=lhkan, “ao  kati7
do.what-MID| say+DPIR=}sG.FB] around+there [v1g
kwenswi kin-em.”
DPET+sG Pos+NMLZ+[PFY do.what-MID
“Nothing,” I told her, “Nothing happened to me.”

“kdn-em zam’? u,” tsut, “kdn-em zam’
do.what-MID| after.all oh say  do.what{jMip after.all
sas ptéla7 [l]=ta=skwtts-tsw=a?”

NMLZ+PFV+§Poss blood at=pET=face-psqposd=Exig
“Oh really?” she said, “How come there’s blood on your face,
then?”

“tseqwrtsiqw-al’us  ti=skwt'is-tsw=a
FREDred-colour  PET-face ARG FOSSENTS
(I]=ta=ptél7=a.”
at=pET=blood=

“Your face is all red with blood.”
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(37) doz=t'u7 kati7
NEG=EXCI] around-+there v1g
kw=n=s=ka-legw-ts-im’-a
DPET=H g Posg=NMLZ=CIrd-hide-mouth-MIDHCIR]
aylh...
then

I couldn’t lie...

(38) ...sqwal’-en=lhkan
report-DIR={fsG 53]
ta=szayten-lhkdlh=a
PET-doings ) FOSS-EXTy
I=t7u-wna,
at=that[V1g-precisely
ta=s=ka-n-q’ép’-ts=kalh-a
DPET=NMLZ=[CIRG-L0d-get.overturned-mouth=fp1lposs-CIrRg
I=kw7u xdw'en=a.
at=that[NvVI§ below=[Ex1q

...50 I told her what happened to us there, how we flipped over

down below.

(39) tsukw  ti7.
finish that[v1g
That’s all!
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CHAPTER 4

Nmatq.wit uxwal’ wi sBill muta7 ta
sqatsza/sa
Bill and his Father Walk Home

4.1 St’at’imcets

Sqwéqwel’ t7u t'u7 mata7 ts7dwna, nilh iz’ i szdytensa nsqdtsez7a.
Quwatsatskalh izd uxwal’ Lillooeta, July. Tsem’p tu7 i wa7 sdy’sez’, nilh
slhim’em’lhkalh Ita pdpel7a wa7 eskdoh. T’4:kkalh malh, nsu7t’ ta
kasalinsa ta kdohsa ta ucwalmicwa. Nilh t'u7 sqwatsitss cwil’sqdxa7.
K’winas t'u7 kw st’aks et7dna, st’aks i timsa nilh scik’wenas ti kdohsa.
Tsicwwit ta tsitcwsa, plan k’a wa7 ti7txwel’'wis. Qa7...

“O,” tsuntumulhas na nsqdtsez7a, “Cay’lhkalh qwatsdts nmatq.” Put
K’a ti7txwel’'wds. Wa7 lhem’entimulem:

“Wa7 malh t’u7, psil” elh qwatsitskal’ap.”

“Ao kéti7, cuz’lhkalh cu7 qwatséts.”

“Ama tu7 kw swa7lap.”

“Ao kati7, ciz’lhkalh £u7.”
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Tseles’ila kK4 wi7 tu7 kw spdolpeltkalh, paolleckilh tu7 kw
sqwatsdtskalh tu7. Qwatsdtskalh lhliti7 nmatq, t’4::kkalh, k’winas ts’ila
lhelnka7as k’a kw skekdw’s kw st’dkkalh. Ts’xtsenlhkan nsqdtsez7a, plan
nts’ipalus, plan wa7 kagay’ta! K'wvles’file ti c.wélha, tak lhlak ts’itemsa
et7una tscd7sa ta cwilha, 4t7 lhkangep’usisa. Ngq’san’kminlhkan,
ngsan’k k’a ti7, cwd7cw7ak snilh, qwatsitskalh mata7. Ha, dozas kw
skekaw’s 1hlati7, ents t'u7 mura7 ta kagdy’ta. Guy’tkan k’a t'u7 muta7, tak
k’wvlts’filc kdti7 mata7 ta c.wilha ldti7. Kwiskan tu7, xelq’kdn lkw7ana.
Nq’san’kmintsas.

Nilh t’u7 ti7 snilhts €u7 szdytenlhkalh. T°4kkan aylh kdti7 ta ntikwsa.
T’4kkan kéti7, 4ts’xenlhkan, plan nakun’ wa7 nts’ipal’us, plan ndkun’ wa7
nts’ip’al’us, nilh slha7dsminan, nlha7dsminan kw st’als 14ti7. Nilh stsinan
lkw7dna:

“Tss, tss,” tsunlhkan.

Nilh malh t’u7 nstctisem lts7a:: Ita skwt’tstsa, lhd7lha7 Ina skwt’tstsa,
la::, nilh sq’dxlecs, it’xtsam’, stexw t'u7 kaq’tdsa! Q’san’kminlhkan aylh.

T’akkalh 47 tu7 tsgwdymin’twal’ u tsicwalmenlhkalh ta tsitcwa. O,
siq’ulh k’a maoyl, takkan t’'u7 kdti7, dts’xenlhkan, wa7 ldti7 sq’at.sa ta
c.wélha ta leputdya. Forty-pounder, 14ti7 wa7 estséq, p’ép’7acw ku sdq’ulh.
Ptékenlhkan, p’an’tminlhkan. Sdwentsas:

“Kacw kdnem? Stam’ ku p’an’tminacw?”

“Oh, pupen’lhkan ta stam’asd k’a,” tsunlhkan.

Wi7lhkan stilhlecmin kati7, plan wi7lhkan s7ats’xs, kenslhdq’ut.
Patkan cuz’ kwan, kacwiz’a td7a. Wi7lhkan dku7 k’a kw7ikwlacw!
Nq’san’kmintsas aylh l4ti7. Nilh sqwatsitskalh, tsicwkalh ti tsitewkalha.
Létdi7 Ihtsem’pds.
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4.2 English

Here is another story, about what happened to my father. We were coming
home with these people from Lillooet, from the July celebration. When the
celebration was over we caughta ride with someone who had a car. We were
going along when this guy’s car ran out of gas. So he went to look for horses.
After a while, along he came with his team of horses, and they pulled his car
home.

It must have been about midnight when they got back to his house.
Well, my father told us:

“Oh, we’ll walk the rest of the way.” It must have been just around
midnight. They wanted to hang onto us:

“Just stay here, leave in the morning.”

“No way, we are going to leave.”

“It would be better if you stayed.”

“No way, we’re going.”

I guess it was like we were stubborn, we were just determined to leave.
We set out walking, just going along, I don’t know how far we had gone.
When I'looked at my dad, his eyes were already closed, he was falling asleep!
Where the road curves, he kept on going higher, and that’s when he fell on
his face. I laughed at him, and he laughed too. He was wide awake now, so
we started walking again. We hadn’t gone very far, and then I was the one
who fell asleep. I must’ve fallen asleep again, the road kept curving around
there. I fell over and rolled off the road. He laughed at me.

So then that’s what we did. I went along for another while. I looked
at him and his eyes were already closed again, his eyes were already closed
again, so I went right up to his face so he stopped. Then I said:

“Tss, tss.”

I'just looked at him, right up next to his face, and he bent backwards
and screamed, he was really startled! Then I laughed at him.

We took turns playing tricks on one another until we got close to our
house. Oh, about half'a mile from our house, I was going along when I saw
a bottle on the side of the road. It was a “Forty Pounder”. It was standing
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up, a little more than half full. T passed by it, and then I went back for it.
My father asked me:

“What are you doing? What are you going back for?”

“Oh, I've found something,” I told him.

I was standing beside it, watching it, and went to bend down. I was
just going to take it when it disappeared. I must have been dreaming! He
laughed at me then. We started out again, and got home. That’s all!
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4.3

(1)

(2)

)

(4)

Interlinear Gloss

sqwesqweel’'=t74=tu7 muta7  ts74-wna,
tell"lCRED=that VIS=EXCI]  again this.j1-precisely
nilh=iz’ i=szdyten-s=a

[oni=those 1y prpET=doingsFposd=fx1y
[n]-sqdtsez7=a.
g poss-father=Ex1g

Here is another story, about what happened to my father.
qwatsdts=kalh izd txwal’  Lillooet=a,  July.

leave=jp1]sB)] thesev1§ go.home Lillooet=Ex1g July

We were coming home with these people from Lillooet, from the
July celebration.

tsém’p=tu’ i=wa7=sdy’sez’, nilh
get.finished=REM  PI.pET=fPFvj=play  [cod
s=lhim’em’=lhkalh |=ta=pi-pel7=a

RSMT7=put.into FRE-FIEOSS ar-BFR-fRET one—fs
wa7 es=kdoh.
have=car

When the celebration was over we caught a ride with someone who

had a car.

t’4::k=kalh=malh, n-su<7>t’

go.along=jp1 sBj=ADHORT]  [LOod-drain<fNCH>
ta=kasalin-s=a ta=kdoh-s=a

pET=gasolinefposd=Ex1y  DET=car-fposs=ExI1§
ta=7ucwalmicw=a.
pET=indigenous.person=EX1g

We were going along when this guy’s car ran out of gas.
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(s) nilh=t'u7  s=qwatsits=s cwil’-sqdxa7.
fcoB=fxc1] NMmLZ=leave=gposy look.for-horse

So he went to look for horses.

(6) k’'win=as=t’u7 kw=s=tak=s
how.many=gsBJV=EXCI] [DET=NMLZ=go.along=fposg
e=t74-[w]na, s=tak=s
to=thatvig-precisely ~ NMLZ=go.along=pposg
i=tim-s=a nilh

PBET-tcam FOSS-FX o
s=cuk’w-en-as
RIZ-get dragged PIRER
ti=kdoh-s=a.
DET|=car-gPOSY=[EXIY
After a while, along he came with his team of horses, and they

pulled his car home.

(7) tsiew=wit ta=tsftcw-s=a, plin=k’a wa7

get.there=(FY] PET-housc fFOS§-EXTY already=EFTg
ti7txw-el'wis.
exact-in.half

It must have been about midnight when they got back to his house.

(8) qa’... “0,” tsun-tumulh-as
well oh say+DIRIPI].oB]BERG
na=n-sqitsez7=a, “cay’=lhkalh

KBS PET-BQFOSH facher=EXTY ~ going.to—fF5E]
qwatsits n-matq.”

leave fod-walk
Well, my father told us, “Oh, we’ll walk the rest of the way.”

>
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(9)

(10)

(1)

(12)

(13)

put=k’a ti7txw-el’'wiés.
exactly=Exc1] correct-in.half

It must have been just around midnight.

wa7 lhem’en-timulem, “wd7=malh=tu7, psil’
stingy-DIRPLlPASS be=pDHORT=EXCI] early.morning
elh qwatsdts=kalap.”
and.then leave=pJp1][sB]
They wanted to hang onto us, “Just stay here, leave in the morn-

ing.

»

“ao  kati7, caz’=lhkalh=tu7 qwatsdts.”
NEG around+there V1§ going.to=jPIlSBJ=EXCI| leave

“No way, we are going to leave.”

«rz

dma=tu7 kw=s=wi7=lap.”
goodEC1] BER-FaiE-be-FIOSS

“It would be better if you stayed.”

“ao0  kati7, ctz’=lhkalh=t'u7.”
NEG around+there V1§ going.to=}P1].5BJ=EXCI|

“No way, we’re going.”
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(14)

(15)

(16)

48

ts’el*ts’ila=k’d=wi7=t'u7
frrRED!like=r1§==EXCI]
kw=s=pdol*pelt=kalh,
PET=NMLZ=RED stubborn=ffp1l.posg
paol-lec=kélh=tu7
stubborn-AUT=}P1]. sBj=EXCI]
kw=s=qwatsits=kalh=t'u7.
DET-§MI7lcave—FT FOSS-XC

I guess we were being kind of stubborn, we were just determined

to leave.

qwatsdts=kalh  hldti7 n-matq,

leave=[p1].5B] from+there V1§ fLod-walk
t’a::k=kalh, I’win=as

go.along=}p1].5B] how.many=psB7V|
ts’fla lhel=nkd7=as=k’a
like from=where=psB]Vi=EP1§
kw=s=ke*kiw’=s
DET=NMLZ=REDfar=fp0sg
kw=s=t"ak=kalh.
PET-FALE-go.along-fFFoSs

So we set out walking, just going along, I don’t know how far we

had gone.

ts’x-us-en=lhkan n-sqitsez7=a, plan

look-facepIR=ffsg s8] [G[posg-father=fx1g already
n-ts’fp’-alus, plan  wa7 ka-gay’t-a!
fod-shut-eye already CIrRd-sleep{CIRd

When I looked at my dad, his eyes were already closed, he was
falling asleep!
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(17) k’wvlts’-ilc ti=c.wélh=a, tak
bend-auT PET=road=Ex1y  continue
lh=lak i=[s]-ts’'ftem-s=a’
from=be.there PIDET=NMLZ-go.towards-fPOss=EXI1S
e=t74-[w]na t=s-cd7-s=a
to=that[vig-precisely [PET=NMLZ-high-fposg=EX19
ta=cwilh=a...

Where the road curves, he kept on going higher...

(18) ..4ti7
to+there V1§
lh=ka-n-q’ep’-us=4s-a.
CoMBA=[cIRG{L0d-get.overturned-face=f5BJVHCIRG

...that’s when he fell on his face.

(19)  n-g’s-an’k-min=lhkan, n-q’s-dn’k=k’a
Lod-laugh-stomach-RLT=}sG.5B] [L0d-laugh-stomach=EPIg
ti7, cwid<7>*cw<7>ak  snilh, qwatsdts=kalh
thaty1§ [RED'wake<[NCH> [SGINDEH leave=[p1][B]
muata7.
again

I laughed at him, and he laughed too. He was wide awake now, so
we started walking again.

The passage containing and immediately surrounding the word sts’items is unclear:
in particular, the plural determiner 2= on i =s-ts’/tem-s=a is unexplained.
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(20)

(23)

(24)

50

ha, doz=as kw=s=ke*kdw’=s
INT] NEG=BsB]Y DET=NMLZ=[REDfar=fposg
1hl4ti7, énts=t’u7 muta7

from+therey1§  [SGINDEF=EXCI]  again
ta=ka-gly’t-a.
PET=[CIRG-sleep{CIR]

We hadn’t gone very far, and then I was the one who fell asleep.

guy’t=kan=k’4=tu7 muta7, tak k’wvlts’-filc
sleep=f5 G fBJ=EPIS=EXCI] again continue bend-AUT
kati7 muta7 ta=cwilh=a l4ti7.

around+there V1§ again [DET=road=Ex1g at+there[v1§

I must’ve fallen asleep again, the road kept curving around there.

kwis=kan=tu7, xelg’=kin  l=kw74-[w]na.

fall=fsq sBj=REM roll=flsgsB] at=thatINVIg-precisely
I fell over and rolled off the road.

n-q’s-an’k-min-ts-as.

Fod-laugh-stomach-RLT-S G OBJHERG

He laughed at me.

nilh=t'u7=ti7 s=nilh=ts=t'u7

con=Exci=thatjiy NMLZ=[coB=fposd=ExcI]
szdyten-lhkalh.

doings-ffp1]posg

So then that’s what we did.
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(25)

(26)

(27)

t'dk=kan aylh kéti7
go.along=llsdfB]  then  around+therefv1g
ta=nukw-s=a.

DET=other-gposs=Ex1g

I went along for another while.

t’ak=kan k4ti7, jts’x-en=lhkan,
go.along=llsdsB] around+therey1y get.seen-pPIR=ffsGFB]
plan ndkun’  wa7 n-ts’ip’-al’us,
already  again fod-shut-eye
plan ndkun’ wa7 n-ts’ip’-al’us,

already  again fod-shut-eye
nilh  s=lha7-4s-min-an,
ol NMLZ=close.to-face-RLTHGERG
n-lha7-ts-min-an
fLod-close.to-facefsGERG
kw=s=tal=s laei7.
DPET=NMLZ=stop=fposy at+there.y1
Ilooked at him and his eyes were already closed again, his eyes were
already closed again, so I went right up to his face so he stopped.

nilh  s=tsin-an l=kw74-[w]na, “tss,
Foll FMLZ-sayDIHBGER] at-thacWVIg-precisely s
tss,” tsun=lhkan.

tss  say+DIR=}sd.[B]
Then I said, “Tss, tss.”
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(28) nilh=malh=t’u7 n=s=tcds-em
EoT-RbHORT-EXCT  [5q0S§-RIZ-look D
I=ts7a:: |=ta=skwt’s-ts=a, lh47:1ha7
at=this V1§ at=pET=facefposg=EX1g§ [REDclose.to
l=na=skwt’ds-ts=a, la::  nilh
sc~ B8 BET-face fFOSI-EXTY gor
s=q 4x-lec=s, {'x-ts-am’,

NMLZ=bend.over{aAUT=fposy scream-mouth-MID|
stéxw=t'u7 ka-q’tus-a!
real=gxc1] [CIRd-startle{CIR]

I just looked at him, right up next to his face, and he bent back-
wards and screamed, he was really startled!

(29) q’s-an’k-min=lhkan aylh.
laugh-stomach-RLT=}fsG.5B] then
Then I'laughed at him.
(30) tak=kalh=t"47=tu7 tsgwdy-min’-twal’  t'u
continue=f§g SBJ=EXCI]=REM teaseRLT-RECH until
tsicw-almen=lhkalh ta=ts{tcw=a.
get.there-nearly=jp1]5B] PET=house=[EXIS

We took turns playing tricks on one another until we got close to
our house.
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(31)

(32)

(33)

(34)

o, siqulh=k’a  maoyl, tdk=kan=t'u7

oh  half=Er1g mile go.along=[fsg.sBJ=EXCI|

kati7, dts’x-en=lhkan, wa7
around+there V1§  get.seenDIR=5GfB] be
14ti7 sq’ut-s=a ta=c.wilh=a

at+there[vi§ one.side-fposg=EXI§ PET=road=EX1q
ta=leputdy=a.
DET=bottle=EX1Y
Oh, about half a mile from our house, I was going along when I
saw a bottle on the side of the road.

forty  pounder,  liti7 wa7
forty ~ pounder at+there V1§
es-tséq, pép*7acw

TAT-get.placed.opening.up ~ more.than'CRED"
ku=siq’ulh.
DET=half
It was a “Forty Pounder”. It was standing up, a little more than

half full.

ptak-en=lhkan, p’an’t-min=lhkan.
passed.by-DIR=fsd.sB] return{RLT=}sd 5B

I passed by it, and then I went back for it.

sdw-en-ts-as, “kacw kin-em? stam’

ask-PIR-5GoBJBERG PSGfFB] do.what-MiD what
kw=p’an’t-min-acw?”

My father asked me, “What are you doing? What are you going

back for?”
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3.0»

(35) “0, purpren’=lhkan ta=stam’=as=4=k’a,
oh  find-EREDH+PIR-EGFE] DET-wha—B-EXIS-EPig
tsun=Ilhkan.
sayDIR-EAEE]

“Oh, I've found something,” I told him.

(36) wé7=lhkan  s-tdlh-lec-min kati7, plan
[PFvi=lsd.sB] STAT-standjaUTHRLT around+therefvig already
wi7=lhkan  s-7ats’x-s, kens-lhiq’ut.

[PFV=lsd.sB] [FTAT-get.seenfCAUY want.to-bend.down

I was standing beside it, watching it, and went to bend down.

b

(37) put=kan cuz kwan,
exactly=ffsGf5B] going.to take+DIR
ka-cwaz’-a=t17=a.
EIRq dissppear EIRG-REN-

I was just going to take it when it disappeared.

(38)  wi7=lhkan  dku7=ka kw7ikwlacw!
[PFVi=lsd.FB] to+there [NVIS=EPI§ dream

I must have been dreaming!

(39)  n-g’s-an’k-min-ts-as aylh  l4d7.
Lod-laugh-stomach-RLT-sG0BJ-BERG then at+theref1g
He laughed at me then.

(40)  nilh  s=qwatsits=kalh, tsicw=kalh

o NMLZ=leave=jp1lposy  get.there=jp1].5B]
ti=tsitcw-kalh=a.
BET-housc-FLFOS-EXT

We started out again, and got home.
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(41) l4ti7 lh=tsem’p=is.
at+there[viy [comp=get.finished=fsBV|
That’s all!
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The Dance at Fountain

5.1 St’atimcets

Na spéla7sa muta7 ati7, wa::7lhkalh laku?7 ts’k’wéylacwa, Iti stéha. Plan
wa7 gap. Wa7 telh kiti7 ti tstita:

“Cuz’ ku7 kw sq’wezilc Ita ciclepa.”

“O, cuys,” tstintsas npiotenha.

“Cuy,” tsunlhkan, “Cuy, ciz’lhkan nas, xwementstt kelh kwsu nas
tselewiken’an nts’qdx7a, nilh sqwatsétskalh lhlaku7 aw’t, putkacw tsukw.
Nas kwamsqdxa?, nilh stsicwsu.”

Nilh t'u7 sq’dylecs na npdotenha lheglhigt, ni::lh £’4dkkan malh aw’t.

Texw tu7 tept’ép, aoy t'u7 kwsu dts'xen ku stam’ 4ti7 klastswa.
T’4kkan malh 4ti7, lhstdm’as ts74wna ti7 kardpa nskldsa — t.stept’pemsi
t'u7, ao kiti7 kw ns74ts’xenan, nilh nslan ¢u7 wa7 tqilh ts'q’dlqwmin’.
Nilha cwilh k’a ti7 ti tiowna ku stéha, nilh ti papel7a hldti7 ts’k’waylacwa.

Ptékenlhkan aylh tak, tsicwkan, pu::t t'u7 tsukw stselewiken’ams
npdotenha, qwatsitskalh lhliti7. Lan ka ten o’clock elh qwatsétskalha.
Ts’ixwan’kcen k’a muta7 i ts'qaxa7lhkalha, xetxet7il'c.wit, ni:lh st’dkkalh
skenkin. Aoz kwas xd'min’em kwet nuxwsqéxa?.
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*4::kkalh, tsicwkalh ta ciclepa, getssqdxa7lhkalh lati7, dlhcwkalh
ltswésa i wa7 q’'wezilc. Pu::ta cwilh k’a wa7 tsukw i wa7 q’wezile, put t'u7
wa7 cuz’ say’sez’minitas ta wa7 tsunitas home waltz. Gee, home waltzkalha
ta npdotenha, tsem’p ta home waltza 14ti7, nilh sctz’lhkalh pdwel’. Stim’as
k’a wa7 kw ska7amalhkélha. Tsukw ti7.
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5.2 English

One time we were at the Pavilion store. It was already evening. Someone
said:

“There is a dance at Fountain.”

My friend told me:

“Oh, let’s go.”

“Okay, I'll go,” I told him, “Hurry up and saddle one of my horses, and
then we’ll get going from back over there, as soon as you’re done. Go geta
horse, and then go over there.”

So oft went my friend, running fast, and I came along behind. It was
really dark, you couldn’t see a thing in front of you. I was going along, and
then something sprang up in front of me — because it was so dark, I didn’t
see it, and T almost bumped into it. It must have been someone visiting the
store, someone from Pavilion. I passed them, and kept on going.

When I got there my friend had just finished saddling his horse. Then
we set off. By the time we got started it was already ten o’clock at night. Our
horses must have had sore hooves, they were limping, so we went slowly. We
didn’t want to gallop them.

When we got to Fountain, we tied our horses up and went into the
dance. It turned out that they must have just been finishing, they were just
going to play the “Home Waltz”. Gee, my friend and I danced the Home
Waltz, and when it was finished, that was it. I wonder whether it was worth
it for us. That’s where it ends!
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5.3 Interlinear Gloss

(1) na=s-péla7-s=a muta7  4ti7,
ABYPET=NMLZ-onefpOS§=EXI§ again  to+there[VIg
wi::7=lhkalh  ldku7 ts’k’wiylacw=a,
[PFvi=p1lsB]  at+therefNvi§  Pavilion=EXIg
I=ti=st6h=a.
at=PETj=store=EXIY

Another time, we were at the Pavilion store.

(2) plan  wa7 gap.
already evening

It was already evening.

(3) wéi7=telh kati7 ti=tsdt=a,
[PFVj=at.that.time around+therey1§ PET=say=EXI§
“ctz’=ku7 kw=s-q’wez-ilc

going.to=QUOT  [PET=NMLZ-danceaUT
|=ta=ciclep=a.”
at=pET=Fountain=EX1

Someone said, “There is a dance at Fountain.”

(4) “o, cuys,” tsun-ts-as n-paotenh=a.
oh lets.go say+DIR-SGOBJ-HERG [5G POSY-partner=EX1g
My friend told me, “Oh, let’s go.”
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(s) “cuy,” tsun=lhkan, “cuy, ctz’=lhkan nas,
go.on say+DPIR=[sGpB] go.on going.to=flsgkB] go

xwem-en-tstit=kelh  kwsu nas
hurry-pIR-REFI=FUT PET+NMLZ+[PFV+EsdPosy go

tselew-fken’-an  [ta]=n-tsqix7=a, nilh

saddle-backfpIR [PET=fsG.pOss-horse=Ex1y [coH
s=qwatsdts=kalh lhliku7 aw’t,

NMLZ=leave=[p1].posy from+there INVI§ behind
put=kacw tsukw.”

exactly=p[sg.sBj finish

“Okay, I'll go,” I told him, “Hurry up and saddle one of my horses,
and then we’ll get going from back over there, as soon as you’re
done.”

(6) “nas kwam-sqixa7, nilh s=tsicw=su.”
go  get-horse cof NMLZ=get.there=pfsd.poss

“Go get a horse, and then go over there.”

(7) nilh=t'u7 s=q 4y-lec=s
con=gxcy INMLZ=run-AUT=BPOSY
na=n-piotenh=a lheglhdgt, ni::lh
[ABY.PET=ffsd.pOSY-partner=EX1§ [RED!fast.runner [COH
t’4k=kan'=malh aw’t.

go.along=lsg.sBj=ADHORT behind

So oftf went my friend, running fast, and I came along behind.

"The indicative 1st singular subject =kan in t'dkkan is unexpected here, since nilh
should induce nominalization and a 1st person possessive subject 72-, yielding nst’ak.
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(8) téxw=t’u7 tep t’ép,’ doy=t’u7
really-fxC]  FREdak  NEG-EXCH
kwsu dts’x-en ku=stdm’
DET+NMLZ+[PFVi+Esd.Posy get.seenpIR PET=what
ati7 klds-tsw=a.

to+there V1 in.front.of PfGposg=Ex1g

It was really dark, you couldn’t see a thing in front of you.

(9) t'dk=kan=malh 4ti7, lh=stdm’=as
go.long—FQE}-ADFORT  to-+there Ty Gom-whatETy
ts74-wna ti7 ka-rdp-a
this-precisely ~ thatfi§  [cIRd-get.stood.up{cIrRg
n-skltds=a...

flsgposg-in.front.of=Ex1q

I was going along, and then something sprang up in front of me...

(10)  ..t=s=tept’pem=s=d=t'u7,
DET=NMLZ=rRED}*dark=FP0sS=Ex19=ExCI]|
ao kati7
NEG around+there [v1g
kw=n=s’=74ts’x-en-an,
DET=fsdPoss§=NMLZ=get.seen-DIRSGERG
nilh n=s=lin=cu7 wa7

FoR 53 Foss-Ruiz-already=EXcT]

b 4

tqilh  ts'q’-dlqw-min’.
almost  strike-mass{RLT]

...because it was so dark, I didn’t see it, and I almost bumped into
it.

*The stress pattern for t’ept’ép is unexpected: the adjective for ‘dark’ is usually
t’épt’pem, as in stanza 10 of this narrative.
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(1)

(12)

(13)

nilh=a=cwilh=K’a=ti7 [t]i=tdiown=a
Con=[=after.all=EpI§=thaty1ly  PET=visit=FXI1{
ku=stéh=a, nilh  ti=pi-pel7=a
PETAVIS-store~EXl§ o PET-FREBone-EX
lhl4ti7 ts’k’'wéylacw=a.

from+there.y1g Pavilion=EX1

It must have been someone visiting the store, someone from Pavil-

ion.
ptak-en=lhkan aylh  tak, tsicw=kan,
passed.by-DIR=sg.B] then go.along get.there=jsG 58]
pu:t=tu’ tsukw [kw]=s=ts’elcw-iken’-am=s
exactly=EXCI| finish DPET=NMLZ=saddle-back-MID=fpos9
n-paotenh=a, qwatsdts=kalh
fsGposs-partner=Exiy  leave=jp1l 5B
Ihldti7.
from+there. 14

I passed them, and kept on going. When I got there my friend had
just finished saddling his horse. Then we set off.

lin=k’a ten o’clock elh qwatsits=kalh=a.
already=EP1§ ten oclock and.then leave=fp1lfsB]=

By the time we got started it was already ten o’clock at night.

The DP kw=7n=s=74its’x-en-an is unexpected, since the nominalized clause ex-

hibits both possessive and ergative 1st person subject marking.
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(14) ts'ixw-an’k-cen=k’a  mura7 i=ts'qaxa7-lhkilh=a,
sore-belly-foot=EP1y again  PIpET=horse-fp1]posgd=Ex1q
xetxet7-{l'c=wit, ni::lh  s=t’dk=kalh
[ERESlimp K0T Eon  FMIZ-go.along-[FOFosy
s-ken*kin.
STATHIREDslow

Our horses must have had sore hooves, they were limping, so we
went slowly.

(15) aoz  kwas x4t’-min’-em
NEG DET+HNMLZ+[PFV+gPosy  wantRLIHPI.ERG
kwet nuxw-sqdxa’.

DET+NMLZ+IPFV+}P1.5B]V gallop-horse
We didn’t want to gallop them.

(16) td::k=kalh, tsfcw=kalh ta=ciclep=a...
go.along=[P1sB] get.there=p1fB] DET=Fountain=EXIs

When we got to Fountain...

(17) ...gets-sqaxa7=lhkalh  14di7, tlhcw=kalh
tie.up-horse=jP1l5B]  at+there.y1§  enter=jp1][sB]
|=t[s]wiésa
at=PET+NMLZ+[PFV+JPOSg+EXIY
i=wa7=q’wez-lc.
POBET-FF-dance 0T

...we tied our horses up, and went into the dance.
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(18)

(19)

(20)

pu::it=a=cwilh=k’a wa7 tsukw
exactly=[g|=after.all=Er1g finish
i=wa7=q’wez-lc, pat=tu7 wa7  cuz’
PIDET=[PFV]=dance-AUT exactly=EXcI] going.to
say’sez-min-itas  ta=wa7=tsun-itas home
play-RCHGFLERG PET-IPFv-say+BIR-FERG home
waltz.
waltz

It turned out that they must have just been finishing, they were
just going to play the “Home Waltz”.

gee, home waltz=kalh=a ta=n-pdotenh=a,
gee home waltz=[fp1pBj=Ex1y PET=fsdPosg-partner=EX1g
tsem’p ta=home  waltz=a 147, nilh
get.finished pPET=home waltz=EX1§ at+there[vi§ [COH
s=ctuz’=lhkalh pawel’.
NMLZ=going.to=[fp1].posg finally
Gee, my friend and I danced the Home Waltz, and when it was
finished, that was it.

stam’=as=k’a wa7

what=fsBjV|=EPI1g fiPFV]|
kw=s=ka-7ama=lhk4lh-a.
PET|-fiZ-EiRd good=1 FOSHEIRd

I wonder whether it was worth it for us.*

*Desmond Peters, Sr. offers an alternative translation for this stanza: “I wonder if

we felt okay about it (after all the trouble we went through to get there).”



| wa7as sq’'wezilc.wit lata7 cacl’epa

(21) tsukw  ti7.
finish  thatvig

That’s where it ends!
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CuAPTER 6

St’alhalam

Grizzly Bear

6.1 St’atimcets

Wa7 ku7 14ti7 i smelhmulhatsa, sek’wel'wdsmec '47 iz’ muta7 f| Nilh ku7
t'u7 sk’walhan’twial’i. Nilh ku7 t’u7 stsuti:

“Cutz’lhkalh nas kém’em kenkw71::.”

Nilh ti wa7 steq dku7 ta tmicwa wa7 t.sndsiha kém’em. Ni:lh ku7
t'u7 aylh sqwatsa::tsi Ihla::ti7, nkekalhds iz’ ku smelhmulhats. Qwatstswit
ku::7, tsiewwit dku? stéqa. Nilh t'u7 lati7 stsitewemi. Wa::7wit ldti7, nas
et70 psil’, nilh t’u7 aylh sqwatsdtsi kém’em.

Dsil’ aylh 14ti7, nilh sqwatsatsi. Ndswit dku7 ta kwlii7a, dku7 lhus tsicw
i wa7 kém’em, kwa nahném wa7 “kwlii7”. Wi::7wit ku7 14::ti7 kém’em.
K’winas k4 wi7 et7u sq’it kwas kem’emwit. Nas aylh muta7 et74 ta nukwa

'In Rose Whitley’s original transcription and translation of this narrative, which
appeared in the St’dt’imc Runner, she begins this story with the sentence Wendcw ts7a
ku sqwéqwel’, “This is a true story.” We have not included this sentence in the current
volume because it is not included in our version of the recording, however it is probable
that this sentence was simply cut off from the beginning of the recording that we were
working with.
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sq’it, nilh ku7 t’u7 aylh sts7asmintinemwit éta st’alhdlama. Pla:n ldti7
k’win sq’it kwas wa7wit kém’em. Nilh k’a €u7 skandm’t.s ta t’alhdlama.
Wa::7 k’a wi7 kiti7 eskwezkwékwza7, wi7 st’axilmintanemwit. Wa::7 ku7
t'u7 aylh 14ti7, o, ku7 cu7 wi7wit stqwaw’sd qa7, nkekalhdswit, aoz kwas
klhaw’silewit, wa7 tu7 wi::7wit kdti7 stqwaw’s lhas kem’emwit. T'elh
qan’imenstwitas ku7 ta st’alhdlama, wa::7 ku7 lhldku7 em7imnem. Tsut
ku7 telh ta nikwa:

“Tay, k’alin’ wi, k’alin’min’i, ts7as 1dku? Ihldku?7 ku st’alhdlama!”

Em7imnem k7 ti7 ta st’alhd::lama lhldku7, taxilmintanemwit. My,
ao kw szwatenitas lhus cuz’ kinemwit. Wa::7wit ku7 aylh liti7 ptinusem,
ats’xenftas ku7 ts7as telh lhelt7u Ihélta kwlii7a, na, xzum’qw ku7 ti7 ku
stalhdlam. Nilh aylh ldti7 swas ptinusemwi::t lhctz’as kinemwit. Wa7
fcwa7 eswelmin’k.wit, ao kdti7 ku stam’, tsetsikwa i pats7iha muta7 i
ts’147iha wa7 nlham’dnitas i wa7 skem’emi. My, ptinusem ku7 aylh k’a i
nukwa, cwelctlel ka7 tu7 aylh nelh n74n’wasa. Ni:lh ku7 t'u7 147 swa7s
ta pdpel7a, xwem k’a wi7 muta7 kwas kaptinusema.

Wa::7 ku7 14ti7, telh tsut ku7:

“U, ctz’lhkan ti7 mdysen lht’igmin’tdmulhas.”

Ts7a:sku7 c'u7 aylh hlata7 stdtalhlec ku? ta stalhdlama, wa7 stdtalhlec.
T’elh nilh ku7 skaptinusemsa ta pépel7a:

“U, ciz’lhkan... wéna7... nq’Gt’tsan’ ta nqmata,” tsut ku?7.

Plan tu7 aylh ctlel nelh ntkwa, n74n’wasa, calelwit ka7 tu7. Nilh ku7
t'u7 skwinas ta qmat.sa, wéna7 ka7 ti7, sk’vl ku7 ta qmutiha, i wa7 qmuti
lhcin’as k’4 tu7. Nilh ku7 €u7 sncatqwam’s, kwénas ta qmauct.sa lhldti7,
snilh 14ti7 szdlk’wnas ta patsaZsa. Plan ku7 aylh igmin’em, lan ku7 t'u7
aylh l4ti7 wa7 stalhlecminem éta st’alhdlama, nilh t’'u7 skwinas ta qmut.sa
14ti7, sk’vl ti7 ku qmut.s, nilh t'u7 szalk’wenas Ita patsa7sa. Lan ku7 aylh
14ti7 wa7 stalhlecminem; k’dmalh ldku7 aylh t.siq'emsa ta st’alhdlama ldti7,
em7{mnem. Nilh t’'u7 skwénas ta qmat.sa, nilh Cu7 snxwiq’wtsdn’as éta
patsa7sa. Xwiq'wtsin’as ku7 aylh: lan 14ti7 wa7 stdlhlec wi7 hem’, nilh t'u7
aylh nxwiq’wtsdn’as ku7 dku7. Nilh u7 aylh s74qawilhts ta t’alhdlama;
kanxekwtsminasa et7 na qmut.sa ta smulhatsa wa7 kém’em. Nilh t'u7 aylh
kéti7, scw7aoys kw szwatenitas lhas kinem, nilh t.skantsqdm’sa ku7 et7a ta
st’alhdlama.
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Adi7 lhtsem’pds ta ns... wéna?... Stexw hem’ £'047 ti7 sqwéqwel’, cw7aoy
ti7 kwas sptakwlh. Sqwéqwel’s €47 ti7 na nkwékw7a ici:n’as iwdn
sk’ak’wmi7t.
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6.2 English

There were these women from Cayoose Creek. They decided to go on a
work trip together. They said, “Let’s go dig roots.” The place where they
were going digging was called Steq (‘logjam’, Duffey Lake). So they started
out, there were three women. They set out, they got to Steq, and then they
made camp there. They spent the night there, and when morning came,
they set out to dig roots.

It was morning, and so they set out. They went to a green place in the
alpine, to where the people used to go dig for roots, what we call kw/ii7
(‘green’). They were there digging roots for a few days.

It was going into another day when a grizzly bear came towards them.
They had been digging roots there for a number of days, and then the griz-
zly noticed them. Apparently the grizzly had cubs around there: that is
the reason they were attacked. Well, so there they were, the three of them:
they didn’t separate, you know, they stayed together when they were root-
digging. Then they heard the grizzly, making growling noises. One of the
women said, “Hey, listen! It sounds like there’s a grizzly coming.”

The grizzly was growling, and then it attacked them. My, the women
didn’t know what to do. They were trying to decide what to do, and they
saw it coming at them from the green place, well, it was a very large bear,
apparently. They were trying to decide what to do. They didn’t have any
guns with them, they didn’t have anything except their digging sticks and
their baskets for holding the roots that they dug.

My, two of the women made up their minds and decided to run away.
Then one woman was left all alone, and she had to make up her mind
quickly. So, she thought to herself, “Oh, I'm going to fix that bear if it
comes for us.” The grizzly was coming toward them, it was standing on its
hind legs. The woman came up with an idea, “I'm going to stuff my hat
in its mouth,” she thought. The other two women had already run away.
She took her hat, which was made of buckskin — that was what their hats
must have been made of long ago. She took her hat oft and she wrapped it
around her digging stick.
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The grizzly had already caught up to her, it was already rearing up in
front of her, so she took her hat, which was made of leather, and wrapped
it around her digging stick. It was already rearing up in front of her, and
then it growled, with its mouth wide open. So she took her hat, and she
shoved it right into the grizzly’s mouth with her digging stick. She stuck it
in its mouth: even though it was standing up in front of her, she stuck it
right in its mouth. It got caught in the grizzly’s throat, and it choked on
the hat of the woman who was digging roots. And the other women didn’t
know what had happened to the grizzly, because it just fell over backwards,
dead.

That’s the end of my... what do you call it?... It’s a true story, too, it’s
not a legend. That was my grandmother’ story from long ago when I was

a child.
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6.3

(1)

(2)

74

Interlinear Gloss

wi7=ku7 14¢i7 i=smelh*mulhats=a,
PF-QUOT actthere Y PPET-FREDwomen=EXI
sek’w-el'was-mec=t"a7=iz’
break-in.half[ Cayoose.Creek]-people= =those.v1g
muata?.
again

There were these women from Cayoose Creek.

nilh=ku7=t’u7 s=k’walh-an’-twdl’=i.
[coB=RQuoT=Excl NMLZ=call.on-pIR{RECH=RP1]POsY
They decided to go (on a work trip) together.

nilh=ku7=tu7 s=tstit=i, “ctiz’=[1h]kalh
con=RuoT=ExCI] NMLZ=say=gp1posy going.to=fp1l[sB]
nas kém’-em ken=kw74d::.”

go dig.rootsfMID around=thatNvig
They said, “Let’s go dig roots.”

nilh  ti=wa7=stéq dku7
cod pET=frFvi=logjam[Duffey.Lake] to+thereINVIg
ta=tmicw=a wa7 t=s=nds=i=ha
PEf-carth-EXTY [FrY] DET-RAIZ-go-FOFOSI-EXTS
kém’-em.
dig.roots-MID|

The place where they were going digging was called Steq (Duftey
Lake).



Grizzly Bear

(s)

(6)

(7)

(8)

ni::lh=ku7=tu7 aylh  s=qwatsd::ts=i
coB=uoT=Exci] then [NMLZ=leave=pp1] oSy
1hl4ti7, n-ke+kalhds iz’

from+therey1§  LOd-[RED!'three  thosef1g
ku=smelh*mulhats.
PET-RE women

So they started out, there were three women.

qwatsdts=wit=ku::7,  tsfew=wit dku7
leave=fp1l=QuUoT get.there=gp1]  to+there.
stéq=a, nilh=t'u7 14ti7

logjam[Duffey.Lake]=EX1§ [COB=EXCI] at+theref1g
s=tsitcw-em=i.
RMLZ}-house MIB-FILFGSY

They set out, they got to Steq, and then they made camp there.

wian7=wit  l4ti7, nas e=t74 psil’,
be=fp1] at+there[y1§ go  to=that[vi§ daybreak
nilh=tu7  aylh s=qwatsdts=i kém’-em.

Eof-EXcy then FMIZ-leave—FLFOSY dig:roors i
They spent the night there, and when morning came, they set out

to dig roots.

[tsicw=wit=ku7 e=t7u ta...]
get.there=fp1l=QuoT to=that[vig

I heard that they went to the...”

*There is a break in the recording at the end of this stanza.
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(9)

(1)

76

psil’ aylh  l4d7, nilh  s=qwatsits=i.
daybreak then at+therefi§ [cof NMLZ=leave=fp1]posg

It was morning, and so they set out.

nds=wit 4dku7 ta=kwlfi7=a, dku7
go=fP1] to+therefNVI§ PET=green=EX1§ to+thereNVIg
lhus tsicw i=wa7=kém’-em,
comi+PFvi+fsB]Y get.there PI.PET=fPFvi=dig.roots-Min
kwa nah-n-ém wa7  kwlii7.

DET|+H[PFV| name-DIR-{PL. reen
PETHPFY PIRPIERG frry g

They went to a green place in the alpine, to where the people used
to go dig for roots, what we call kwlii7.

wi::7=wit=ku7 14::ti7 kém’-em,
[PFV=fp=QuoT  at+therefi§  dig.rootsMIn
k’win=as=k’i=wi7 e=t74 sqit
how.many=pgsBJV|=EPI§=EMPH to=thatj1§ day
kwas kem’-em=wit.

PET+HNMLZA+[PFV+fposy dig.roots-MID=fp1]
They were there digging roots for a few days.

nas aylh muta7 e=t74 ta=nukw=a sq’it,
go then again  to=that[vi§ pPET=other=Ex1y day
nilh=ku7=tu7 aylh  s=ts7as-min-tinemwit

EOT-RUOT-EXCY then  LZ-come RIR FLFASS
e=ta=st’alhilam=a.
EBI-BET-grizelybear—EXTy
It was going into another day when a grizzly bear came towards
them.



Grizzly Bear

(13)

(14)

pla:n 14ti7 k’win sqit
already ~ at+therefyi§ ~ how.many  day
kwas wi7=wit kém’-em,
DET+NMLZ+[PFVi+gPosy be=fp1]  dig.roots{MIQ
nilh=k’a=t’u7 s=kanum’t=s

[coB=Erig=Exc1] |NMLZ=notice=fpOsy
ta=t’alhdlam=a.
DET=grizzly.bear=
They had been digging roots there for a number of days, and then

the grizzly noticed them.

wi::7=kKa=wi7 kati7 es=kwez-kwé-kwrza7,

[PFV]=EP1§=EMPH around+therey1§ have=rRED}childCRED’

wi7  s=tlaxil-min-tanemwit.
NMLZ=attack-RTT-§P1] PAsy

Apparently the grizzly must have had cubs around there: so that
is the reason they were attacked.
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(15) wiz7=ku7=tu7 aylh ldti7, o, ku7=tu7
be=QuoT=fxc1] then at+there[yi§ oh RQuoT=Exc]
wi7=wit s-Uqw-aw s=4=qa7,
[PFV=fp]  FTAT-together-collective=p=EsT
n-ke*kalhis=wit, a0z kwas
LOod{RED three=pp1] DET+HNMLZ+[PFV+gPOss
klh-aw’s-ilc=wit, wia7=tu7

separate-collective-AUT=gp1]  [PFV=EXCI|
wi:7=wit kati7
be=fp1] around-+there V1§
s-CqwW-aw’s
STAT-together-collective
lhas
[CoMB+IPFVi+BSBIV
kem’-em=wit.
dig.roots-MID=p1]

Well, so there they were, the three of them: they didn’t separate,

you know, they stayed together when they were root-digging.

(16) telh qan’im-ens-twitas=ku?
at.that.time hear-pIR-fp1ErRG=RQUOT
ta=st’alhdlam=a, wia7=ku7  lhliku7

DET=grizzly.bear=EX1§ [PFV=QUuoT from+there[NVIg
em*7imn-em.

[fREDmake.animal.noises-MID
Then they heard the grizzly, making growling noises.
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(17)

(18)

(19)

tsut=ku7=telh ta=nukw=a, “tay,
say=lQUuoT=at.this.time  [pET=other= hey
k’aldn’=wi, k’aldn’-min’-i, ts7as  ldku7

listen=p1fmMY listen-RLTPIIMH come at+thereNVIg

lhliku7 ku=st’alhilam=a!”

from+there INVI§ PET[NVI§=grizzly.bear=EXIs

One of the women said, “Hey, listen! It sounds like there’s a grizzly

coming.”

em*7{imn-em=ku?7 ti7

[fRED'make.animal.noises-MID=QuoT  that[v1g
ta=st’alhd::lam=a lhldku7,

DET=grizzly.bear=EX1§  from+there [NVIg
taxil-min-tanemwit.
attack R LAY

The grizzly was growling, and then it attacked them.

My, ao kw=s=zwat-en-itas
My PE-fiNiTz-be known DR FLERG
lhus cuz’ kin-em=wit.

coMB+iPFV+sB]Y going.to do.what{MID=fp1]

My, the women didn’t know what to do.
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(20)  wiau7=wit=ku7 aylh  ladi7 ptinus-em,
iPFV=gp1l=RQUoT then at+there[vi§  think-MID]
ats’x-en-ftas=ku7 ts74s=telh
get.seenDIR-BPIERG=QUOT  come=at.this.time
lhel=t74 lhel=ta=kwlii7=a, na,
from=that[vi§ from=pET=green=gx1y well
xzam’-qw=ku7  ti7 ku=st’alhdlam.

big-head=QuoT that[vi§ PET=grizzly.bear
They were trying to decide what to do, and they saw it coming at
them from the green place, well, it was a very large bear, apparently.

(21) nilh aylh ldti7 swas ptinus-em=wi::t
col then at+there[vi§ NMLZ+[PFV+gposy thinkMID=fp1]
lh=ctz’=as kdn-em=wit.

comMB=going.to=fsB]V do.what-MID=Rp1|

They were trying to decide what to do.

(22) wa7 dcwa7  es=[s]welmin’k=wit, ao  kiti7
without have=gun=fp1| around+there [v1g
ku=stdm’...
[DET=what

They didn’t have any guns with them, they didn’t have anything...
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(23) ..tsetsukwa  i=pats7-i=ha
just P DET-digging.tick BFILFOSS-XTY
muta7 i=ts’l47-i=ha
and  POPEI-basker JIFOSI-EXTS
wa7 n-lham’-dn-itas

Eod-putinco-BIR-FIERG
i=wa7=s-kem’-em-{.
PPV~ dig.roots FTTHFILEOSS

...except their digging sticks and their baskets for holding the roots

that they dug.

(24) My, ptinus-em=ku7 dylh=k’a i=ntkw=a,

My thinkMID=QUoT then=EPI§ PIpET=0ther=EXIg
cwelscul*el=kt7=tu7 aylh
[fREDI'run.awayFRED=QUOT=PIsT  then

nelh=n-74n’was=a.
PILABY.DET-E0G two—EXT3

My, two of the women made up their minds and decided to run

away.
(25) ni:lh=ku7=tu7 l4ti7 s=wa’7=s
coB=QuoT=Exci] at+therefjviy [NMLZ=be=fposg
ta=pd-pel7=a, xwém=k’a=wi7 muta7
DET=[REDone=EX1§ fast=EPI§=EMPH and
kwas ka-ptinus-em-a.

PET+NMLZA+[PFV+fPosy [cIRG-think-MIDHCIRG
Then one woman was left all alone, and she had to make up her

mind quickly.
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(26)

(27)

(28)

82

wia7=ku7  1iti7, telh tsut=ku?7,
be=QuoT]  at+therefri§ atthat.time say=QuoT
“u, caz’=lhkan=ti7 mdys-en

oh  going.to=fsdfBj=that[viy  get.fixedpIx
lh=t"iq-min’-tdmulh-as.”
if=arrive-RLT-EPL [OBJ-BERG
So, she thought to herself, “Oh, ’'m going to fix that bear if it

comes for us.”

ts74::s=ku7=t'u7 aylh hldta7
come=QUOT=EXCI]| then from+there V19
s-ta*talh-lec=ku?7 ta=st’alhdlam=a,

STATHRED'stand-AUT=QUOT [pET=grizzly.bear=EXI1s
wa7  s-ta-talh-lec.
[PFV FTATHRED'stand-AUT

The grizzly was coming toward them, it was standing on its hind

legs.
t'[e]lh=nilh=ku7 s=ka-ptinus-em=s-a
at.that.time=[cof=QUoT NMLZ=[CIRG-think-MID=fposs{CIrR]
ta=pi-pel7=a, “u, cuz’=lhkan...
DET=[REDone=ExX1§ oh  going.to=ffsg[B]
wéna7... n-q’at’-ts-an’
whatchamacallit ~ Lod-get.stuffed-mouth-pIR
ta=n-qmut=a,” tsut=ku7.

PET=ffsg[poss-hat=Ex1g say=lQuoT
The woman came up with an idea, “I'm going to stuff my hat in
its mouth,” she thought.




Grizzly Bear

(29) plin=tu7 aylh  cdlvel nelh=ntkw=a,
already=REM then run.away'FRED [PI1JABYpET=0ther=EXI1Y
n-7dn’was=a, cul*el=wit=ku7=tu7.
fod-two= run.away*FRED=RPI=QUOT]=REM

The other two women had already run away.

(30) nilh=ku7=t'u7 s=kwdan-as
lcod=uoT=fExcil NMLZ=take+DIRBER]
ta=qmut-s=a, wena7=ka7=ti7,
pPET=hatfposg=Ex1g whatchamacallit=]QUuoT|=that.v1g
sk’vl=ku7 ta=qmut-i=ha,

buckskin=QUuoT  PET=hatgp1fposg=Ex1g
i=wa7=qmut-i
O fFr-hac O
lh=cin’=as=k’4=tu7.
[coMB=long.time=pSB]Vi=EPI§=REM
She took her hat, which was made of buckskin — that was what
their hats must have been made of long ago.

(31) nilh=ku7=c’u7 s=n-cit’-qw-am’=s,
con=RuoT=Excl NMLZ=Lod-take.off-head-MID=FPosg
kwdn-as ta=qmut-s=a
tuketDIRERG  PET-hacfFOSI-EXTY
1hl4ti7, snilh l4ti7

from+therey1§  BSGINDER  at+theref1g
s=z4lk’w-n-as
NMLZ=wrap.around-DIR-JERG
ta=pdtsa7-s=a.
PET=digging.stick-fposg=EXT§
She took her hat off and wrapped it around her digging stick.
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(32) plin=ku7 aylh t'iq-min’-em,
already=|QuoT then arrive-RLT-gPASY
lin=ku7=tu7 aylh l4ti7
already=lQUuoT=Exc1]  then  at+there[v1g
wa7 s-talh-lec-min-em
e=ta=st’alhilam=a, nilh=t"u7
EB-DET-grizdy-EX  Eon-EXc
s=kwin-as ta=qmut-s=a
RMLZ=takeBIRERG PET-har fFOSI-EXTY
14ti7, sk’vl ti7
at+there[v1§  buckskin  that[v1g
ku=gmut-s, nilh=¢tu7

PEf-hacF053  Eoi-xc
s=zalk’w-en-as
NMLZ=wrap.around-pIR-BERG

|=ta=pitsa7-s=a.
at=pET=digging.stick-gposg=EXI19

The grizzly had already caught up to her, it was already rearing up

in front of her, so she took her hat, which was made of leather, and

wrapped it around her digging stick.
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(33)

(34)

(35)

lin=ku7 aylh 14ti7 wa7
already=jQuoT then at+there 1
s-talh-lec-min-em; kK’dmalh  ldku7

FTAT-standAUT-RLT-BPAsy however at+there INVIg
aylh  t=[s]=siq-em=s=a
then  BER-RALZ-open.wide STI-FOS3-EXT
ta=st’alhdlam=a 14ti7,
DET=grizzly.bear=EX1§  at+there[v1g
em*7imn-em.

[fREDmake.animal.noises-MID

It was already rearing up in front of her, and then it growled, with
its mouth wide open.

nilh=t'u7  s=kwin-as ta=qmut-s=a,
EoT-EXCl FMLZ-take+DIRERG PET-hacfFoss-ExTy
nilh=t’u7 s=n-xwiq’w-ts-dn’-as

coB=Exc1l NMLZ=[od-insert-mouth-pIRBERG
e=ta=pdtsa7-s=a.
B b -digging stck JFOS3-ETY
So she took her hat, and she shoved it right into the grizzly’s mouth
with her digging stick.

xwiq’w-ts-dn’-as=ku7 aylh: lan laci7
insert-mouth-pIR-HERG=QUOT then already at+there[vig
wa7  s-talh-lec=wi7=hem’, nilh=t’'u7  aylh
fTAT-stand{auT]=EMPH=]ANT] [coB=Exc1] then

n-xwiq’w-ts-in’-as=ku?7 dku7.

fod-insert-mouth-pPIRBPERG=RQUOT to-+there [NVIS
She stuck it in its mouth: even though it was standing up in front
of her, she stuck it right in its mouth.
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(36) nilh=t'u7 aylh  s=74q’-awilh=ts
cog=fxci then [NMLZ=jammed-vessel=fposyg
ta=t’alhdlam=a;

DET=grizzly.bear=

ka-n-xekw-ts-min-as-a e=t71
EIRgLod-stuck-mouth-RCG-PERGCIRG  to=that 1]
na=qmut-s=a ta=smulhats=a

[ABY pET=hat-fposs=EXI§ PET=woman=EXIg
wa7  kém’-em.
dig.roots-MID|
It got caught in the grizzly’s throat, and it choked on the hat of the
woman who was digging roots.

(37) nilh=tu7  aylh kéd7, s=cw7aoy=s
[coB=Excy then around+there[vi§ NMLZ=NEG=fPOsY
kw=s=zwat-en-itas lhas
PET=NMLZ=be.known{DIRBPIERG [COMB+[PFV/+fsB]V
kin-em...
do.what-MID
And they (the other women) didn’t know what had happened to
the grizzly...
(38) ...nilh

coy
t=s=ka-n-tsqdm’=s-a=ku?7
PET=NMLZ=[CIRA-LOd-fall.backwards=fposs{CIRd=[QuoT]
e=t704 ta=st’alhdlam=a.
to=that[vi§ pPET=grizzly.bear=

...because it just fell over backwards, dead.
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(39)

(40)

(41)

ati7 lh=tsem’p=4s ta=n-s....
to+there vl [comn=get.finished=gsB]V [lsg.pOoss-NMLZ
wéna7...
whatchamacallit

That’s the end of my... what do you call ic?...

stexw=hem’=t’47=ti7 sqwéqweel’,  cw7doy=ti7
real=ANTI=ExCI|=thatjv1§ tell'/CRED] NEG=that[v1g
kwas sptakwlh.

DET+NMLZ+[PFV+fPOsy legend

It’s a true story, too, it’s not a legend.

sqwéqweel-s=t’u7 ti7
tell'lCRED*-BP OSI=EXCI] that.1g
na=n-kwékw7=a

[sBY.PET=flsd.POsg-grandmother=

i=cfzn’=as
when PAsT=long.time=RsB]V
i=win sk’ak’wmi7t.

when PASTI=[PFVi+JlsGSB]V child
That was my grandmother’s story from long ago when I was a

child.
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CHAPTER 7

August Peter
August Peter

7.1 St’at’imcets

Wia7lhkalh liku7 tsitewkalha, nkw7u nq’fp’qwa, nilh t'u7 s74ts’xnem ta
nkcwdénsa wa7 sq’il'q lta tsagwemdza. Nilh t'u7 swe7dws nsésq’'wez’a,
“Sima7s ku swelmin’k!” Nilh tu7 stsicwsas dku7 ta swelmin’ka ta
kekel7dmca nsqaycw, nilh t'u7 squscititas ta nkcwénsa.

An’was vu7 1hliti7 sxetspasqlet, nilh tu7 sxan’s kw sAugust Peter
tsa wa7 ldku7 q’'w7um. Ts7as txwal’, ts7as Christmas, nilh t'u7 sxan’s.
Wa7 nt’dkmin’as 4ti7 ta swén7a l4ti7... s74cwa, nilh t'u7 sk’@lem l4ti7 ku
nt’dkmens Ita swelmin’ksa. W47a cwilh k’a nlham’al’ts, nilh ’'u7 sxan’s, nilh
tu7 sqam’t.s. Qam’t, nilh tu7 swas lati7 skits, pala7 k’a sxetspasqet elh
punitas. Plan wa7... wéna7... kaméxwa ta miq7a. Skits 14ti7, cin’ elh puni-
tas, xelq’ k’a et71:: ta s74cwa.

Cw7itaku? i tsicwa cwil'entdli lhelkw74 ciclep. Punitas, pla::n scin’sk’a
t'u7 kwas szuqw. T’igstwitas aylh lhldku7. Kwénitas i wén7a... mulca, nilh
t'u7 sq’ilin’ftas 14ti7 kw sAugust Peter; nilh st’igstwitas, uxwal’stwitas ets74
qeqdytena. Lti7 lhwi7as qeqdytena t’u tsicwstwitas aylh, uxwal’stwitas
dku7 cécel’pa. Liti7 Ihgelhnémas.
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7.2  English

One time we were home at our house at Ng’ip’qw, and we saw a ghost owl
perched in a saskatoon berry bush. My younger brother hollered, “Bring a
So my older brother brought a gun, and they shot the owl.

Two weeks after that, August Peter had an accident where he was trap-
ping. He was coming home for Christmas when he had the accident. He

'”

gun

was making his way past a slide, and clearing a path with his gun. It must
have been loaded, and he got hurt, he got shot accidentally. He got shot,
and he must have been lying out there for a week before they found him.
The snow had already come down quite a bit. It took a long time for them
to find him, he must have rolled down the slide.

There were a lot of people who went to search for him from Fountain.
When they found him, he must have been dead for quite a while. Then
they brought him back. They took some branches, and they laid August
DPeter on them, and they brought him back home here to Qegdyten. He
was at Qegayten until they took him home to Fountain. That’s where he
was buried.
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7.3 Interlinear Gloss

(1) wa7=lhkalh laku7 tsitcw-kalh=a,
EF-POSE]  ac-thicfiVE  house fPTFOSI-EXTS
n=kw7u nq’ipqw=a, nilh=t'u7
scihere iV Nqlipqw-iy  FoB-Exel]

s=74ts’x-n-em ta=nkcwins=a
NMLZ=get.seen-DIRHPI.ERG DET=ghost.owl=EXI1{
wa7  s-qil-q

FTAT-get.put.onto.something-bottom
|=ta=tsaqwem-dz’=a.

on=pET=saskatoon.berry-bush=Ex1g

One time we were home at our house at Ng’ip’qw, and we saw a
ghost owl perched in a saskatoon berry bush.

(2) nilh=tu7 s=we74dw=s
[COR=EXCI| NMLZ=shout=fposg
[ta]=n-sé*s"q’'wez’=a, “sima7-s

PET-Hq 05 younger.sibling ERED~EXTS  bringEAT
ku=swelmin’k!”
pET-gun
My younger brother hollered, “Bring a gun!”
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3)

(4)

(s)
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nilh=tu7 s=tsicw-s-as iku7
EOT-EXCH FMLZ-gec.chere EATHERG  corthere [NVIS
ta=swelmin’k=a  ta=ke‘ke’l7-dmc=a
PEf-gun-fXT  PET-firse ERES-person—XS
n-sqaycw, nilh=t’'u7  s=qus-cit-itas
[3Fos3man FoI-EXCl RIZ-shoor [NTEFLERT
ta=nkcwins=a.
pPET=ghost.owl=EXI1{

So my older brother brought a gun, and they shot the owl.

dn’was=t’u7 lhliti7 sxetspasqet, nilh=tu7
two=EXC1]  from+there[v1§ week [con=Exci
s=xan’=s kw=s=August Peter
NMLZ=get.hurt=fposy PET=NMLZ=August DPeter
tsa wa7 liku7
DET+HNMLZ+[PFV+fPOSY+EX1Y [PFV at+there[NVIg
q’'w7-um.
trap-§11

Two weeks after that, August Peter had an accident where he was

trapping.

ts7as  txwal, ts7as  Christmas, nilh=c’u7
come go.home come Christmas  [coB=fxci]
s=xan’=s.

NMLZ=get.hurt=f

He was coming home for Christmas when he had the accident.



August Peter

(6)

(7)

(8)

wa7 n-t’dk-min’-as ati7

Lod-go.along-REIHERG to+there. 1

ta=swén7=a l4ti7...
pPET=whatchamacallit=EX1g at+there V1
s7dcw=a, nilh=t"u7 s=k’dl’-em
ide—fXTy [Fof-EXC] RAMIZgetmade-fim)
14ti7 ku=n-t’dk-men-s

at+there[v1§ PET=L0d-go.alongfNg-fposs
|=ta=swelmin’k-s=a.
ae=pET-gun fFOS-XTY
He was making his way past a slide, and clearing a path with his
gun.

wa7=a=cwilh=k’a n-lham’-4l’ts, nilh=tu7
fPFVj=p=after.all=EP1y [LOd-put.into-rock [COB=EXCI]|
s=xan’=s, nilh=t'u7  s=qam’t=s.

Faiz=get hurt=F0sy [FOR-EXcr] Fwizgethic=Foss

It must have been loaded, and he got hurt, he got shot accidentally.

qam’t, nilh=tu7  swas laci7
gethit [COB=EXCI] NMLZ+[PFV+gposy at+there[vig
s-kits, pila7=k’a sxetspasqet elh
fTAT-get.laid.down one=EP1y week and.then
pun-itas.

get.found+pIR-PI ERG
He got shot, and he must have been lying out there for a week be-
fore they found him.
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(9)

(10)

(1)

94

plan wa’... wéna7... ka-méxw-a
already whatchamacallit ~ [cIRd-snowfall{cIRg
ta=mdq7=a.

The snow had already come down quite a bit.

s-kits 14ti7, cin’ elh

bTAT-getlaid.down at+thereyi§ long.time and.then

pun-itas, xélq’=k’a e=t7u::
get.found+PIRFPIERG get.rolled=EPI§ to=thatf1g
ta=s74dcw=a.

DET=slide=EX1q
He was lying there, and it took a long time for them to find him,
he must have rolled down the slide.

cw7it  dku7 i=tsfcw=a
lots to+there [NVI§  PI[pET=get.there=EXIg
cwil’-en-tali lhel=kw74 céclep.

look.forpIRNTY from=thisfNVi§ Fountain
There were alot of people who went to search for him from Foun-

tain.
pun-itas, pla:n
get.found+pIR-fPI] ERG already
s=cin’=s=k’a=t'u7
NMLZ=long.time=fposg=EP1§=ExCI]|
kwas [s]-zuqw.
DET+NMLZ+[PFVi+fPOsy BTAT-die

When they found him, he must have been dead for quite a while.




August Peter

(13)

(14)

(15)

(16)

t'ig-s-twitas aylh  Ihldku7.
arrive-CAUS-JPI.ERG  then from+there NV
Then they brought him home.

kwin-itas i=wén7=a... mulc=a,
take+PIR-JPIERG PI.pET=whatchamacallit=EX1§ stick=EXIg
nilh=tu7  s=q’il-in’-{tas
[coB=fxc1 NMLZ=get.put.onto.somethingpDIRGPI.ER]G
laci7 kw=s=August Peter; nilh
at+there[V1§ PDPET=NMLZ=August DPeter [CO
s=t’ig-s-twitas, uxwal’-s-twitas
NMLZ=arrive/CAUS-JPI.ERG home{CAUS-BPI.ERG
e=ts74 geqgdyten=a.
to=this.y1§ Qeqdyten=EXI¢
They took some branches, and they laid August Peter on them,
and they brought him back home here to Qegdyten.

14ti7 lh=wd7=as qeqdyten=a tu
at+there[viy [comP=be=fsB]Y Qeqdyten=Fx1g§ until
tsicw-s-twitas aylh, uxwal’-s-twitas
get.there EXTHIERG chen  go-home EATHPTERG
dku7 cacel’p=a.
to+there INvig Fountain=EXIs

He was at Qegdyten until they took him home to Fountain.

l4ti7 lh=qgelh-n-ém=as.
at+there V1§ [coMH=get.covered.up-DIR-BPASI=FsB]V]

That’s where he was buried.
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CHAPTER &

Ta lhwala sqéqy’ecw
The Abandoned Boy

8.1 St’at'imcets

Wa7 ku7 léti7 wa7 estsitew, pdl7usem, cw7it. Wa7 ldti7 ta kakwpi7a:
kelkékla7, tikem t’'u7 wa7 ku pédl7usem wa7 estsitew, wa7 ku7 wa7
eskukwpi7wit. Wa7 esktza7 ta sqdycwa, ti7 ta kikwpi7a.

Wa7 t'u7 ta twéwweeta, nilh u7 stsicws ta pdl7a tsitew... tu7 i wa7
nk’sdytkeni 14ti7, i wa7 pdl7usem, nilh ku7 tu7 stsut.s:

“Wa7 qwendn nsqdtsez7a ku sts'wan.” Nilh Cu7 s7a4m’enem lhldti7,
nilh Cu7 tu7 sqwatsitss. Kalégwa t’'u7 kdti7 nilh 'u7 sts’dqwan’as snilh, nilh
t'u7 swa7s kati7. Nukw mata7 sq’it, tsicw muta7 ta pdl7altsa, wa7 estsitcw.

“Wa7 qwendn nsqitsez7a ku sk’dclhtsa7”... wéna7 ti7, sk’iclhtsa7,
that’s dry meat. Um’enem l4ti7, nilh €u7 tu7 sqwatsdtss. Kacim’a kdti7,
nilh t'u7 sts’dqwan’as snilh, nilh swa7s. Na psil'a et7awna, tsicw muta7
ki ndkwa wa7 estsitcw: “Wa7 qwendn nsqdtsez7a ku stsiqwem, xélen ku
stsiqwem.” Um’enem lhl4ti7 ki stsiqwema, nilh t’'u7 sqwatsdtss tu7, nilh
t'u7 tu7 sts’dqwan’as snilh. I tdkema wa7 sk’al’i, i sk’dm’tsa, i takema t'u7,
tikem t'u7 wa7 sxélens, sxelentscitas sqdtsza7sa.
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Wa7 tu7 l4ti7 wa7 estsitcw, nilh t’u7 sts’flas ku ts7as kantn’itas kw
scw7aoys 4ti7 kwas ts’fla, nilh 'u7 stsicws siwenem ta kukwpi7a, sqatsza7si
ti7 ta twéww eta. Tstinem ku7: “Wendcw ku7, wa7 hem’ ha 'u7 tigcitsihas
i wa7 tsicw sxelentscitsihas skiiza7swa?” Tsut ku7: “Cw7ao kiti7 kwenswi

J'J)

ksnan, kwa stam’!” “O, tsicw ku7 tu7 xelentsim’ ku sts’wan, im’enem,
tsicw ku7 tu7 xelentsim’ ku k’aclhtsa7, im’enem, xelentsdm’ ku stsdqwem,
smik’il, tdkem t’u7 skwdnensas.” Nilh t’u7 sts’ilas ku tsa7c ta kikwpi7a.
“O,” tsut ku7, “Cuz’... cuy’ lhwilenem.”

Nilh 'u7 swas xekentsttwit, tsinas i nakwa tewtwéww’et:

“Cuz’lhkal’dpa nas q’iwlest, cuz’lhkal’dpa nas q’fwlest, cuz’lhkal’dpa
nasts ti7, lhtsicwal’ap kiku7 kenkwél’ap q’iwlest, nilh 'u7 slegwileminal’ap.
Késao7 ku nukw lhélwi snuldp, lhwe7dwas, nilh t’'u7 scwitens ti7. Xwits’
ku nukw, nilh t’...” Tsicw aylh i wa7 q’iwlest, wa7wit kdku7, nilh t’u7 sleg-
wilci, legwilcminitds ti7, wa7 kensctz’ ti7 [hwal.

Cuz’ ku7 u7 we74aw, we7aweném ku7, ta sxwits’a.

Q’dylec ku7 dku7, tsicw kaku7 cwil'em kentswisa kwa tu7 we74w, ao
kati7. Cwiten ku7, cwitenstim ku7 lhelkw71.

Q’dylec ku7 dku7, tsdma t'u7 kdti7 wa7.. wa7 tu7 we74w, plan
we7dwenem lhelkw74. Nilh ti sxwits’a we7dw. Cwiten ku7, cwitenstim
ku7 ta kés7ao. Plan telh aylh wa7 ts7as k’ac, nilh ku7 cu7 aylh ts7as
nk’icalhq’wel twit.

Wa7 t’u7 aylh, nilh £u7 sqwatsdtss, splans tu7 wa7 esctp i ucwalmicwa
14ti7 wa7 estsitew. Qwatsdtswit tu7, mim’c.wit tu7, ti7 lhwal 1ati7. Tsicwwit
ta ntsitewteniha ltswisa tu7 wi7wit.

Ts’la7 ku7 l1ati7 ta... pdla7 ku7 14ti7 ts’la7 ta sq’épa. Wa7 ti7 nqep’ts,
nilh ku7 tu7 stsew’nds, tsukw ku7 1iti7 na kwékwa7sa wa7, lhwal ti7 t’it,
plan ti7 a07 kwas kamdtqa ku 4ma. Nilh malh... nilh ku7 t'u7 aylh s7ilals
14ti7, tsew’tsew’entsut ku7 aylh, nilh malh ti7 14ti7 ta pdl7a tmicw ses
nctlm’ecw, wa7 ntsew’tsew’entsutten,f|dta7 lhktinsa lht'dkas ta canalalts7a,
x7ilha t'u7.

'The place Nisew’tsew’entsitten is up on a hill, which is all grooved and furrowed,
from where the boy in his rage was pushing rocks down the hill.
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Nilh tu7 aylh swa7s. Tstnem ta kwékwa7sa: “Wa7 malh q’'w7um
ku stig’sza7, nilh kelh cu7 wa7 s7ilhenkalh.” K’alcitem ku sq’47a nilh
t'u7 sq’d7em. Q’G7em ki... tsinem t'u7 xek... nilh t’'u7 aylh ta kwékwa7sa
wa7 xekentdli: “Q’w7um ku sgi7i7!” K’Gl'em ta texw74tsa, quqwsem’
kw sgi7i7a. Cw7it i skwimemsa, stsq’'wenas. Tstinem ta kwékwa7sa:
“Caz’lhkacw k’al'em ku leqwéz’, sgi7i7itsa7.”

Cw7it i skwdmemsa, tak susq’w, tak tses, nsal’k, wa7 hem’ tsunem.
Cw7it i skwimemsa elh mayscitem ta kwékwa7sa, téqu7, kGlem ta
leqwiz’a, sgi7i7, nilh iz’ stag’sezhits’a7s. Petnds ku? ta..., lap’min’ds ku7 ta
leqwiéy’sa, nilh t'u7 sqwatsatss kdti7 mdm’teq.

Cwao7 ti7 kwas kekdw’ lhldti7 ta xzumatkwd7a qu7, xwem kwas
nsut’dtqwa’ t'u7, nqwiqwsatkwi7 tu7 ti7. Ats’xenem et.snégwema
lhelt74 cd7a, nilh t'u7 sq’wemilcminem, elh neqwcitem ta leqwdy’sa.
Tstnem ku?7... Cigmin’ém ku7, tsinem ku7: “Cuaz’lhkan ns7azemcitsin
ta leqwédy’swa ta nleqwiz’a, wi7lhkan esleqwdz’. Cdaz'lhkan kwan ta
leqwiy’swa, nilh ts7a cuz’ kwinacw ta nleqwdz’a.” Nilh ku7 t’u7 stsinem
et.snéqwema: “Wi7lhkacw s7ats’xs, wi7lhkan tstlhcitsin [hctiz’acw kasts ta
leqwéz’a Ihkwénacw.”

Mulunis ku7 ta snéqwema ta leqwidy’sa lta qui7a, nilh ku7 t'u7 squls
t'u7 istsuqwaz’a, i ts’étsqwaz’a, nilh iz’ i wa7 tstinitas wa7 q’p’dn’ak, kewk-
wikws iz’ ku... well in English, they call it fingerlings, that’s the young
salmon.

Wa7 tu7 ti7 mdlunas Ita qi7a, nilh 'u7 tu7 swa7s 'u7... kentikem lhas
wa7 iz’ i sts’iqwaz’a, i sts’étsqwaz’a... nilh t'u7 aylh skakwamemfiha wa7 ku
s7ilhenfha muta7 ta kwékwa7sa. Wa7 tu7 nzew’dnas, t'u7 nzew’dnas, nilh
t'u7 ti7 splans tu7 cw7it ku s7ilheni.

Wa7 nelh nk’sdytkensa nelh lhwalentalihd tu7.

Wa7 ka kiti7 kwa t'iq. Qan’imenstwitas dku7 ku7 tu7 ts74wna, mulu-
nas ta leqwéy’sa nilh €u7 tu7 swa7s t’u7, kak’ica i q’)p’dn’aka. Tsima
ku7 telh pan’t, ts74swit ku7, ts7as ku7 kwa lhwalentdli. T’iq.wit, t’iq
na sqdtsza7sa, tsinem ku7: “Wi7lhkalh qan’im kwisu... kwas cw7it
ku stsaqwaz’ lts7a, ku sts’étsqwaz’ wa7 kwinensacw.” “O,” tsut ku?,
“Wia7lhkan esleqwdz’, wé7lhkan t'u7 malun nilh €u7 ses nk’a7wit, lhun
mulun ta sut’dtqw7a 4ti7 lta qi7a.” Nilh 'u7 ses t’u7 kak’4c.wita, nilh t'u7
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sp’an’t.s tdkem t’'u7 lhwalentdli, nilh t'u7 snilhts ta kukwpi7wil'ca aylh cin’a
ki7kel’tlha.

Lta tsuwa7lhkilha nqwal’dtten, kwa xilem 4ti7, kwa.. lhas
sk’ak’wmi7t kwa kiZkldlh... tdkem t'u7... takemsds t'u7 t.sqéqla,
wa7 tu7 tsut dku7 nskelkékl7a: “O, guy’talh, cwd7cw7ak elh nilh kelh
skukwpizwil'es.” In English, they say if a young boy, he’s lazy and
sleepyhead, but when he wakes up he becomes a chief. That’s the end of

that story. Sptakwlh ti7 ts7a, wa7 stexw.
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8.2 English

There was a group of people living together in houses, a bunch of them.
There was a chief there, who was the chief of everyone, elders, everybody
who lived there in that group. This man, the chief, had a son.

And this boy went to one of the houses — everybody was related in this
group — and he said: “My father needs some ts’wan (dried salmon).” So
then he was given some, and off he went. And he hid away and ate it all by
himself, and there he was. Another day, he went to another house.

“My father needs some k’clhts’a7.” That’s - what do you call it,
kdclhts'a7? — that’s dry meat. He was given some and off he went. He
disappeared somewhere and ate it all by himself, and there he was. The
next morning, he went to some other people who had a house there. “My
father needs some tsdqwem (saskatoon berries), he’s asking for tsdagwem.”
He was given some tsdqwem, and then off he went and ate it by himself.
Every kind of food the people made, wild potatoes, all kinds of stuff, he
was asking for on behalf of his father.

Well, the people in the houses kind of began to notice that things were
not what they seemed, so they went to ask the chief, the boy’s father. They
told him: “Is it true, did your son actually bring you the stuft he asked for
on your behalf?” He said: “I certainly didn’t send him to ask for anything
“Oh, he came asking for ts*wan, so we gave him some, then he came asking

'”

for dry meat, so we gave him some, then he asked for tsdgwem, salmon oil
— he took all kinds of stuft.” So then the chief got kind of ashamed. “Oh,”
he said, “We’re going to abandon him.”

So then they figured out what to do, and the chief told some of the
youths:

“You’re going to go a-making arrows, you’re going to go a-making ar-
rows, you’re going to take him along, and when you get to where you’re
arrow making, you’re going to hide from him. Some of you pee, and when
he yells, the pee will whistle. Some of you poo, and th...” The arrow-makers
reached the place, and when they were there, they hid, they hid away from
the one who was going to be left behind. He began to yell, and then the
poo yelled back.
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He jumped up and ran off to look for the person who was yelling, but
there was noone there. He whistled, and someone whistled back.

Hejumped up and tried in vain to... he keptyelling, and someone yelled
back at him from somewhere else. It was the poo that was yelling. He whis-
tled, and the pee whistled back. But now they were getting dry, so their
voices began to dry up.

Well then there he was, so he set off, since all the people in the village
had already gone away. They had gone, moved house, so he was abandoned
there. They went to their village, where they used to live.

There was a basket there, an overturned basket. It was overturned,
so he kicked it: it was just his grandmother, who had also been left be-
hind, because she couldn’t walk so well anymore. So then... so then he be-
gan to cry and thrash about, and that’s why there’s a piece of land called
Ntsew’tsew’entstten (‘thrashing about place’), where the canal goes now
on the other side of the river.

So there he was. His grandmother told him: “You'd better go trap some
squirrels, so we’ll have something to eat.” She made him a trap and so he
went trapping. He trapped some... but he was instr... but then his grand-
mother instructed him: “Trap some magpies!” He made abow, and hunted
magpies. He got a bunch, and skinned them. His grandmother told him:
“You’re going to make a blanket, a magpie cloak.”

He got alot of them, and then kept skinning and stretching them, and
twisting them together (n5al’k), as we say. When he had gotten a lot, his
grandmother fixed them for him, she sewed, and she made a cloak out of
magpie and squirrel skins. He spread the blanket out, he put it over his
shoulders, and then he set off walking.

Not far from the big river, there was a fast running river, though it was
a small one | The Sun up above saw the boy, and came down and squatted
down next to him and warmed his blanket. He said to him... he approached
him and told him: “I’m going to trade your blanket for mine, I have one too.
I’m going to take your blanket, and you are going to take this one.” Then

*This small, fast running river is Cayoose Creek.
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the Sun told him: “You watch, I'm going to point out to you what you do
with the blanket when you’ve taken it.”

The Sun dipped the blanket into the water, and then it was full of fish,
little fish, the ones called ¢’p’dn’ak, those are little... well in English, they
call it fingerlings, that’s the young salmon.

He dipped it into the water, and then there they were, fish everywhere,
little fish... so then he and his grandmother were able to take them for their
food. They kept scooping them out, and then they had plenty to eat.

Well, his relatives who had abandoned him were still over there (where
they had gone).

And some people must have come to visit. They had heard about this
boy, that he just dipped his blanket in the water, then there they were, all
these fingerlings hanging up to dry. So then the ones who had abandoned
him hurried to return. They arrived, the boy’s father arrived too, and said
to him: “We hear that you... that there are a lot of fish here, little fish that
you’ve caught.” “Oh”, he said, “I have a blanket, I just dip it in the water
and then they land in it, when I dip the blanket in the river... in the water
here.” So then they were able to dry them, and then all the people who
had abandoned the boy returned, and then he who had been so lazy before
became the chief.

In our own language, when that happens, when there’s a child who is
really lazy, who does everything badly, my elders say this: “Oh, sleepyhead,
when he wakes up, he’ll become a chief.” In English, they say if a young
boy, he’s lazy and sleepyhead, but when he wakes up he becomes a chief.
That’s the end of that story. This is a legend, a real one.
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8.3
(1)

3)

106

Interlinear Gloss

wi7=ku7 14¢i7 wa7 es=tsitcw,  pél7-us-em,
[PFV=QUOT| at+there[vi§ be  have=house one-kind-MID]
cw7it.
many

There was a group of people living together in houses, a bunch of
them.

wa7  lat7 ta=ktukwpi7=a:  kel-ké-k-la7,
at+there V1§ [PET=chief=EX1§ [REDfirstCRED"
tikem=tu7 wa7 ku=pél7-us-em wa7  es=tsitcw,

all=fxc1] PET=one-kind{MID have=house
(wa7...) wi7=ku7 wa7 es=kukwpi7=wit.

fiPFV| [PFV=QUoT be  have=chief=fp1|

There was a chief there, who was the chief of everyone, elders, ev-
erybody who lived there in that group.

wa7 es=ktiza7 ta=sqdycw=a, ti7
have=offspring  pET=man=fx1y thatjv1ig
ta=kukwpi7=a.
PET=chicf-ExTS

This man, the chief, had a son.



The Abandoned Boy

(4)

(s)

(6)

(7)

wi7=tu7 ta=twéww'et=a, nilh=t"u7
be-fXcy  pEf-boy-EXS  EoR-EXCl
s=tsicw=s ta=pil7=a tSitew...
NMLZ=get.there=fposy PET=one=Ex1y house
tu7 i=wa7=nk’sdytken-i 14ti7,
but PI[pET=[PFV=relative-fp1posy at+there iy
i=wa7=pdl7-us-em, nilh=ku7=tu7
PBET-FF-one-kind 0 EoR-RuoT-Fen
s=tsut=s:

NMLZ=say=gPOSY

And this boy went to one of the houses — everybody was related in

this group — and he said:

“wa7 qwendn [ta]=n-sqdtsez7=a... ku=sts’'win.”
want  DET=JsG[poss-father=Ex1y PET=dried.salmon

“My father needs some ts’wan (dried salmon).”

nilh=tu7 s=74m’-en-em 1hl4ti7,
coB=fxc1] NMLZ=be.givenDIR-fpAsy from+there[vig
nilh=t"u7=tu7 S=qWatsits=s.

[con=ExCI=REM NMLZ=leave=fposs

So then he was given some, and oft he went.

ka-légw-a=t’u7 kati7 nilh=t"u7
[cird-hide{ciIrRd=Exc1] around+therefvi§ [cor=ExcI|
s=ts’dqw-an’-as snilh, nilh=¢tu7
RZ-get.caren IR ERG  [FAINDE]  For-EXcy
s=wa7=s kati7.

NMLZ=be=fposy around-+there[v1g
And he hid away and ate it all by himself, and there he was.
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(8)

(9)

108

nukw mdta7 sq’it, tsicw muta7 ta=pdl7-alts=a,
other again day get.there other [pET=one-house=EX1g
wa7  es=tsitcw.

have=house

Another day, he went to another house.

“wa7 qwendn [ta]=n-sqdtsez7=a ku=sk’dc-lThts’a7”...
want  DET=JsG[poss-father=Ex1y [DET=dry-meat
wéna7 ti7, sk’dc-lhesa7, that’s dry meat.

whatchamacallit that[vl§ dry-meat thats dry meat
“My father needs some k’dclhts’a7.” That’s — what do you call it,
kdclhts’a7? — that’s dry meat.

um’-en-em 14ti7, nilh=tu7=tu7
be.givenDIRfPASY at+there[vl§ [COF=EXCI=REM
s=qwatsits=s.

RMLZ-leave=fFosy

He was given some and off he went.

[ka]-cim’-a kati7, nilh=tu7
C1rd-disappear{CIR  around+there 1§  [Cof=EXcI]
s=ts’4qw-an’-as snilh, nilh
NMLZ=get.catenDIRJERG  BSGINDER [cOH
s=wa7=s.

NMLZ=be=fpoOsq

He disappeared somewhere and ate it all by himself, and there he

was.
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(12)

(13)

(14)

na=psil’=a e=t70-wna, tsicw
[sBSpET|=daybreak=fX1§ to=that[vig-precisely get.there
muta7 ki=ntukw=a wa7  es=tsitcw:

again  [COLIDETj=other=EXI1Y have=house
The next morning, he went to some other people who had a house
there.

“wa7  qwendn [ta]=n-sqdtsez7=a

wane  DEA-FQost-facher—EXT
ku=stsiqwem, xélen ku=stsiqwem.”

DET=saskatoon.berry beg  pPET=saskatoon.berry

“My father needs some tsdgwem (saskatoon berries), he’s asking
for tsaqwem.”

am’-en-em lhl4ti7
be.given-pIR-fpAsy from+there 19
ki=stsiqwem=a, nilh=t"u7
EoTnpET-saskatoon berry—fXTy  EOT-EXC]
s=qwatsdts=s=tu’7, nilh=tu7=tu7
Rz leave=FOS$-REN  EoR-EXCI-REN

s=ts’dqw-an’-as snilh.
RMIZ=get.caten DIRERG [FQINDER
He was given some tsdqwem, and then off he went and ate it by

himself.
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(15) (tdkem) i... tadkem=a wa’
all PUBEY  all-EX
s-k’al’-i, i=sk’dm’ts=a,
NMLZ-get.made-gp1.posy PIPET=wild.potato=EXIS
i=takem=4=t'u7, tdkem=t'u7 wa7
P1.pET=all=fx1§=ExcC1  all=ExcI] [[PFV]
s-xélen-s, s-xelen-ts-cit-as

NMLZ-beg-fposy NMLZ-beg-mouth-IND-HERG
[ta]=sqdtsza7-s=a.
PET-father BFoS3-EXTS
Every kind of food the people made, wild potatoes, all kinds of
stuff, he was asking for on behalf of his father.
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(16) wé7=tu7 l4d7 wa7  es=tsitcw, nilh=t'u7
be=fxc1] at+therefvig have=house [cof=fxcI]
s=ts’ila=s ku=ts74s kantn’-itas
Rz like-F0sy BEf-begin _ notice-DTRFLER]
kw=s=cw7aoy=s ati7
PET=NMLZ=NEG=fposy  to+there.j1g
kwas ts’fla, nilh=tu7
DET+NMLZ+[PFVi+gPosy like  [cor=FxcI]
s=tsicw=s sdw-en-em

RZ-gethere—F0%Y  askBIR-IPASY
(ta=skukw...)  ta=kdkwpi7=a,
DET=chief DET=chief=EXI19
[ta]=sqatsza7-s=4=ti7
pET=fatherfposg=Ex1g=that[v1g
ta=twéww'et=a.
BT boy~EX13
Well, the people in the houses kind of began to notice that things
were not what they seemed, so they went to ask the chief, the boy’s

father.
(17) tsun-em=ku?7: “wendcw=ku7, wa7=hem’=hd=t'u7
say+DIR-BPAs§=QuoT| true=thatfNvid [PFV=ANTI=[d=Fxc]]
t'iq-ci[ t]-tsi-has i=wa7=tsicw

arriveIND-PSG 0BJ-BERG  PIDET=[PFV]=get.there
s=xelen-ts-ci[ t]-tsi-has
RZZ-beg-mouth {5} G PEHERG
[ta]=sktiza7-sw=a?
BET-offpring BFQFOSS-EXTS
They told him: “Isit true, did your son actually bring you the stuff
he asked for on your behalf?”
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(18) tsut=ku7: “cw7a0 kati7
say=RQUOT around-+there y1g
kwenswi ksn-an,
DET+iSGPosy+HNMLZ+IPFY  send.on.errand-pIR
kwa=stdm’!”

PETH[PEV=what

He said: “I certainly didn’t send him to ask for anything!”

(19) “o,  tsicw=ku7=tu7 xelen-ts-4m’
oh  get.there=QUOT=REM  beg-mouth-MID
ku=sts’win, am’-en-em,
pET=dried.salmon  be.given-pIRP1.ERG
tsicw=ku7=tu7 xelen-ts-dm’
get.there=QUOT=REM  beg-mouth-MID
ku=k’4c-lhts’a7, am’-en-em,
DET=get.dry-meat  be.givenDIR-PI.ERG
xelen-ts-dm’ ku=stsiqwem,
beg-mouth-MID  [PET=saskatoon.berry
smik’il, tdkem=t'u7

salmon.oil  all=fxcT
s=kwdn‘en-s-as.”
NMLZ=takeFRED-CAUS-BERG
“Oh, he came asking for ts’wan, so we gave him some, then he

came asking for dry meat, so we gave him some, then he asked for
tsaqwem, salmon oil - he took all kinds of stuff.”

112



The Abandoned Boy

(20)

(21)

(22)

nilh=tu7 s=ts’fla=s ku=ts’a<7>c
cog=fxc1] NmLZ=like=fposy [PET=ashamed<fNcH>
ta=kukwpi7=a.
DET=chief=EXI1{
So then the chief got kind of ashamed.

<« » « b S

o, tsut=ku?7, cuz’... cuy
oh say=RQUOT going.to going.to
lhwil-en-em.”

get.abandoned-PIR-fPI] ERG

“Oh,” he said, “We’re going to abandon him.”

nilh=tu7 swas xek-en-tstit=wit,
cog=Excy NMLZ+[PFV+fPosy figure-DIR-REFI=fpI]
tsin-as i=ndkw=a tew*twéww et:

say ‘IR ERG [lBETother=EXT [FREmtboy

So then they figured out what to do, and the chief told some of the
youths:
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(23) “cuz’=lhkal’dp=a nas q'twlest,’ cuz’=lhkal’dp=a
going.to=pp1lsBJ= go make.arrows going.to=pJp1]5BJ=}
nas q’iwlest, cuz’=lhkal’dp=a nas-ts  ti7,
go make.arrows going.to=pp1lsBj=} go-cAUY thatf1
lh=tsicw=al’ap kiku7

coMmB=get.there=pP1l5B]V  around-+there INVI§
ken=kwél’ap
around=PET+NMLZ+[PFV+pP1].pOSsY
q’fwlest, nilh=tu7
make.arrows  [COB=EXCI]
s=legw-ilc-min-alap.”
fLZ=hide iU RIT- P ERG

“You’re going to go a-making arrows, you’re going to go a-making

arrows, you're going to take him along, and when you get to where
you’re arrow making, you’re going to hide from him.”

(24)  “kdsao7  ku=nukw lhel=wi=snuldp,
urinate PET=other  from=p1]=pp1]INDEH
lh=we74w=as, nilh=tu7  s=cwiten=s
Gont-shouc-55TY [OB-EXC] RizZ-whisde-Fosy
ti7. xwits’  ku=nukw, nilh='[u7]®..”

thaty1g defecate pPET=other [con=ExcI]

“Some of you pee, and when he yells, the pee will whistle. Some

of you poo, and th...”

*The syntax and intonation of cuz’lhkal’dpa nas q’iwlest... is unusual: it is repeated
like an incantation.
“There is a break in the recording at the end of this stanza.
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(23) tsicw aylh i=wa7=q’iwlest,
get.there  then  PIpET=[PFv]=make.arrows
wi7=wit kiku7,

be=pp1] around+there INVI{
nilh=t'u7 s=legw-ilc=i,
con=Exci] [NMLZ=hide{aUT=fp1lpOsY

legw-ilc-min-itds=ti7, wa7
hide O - PHERG-chac 3
kens’=caz’ ti7 lhwal.

want.to=going.to that[y1§ get.abandoned

The arrow-makers reached the place, and when they were there,
they hid, they hid away from the one who was going to be left be-
hind.

(26) caz’=ku7=tu7 we7dw, we7aw-en-ém=ku7,
going to-QUOT-EXEY shout  shourPIHgFASS-RUOT
ta=sxwits’=a.
[DET=excrement=EXIY
He began to yell, and then the poo yelled back.

*We treat the prefix kens- as a clitic in this case, because it is attaching to a pre-
predicative auxiliary cuz’. Semantically, kens- is unusual because it is referring to the
unexpressed agent of the unaccusative predicate /hwal ’get left behind’.
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(27) q’dy-lec=ku7 dku?, tsicw
jumpAUT=QUOT  to+thereNvi§  get.there
kiku7 cwil’-em
around+there [NVI{ look.for-MID|
ken=tswdsa (ta=wid7...)
around=pPET+NMLZ+[PFV+fPOsg+EXI] [PET=[PFY
kwi=tu7 we74w, a0
PERFF-REN  shour  [EG
kati7.
around-+there [NVIg

He jumped up and ran off to look for the person who was yelling,
but there was noone there.

(28)  cwiten=ku7,  cwiten-s-tum=ku7 lhel=kw71.
whistle=QuoT whistlefcAUgBPASS=QUOT from=thatfNVIig

He whistled, and someone whistled back.

(29) q’dy-lec=ku7 dku7, tsima=t’u7
jump{aUT=RQUOT  to+there[Nvi§ try.hard=EXcI|
kati7 wa7.. wi7=tu7  we7éw, plan

around-+therey1§ [PFV [PFV=EXCY shout already

we74w-en-em lhel=kw71.
shout-pIRfPASY from=that[NVig
He jumped up and tried in vain to... he kept yelling, and someone

yelled back at him from somewhere else.

(30) nilh ti=sxwits’=a we74w.
ol pET=excrement=fX1§ shout

It was the poo that was yelling.
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(31)

(32)

(33)

(34)

cwiten=ku7,  cwiten-s-tuim=ku7 ta=kds7=a0.
whistle=QuoT whistlefcaudfpas§=QuoT pPET=urine=Ex1q
He whistled, and the pee whistled back.

plin=telh aylh  wa7  tw7as  Kac,
already=at.this.time  then begin  get.dry

nilh=ku7=tu7 aylh  ts7as  n-k’dc-alhq'wel t=wit.
coB=lQuoT=Exc1] then begin [od-get.dry-throat=fp1|

But now they were getting dry, so their voices began to dry up.

wid7=tu7 aylh, nilh=tu7 s=qwatsits=s,
be=Exci] then [coB=EXCI [NMLZ=leave=fposg
s=plin=s=tu7 wa7  es-cdp
NMLZ=already=gpOS§=REM [PFV FTAT-everyone.gone
i=7ucwalmicw=a l4ti7 wa7

PIpET=indigenous.person=EX1§ at+there V1§
[e]s=tsitcw.
have=house

Well then there he was, so he set off, since all the people in the vil-

lage had already gone away.

qwatsits=wit=tu7, —mim’c=wit=tu7, ti7
leave=BP1]=REM move.house=fp1]=REM  that.j'1
lhwal lati7.
get.abandoned at+there v1g

They had gone, moved house, so he was abandoned there.
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(35)

(36)

(37)

118

tsicw=wit ta=n-tsitcw-ten-i=ha
getthere=(F]  PET-Eodhouse [P0 FOSI-EX
|=tswisa=tu7 wi7=wit.

at=PET+NMLZ+[PFV+RPOSS+EXIS=REM be=fp1]

They went to their village, where they used to live.

ts’1a7=ku?7 lati7 ta.. pala7=ku7 l4t7
basket=QuoT at+therelvig one=QuoT] at+there 1
ts’la7  ta=s-q’ép’=a.
basket [PET=fTAT-get.overturned=EXI1

There was a basket there, an overturned basket.

wa7=ti7 n-q’ep’-ts, nilh=ku7=tu7
[PFvi=that[vi§ [Lod-get.overturned-mouth [COB=RQUOT=REM
s=tsew’-n-4s, tsukw=ku7  liti7
NMLZ=get.kicked-DIR-JERG finish=lQuoT at+theref1g
na=kwékwa7-s=a wa7,

ABY pET=grandmother-gposy=Ex1y  be
lhwil=ti7 tit, plin=ti7
get.abandoned=that[v1§ also already=that[v1g

ao7 kwas
DET+NMLZ+[PFV+fPOsq
ka-mitq-a ku=74ma.

EiRGwalk 1] PET-good
It was overturned, so he kicked it: it was just his grandmother, who

had also been left behind, because she couldn’t walk so well any-
more.
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(38) nilh=malh... nilh=ku7=tu7 aylh  s=7ilal=s
Fof-RbHoR EoR-RUOT-EXC chen RALZ-cry-fFosy

14ti7, tsew *tsew’-en-tsut=ku?7
at+there[yi§  [TRED'get.kicked DIR-REFI=QUOT
aylh, nilh=malh=t7 l4ti7
then [coB=ADHORT=thaty1§ at+there i1
ta=pdl7=a tmicw  (sas...)
DET=one=Ex1y land  NMLZ+[PFV+gPoOsy
ses nc-tlm’ecw, wa7

NMLZ+[PFV+gPosy  ridge-land
n-tsew’*tsew -en-tsuit-ten,
EocHFReDtger Kicked-PIRHREFHNS
dta7 lhktinsa
at+there[viy  today
lh=t’4k=as
EoMH}-go.along=fBH
ta=canal=a =ts7a,
DET=canal=EX1§ at=this.[1g
x7{lh=a=t’u7.
other.side=EX1§=ExCI]|
So then... so then he began to cry and thrash about, and that’s

why there’s a piece of land called Ntsew’tsew’entsutten (‘thrash-
ing about place’), where the canal goes now on the other side of

the river.

(39) nilh=tu7  aylh s=wa7=s.
[coB=Exc1 then NMLZ=be=fpos]

So there he was.
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(40)

(41)

(42)

(43)

120

tsin-em ta=kwékwa7-s=a:
sayPIREFAS)  ET-grandmother fFoS-EXTY
“wd7=malh qw7-um  [ku]=stig’sza7,

[PFV=ADHORT| trap-MID DET|=squirrel
p q
nilh=kelh=t'u7 wa7 s=7ilhen=kalh.”
[coB=fFuT=Exc1 [PFY NMLZ=cat=}p1][poss

His grandmother told him: “You'd better go trap some squirrels,

so we’ll have something to eat.”

k’al-cit-em ku=sq’47=a nilh=tu7
get.made-IND-PAsy [NVI§PET=trap=EX1y [COF=EXCI]
s-q’u7-em.

FaiL7: rap-§ii

She made him a trap and so he went trapping.

qu7-em  ki... tsin-em=t’u7, xek...
trap 0 EOLIPE]  soyDIRASS-ERC]  instruce
nilh=t'u7  aylh rta=kwékwa7-s=a wa7

coB=fxc1] then pPET=grandmotherfposd=fx1y [PFV|

«_ D

xek-en-tili: qw7-um ku=sgi7i7
inserucc PIRVTY trap D pER-magpic
He trapped some... but he was instr... but then his grandmother
instructed him: “Trap some magpies!”

')5

3.71° 7 7 bl

- = =a, -
k’al’-em ta=texw7dts=a qu qwrs-em
gecmadefiD  BET-bow—RTS  shoor ERE i3

kw=sgi7i7=a.

PET-magpie—ETS

He made a bow, and hunted magpies.



The Abandoned Boy

(44)

(45)

(46)

cw7it i=s-kwim*em-s=a,

many  [PIpET=NMLZ-getFREDPOSsI=EX1g
sts*q'w-en-as.
skinRED}-BIRHERG

He got a bunch, and skinned them.

tstin-em ta=kwékwa7-s=a:
sayDIRFAS]  PET-grandmother JFOSI-EXTS
“cuz’=lhkacw k’al-em ku=leqwiz’,

going.to=pSGfB)] get.made-MID PET=blanket
sgi7i7-its’a7.”
magpie-skin
His grandmother told him: “You’re going to make a blanket, a
magpie cloak.”

cw7it  i=s-kwim*em-s=a, tak
many PIPET=NMLZ-getFREDGPOSY=EXI§ continue
su*s*q’w, tak tses, n-sal’k,®

skinning*CRED] continue stretching [Lod-twist.together
wi7=hem’ tstn-em.
EFV-ANT] say-+BIRATERG

He got a lot of them, and then kept skinning and stretching them,
and twisting them together (75al’k), as we say.

The word nsal’k should probably be nslal’k ‘to twine a string, intr.” (van EijK, o1,

109).
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(47) cowZit  i=s-kwdm*em-s=a elh
many PIPET=NMLZ-get"FRED-jPOSY=EX1§ and.then
mays-cit-em  ta=kwékwa7-s=a, t'équ7,
Fx INDHPASY PET-grandmother JFOSS-EXT sew
ul’-em ta=leqwiz’=a, sgi7i7,
get.madeMID PET=blanket=EX1§ magpie
nilh=iz’ stag’sezh-itsa7-s.

[con=thosev1§ squirrel-skinfposs
When he had gotten alot, his grandmother fixed them for him, she
sewed, and she made a cloak out of magpie and squirrel skins.

(48)  pet-n-ds=ku7 (ta...),
spread.out BTRERG-RT0T

lap>-min’-4s=ku?

cover.with.blanket/RLT-ERG=RQUoT

ta=leqwiy’-s=a, nilh=t'u7
PEf-blankecfFOs$-EX1  Foi-EXcl
s=qwatsdts=s kéti7
NMLZ=leave=gposy  around+there 19
mé-m’teq.
walk’CRED
He spread the blanket out, he put it over his shoulders, and then
he set off walking.
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(49)

(s0)

(s1)

cwdo7=ti7 kwas kekaw’
NEG=that[vi§ PET+NMLZ+[PFVi+gposy  [RED!far
lhl4ti7 ta=xzum-atkwi7=a qu7, xwem
from+therey1§ PET=big-water=Ex1d water fast
kwas n-sut’-dtqwa7=t’u7,

DPET+HNMLZ+HPFV+POsy [Lod-drain-water=
n-qwiqws-atkwd7=t'u7 ti7.
fLod-small-water=, that[v1g

Not far from the big river, there was a fast running river, though it
was a small one.

dts’x-en-em e=t=snéqwem=a
getscen PIRAFASY  pBI-bET-sun—EXHy
lhel=t74 cd7=a, nilh=¢tu7
from=that[vi§  above=fx1§ [CoB=EXcC]]
s=q’'wem-ilc-min-em, elh
NMLZ=get.curled.up{aAUT-RLT-fpAasy and.then
neqw-cit-em ta=leqwiy’-s=a.

warm [NDHFASY DET-blanker FFOS3-EXTY
The Sun up above saw the boy, and came down and squatted down
next to him and warmed his blanket.

tsdn-em=ku7... t'ig-min’-ém=ku?7,
say+DIRHPASS=QUOT  arriveRLT-HPASS=RQUOT|
tsun-em=ku7:
say+DIRFPASS=QUOT|
He said to him... he approached him and told him:
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(52)

(53)

124

“ctz’=lhkan
going.to=sG.sB]
n=s=7az’-em-ci[ t]-tsin
i G poss=NmLz=buy-MIDHND-pFd PBj+I G ERG
ta=leqwiy’-sw=a
PET-blanker BFQFOSS-EXTS
ta=n-leqwiz’=a, wi7=lhkan
PET-BFQFosy blanker-fXT  [PFY-H355]
es=leqwiz’.”
have=blanket

“I'm going to trade your blanket for mine, I have one too.”

“cuz’=lhkan kwan ta=leqway’-sw=a,
going.to=flsd.fB] take+pIR pPET=blanket-psqposs=Ex1g
nilh  ts7a cuz’ kwin-acw

o thisfiy going.to  take+DPIRESGERG
ta=n-leqwiz’=a.”
DET=fsd[poss-blanket=

“I'm going to take your blanket, and you are going to take this

»

one.
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(s4) nilh=ku7=tu7 s=tstin-em
lcod=quoT=fExcil NMLZ=say+DIR-fpAsg
e=[t]=snéqwem=a:  “wd7=lhkacw s-7ats’x-s,

EB0-PET-sun-EXT [Fr-BGSE] FTATgetscen EATY
(cuz’) wé7=lhkan  tsdlh-ci[t]-tsin
going.to [FF-SaE] pointiND-FAEEHEGER
lh=ctz’=acw
EoMT-going.co-BSETY
kas-ts ta=leqwiz’=a
how{cauy [pET=blanket=
lh=kwén=acw.”
[Com=take+DIR=PF G FB1V

Then the Sun told him: “You watch, ’'m going to point out to you
what you do with the blanket when you’ve taken it.”
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(s5) mul-un-ds=ku7 ta=snéqwem=a
dip.in.water-pIR-fERG=RQUOT]  PET=sun=
ta=leqwiy’-s=a l=ta=qa7=a,
DET=blanket-fposs=EX1I§  at=pET=water=
nilh=ku7=tu7 s=qul=s=t'u7
coB=uoT=Excy] NMLZ=full=fposg=EXcI|
i=stsuqwaz’=a, i=ts’é-tsqwaz’=a,
PIDET=fish=Fx1y PIpET=fish"CRED=EX1Y
nilh=iz’
[coB=those.1g
i=wa7=tstin-itas wa7

PO DET-EPFvl-say-+5TR RS
q’plinak, kew-kwikws=iz’
minnow  [TRED!'small=those [v1§

ku...

DET]
The Sun dipped the blanket into the water, and then it was full of
fish, little fish, the ones called ¢’p’dn’ak, those are little...

(s6)  ...wellin English, they call it fingerlings, that’s the young salmon.
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(57) wéa7=t'u7=ti7 mul-un-as
[rFvi=Excil=thatv1g dip.in.water-pDIR-JERG
l=ta=qu7=a, nilh=t'u7=tu7
=B Fwater X EoT-EXCI-RE
s=wi7=s=t'u7... ken-tidkem

NMLZ=be=fposs=ExCI] around-all

lhas wa7 iz
coMB+IPFV{+BsB]Y  be those.1g
i=stsaqwaz’=a,  i=sts’é'ts*qwaz’=a...

PIBET-fish—[X0S PODE-fishERED—EXT
He dipped it into the water, and then there they were, fish every-
where, little fish...

(58) ..nflh=tu7 aylh s=ka-kwam*em-i-ha
[coB=Exc1 then NMLZ=[CIRd-getFRED-HPL[POSICIR]
wa7 ku=s7ilhen-i=ha muta7

pPET=foodfp1lposy=EX1y  and
ta=kwdékwa7-s=a.
pET=grandmother-gposs=Exiq

...so then he and his grandmother were able to take them for their

food.
(59) wa7=tu7 n-zew’-in-as, tu7
[PFV=REM  [od-scoop.outpIR-JERG
n-zew’-in-as, nilh=tu7=ti7
Foq-scoopoucBTRER]  For-EXcT-thac T3

s=plin=s=t'u7 cw7it
RMLZ-already-GFOS§-EXC]  many
ku=s7ilhen-i.
BET-food FPOFOS
They kept scooping them out, and then they had plenty to eat.
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(60)

(61)

(62)

(63)
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wa7 nelh=nk’sdytken-s=a

be Pp1)JaBS [pET=relative-fpos§=EX1q
nelh=lhwal-en-tali=hi=tu7.
OB BET-get.abandoned BT FrS-EXTS-FEM

Well, his relatives who had abandoned him were still over there

(where they had gone).

wa7=ka kati7 kwa=t’iq.

be=EP1y around+there[v1§ PET+[PFV=arrive

And some people must have come to visit.

qan’im-ens-twitas aku7=ka7=tu7 ts74-wna,
hear-pIR-JPI.ERG to+there [NVI§=QUOT=REM this-precisely
mul-un-as ta=leqwdy’-s=a
dip.in.water-pDIR-JERG  [PET=blanket-gposg=ExI19
nilh=t'u7=tu7 s=wa7=s=t’u’...
[coB=ExXc=REM |NMLZ=be=gpos§=EXcI|
ka-k’4c-a i=q’p’dn’ak=a.

[cird-get.dry{CIRd PI[PET=minnow=EXIs
They had heard about this boy, that he just dipped his blanket in
the water, then there they were, all these fingerlings hanging up to

dry.

tsama=ku7=telh pan’t, ts7ds=wit=ku7,
try.hard=QUoT=at.this.time  return  come=pp1]=QuUoT
ts74s=ku?7 kwa=lhwal-en-t4li.

come=QUOT PET+[PFV=get.abandonedDIR-NTSY

So then the ones who had abandoned him hurried to return.
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(64)

(65)

t’iqzwit, t’iq na=sqatsza7-s=a,

arrive=gp1]  arrive  [ABS[DET=fatherfpOsS=ExI1q
tsun-em=ku7:
say+DIRFpAasg=QuoT]

They arrived, the boy’s father arrived too, and said to him:

“wa7=lhkalh  qan’im  kwisu...

[PFvi=jp1lsB]  hear PET+HNMLZA+[PFV+psG.Posy

kwas cw7it  ku=stsuqwaz’,
DET+NMLZ+[PFVi+gPOosy many pPET=fish
I=ts7a ku=sts’é-ts’*qwaz’  wa7

at=thisy1§  DET=fish’CRED" [[PFV
kwin*en-s-acw.”
cake FRECHEAUS QR
“We hear that you... that there are a lot of fish here, little fish that
you’ve caught.”
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(66)  “o,”  wstr=ku7, “wé7=lhkan es=leqwiz’,

oh say=QuUoT  [PFV=llsdsB]  have=blanket

wi7=lhkan=t"u7 mul-un nilh=tu7
Pr-BafEI-EXe]  dipnwarerpH [For-Excy
ses n-k’47=wit,
NMLZ+fPFV+fposy  [Lod-land=fp1]
lhun mul-un
coMB+iPFVi+lsdsB]V  dip.in.water-pIR
ta=sut’-dtqw7=a (I=ta...) 4ti7

DPET=drain-water= at=pET to+there[v1g
l=ta=qu7=a.”
at=pETj=water=EXIS
“Oh,” he said, “I have a blanket, I just dip it in the water and then

they land in it, when I dip the blanket in the river... in the water
here.”
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(67)  nilh=tu7 ses=t’[u7]
lcop=ExcCl INMLZHIPFV+BPOSS=EXCI|
ka-k’4c=wit-a, nilh=t'u7  s=pan’t=s

iR gec.dry-PIEIRG Eof-EXel] FMIZ-return-fFoss
tdkem=t'u7 lhwal-en-t4li,
all=fxc1] get.abandonedPIR-NTS
nilh=tu7 [s]=snilh=ts
con=Exc1l NMLZ=fsd[NDER=fPOsg
ta=kukwpi7-wil'c=a aylh  cin’=a
pPET=chief-become=EX1g then before=EXIs
ki7kel’-alh=a.
unwilling-habitually=ExT19
So then they were able to dry them, and then all the people who

had abandoned the boy returned, and then he who had been so
lazy before became the chief.

(68)  l=ta=tsuwa7-lhkilh=a n-qwal’dt-ten,
at=pET=own-PIlpos§=Ex1y  [Lod-speak{Ng
kwa=xil-em ati7, kwa...
DET+[PFVi=do-MID  to+there[vi§ [DET+PFV
lhas sk’dk’wmi7t

comi+PFVi+gsBIY  child
kwa=ki7kI’-alh...
PET+PFVi=unwilling-habitually
In our own language, when that happens, when there’s a child who
is really lazy...
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(69) ..tdkem=t’u7... takem-s-ds=t’u7
all=fxc1] all{caus-gerg=ExcI]
t=s-qé*q’l'=a, wi7=tu’ tsut
DET=pTAT-badCRED'=EX1§ [PFVi=EXCI] say
dku7 n-skel*ké-k*l7=a:

to+there INVI§ [5G [POSS{TREDq firstCRED*=EXIY
...who does everything badly, my elders say this:

(70)  “o, guy’t-ulh, cwi<7>*cw<7>ak  elh nilh=kelh
oh sleep-habitually wake<[NCH>'CRED* and.then [CoB=FuT
s=kukwpi7-wil'c=s.”
NMLZ=chief-become=fposg
“Oh, sleepyhead, when he wakes up, he’ll become a chief.”

(71)  In English, they say if a young boy, he’s lazy and sleepyhead, but
when he wakes up he becomes a chief- That’s the end of that story.

(72) sptékwlh=ti7 ts7a, wa7  S-texXw.
legend=that.y1d this.j1g STAT-straight

This is a legend, a real one.
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CHAPTER 9

Qagis muta/ sPaul Spintlum
The Outlaws: Moses Paul and Paul

Spintlum

9.1 English (as told by Sam Mitchell himself)

Prologue

I’'m gonna tell a story about, there was two outlaw Indians. It started in
1911, up till 1912. And it went on for a few years after, before they kind of
give themselves up.

These two Indians, they were from Clinton. One of them’s name is
Moses Paul. He was the first one that was blamed for... It was somewhere
around in August in 1911, that’s around about that time. But I know it
was the year 1911. This Moses Paul got blamed for killing a white man, a
teamster. They used to freight from Ashcroft then. This man was found
dead about four miles below Clinton, so they blamed Moses Paul. So they
put him in jail. It went on, around about the middle of September or Oc-
tober, he got out of jail. They had him in Clinton. This is the way the
story went. So they all, they blamed... There’s another friend of his, Paul
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Spintlum. So they, the policemens and them, they blamed Paul Spintlum
for helping Moses Paul out of jail.

Cultus Jack’s Story: Jack McMillan and Paul Spintlum

So anyways, by that time, the Indians, they used to go and hunt, they still
do yet.

And this policeman, this Jack McMillan, he was a policeman in Clin-
ton. Small town. And he wanted to go and get Paul Spintlum. So he got
another Indian from the same reserve, and he went and asked him, this In-
dian’s name was Cultus Jack. And he said, he went to Cultus Jack, he says,
“You know where Paul Spintlum hunts?”

Cultus Jack says, “Yes, I know. Quite a ways out maybe, up around
Porcupine Creek.”

“Well how can we get him?”

“Well, if you want to get him, you have to get there,” this Indian says,
“if you want to get him, you’ll have to get there before daylight, because all
Indians go hunt early in the morning.”

So this policeman says to Cultus Jack, he says, “About what time?”

“Well,” he says, “it’ll take three hours from here on horseback to get
there.” And he says, “You’ll have to get there before daylight.”

So he says, “Okay, I'll have the horses. You come here. We’ll leave here
about three in the morning, maybe three-thirty and try and get there.”

So they did, him and this policeman, the town policeman and this Cul-
tus Jack Indian. They went, they rode, he told the policeman, “You will
have to ride to get there.”

When they got to the camp, there’s one fire was going, well, that’s the
cook camp on any Indian, on any Indian hunting camp, there’s always the
cook camp, and the fire was going and when he got there, Cultus Jack told
the policeman, “See,” he says, “they’re cooking already.”

When they got there, they get off, that’s before daylight, and the police-
man says, “Where’s Paul Spintlum?”

Someone there point at a tent a little ways from where the fire was. He
says, “That’s his tent over there.”
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So the policeman went over there and he spoke through the tent from
the door and he says, “You, Paul Spintlum in there?”

And he says, “Yes, that’s me.”

And the policeman says, “You know me?” He says, “I'm Jack McMil-
lan,” he says, “I want you.”

So Paul Spintlum answered back and he said, “Okay, give me a chance,
Ill dress up.”

Now, this story come from the Cultus Jack, the Indian that guide the
policeman there, that’s his story. So, Spintlum, he dressed up inside his tent
and got everything ready, he got his gun loaded, and... so anyways, when
Spintlum got ready, he opened the tent door and he walked up in front of
the policeman was there and this Indian guide, Cultus Jack, and he kind of
backed away and he told this policeman (he knew this policeman, this Jack
McMillan, his name, the policeman), and he says, “Okay Jack, you can come
and get me if you like.” But he had his gun pointat him. So he keptbacking
up. And where these Indians camp, there’s brush all around, timber. And
he backed up towards the timber. Before he got to the timber he told this
policeman, he says, “Jack McMillan, next time I seen you in the bush, you’re
gonna be a dead man.”

That’s... this story come from Cultus Jack because he was an Indian, you
see, he was just a guide. So from there he disappeared. And the policeman
and Cultus Jack, they went, they got on their horses and they went back to
town.

When this policeman got to town, he went to the judge, (this is what
I heard from different people), he went to the judge, he took his patch off,
and he told the judge, he says, “I'm finished. Get somebody else to take my
place. I’'m not looking for Spintlum anymore.”

Johnny Pollard’s Story: One Policeman Dead, One Wounded

So this story went on, and this happened in the fall, so they became outlaws,
this, well Paul Spintlum and Moses Paul in the bush someplace. But any-
ways, they got another cop, and in this little town they always used to hold
high court assizes in the Spring around May. It’s kind of a centre. So, this
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happened again the following May, that was 1912. I happened to be work-
ing on a ranch about 10 miles from this Clinton, so T heard quite a bit about
it. And when this assizes was going on, somebody come in there, they come
into town, there was quite a gathering, you know, for juries, for one thing
or another and maybe half a dozen policemens.

Fellow come in from the, kind of the north end of town, and he come in
there and he came over to.... told them cops, he says, “I seen Paul Spintlum
up here, just two miles up here on that basin, just up, up the road a ways.”
That’s, this is on the Cariboo Road. So they gathered up a bouchef], abunch
of people.

Now, this one, I heard from one of them people that was with the
bunch. His name is Johnny Pélatﬂ, he’s passed away quite a while ago. And,
it was his horse that packed the policeman that was shot.

So, when they went up, there was two policemens and there was seven
others, ranchers, good riders, and they all had guns and they went up. He
says, “When we got to this basin,” he says, “it’s quite timbered with smaller
timber, short, sapling timber in places. In placesit’s open. So,” he says, “the
policemens, the two policemens said, “We’ll go in the middle, and there’s
three go down below, and there’s four of yous go up above.”” And he says,
“Just, we didn’t scatter, oh, maybe five or ten minutes,” he says, “we were
gonna kind of search this kind of a small, timbered pothole.”

He says, “First thing we heard were shots. It was just “bang, bang”.
Right down in the middle. So,” he says, “we all run towards that.” He
says, “When we got there,” (that’s this Johnny Pélat I worked with in that
summer, so he told me the whole story), he says, “When we got there,” he
says, “we knew, when we look over there we seen one of them getting on a
horse. But,” he says, “It’s just one man getting on one horse,” he says, “I'seen
him, then we started to shoot him.” And he says, “He missed his stirrup a
few times, finally he got on the horse.” In this country, it’s timbered, pine-
timbered. But you can see for quite a ways. “We started to shoot,” he says,
“but, he kept a going. So,” he says, “there’s nothing else we can do and,” he

"This may be a Chinook Wawa form for ‘posse’.
*The name Plat reflects Sam Mitchell’s ucwalmicwts pronunciation of ‘Pollard’.
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says, “everybody was thinking, “Well, he’s just by himself. Just one of them,
there’s supposed to be two of them.” “Well,” he says, ‘where’s the other guy?’
‘He must be around here someplace.”

Which it was true, this fellow that done the shooting, that was Paul
Spintlum himself. And, but the guy that went away, it was somebody else,
it wasn’t Moses Paul from what I learned after. It wasn’t Moses Paul, it was
somebody he met, he knew, he met there, that’s the one that got away. But
he stayed behind the, he was laying behind a log when he shot these two
policemens was coming right close to him.

So he put the dead policeman on, and one of them was wounded, his
arm was shot. So they took him in. Well after they got him in, they had one
policeman dead and one wounded one, and so then the government hired
a bunch of horses and a bunch of trackers. They hired every saddle horse
around the country that was, that was usable. And he hired all the trackers
he can get ahold of. Them days, I think the trackers were only getting about
two dollars a day. I know he was paying, the government was paying a dollar
and a half a day for a horse. I know I had one horse that they loaned. And
they sure must’ve used him, for he was in bad shape when I got him back.

Paul Spintlum’s Story: Tracking the Outlaws

So, he hired a bunch of guys, then he hired, the government hired ten Indi-
ans from Kamloops, supposed to be pretty good trackers. Then they went
and started to track Paul Spintlum and Moses Paul. And that, and that
country, jack, this country, it’s jack pine country and some places is open
and some places the jack pine is pretty thick and it’s quite a sized country.
You go back for, well say, from Clinton to Dog Creek or Canoe Creek, it’s
all of 75 miles. In this area where these people are travelling, well we’ll say,
in a radius of about 100 miles, you see.

So anyways, the... but some of the guys when they go out there, they
don’t look for them, they go and chase horses. Them days, there was a lot
of wild horses. But there was one particular, and we used to hear the phone
in this place, I was working for Dougherty. A phone come in, he says, “This
fellow, it’s around Chasm.”
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There was a tracker, they called them trackers. He tied his horse and
he went over the hill. (This country is kind of a rough canyon.) So he tied
his horse and he had his binoculars on the saddle, and these fellows who
just happened to be around there close, I guess, and he just watched them
wherever they go. They don’t always ride, they always go on foot. And
he seen this. That’s their story themselves, this Spintlum. They seen this
tracker tied his horse, so one of them sneaked over and got the horse and
got the binoculars too. That’s, they told some of their own people after
that.

But anyways, I heard this, well, the phone come in, he says, “Spintlum,
they stole the trackers horse and his binoculars too.” So that part of it, it
was told from both sides, and that could be true.

So they chased him in every way. These people, these outlaws, they
don’t always ride. When they get kind of cornered in some rough place,
they let the horses go. They’ll just drop them and let them go. They’ll pick
up some more horses somewheres else, you see. There’slots of ranches. And
they say themselves, they told their own people, “We got saddles hanging all
over the bush. Any place, if you want a saddle, you go and get it at a certain
place.” But when they, if they use a horse, if they run a horse down, if they
run him down till he gets tired, well they just turn him loose, hang the saddle
up, and go afoot. They keep that up.

Anyways, the government, he was on them, he had these fellows from
around May, I think, until way late in July, and they couldn’t do nothing.
They bring men, 'm pretty sure, he bring some men from the States. It’s
supposed to be pretty good trackers. And they couldn’t get anywheres near
them because these people, they know the country so well. Just like if they
fly around and... they never get near them.

Finally the government let them go and they put up a reward for 4000
dollars, anybody would...j Anyways, when the government put up these
rewards, but all these bridges, wherever there was a bridge in this part of
the country, there was one right here in Lillooet, and... but there was a ferry
in Pavilion, and all ferries, was always watched, day and night. Up country,

*There is a break in the recording here.
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anywheres else where they can be watched whether they’ll cross a bridge or
anything.

But, their own story, they came down, they came down from Pavilion,
down towards this way, Fountain. And the people there used to have a
boat 5o as you can go across the river and do mining, during that time. He
seen this boat, and they corked it up, (this was in the summertime), so they
crossed. That’s, they crossed from the east side of the river to the west side of
the river. And when they got across, (that’s their story to their own people
around here), he says, “Look, if we tie this boat here, or if we land it, our
people that owns it, they’re gonna get a blame. They’ll know that it must
be somebody that took the boat across and leave it there.” So they dropped
the, took the rope off the boat and they let the boat go.

Pavilion Person’s Story: Disguised as Women

This part of the story they kept agoing.

There’s a reservation down this way about four, five, six miles from
where they crossed the river. The Indian reservation there, they come
along there about dark. And there was always some washing on the line.
They seen, they looked at the washing, there was a couple of skirts, Indian
women’s skirts. In them days, the Indian womens, they wear long skirts. So
they pulled two down. They say, “We’re gonna make use of them.” So they
went down.

This is still up, it’s about six or seven miles from Lillooet. They come
around Lillooet and they went up above, of course, them days, there was
hardly any people, or not as many people now as there are then. And these
old Chinese stores in this town Lillooet used to keep, at that time, they keep
open until ten at nights. That time, there was no such thing as electric light
in this town of Lillooet, it’s all lamp light, in a coal oil lamp.

So they went down, that’s their own story, they went down to one of
these Chinese stores after dark, and buy all the grub they wanted. They
went out, and they were coming down, they come down the road towards
the bridge. And, this s their story, before they got there they put their skirts
on. And in this country there’s always Indian womens travelling about that
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time in the night, and towards in the afternoon with their little packs on,
and going home in different directions. Maybe Fountain, or down below
the river, down the river someplace.

Anyways, these couple of guys, they crossed the river with a pack on
and a skirts on. And they see the couple guys standing there with a gun,
they know them were the guards. On this trip, they happened to know, they
knew this fellow pretty well, he used to be a game warden, and he knew a
lot of Indians. And they looked at him, and of course it was dark, and they
knew it was Joe Russell. They kept agoing and crossed.

They crossed on the east side of the river, and they went up. There’s
one place up on this Fountain reserve, this fellow, he doesn’t live right on
the village, he lives away from the village about a half a mile. And, oh he’s
passed away now, we used to call him Mosquito Jim. They knew Mosquito
Jim well, and they always used to go there, they go there anytime, and park
there. So they go there, Mosquito Jim, and they, that’s the same Mosquito
Jim that used to say, “Oh,” he says, “Paul Spintlum tells me I can go in so-
and-so if I want a good saddle, brand new saddle, just to hang it up on the
tree and turn the horse loose. But,” he says, “I don’t wanna do that.” He
says, “If I get caught with the saddle, maybe I’ll catch heck.”

A Tracker’s Story: The Outlaws’ Hideout

So anyways, this went on for years. Oh, it went on for quite a few years.
Finally, during haying time that same summer, they come around Carson.
Carson used to have a quite a crew of Indians. They had... that ranch used
to put up from around 1000 to 1200 tonne of hay in a year. Big fields, and
he always hired a lot of Indians. Some people, they stay right up there.
And these fellows, they knew who stays there. I know them people, they
all passed away. And they used to come there at nights and tell the story
about how they keep ducking away from people that’s chasing them. And
they still had them binoculars. And that’s where they told the same story
about the binoculars, how they got it. The same story it was told on the
telephone the year before that.
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They say this tracker came there, he had a horse, and he tied his horse,
and they were watching him. And he went down the canyon, down to
Chasm, they call that place Chasm. Quite a rough canyon, he was peep-
ing down there. And one of these outlaws run up and got the horse and
got on and away he went, and that’s the way he, they got the binoculars.
And they still had, they says, they look at the moon, the moon looks close,
and the stars, and anything.

He says that come pretty handy to them, during that time, he says some-
times they get up high and they, and they look around, who’s around, they
can tell who’s there and who’s over there, from any place. They got a hide-
out up in, they call, well it’s always called Leon’s Creek. It’s a, I think the
name, ’m pretty sure the name come from a Chinese origin, that this Chi-
nese miners used to go up the river and this Chinese miner is supposed to
have a store on this creek. Well, the Chinese miners would go up and down,
and he has a store there, and he goes out to Clinton to buy their grub, and he
comes in so the miners don’t have to go out, it’s quite a ways from Clinton.

But up in the head of this creek, these, there’s fellows living today that’s
seen these. Gabe, this fellow right here in town of Lillooet now, he tells me,
he says, “I've seen it,” he says, “I went there.” But he says, “You can’t tell till
you get there, you can’teven see it! Once you get in through the door, when
you’re inside, it’s all split birch on the side, for one wall, on the other side
is a rock wall. And,” he says, “outside it’s mossed. It’s moss all over. But
after you get in there you make a turn, it’s quite a cave.” This cave is still
there. And, he says, “If you go there, and you, well,” he says, “they have a
sweathouse down by the creek, too.” He says, “You go there, you wouldn’t
know there was a cave there, till you, somebody’s got to tell you, it’s gotta
be right there, you gotta just open the door, then you’ll see.”

So anyways, they went away, they kind of disappeared from around this
country and they went towards Merritt. On the later years. When they
crossed the bridge at Spence’s Bridge, the same thing happened again, the
same thing happened in Lillooet. The one of them weared a skirt, act like
an old lady with hump back and the old man. The story I heard over there,
I don’t know how true that is, the guard it was guarding the bridge give
them a dollar to go and eat, and so they went across the bridge anyways. So
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they stayed around Coldwater, oh it was four or five years after. And this
old chief, he was... he had a little money so he thought, if he don’t accept
the reward, and just hire the good lawyers, then maybe he can get ‘em out.

Tom Evans’ Story: A Close Call in Jack Pine Country

Oh, I passed one part. There was one of the trackers during the time they
were tracking him. It’s up around the 70, they call it the 70, past Clinton.
This fellow, he’s gone now, Tom Evans. “Well,” he says, “one morning,”
he says, (I was working with this man and he started to talk about Paul
Spintlum and Moses Paul), “Well,” he says, “I was one of the trackers, there
was six of us,” he said. “I wentalong and we tracked him, and sure enough,”
he says, “we caught up to him. The bacon and eggs was on the fire, but,” he
says, “they went. Of course,” he says, “we chased ‘em. It rained that night,
and,” he says, “we can see to track the horses pretty good. So,” he says, “we
chased them, we chased them in that jack pine timber for quite a ways,” he
says, “that country’s jack pine.” He says, “We kept a chasing ‘em. Figured
we might get ‘em in the open, you know?” Where they can see him, but in
jack pine, you can just see so far, about, you can’t see more than 2 or 300
feet ahead of yous, but you can still track.

“Then,” he says, “we come to a knoll, kind of a burnt knoll. It’s the
only place that was a burnt knoll, but,” he says, “the sapling was so thick.”
He says, “The horses was right there, them two horses. With the saddle on.
So,” he says, “when I seen that I kind of figured something was coming, so,”
he says, “I pulled my horse,” he says, “I was the leader. I pulled my horse and
I turn itaround. And,” he says, “I told the other guys,” he says, ““That’s as
far as 'm chasing Spintlum. If you guys wanna go ahead, well, you’ll have
to get off.” He says, “Then everybody turned around, they went back.”
He says, “When we got back to town, we just tell the bosses there, “Well,
I guess we’ll quit. You fellows can get another crew out.” But,” he says,
“we did got the...” They did have a packhorse. He says, “We did got the
packhorse after we went back to the camp to where they were, but,” he says,
“we never bothered the saddlehorses, because nobody wanted to get off,
nobody wanted to go near them horses, but,” he says, “they were soaking
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wet, them horses. And nobody wanted to go near, right there,” he says,
“right there, just so feet ahead there, the sapling was so thick.” He says, “I
figure that’s where they are, but,” he says, “we don’t wanna go close there.”

Paul Spintlum’s Capture

So anyways, that time, I missed that, I should’ve went on with that while
I was going with them, but anyways, he got around Merritt, well, this
Spintlum guy, he’s from that Thompson country. There’s a Spintlum name
down around Lytton. And they stayed around, well, it’s four or five years
after, you know, and they figure, well they were getting kind of mixed, dif-
ferent people and, so nobody bothered them, and, but this old chief from
West Pavilion, Old Major, he had a little money so he thought, “Well, 'm
gonna...” As a chief, well, he’s gonna do his share. And he says, “I'm gonna,
I’'m not gonna accept the reward.” So he hired two lawyers. 'm pretty sure
the lawyers’ name was... that’ll be around 12, 13, be around 1915 or 16, during
this time, by then. And, so he went right up there, and he knew where they
were. He told them, “You all come on over with me.” They come to Bona-
parte, come to Bonaparte Reserve, that’s the Shuswap, on the Shuswap side.
And, so he brought them over, then he went and told a policeman. Right
away the cops wanna come over and get ‘em, and he told them, “No, not
yet. You fellows gonna get ‘em, you’re gonna take ‘em when I tell you to
take ‘em, I went and got ‘em for you.” So he told them that, “I'm not ac-
cepting no reward. ’'m gonna hire the lawyers myself. Now,” he says, “after
this you can take ‘em.” And the court started from after that.

Paul Spintlum’s Story: The Murdered Chinaman

Well, one thing I forgot again, you know, during the time they were around
Clinton, below Clinton. I forgot when one Chinaman was found dead
there. They told that story themselves, they did that to that Chinaman.
They... this Chinaman used to make wood about, oh, about four miles be-
low Clinton. About the same place where this first white man was dead. I
think it was the Chinaman that reported that.
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Anyways, they went there one time, one night they were hungry. This
Chinaman makes wood, the big Chinaman. So one of them walked in to
this Chinaman’s house, cabin, and asked for grub. As soon as he walked
in, the Chinaman recognized who he was. So, he... the Chinaman grabbed
him. And the Chinaman out-powered him, throwed him down, he was
gonna get a rope and tie him up. But the other guy was outside. So, when
the Chinaman got him down, well, he hollered to his partner, when they
went in... A Chinaman, that time, always has a hatchet on a block of wood,
right inside the door. When this fellow walked in, the hatchet was right
beside the door. He grabbed the hatchet and he chopped the Chinaman’s
head. So, after that, they got out, they found the Chinaman dead with his
head chopped, so they blamed him, but that’s their own story, they done
that.

Court Evidence

But this time, after this other chief got 'em and got ’em to surrender, then of
course the court started. And they had Stewart Henderson and old Henry
Costello, the two lawyers, who were supposed to be the best lawyers. But,
one was caught, and the only evidence... when that one that shot that po-
liceman in Clinton, when he was going back, he was going on foot then to-
wards Canoe Creek. He met another Indian there on some short-cut trail,
and he told this Indian that he shot the policeman in Clinton. That was the
only, that was the main evidence they had. This other Indian said, “He told
me that he shot that policeman.” And that was the only evidence, that was
agin him for good. And one was hung I'm pretty sure, and the other one
was... got life, but they didn’t last long. Anytime they put Indian for life,
he only lasted about four or five, four years at the most.
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9.2 St’atimcets

Na skéla7sa

Cutz’lhkan sqweqwel’min kw s... kw sQdqis muta7 sPaul Spintlum.|]
Lt.skéla7sa, Q4qis ta lumenéma, nilh ti7 sMoses Paul nsem74sk’a7sa.
Aku7 nktkwtsas ekw74 ta Clintona, xw7ttsin k’a ku miles, xek, léku7 lh-
punas ta timstha. Szuqw, wa7 14ti7 timsa. Nilh t'u7 sqwdl’'min’em, kwas
sqwal’minitas kw szuqws ta sim7a. Nilh ku7 malh t'u7 nilh ’u7 ses... ka
wa7 tu7 kiti7 kw sQ4gqis, nilh t'u7 snilhts ta lumenéma, t’'u7 ta dw’ta ta
w47 nsqan’im kwas t'u7 ts’fla kwa lumsttenem nilh tswisa tcwalmicw.

Sqwéqwel’s sCultus Jack: Jack McMillan muta7 sPaul Spintlum

Nilh t'u7 skwédnem ki plismena, lham’4nem... l1dku7 ta pelhtiq’taf] Nilh
tu7 swa7 lt7, swas nlham’ kw sQd4qis. Nas et7a lhwal’tstendlmen.
Ts7as xek, nkd7as k’a, nkdsas ka ta Julya lhzaqwas ti7 ta sdm7a. Nas
tu7 lhwal’tstendlmen. Cwaoynuném tu7 kw sQ4gqis Ihélta nk’d7mena.
Uts’ets’qa7 tu?7, tu” snilhts ku wa7 ’u7 l4ti7, £'u7 i sim7a lani7 ku time,
papt t'u7 ku tcwalmicw wa7 lumenitas, t'u7 nilh t'u7 snilhts t'u7 ststdi, nilh
ti7 sPaul Spintlum ta uts’qa7stéliha, nuk’w7antédli hd k’a kw ska7uts'qa7sd
tu?.

*The name ‘Spintlum’ comes from a Salish word meaning bitterroot (lewisia redi-
viva), with cognates in Scwapemctsin (cf. spit’em (Kuipers, [983, 63)), and other Interior
Salish languages. Sam Mitchell says that Paul Spintlum was ‘kind of a Thompson’, and
the Spintlum name is indeed found in and around the Lytton area.

*The St’at’'imcets word for Kelley Creek, p’elhtiq’ta, derives from the Scwépmecets
word pelltig’t, consisting of the prefix pell- ‘to have’ and the root tiq’t meaning ‘white
earth’ (Kuipers, (983, 46). (The cognate root in St’at’imcets is found in the word for the
Lillooet Reserve, ¢’it’g’et.) The old Kelley Creek reserve (the original pelltiq’s) is actually
where Kelley Creek enters the Fraser River from the east, and therefore quite close to
the old Leon’s Creek reserve on the west side of the river near Pavilion (and quite far
from Clinton). This makes sense, since Leon’s Creek is where the outlaws are said to
have holed up. See the English version of the story, where Sam Mitchell talks about the
outlaws’ hideout at Leon’s Creek.
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Nilh swa7s... wa7 14ti7 ta wa7 ztscal. Nilh t'u7 stsut.s ta wa7 ztscal,
“Wa7 14ti7 ta papl7a Gcwalmicw, nilh ti7 wa7 sfack, Cultus Jack hem’ tu7
snahenitas.f| Wa7 kasim7atsa saw’t{| Tdkem t'u7 kwas kaxilha.”

Tsicwminem ets74 ta wa7 zuscal, nilh €u7 stsinem, “Nka7 lhas pixem’
kw sPaul Spintlum?”

“0O,” tstnas ku7, “Lkw7awna, kekdw’ ti7 dku7 tsa wa7.”

Tsut ku7 ta wa7 ztscal, “Wa7lhkan kenskwin.”

Wa7 tstinem kw sCultus Jack, “Cw7aoz dku7 kwisu tsicw lku sqit.
Aoy t'u7 ti7 kwas psil’, wa7 psil’, ts7as mi7eg’, nilh sqwatstss pixem’.
Lhctz’acw nas dku7, nilh €u7 stsicwsu aku? lkw skéla7s kw smi7eg’s.”

Nilh stsut.s ta wa7 ztscal, “Ama, cuy’ readystum’ ku ts'qdxa7.” Lani7
ku time wa7 ts'qdxa7 t'u7 wa7 qwézez. Cw7ao kiti7 kwa kaoh.

Lhliti7 kK’a, ka nas cu7 tu7 kwas k’a, three o’clock k’a sxek t’u7 nilh
sqelilim’i, kekdw’ ti7 kw slheqw. Kdnas k’a kwas dn’was hours siq’ulh,
kalhds hours kw slheqws.

Tsicwwit dku7, nilh ti7 sqwéqwel’s ts7a ta ucwalmicwa sCultus Jack,
wa7 ti7 qayt hem’ tu7. Plan wa7 swat wa7 esp’dm lta pdl7a latdont. Nilh
st'u7 q'welcitsat ta... tsut ts7a ta wa7 ztscal, “Nka7 ku latdont.s sPaul
Spintlum?”

Tsdnem ku7, “Lita7, l4ta7 kisem 1t7u, nilh ti7 latdont.s.” Nilh ’'u7 tu7
sqwatsdtss ta wa7 zdscal, Cqwiw’swit éta... ta wa7 qayt.s.

Tsicw 4ta7, tsut ta wa7 zuscal, qwal’ut dku7 ta latdonta, “Snu ha sPaul
Spintlum?”

Tsunem ku7, “Iy... s7ents.”

“Wa7lhkicw ha zewdtents? S7ents ti wa7 sJack McMillan, ti7 ta wa7
ztiscal. Qwenmintsilhkan.”

Tsut ku7 sPaul Spintlum, “Ama, caz’lhkan yax kéla7.”

Nilh 14ti7 st’dllecs ta wa7 zuscal lta sk’ém’tsa.  Nilh 1dku7 syaxs,
tsukw syaxs, skwdnas swelmin’ksa, lham’dl’tsnas. Nilh t’'u7 nlaq’tsin’as ta
latdont.sa, wa7 14ti7 st’llec ta plismena. Nilh t'u7 ta stdlhlecsa et74, kel'q

°Desmond Peters, Sr. says that ‘Cultus Jack’ refers to Tommy Jack, from D’Arcy.
"The word saw’t literally means ‘slave’, but here and elsewhere, Sam Mitchell and
other old-time speakers use it as a general epithet meaning ‘this fellow’.
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et74 kakékew’a elh tstinas ta plismena, “Cuy ts7as kwants lhxdt’min’tsacw.”
Wa7 eskwil'gscitas. Cw7ao kw sqwetsilcs ta plismena. Nilh tu7 st’aks
t'u7 kel'q, cw7ao 14ti7 kwas kekdw’ nilh 'u7 skalhticwalmena lki sreprapa.
Kalhticwalmena 4ta7, nilh ststinas ta wa7 ztscal, nilh ti7 wa7 sJack McMil-
lan, tsinas Jack, “Nk47as lh7ats’xentsinas Ita lhecwlhticwa, nilh t'u7 sctiz’su
SZUqwW sqaycw.”

Nilh slhléti7 sqwatsdtsi pan’t muata7 sjack, sCultus Jack. Tsicw tu7
ti7 ta wa7 ztscal et7Gwna tiowna, tsicw ta judgea. Nilh t'u7 skelhends
ta q’'wéylapstsa, nilh t'u7 sq’minnas, ststinas ku7 ta judgea, “Kwam kwa
nik’entsacw, ao ti7 kwenswd xdt’min’ ts7a kw nscuz’.” Nilh tu7 tu7
skdwlecs kw sztiscal.

Nilh t’u7 tu7 scw7aoys kati7 ku akmin’tanemwitas sas kinemwit. Nas
et70 na sqdptsa, 1911 ti7 ts7a ku time ltsa xilemwit 4ti7.

Sqwéqwel’s sJohnny Pélat: Ppla7 ta zaqwa plismen, pépla7 ta
q’dm’ta tu7

Nas tu7 zdnucwem, qapts. Papt laku7 lhas Clintona lhas wa7 i wa7 assize,
wa7 tstnitas ku ca7 skoth4dws.

Lt7uk’alhas May, siq’ulh k’a ta Mayha p’a7cw. Put Cu7 liku7 wa7 i wa7
high court, ca7 skothdws. Nilh 'u7 s... t'iq ku7 4ti7 ta papl7a lhldku7 talhd7
snkukwem’s ta Clintona, 4ti7 lhts74sas. Nilh ku7 c’u7 stsut.s, “Wa7 aw’t
sPaul Spintlum lkw74wna muata7 sMoses Paul lkw7a lta nk’ewdnka lkw7a!
Ao ti7 hl4ti7 kwas p'aZ7cw lhélkw7a two mile ka 1hlati7 Clintona!” Nilh
st'u7 lhléta7 sqelilims i sdm7a, tsut, “Cuz::y, cuy nas kwintanemwit!”

N74n’was i wa7 zuscal, papla7 14ti7 lkw7u askrdopa, ta papl7a wa7 zds-
cal, elh nilh ti7 lhl4ti7 ta tsitsela wa7 ztscal 14ti7 p'elhtiq’ta. Nilh t’u7 kati7
wa7... i kati7mecd t’u7, wa7 t.scw7i{t.sa ldku7 wa7 gaw’p, nilh iz’ wa7 ju-
rys. Wi7lhkan zewiten l4ti7 i nk’'wink’wendsa k’a. Nilh ti7 ta wa7 sfohnny
Pélatf] telh 14ti7 wa7, lhldku7mec t7u ti pelhtiq’ta. Wa7, nilh ti7 wa7
lh... nek’wlh74lkstminlhkan ti7, pindni7 kw sqemps, wa7 qwél'entsas 4ti7
tikem ku szdyteni l4ti7.

*The name Polat reflects Sam Mitchell’s ucwalmicwts pronunciation of ‘Pollard’.
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“Nilh sqwatsdtskalh,” tsut, “Q’em’qem’pdlmenlhkalh lhtikemat.
Tékemlhkalh,” tsut, “eswelmin’k. Tsicwkalh,” tsut, “4ti7 14ti7 Ita ts’il.ha
ku nk’ewank. Sreprip, cw7it i kewkwikwsa sreprér’p. Nilh ku7 t'u7
stsut.s, tsut ta wa7 zdscal, nilh ti7 wa7 skukwpi7, ‘S7ents, cuz’lhkalh
lts7a, wa7 st’ak izd zehdw’s, nkekalhids et7a ku tak xdw’en’a. Nkalhis
et70 cd7a, nxwe7xw7utsin et74 cd7a.” Qem’qem’palmenwit. Nilh sqwat-
sétsi.” Nilh ti7 ets74 ta wa7 sqweqwel'entsds ta wa7 sfobnny Pdlat, wa7
tsut, “T’dkkalh et74 cd7a. Putkalh k’4 €’u7,” tsut, “lad7 ts’ila ku siq’ulh.
Nilh,” tsut, “sqan’imensan ku éqwpa lita7, lt7awna lta nk’ectilm’ecwa,
an’was ku teqwps, lha7lha7min’twal’ kwa teqwps. Nilh st’'u7,” tsut, “4ta7
snexwnixwkalh. Tsicw sfwemlhkalh,” tsut, “4dta7 wa7 lhqwilc. Kalhds,”
tsut, “lati7 ts'qdxa7 wa7 esgéts, wa7 lhqwilc ta papl7a, wa7 lhqwilc ta
wa7 cik’enas i nk’wwatdn’sa. Lhqwilc,” tsut t'u7, “snilh 4ta7,” tsut, “swas
quscitem. Wi7 k’winas k’a,” tsut, “s7ents kw nsqusem, aoy t'u7 kiti7 nstsut
kwas ts’fla wa7 nkelhkdn’em’ nilh t’u7 ta stexwsqdxa7sa, cw7aoy t'u7 lhldti7
kekdw’s, nilh t’u7 ses cw7itisrepripa. T ak tu7,” tsut, “Wa7 tak cwelcwelpé-
nas, cw7ao kwas txwilc, cwelewelpilc t'u7 tu7.”

T’u7 aoz hem’ ti7 kwas nilh lhlak iz’. S7icwlh ku7 tu7 ti7. Npzd-
nas, wa? lati7 sqweqwel'entsds, k’dmalh ta pdpl7a lhlak iz’ k’a nilhas malh
ti7 sQ4qis, ta cw74oza lati7 kw swa7s. Ns7icwlh kati7 kenkw st’aks tu7,
k’dmalh nilhas t'u7 ti7 ti wa7 sPaul Spintlum 14ti7 wa7, €u7 lati7 hém’ t'u7
lhes wa7, eskitslec, sq’utdlqwsa ta szika. Nilh ti7 qusentali ni plismena ku
Stexw.

Nilh malh ti7 stexw sqwéqwel’ kw squscitas ku plismen 14ti7 Ih... tsukw
t'u7 lati7 lhlawanémas ldti7, lhplinas aylh wa7 cin’. Nilh st’igs liku?,
tigstum’, nilh snexwsqaxa7minem ta pdpl7a plismen, nilh sqim’aka7 ta

papl7a.

Sqwéqwel’s sPaul Spintlum: Nk’wan’cenidnem nelh wa7 cwelculel

Nilh sgew’pi 14ti7, ta kipmena. K’wilhcal ki ts'qdx7a, i saddleborsesa ken-
tikem. Tikem t'u7 wa7 kateqstwitasa saddlehorse. Cw7it i wa7 qwez,
k’walhcal ki wa7 nk’wen’cendlhtsa7, cw7it sdma7. Cw7it t'u7 liku7 i
wa7 wa7 sima7. K’wilhcalwit ki ucwalmicwa, nq’ém’qem’p Gewalmicw
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lhelkw71d ta Kemlapsa i wa7 t'iq nk’wen’cendlhts’a7. Nilh s7aylhs, cuy’s
kalenfitas, nk’wen’cendn’itas.

Wa7 ku7 tsatwit wi snilh, wa7 ats’xenitas i wa7 nk’wen’cendlhts’a7.
Liku7 malh nilh ti7 wa7 necnactim’. Chasm hem’ ta wa7 snahenitas i
sdm?7a, nilh ti7. Wa7 ku7 s7ats’xstwitas i... kiti7 wa7 nk’wen’cenilhts’a7,
a0 kwas paptwit wa7 slheqw. Wa7 t’u7 kdti7 nmdtq.wit, legwilc kentdkem.

Ats’xenitas ku7 ta wa7 nk’wen’cenilhts’a7, getsends lati7 ta ts'qdxa7sa.
Nilh t'u7 sqwatsétss tu7 dku7 cdl’us. Lhqwilc ta papl7a, tsicw lhqwilc.wit.
Lheqwileminas i ts’qaxa7s4 'u7 nilh sq’dyleci éta trapstena. Wa7lhkan ldti7
k’weztisem pindni7 ts7a lt.skikwtsasa ta p'elhtiq’ta. Kaqan’imskana kw
snaq’wcitém tu7 kwa... k'wen’cendlhts’a7, ku trdpstens mata7 ku ts'qixa7s.

Sqwéqwel’s sTom Evans: Tqilh t’'u7 kwinenwit nelh wa7 cwelctlel
lta qwlitdlm’ecwa

Nilh ti7 kentikem ldku7 lhas kalenitas, k’wan’cendnitas, cw7it cw7it
cw7it.  TS'ila kdti7 ku7... ti7 ku pdla7 tmicw, ku xetspqiqen’kst mile
kentswésa wa7wit kent7G sqwémqwema kentdkem. Wa7 tsut na pdpl7a
sima7 wa7 zewdtenan, sqweqwel’minas, wa7 tsut, “S7ents....” W47lhkalh
k’'weztsem lkw7dna sqém’qem’a, nilh stsicwtsminitas nelh, iz’ wa7 out-
law. Nilh ses sqwéqwel’ ts7a ta papl7a sima7, tsut, “S7ents ta papl7a
wa?7 nk’wen’cendlhts’a7,” wa7 tsut, “ntsiltslekstkalh. T’4kkalh,” tsut 4ti7,
“4ts’xenem l4ti7 wa7 esp’dm, wa7,” tsut, “ta nk’{ixmena, wa7 14ti7 pikena
Ina nk’ixmena, na 47s7a. Nilh,” tsut, “s74ts’xenem kw sqeyq’dylecs t'u7
lhl4ti7 nlheqw.” Wa7 tsut, “Wi snilh.”

“Nilh,” tsut, “skalentdnemwit dku7 ti7 i wa7 tsinem wa7 ti7 ku tmicw,
lhtédkemas l4ti7 kekaw’, qwlit tu7.” Sc'k’alqw iz’ kénki nukwa, ts’ila ku
legwlig’w kénki nukwa, t'u7 wa7 hem’ t’'u7 kat’dka i ts'qdx7a. Kaleni-
tas k’win’cen, wa7 ats’xcendnitas, wa7 tsut pindni7 kwas gap, wa7 kwis.
“Psil’,” tsut, nilh t'u7 ses tsut, “Kahal’ha ta stakmentha.” Nilh stsut.s,
“Kalentinemwit, tsdtkalh t'u7 kwas ka7ats’xstanemwita lkw shdl’hi ku
st’aki kekd7ew’, nexwnuxw, cwelctlel. T dkkalh t’'u7,” tsut, “tsicwkalh
ta sqwemulm’ecwa. T¥’fla 7 ku sgwel kidta7 ku sqwemutlm’ecw, liti7
ta k’écha.” Wa7 tsut, “Lédti7 ta ts'qdx7a,” ptak t'u7 stsut.s lati7, “Et7q,
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nilh t'u7 nstwiwa, stek’dlqw nstwiwa.” Nilh t’'u7 tsut 14ti7, Ihldt7 cu7
tsut, “Nilh t'u7 nstsutinwas s7ents. Plan t’'u7 lidkw7a ts7a cuz’ kén’en’
ntixwatsa,” wa7 tsut, “ntixwatsa, qtsepepép nskwt'tsa. Nilh t'u7,” tsut,
“sqwetsinan nts'qdx7a, nilh nspelk’asem. Nilh t'u7,” tsut, “skat’élsa i
nk’sdytkena lt.s74w’ta. Nilh t'u7,” tsut, “stsuntanthan, ‘Ldt7 t’u7 lh...
14ti7 ¢'u7 lht'dlas kw nscuz’ kdlen iz’... kw sPaul Spintlum, lhxat’mindl’ap
kw st’dklap, nilh t'u7 st’dklap.” Cw7aoy t'u7 kwas nasmin’citanemwit
i tsqax7tha. Nilh t’'u7 sp’dn’tkalh lhliti7. Nilh u7 nsp’an’t, nilh t'u7
span’ts i nikwa. Lhwaleném t'u7 l4ti7 i ts'qdx7iha, wa7 t'u7 lati7. Nilh
sp’an’tkalh, np’elk’cenantsitkalh, tsicwkalh 4ku7 na s7ats’xenéma kwas
esp’am, wa? l4ti7 ta pépl7a ts'qixa7, nilh ti7 pakhési ka.”
“Kwancitinemwit lhlati7, 4ts’xenem i szdcensa ta pakhésiha. Wa7wit
i s7ilhena, tdkem ku swin’acws s7{lhen l4ti7 lak... p’elenilh i candyha. Nilh
t'u7 ti7 stsukws kwinem ta pakhésa.” Lts7a i quscitimas ta kél7a plismen
wa7 kwanenstwitas 14ti7 ta pakhésa. Ts’ila tu7 ak iz’ stsati ku lak. Tsut cu7
dku7 ps... Wa7 iz’ ptal’kem swin’acws s7{lhen: canned stuff; kan, i kdna, i
candyha. Tikem t'u7 swinacws s7ilhen, aoz t’'u7 kwas tdytwit. Lhnk47as
lhas kwanenstwitas, wi7wit k’4 t'u7 esnk’sdytken kwas kwanenstwitas iz’.

Sqwéqwel’s ta ts’k’waylacwmeca: Smulhats ta sydxiha i wa7
cwelctlel

Pindni7 hem’ ku time, ao kiti7 kwas kwimem i ucwalmicwa ku
qusemdl’ts lhas kenstecwpwit ku qusemal’ts kénki stéha. I lhliku7meca,
i pelhtiq’tmeca muta7 et7a i Canoe Creekemca muta7 dku7 i wa7 wa7
tcwalmicw dku? ta wa7 tsunitas wa7 Big Bar, cw7aoy t'u7 kit7 kwas
kwimemwit ku qusmél’ts lhas kenstecwpwit ku qusemal’ts kenkw7u
askrdopa, lhas tsicwwit tecwp. Tsukw t'u7 kents74 wi snimulh wa7
kwdmem ku qusmal’tsa, pindni7.

Nilh ti7 wa7 szdyteni pindni7 wa7 sQdqis. Tsdma t’u7 aylh ta képmena,
kdnas k’a kwas 4n’was t’4nam’ten, nilh t'u7 stsukws, nilh t’u7 stsukwi. Aoy
t'u7 kwas npzénitas. K’wilhcalwitlhelkw71 talh7alqwa i nukwa sima7 wa7
'iq. Nilh ku7 cuz’ kwanenstali. Kaxekstwitasd t'u7 kw scw7it7uls szdyten,
nilh t'u7 stsukws. Nilh t'u7 slheqpidlgwems ta kvpmena ku xw7utsin
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sthousands ku kwanenstanemwitas. Nilh t'u7 ti7 swas lheqpalqw, wa7
malh s7ats’x i €'1dz’a, i wa7... i ferryha, i wa7... tswa i wa7 taq’, mutta7 i
ntqwixwa wa7 es74ts’x.

Wa7 viq.wit kdti7 kénki nk’saytkeniha, kents7dwna ts’k’wdylacwa,
lata7 wa7 alkst ta wa7 sqwéqwel. Wi47lhkan zewdten nelh, ta wa7
sCharlie Harry muta7 sFelix, 4ti7 t'u7 st’iq.wit, wa7 iz’ ldta7 estsitcw.
Lhas gap, wa7 ts7as sqweqwel'minitas i wa7 szdyteni. Qweqwel’'minitas
i wa7 nk’wen’cendlhts’a7, wa7 t'u7 s7ats’xstwitas ku7. Tsicwwit kénki
ca7tndl’usa, s7ats’xstwitas iz’, tak.wit kati7. Ao kwas kdstwitas kwas cuz’
squscititas.

Lhas qwendnwit ku ts'qdxa7, wa7 tu’7 neqwsqdxa7wit,
naq’'wenstwitas, tsicwwit kénki stiipvla, naq’wenstwitas i ts'qdx7a.
Ts’fla ku '47enas kw npzdntanemwit, nilh t’'u7 stakmin’as ti7 ta sts'qdx7a,
nilh t'u7 sliwsas ta sdotvla, nilh t'u7 nmatq eki nqvlélm’ecwa. Cw7aoys
ku7 kat’dka ku wa7 slheqw. Kwan lhldti7, ts74swit ku7 nmatq.

T’iq.wit 4ti7 et7Gwna ta wa7 tsinem wa7 q’dqlelcen. Wa7 ldta7 st’laz’
i ucwalmicwa, lhlita7mec i wa7 tsicwwit ts’dwcal ta x7ilha lhas nukw. Wa7
ti7 naq’wawlhenitas ta t'ldz’a. T°4q’.witdta7,lha7gs. Nilh ku7 t’u7 stsut.s ta
papl7a, “Caz’minem i nk’saytkenlhkilha.” Cuz’ tsintanemwit ta wa7 tu7
qwezcititas ta.. qweyenitas iz’ ta '1dz’a. Nilh tu7 sweq’wenitas ta t'ldza
ku kwdnitas, kelhenitas ta 16pa, nilh t'u7 sweq'ws ta t'ldz’a, tstewit ku7,
“T’akas mélh ti7 weq’'w.”

Nilh st’dki lhldti7, €'iq.wit 4ti7 nxwistena, i wa7 lhlita7 lhwas stsitcw.
Wa7 ku7 14ti7 i sq’'witsema. Ats’xenitas, tsicw dta7. Kwimemwit ki
st’4inwena, 4n’was st’dnwen. Nilh sts74si, tsicwwit ets74 sci7sa ta Lillooeta.
Wia7wit kiti7 lhpsil'as. Gap.

L4ti7 ta tsinemena wa? esstéh, nilh ni7 wa7 Svntéh. Wa7 scwak t’u
ten o’clock t.sit.sta. Tsicwwit ku7 4ta7 tiw’tsam’. Tsukw stiw’tsam’i, nilh
sts74si lhlata7 lhecwenitas i st’danwena, eszeczicenwit.

Ts7aswit Its7a ntqwixwa. Wa7 ku7 l4d7 i sim7a, n74n’was wa7
s7ats’xstéli, wa7 t'u7 kandn’k’a. Sucwtenitas ta pdpl7a, nilh ni7 wa7 sjoe

Russell. Nilh st’aki.
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Tsicwwit ekw7awna ekw74 esTédyka. Nilh ni7, nilh ni7 pdotenhi,
kekdw’ ti7 lheltswidsa stsitew lki... ldku7 lki ucwalmicwalm’ecwa cicel’pa,
Kekéyka7 wa7 ti7 tsa xdw'en’a. Papt ku7 dku7 lhas tsicwwit stsitcwem.

“U,” ku7 tsunitas kw sTdyka, “elh qwendn ku sdotvl, tsitsel wa7 et7u
lkw7u slaw na pal7a, tsukw 'u7 kw sndstsu kwan.”

Tsut kw sTéyka, “Ats’xcitsilem kelh, sucwtcitsdlem kelh.”

Nilh ti7 wa7 szdyteni kiti7, kati7 kénki nk’saytkenfha lhas tsicwwitkati7
lhus tsicwwit tsitcwem. Cw7ao kiti7 wa7 tridoka, cw7ao kiti7 kwas aldnitas.
Wa7 nmatq.wit, wa7 cu7 cwilemwit ku wa7 slhéqwlheqw. Wa7 ntsutdn-
waswit kwas slheqwlheqwwit papt, t'u7 cw7aoz ku7 kwas pdptwit wa7 sl-
heqw. Tsukw t'u7 lhas cuz’ ka7ew’wit lhwas slheqwwit. Ptak 1hl4ti7, nilh
t'u7 stig’ws t'u7 ta tsqdx7a, nilh t'u7 slaws ta siotvla.

Sqwéqwel’s sPaul Spintlum: I k’azaka7minemas na tsinamena

Cw7it nelh kwas... kwas esszdyten kiti7. Ta pédl7a szdyteni... ldku7
pelhtiq’ta nkikwtsas laku? lhas... wa7 ta tsinemena kdl'em ku sp’dmsa.
Nilh ku7 t'u7 ststd, “Cuy nas,” tstinas snik’wa7sa, “cuy nas xel’tsmin.”
Cw7a0 ti7 zewatenitas ta tsinemena. Wa7 ti7 zewatentdnemwit 4ti7 ta
tsdnemena, gélgel xzum ku tsdnemen.

Nilh s7ulhcews ta papl7a, tsinem ku7, “Cuy um’entimulh ku s7ilhen,
um’ents ku s7ilhen! Laoys muta7 ku stam’ t'u7 kdti7.” Ats’xeném
t'u7 ta tsinemena, sucwtenem, nilh skwinem. Kwantwil’stum’ lati7,
ng’minulm’ecwénem lati7 lhas nilh scwil'ems ta tsinemena ku lop ku zts-
cunem. Nilh kw swe74dws, wa7 ta snuk’wa7sa lkw7u 4ltsq7a. We7awends
ku7, “Splan q’dw’entsas ta tsinemena!” Ulhcw lhliku7 snik’wa7sa.

I tsinemena sntsa wa7wit, papt t'u7 wa7 sk’etcw kdti7 i sisqgem’mentha
ku kwikws tamin. Ulhcw t’u7 dku7 kws... swéta7... Moses P..., swéta7 ti7
sPaul Spintlum. Ats’xenas plan wa7 np’itslum’cwanem ta snuk’wa7sa,
nilh skwdnas ta amina, nt’utslaginnas ta tsinemena, kalhvp’a snilh.

Zewatentdnemwit wi snilh ts7a ti7 ku xilhtal’i, tsdtwit t’u7 wi snilh
kwas wi snilh ts7a ti7 ku xilhtal’i, nilh ti7 ti7texw kw sk’azdk7ami.
Sqwal’ném t’u7 ta pdotnasa ka lhcw74dozas kwas wa7 stqwaw’swit, nilh
t'u7 ti7 sqaw'eném t’u7 ta tsinemena, zesziscunem, nilh t'u7 ti7 snas
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sqwal’minem. Nilh zam’ sn74n’was i nt’utslaginnas. Nilh hem’ ti7 tsw7i
sqwéqwel’, kwas nt’utslaginnas, t’utslaginnitas ta tsinemena wi snilh.

Kwinen aylh kw sPaul Spintlum

Wa7 hem’, wéd7wit malh kents74, ts’fla ku paZ7cw. Pa7cwwit kents74, nilh
t'u7 sts'ftem elh... ti7 ti wa7 sPaul Spintlum, ts’ila ti7 kw snlhakdpmec. Nilh
t'u7 sts’itemi aku7 Merritta, cw7it dku7 i ucwalmicwa.

Tsut ta ndkwa nsqan’im, xilemwit ku7 tu7 lht'dq’.witas ldku7 Spence’s
Bridge Ita ntqwixwa. Qelhmémen’ ku smulhats i sydxsa ta pipl7a, qelh-
mémen’ sqaycw. T’ak wi7 sip’. Lan wa7 gap. Tsuntanemwit ku7 ta wa7
s7ats’xstdnem... ats’xstdli l4ti7 skinas kw st’aq’sicwlh. “Cuy malh, cuy nasil-
hen,” wa7 um’entdinemwit ku7 ta pil7a sqlaw’, “nas ilhen 4ti7, planlhkal’dp
k’a wa7 tayt lhelkw74 lhts74sal’ap.” Tsuntanemwit t'u7, wa7 hem’ iz’ wi
snilh.

Nilh €u7 st’dq’i, tsicwwit dku7 kénki nk’saytkentha, lhlaku7 malh zam’
lhkwantanemwitas esOld Major. Nilh ni7... splans k’a wa7 four years 4ti7
kwas sxilemi, kaku7 Ihas wa7. Stdm’as k’a ku year, 1915 k’a 16 pinini7? K’a
lhpa7cwis 14ti7 sxek wa7, nilh Cu7 stexw wa7 ti7 kinem pindni7 kw s1912
lhkel74s zuqwstwitas na plismena. Liku7 malh aylh lhwas kwantanemwitas
esMajor. S74ts’xcal hém’ ni7 na skwétsitssa, tcwalmicwts.

“Ao kws,” tsut, “cw7a0 kw nscuz’ kwan i wa7 sxaq’s ta kipmena,
wa?7 tstnitas wa7 reward. Cuz’ qwezném ta ntsuw7a sqlaw’ k’wélhcal ku
16wya.” Nilh t’'u7 aylh kw sxilems.

Szaytens ku skothdw’s

T’u7 law tu7 ta papl7a. Tsukw t'u7 ti7 lawantdli, tsukw t'u7 ti7 ...
sqwal’ends t'u7 kw s7ucwalmicws npzdnas i tsukwas l4ti7 lhzaqwsas ta plis-
mena. Ti7 hem’ kw sQdqjs, cw7ao l4ti7 kw swa7s, nkd7as k’a [htsicwas, wa7
klhaw’silc.wit has nukw.

Quwatsits k’a malh 14ti7 kw sPaul Spintlum, nilh €u7 s... Wa7 k’a dku7
ku wa7 Meadow Lake 1iku7, Beaver Dam nscwikwekw. T’ak dku7 ta
lhxwélusema c.walh. Nilh 1dku? st’aks nmatq, nilh npzénas ta ucwalmicwa,
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lhldku7mec ti7. Nilh t'u7 sqwil’enas, tstinas, “Quscitkin tu7 na plismena
lkw7a.” Nilh malh ti7 ku dewalmicw sqwal’, kw stsinem dku7 sPaul
Spintlum kw squscitas ku tewalmicw, kiku? plismen, kwa zascal. Tsukw
t'u7 ti7 cman’in’s i tsicwas ta kothdwsa.

Sqwéqwel’s sGeorge Carson: Skas kw skwatsitsinem sCultus Jack

Cw7it kw skothdwsi, nilh sHenderson, wa7 sStewart Henderson muta7
sCostello, old Henry Costello, nilh iz’ lawyer kK’wilhan’as, sjudgecal.
K’winas k’a ku skothdws, i kentikema lhtsicwwitas kothdws, k’winas k’a ku
sappeals, wa7 tstnitas, lkw7u malh wesminstha. Nilh ti7 nukw sqwéqwel’s
sGeorge Carson, ni wa7 tuwitnes.

Tsicwtsminem ku7 kw sCultus Jack. Tstnem ku7 kw sCultus Jack,
“Cultus Jack, sima7 tilhlec, sqwal’ ku szdytensu.”

Nilh ku7 t'u7 stsut.s ta judgea, “Cultus Jack, cw7aoz ha ti7 kw sqvls,
lku s7ucwalmicwts kwa cultus?”

Tsut ku? kw sCultus Jack “Ob yes, yes, judge, sure, that’s bad’”

Tstinem ku? ta judgea, “Kénem sas nilh iz4 um’enitas skwdtsitssu?”

Muta7 stsinas ta judgea, “U, iwdn tw’iw’t, piptkan wa7 n’dsmin’ i
smelhmulhatsa. Nilh t’u7 ststintsas i nk’sdytkena, ‘Cultus Jack’.”

Ati7 Thtsem’pés ti7.
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9.3 English (Direct Translation)

Prologue

I’'m going to tell about Moses Paul and Paul Spintlum.

At first, Q4qis was the one that got blamed, Moses Paul was his white
person’s name. They found a teamster downstream from Clinton, maybe
about four miles | He was dead, but the team was still there. That’s what
was reported, they were reporting that the white man was killed. Then they
said Moses Paul had apparently been around there [ So it was him that was
blamed, but the last I heard he was blamed just because he was an Indian [

Cultus Jack’s Story: Jack McMillan and Paul Spintlum

He was caught by the police, and they put him in jail at Clinton.[] So Moses
Paul stayed in jail. It was getting close to fall. It must’ve been sometime
around the beginning of July when that white person was killed. It was
getting close to fall. Moses Paul went missing from the jail. He got out of
jail, and since he (Paul Spintlum) was there at the time, and the white people
always blamed the Indians, they said it was him, it was Paul Spintlum that
got him out, that must’ve helped Moses Paul to get out.

The teamster was William Whyte, who was found dead in mid-July 1911 by a Cari-
boo freight-team driver in Suicide Valley, four miles down the Cariboo wagon road from
Clinton (ClarKk, zo14, 127).

'°It was Ah Wye, a Chinese Woodcutter, who reported to Constable Jack McMil-
lan that he had seen William Whyte with Moses Paul shortly before Whyte’s death.
(ClarK (zo14), 128) refers to him by the name Chew Wye.) Wye was later murdered by the
outlaws.

"ClarK (2014, 128) states that McMillan found Whyte’s watch at Moses Paul’s cabin,
which fueled McMillan’s suspicions to the point that he took Paul to the jail in Clinton
while investigations continued.

?According to newspaper reports and the trial evidence, Moses Paul was jailed in
Clinton, and so it seems that Sam Mitchell is using the place name P’elhtig’t to refer not
only to the reserve at Kelley Creek, but also to the town of Clinton.
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There was this policeman. The policeman said, “There’s one Indian,
Cultus Jack is what they call him. That fellow can speak English. He can do
everything.”

Cultus Jack was approached by the policeman and was asked, “Where
does Paul Spintlum hunt?”

He said, “Over that way, it’s a long way to where he stays.”

The policeman said, “I want to get him.”

Cultus Jack told the policeman, “Don’t get there during the day. It’s
not even dawn yet when he leaves to go hunting. When you go there, you
have to get there before daylight.”

The policeman said, “Good, we’ll get some horses ready.” At that time,
it was just horses that were used. There weren’t any cars.

Before 3 o’clock in the morning, Cultus Jack and Jack McMillan (the
policeman) were hurrying around getting ready to go. It was a long way to
ride on horseback. It took maybe 2 1/2 or 3 hours to ride there.

They got there. That’s what this Indian Cultus Jack said, that he and
Jack McMillan made it to the top. There was already someone who had a
campfire going at one of the tents. This person was cooking something for
himself, and the policeman asked, “Where is Paul Spintlum’s tent?”

He told the policeman, “Over in the back, that’s his tent.” Then the
policeman set off, and they both got to the top of the hill.

The policeman got there and was talking into the tent, “Are you Paul
Spintlum?”

And he was told, “Yes, that’s me.”

“Do you know me? I am Jack McMillan, the policeman. I want you.”

Then Paul Spintlum said, “Okay, ’'m going to get dressed first.”

The policeman stopped outside the door of the tent. Paul got finished
dressing, then he got his gun and loaded it. He lifted the opening of his
tent door, and the policeman was standing there.[] Since the policeman
was standing there, Paul Spintlum backed away a little before he told him,
“Come on and get me if you want me.” Paul had the gun aimed at him. The

YCultus Jack was a witness to this whole event, and was standing outside the door of
the tent next to Jack McMillan.
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policeman didn’t move. So Paul just continued to back up, and it was not
very far until he had almost disappeared amongst the trees. He had nearly
disappeared into the bush, and then he told the policeman, Jack McMillan,
“If I see you anywhere in the bush, you’ll be a dead man.”

So they set out to go back, he and Cultus Jack. The policeman got back
to town and went to the judge. He took oft his badge, threw it down, and
he told the judge, “Get someone to replace me, I don’t want to do this any-
more.” So he quit being a policeman.

Then nobody paid attention to what the outlaws were up to. That was
in 1911 during the springtime, when they were doing that.

Johnny Pollard’s Story: One Policeman Dead, One Wounded

The next spring came around. That’s when they always hold what they call
high court assizes in Clinton.

It was a little past the beginning of May, halfway through May, a little
past. They were just having high court, where they have the high courts.
Then someone arrived from over on the other side upstream from Clinton,
that’s where he came from. He said, “Paul Spintlum and Moses Paul are
back over there in a hollow in the sidehill! It isn’t more than two miles
from Clinton!”[] Then the white people started hurrying around, and they
said, “Come on, let’s go get them!”

There were two policemen, one was from Ashcroftf], and the new po-
liceman was from Kelley Creek[] And there were a bunch of people from
all around there, there were a lot gathered there because they made up the
juries. I knew several of them that were there. A guy called Johnny Pollard

“The newsbearer was Charlie Truran, who worked at Pollard’s ranch. Immediately
after discovering two horses in the brush downstream from Clinton, two men with rifles
leapt out at him from the underbrush (ClarK, zo14), 131).

PThis was Constable Forest Loring, an assize witness (ClarK, po14), 132).

1°This was Constable Alec Kindness, who took over Jack McMillan’s position after
he resigned (ClarK, po14), 132). Others in the posse included George Carson of Pavilion,
and Jimmy Boyd and Bill Ritchie from Clinton. Boyd was a crucial witness at the trial,
because he was the only who claimed to have positively identified Spintlum as the shooter
behind the log.
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was there, he was from Clinton.ﬂ I worked with him that summer, that’s
when he told me everything that happened to them.

“We left,” Johnny said, “there were nine of us in all.” He said, “We all
had guns.” He said, “So we got to where there was kind of a basin in the
sidehill. There were trees, lots of little trees. Then the policeman said, the
one who was in command, ‘Me and these guys, we’ll be going here in the
middle, and three will go down below. Three of you up high, four of you up
high.” There were nine of them in all. They set out.” This is what Johnny
Pollard told me. He said, “We were going along above the others.” He said,
“We must’ve gotten about halfway there.” Then he said, “I heard shots over
there in a dip in the ground, two shots, close together.”[| He said, “Then
we galloped towards there.” He said, “We went off to the side, there was
one of them getting on his horse.” He said, “Three horses were tied up,
one person was getting on a horse, but he missed his stirrups.”

He said, “He got on a horse, and he was the one whom we shotat. I got
several shots off, but I don’t think the the horse could have been unsaddled,
because he was able to steer it, and it wasn’t far until he reached a thicket
of trees. He kept on,” he said, “He kept on turning his horse around. He
didn’t go straight, he kept turning.”

But in fact, he wasn’t one of the outlaws. He was someone else. He
came across them, Johnny Pollard told me, and Moses Paul must have been
one of them, but Moses Paul wasn’t actually there. Moses Paul had gone
someplace else, but Paul Spintlum must have been there, he was laying
down on one side of a log. He’s the one that shot the policeman for sure.

And that’s the truth, that Paul Spintlum shot the policeman, and that
was the only reason why he would be hung, though it was a long time before
he was hung. So the dead policeman arrived, he was brought in, and then
one other policeman was brought in at a gallop, because that one had been

hit in the hand.

Johnny Pollard was the son of Charlie Pollard, the owner of Pollard’s Ranch.
®0One of these shots killed Constable Alec Kindness, who was at the head of the
posse, and the other hit Constable Forest Loring in the wrist (ClarK, 2014, 133).
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Paul Spintlum’s Story: Tracking the Outlaws

Then the government met. They hired horses, saddlehorses from all over,
all of the saddle horses they could get hold of. They used a lot of them, and
they hired a lot of white people as trackers. There were lots of white people
there. They hired ten Indians from Kamloops, who came as trackersﬁ So
then they went after the outlaws, and they were tracking them.

I heard that Moses Paul and Paul Spintlum said themselves that they
could see the trackers following them. They were at Necnactdam’. Chasm
is what the white people call it, that’s it. They were watching the trackers,
but they weren’t always on their horses. They were travelling by foot, and
hiding all over the place.

I heard that they saw one of the trackers tie up his horse. Then the
tracker set off to look over the brow of a hill. One of the outlaws got on his
horse, and then they got on the horses. They jumped on the tracker’s horses,
and they ran off with the binoculars. I was working there, downstream
from Kelley Creek. I heard that something was stolen from the tracker, his
binoculars and his horse.f

Tom Evans’ Story: A Close Call in Jack Pine Country

So they kept chasing and tracking them all over the place, there were a lot
of them. That one area must be something like one hundred miles, where
they were, and there were mountains all over. One of the white people that
I knew told about it, he said “I...” (We were working up in the Bridge River
valley when they brought news about those outlaws.) This one white per-
son said, “I was one of the trackers,” he said, “There were five of us.” He
said, “We were going along, and we saw someone that had a fire, and there

YConstable W.L. Fernie of Kamloops hired Alphonse Ignace, an expert Scwapmec
tracker, and several helpers. Fernie later stated, “For skill in tracking, I'd place those
Shuswaps with the world’s best.” (Clark, zo14), 134)

*According to court evidence, as reported by contemporary newspapers, the binoc-
ulars, along with a saddle, were actually stolen from rancher Andrew Naes the day after
the shooting of Kindness and Loring, at Jane’s Ranch, 20 miles from Clinton. The
binoculars were presented as evidence in the trial.
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was a frying pan there, and bacon and eggs in it. Then,” he said, “We saw
them escaping on horseback.” He said, “It was them.”

He said, “Then we chased after them through what we call ‘Jack Pine
country’, which is all around there for a great distance.” It is brushy in
places, and there are spaces between trees in other places, but a horse can
go through there anyways. They were following him where they could see
the tracks, he said, and it was getting towards evening and raining. “In the
morning,” he said, “their tracks showed up.” He said, “We followed them.
We thought that we would be able to see them galloping a little bit further
in the distance, escaping.” He said, “We went along and got to a knoll in
the ground. It was kind of burnt around there, and there was a rock.” He
said, “And there was a horse,” and after that he said, “the brush was really
thick on both sides of me.” That’s when he said, “I started thinking. I felt
my chest start to pound and my face was twitching.” He said, “Then I got
my horse going, and I turned around.” He said, “My friends had stopped
behind. I told them, “That’s where I'm going to stop chasing them, chas-
ing Paul Spintlum, if you want to keep going, then you just keep going.’
We never even went to get their horses. We went back from there. I went
back, and then the others went back. We just left their horses there. Then
we went back from there, we retraced our footsteps, we got to where we
had seen the campfire, and there was one horse there, it must’ve been their
packhorse.”

“We took their pack horse from there, and we looked inside its pack.
They had food in there, all kinds of food... including candy. So we only
took the packhorse.” They must have taken that packhorse when the first
policeman got shot. It was just like that, they said. They said there was all
kind of food covered up: canned stuff, even candy. There was all kinds of
food, so they didn’t get hungry. I don’t know where they got the food from,
they must’ve had relatives who they got it from.

Pavilion Person’s Story: Disguised as Women

At that time, Indians couldn’t get bullets when they tried to buy them from
the store. The Indians from those places, those from Kelley Creek, from Ca-
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noe Creek, from what they call Big Bar, they couldn’t get any bullets when
they tried to buy them around Ashcroft, where they’d go to buy things. We
were the only ones around here that could get any bullets.

That’s what Moses Paul and them were doing at that time. The govern-
ment tried (to catch them) for maybe two months, and then they just quit.
They didn’t catch up with them. They hired some other white guys from
the States who came. It was said that they would catch them. But then they
figured out it would cost too much, so that stopped, too. The government
posted a sign for a $4000 reward for any one who caught themﬁ The sign
stayed up, and the boats, the ferries where people were crossing, and the
bridges were watched.

The outlaws got to where their relatives were, around Pavilion, which
is where the person who told me this was working. I knew them: they were
Charlie Harry and Felix, and that’s where the outlaws went, where their
houses were. In the evening, they would come around and talk about what
they were doing. They talked about the trackers and how they kept watch
on them. They went to the high lookouts to keep watch on them as they
went by. They couldn’t find any way to shoot them.

When the outlaws needed some horses, they stole them, they went
around to the stables and they stole horses. When they kind of sensed they
were being caught up with then they’d lead the horse, and when the sad-
dle had been hung up, they walked through the badlands.f] You can’t ride
horses in there. They took their saddles off there and started walking.

They got to what we call Q’dg’el’cen f] The Indian people had a canoe
there, and they went across the river to pan for gold sometimes. The out-
laws stole that canoe. They crossed over the river and they got to the other
side. Then one of them said, “Let’s go stay with our relatives.” They were
going to tell the ones whose canoe they had stolen that they had just used
it. So they just let the canoe drift downriver so they could get it, they took

*'The actual amount of the reward was $3000.

*Linda Redan states that they left the saddles hanging on the horses back, and
walked through, since that means less weight and less noticeable tracks.

*Linda Redan states that Q’4q’el’cen is this side of Pavilion (probably a fishing
rock), and Sam Mitchell places Q’4g’el’cen at 1 mile, near Fountain.
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the rope and untied it and let it go down the river, they said, “Justlet it keep
drifting.”

They left there and got to Bridge River, where there were people there
with houses. There was some laundry hanging. They saw it, and went
there. They took two skirts. Then they came to a place above Lillooet.
They were around there at dawn. And then they hung around there until
it was nighttime again.

There was a Chinese person with a store, that was Svntéh. Svntéh
stayed open until 10 o’clock at night. They went there to buy some food.
When they had finished buying groceries, they came out, put on skirts, and
packed their groceries on their backs.

They got to the bridge. There were two white people taking turns
watching. The outlaws recognized one of them, and it was Joe Russell. So
they kept going.

They got to Téyka’s place (Mosquito Jim). Téyka was their partner, he
had a house far away from the Fountain reserve, and Kekéyka lived below
that. That’s where they always went to camp.

“Oh,” they told Tdyka, “If you want a saddle, there’s a new one hanging
down there, just go and get it.”

Téyka said, “They’ll see it is mine and recognize it is mine.”

That’s what they were doing around there with their relatives, where
they went to stay. There weren’t any trackers around, and the outlaws
didn’t sense that they were anywhere near. The trackers were travelling
around and watching for riders. They thought that the outlaws would be
riding horseback the whole time, but I heard they weren’t. They rode on
horses only when they needed to get far away from the trackers. After that,
they just let the horse go and hung the saddle up.

Paul Spintlum’s Story: The Murdered Chinaman
There were a lot of things that happened to them. One thing they did, it

was downriver from Kelley Creek where there was a Chinaman who made
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ﬁrewoodﬂ They said, “Go and ask him for some food.” They didn’t know
the Chinaman. But the Chinaman knew who they were, he was a big strong
Chinaman.

One of them went inside and told the Chinaman, “Come on, give us
some food, give me some food! Rice and whatever else.” The Chinaman
saw him and recognized him, so he grabbed him. They wrestled around
and he was thrown to the ground by the Chinaman, who looked around for
arope to tie him up with. He hollered to his friend who was outside. He
shouted to him, “The Chinaman has overpowered me!” His friend went
inside.

The Chinese people around there, they always split their firewood with
a lictle axe. Who was it...Moses P.., no, it was Paul Spintlum who went
inside. He saw his friend was already pinned to the ground, so he took the
axe and chopped the Chinaman in the head, and he flopped over.

We know it was them that did, it, because they said so themselves, so
it was true, they were the murderers. It was reported by his partner that
if they hadn’t been together, then the Chinaman would have beaten him,
tied him up, and then gone and squealed on him. So there were two of them
when they chopped his head.f] That’s their own story, that they chopped

the Chinaman in the head themselves.

Paul Spintlum’s Capture

They stayed around here and got kind of bored. They got bored around
here, so they went towards... Paul Spintlum was kind of a Thompson In-
dian. So they went towards Merritt, there are a lot of Indians there.
Another person I heard from said they did the same thing when they
crossed the bridge at Spence’s Bridge. One was dressed as an old woman,
and the other dressed as an old man. They went along, bent over. It was

already night. They were told by the person watching the bridge to look

*The Chinaman’s name was Ah Wye (referred to as Chew Wye in (ClarK, 2014}, 130)).

¥[ClarK (2o14), 130) states that Constable McMillan found the tracks of two men on a
knoll overlooking Wye’s cabin, and assumed the tracks belonged to Moses Paul and Paul
Spintlum, who were waiting for Wye in ambush.
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out for any stranger crossing. The watcher said to Moses Paul and Paul
Spintlum (in disguise), “Go and eat!” They were given a dollar. “Go and
eat! You guys must be hungry from where you came from.” That’s what
they were told, but it was really them.

So they crossed over and went to stay with their relatives, and that’s
where they were taken in by Old Major.f] It had been four years that they
had been doing that, when they were staying around there. What year was
that, 1915 or 16 at that time? Maybe it’s a little bit later than that, it was
1912 when they killed the policeman. So that’s when Major took them in.
S74ts’xcal (“Watchman’) was his Indian name.

Old Major said, “I'm not going to take money from the government,
we’re going to use my own money and hire a lawyer.” So that’s what he

didf]

Court Evidence

But one of the outlaws got hung anyways. The hangman was the only one
whom he (Spintlum) told that he met an Indian after he had killed the po-
liceman. But Moses Paul, he wasn’t there, he was someplace else, sometimes
they split up.

Paul Spintlum must have left from there. He went to Meadow Lake,
or Beaver Dam, I think. A shortcut road runs along there. He was walking
along, and he met a person from there. He told him “I shot a policeman
over there.”[] That was the Indian who testified that Paul Spintlum told

**Carl Alexander states that this happened around Coldwater Reserve, and both
Carl and Desmond Peters, Sr. note that Old Major was a chief from Leon’s Creek (West
Pavilion).

¥[ClarK (2014}, 138) notes that several indigenous chiefs eventually agreed to hand
the outlaws over to the authorities, under the condition that they would not be hand-
cuffed, and were to be provided with legal council. These included ‘Tyee Jimmy’ (James
Retasket) of Lillooet (7°t’q’et) as well as Major Churchill ‘Old Major’ of Leon Creek,
‘Camille’ of Canoe Pass, and ‘Basil’ of Bonaparte.

*This was the only evidence the courts had, hearsay from another Indian who said
Paul Spintlum told him he killed a policeman.
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him that he had shot someone, a policeman. He was the only one who
testified against him when it came to trial f]

George Carson’s Story: How Cultus Jack Got His Name

There were a lot of trials, and Stewart Henderson and Old Henry Costello
were the lawyers he (Old Major) hired, they were the judges.[] There were
alot of trials, people came from all over for the trials, and there were many
“appeals”, as they call them, over at New Westminster. That’s another story,
from George Carson, who was a witness.

Cultus Jack was brought to testify. They said to Cultus Jack, “Cultus
Jack, come here, stand up, report on what you were doing.”

They say that this is what the judge said. The judge said, “Cultus Jack,
doesn’t ‘cultus’ mean ‘bad’ in your language?”

And Cultus Jack said, “Oh, yes, yes, judge, sure, that’s bad.”

And the judge asked him, “Why did they give you that name?”

And he told the judge, “Oh, when I was a boy, I always used to chase
women. That’s why my relatives call me Cultus Jack.”

That’s where it ends.

*Jimmy Boyd testified that he recognized Spintlum at the shooting.
**They were actually the defence lawyers. The judge was Justice Morrison.
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9.4

Interlinear Gloss

Prologue

(1)

166

cuz’=lhkan sqwesqweel’-min  (kw=s...)
going o-qfE] relCRED-RE  pEd-Fg
kw=s=Qiqis muta7  s=Paul
PET=NMLZ=Qdqis[Moses.Paul] and NMLZ=Paul
Spintlum.
Spintlum

I’m going to tell about Moses Paul and Paul Spintlum.

l=t=s-kéla7-s=a, Qigqis
at=PET=NMLZfirstfpos§=EX1§  Qdqis[Moses.Paul]
ta=lum-en-ém=a, nilh=ti7 s=Moses
B -blame SR-IPASI-EXT FoT-thacFT§ FMIZ-Moses
Paul [ta]=n-sem7-isk’a7-s=a.

Paul PET=Lod-white.person-name-fPos§=EXIg

At first, Q4qis was the one that got blamed, Moses Paul was his

white person’s name.

iku7 nktkwtsa-s e=kw734
to+there [NVI§  downstream-fposy  to=thisINVI]
ta=Clinton=a, xw7utsin=k’a  ku=miles,
pET=Clinton=Ex1y  four=EPIg DET=miles
xek, laku7 lh=pun=as
maybe at+there [INVI§ [coMTP=get.found=fsB]V
ta=timsth=a.
[DET=teamster=EXI1Y
They found a teamster downstream from Clinton, maybe about
four miles.
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(4)

(s)

(6)

(7)

s-zuqw, wa7 lat7 [ta]=tims=a.
fTaT-die be at+there[vly PET=team=EXIS

He was dead, but the team was still there.

nilh=c’u7 [s]=sqwdl’-min’-em,
fcod=fxci| NMLZ=reportRLT-BPASY
kwas sqwal’-min-ftas
PET+NMLZA+[PFV[+fPosy  report-RLT-HP1.ERG
kw=[s]=zuqw=s ta=sim7=a.
DPET=NMLZ=die=fposy PET=white.person=EXIs
That’s what was reported, they were reporting that the white man
was killed.

[nilh]=ku7=mailh=t"u7 nilh=tu7
[COR=QUOT=ADHORT=EXCY| [COR=EXCI|
sés=k’a wi7=tu7 kiti7

NMLZ+[PFV[+fPOsg=EPI§ be=REM around+thereig
(kw=s...) kw=[s]=Q4gqs...
PET=NMLZ PET=NMLZ=Qdqis[Moses.Paul]
Then they said Moses Paul had apparently been around there....

...nflh=t’u7 [s]=snilh=ts

fcod=fExci| NMLZ=Bsq[NDER=BPOsq
ta=lum-en-ém=a...
PET-blame BIRHFASI-EXTY

...so it was him that was blamed...
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(8) .0u7  ta=74dw’t=a ta=wa7=n-s-qan’im
but  pPET=behind=Ex1y PET=[PFV=fd Poss-NMLZ-hear
kwds=t'u7 ts’ila
PET+NMLZ+PFV+RPOSS=EXCI] like
kwa=lum-stit-en-em nilh
PET+Pri-blame GO PR Eof
tswasa
DET+HNMLZHIPFVHBPOSSHEXIY

Gcwalmicw.

indigenous.person

...but the last I heard he was blamed just because he was an Indian.

Cultus Jack’s Story: Jack McMillan and Paul Spintlum

(9) nilh=t'u7 s=kwin-em
Cof=fxcr]  NmLZ=cake+PIR-fpasy
[e]=ki=plismen=a, lham’-4n-em...
pBI=p1pET=policeman=EX1§  put.into-PIRGPASY
ldku7 ta=p’elhtiq’t*'=a.

at+there INvi§ pET=Kelley.Creek=Ex1d.

He was caught by the police, and they put him in jail at Clinton.

(10) nilh=u7  s=wa7 14¢i7, swas
coB=fxci] NMLZ=be at+therefji§ NMLZ+[PFV+gpPosy
n-lham’ kw=s=Qdgs.

fod-putinto PET=NMLZ=Qdqis[Moses.Paul]
So Moses Paul stayed in jail.

*'sam Mitchell uses p’elbtig’t to refer to the town of Clinton, as well as the reserve at
Kelley Creek.
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(1)

(12)

(13)

(14)

nas e=t7u lhwal’tsten-dlmen.
go to=that{vl§ autumn-almost

It was getting close to fall.

b

ts7as  xek, nkd7=as**=k’, n-kds=as=ka
begin maybe where=fsB]V]=EP1§ [L0d-how=fsB]V|=EPIY
ta=fuly=a lh=ztqw=as ti7
DET=]July=Ex1y [comB=die=fsB]Y]  that[v1g
ta=sam7=a.
[DET=white.person=EXI1§

It must’ve been sometime around the beginning of July when that

white person was killed.

nds=tu7 lhwal’tsten-dlmen.

go=REM autumn-almost

It was getting close to fall.

cwaoy-nun-ém=tu7 kw=s=Q4gqis

disappear-DIRBPAS§=REM DET=NMLZ=Qéqis[Moses.Paul]
lhel=ta=n-k’47-men=a.
from=pET=L0d-get.stuckINS=EXIY

Moses Paul went missing from the jail.

*Neither nka7 nor (n)kas are usually used for times, though the sense here is clearly
‘sometime’.
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(15) uts’*ets*qa7=tu’, tu7  [s]=snilh=ts
go.outside’CRED'=REM [EXCI [NMLZ=FsG.INDEB=FpPoss
ku=wi7=tu7 14ti7, tu7
PET=be=EXcI| at+there V1§ but
i=sdm7=a lani7 ku=time,
P1pET=white.person= at+thereABy [DET=time
pipt=tu7 ku=7tcwalmicw wa7

always=EXCI] |PET=indigenous.person
lum-en-itas...
blame HTR-FOER]

He got out of jail, and since he (Paul Spintlum) was there at the
time, and the white people always blamed the Indians...

(16) ..tu7 nilh=tu7 [s]=snilh=ts=t'u7
but @ZIEXCII INMLZI:E'FNDEHZH)OSSZIEXCII
s=tsut=i...

RMLZsay =PI FOS

...they said it was him...

(17) (nilh...) nilh=ti7 s=Paul
fcon [cog=that1g NMLZ=Paul
Spintlum  ta=7uts’qa7-s-téli=ha,
Spintlum  PET=go.outside{CAUS-NTI=EXI1Y
nuk’w7-an-tali=hd=k’
help DIFH¥T-EXT-ETTS
kw=s=ka-(s)7uts'qa7=s-d=tu7.
PET=NMLZ=[cIRd-go.outside=fpO0s§{CIRA=REM

...it was Paul Spintlum that got him out, that must've helped

Moses Paul to get out.
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(18)

(19)

(20)

(21)

nilh s=wa7=s... wa7 14ti7

[cod  NMmLZ=be=fposy be at+therevig
ta=wa7=zus-cal.
DPET=[PFVi=get.tied.up{acT

There was this policeman...

nilh=t'u7  s=tsut=s ta=wa7=zus-cal,
[coB=fxc1 NMLZ=say=fposy [PET=[rFv=get.tied.upfacT
“wa7  lati7 ta=pd-pl7=a
swrchereffT§  PET-[REDrone-EXTS
tdcwalmicw, nilh=ti7 wa7
indigenous.person  [coF=that V1
s=Jack, Cultus  Jack=hém’=tu7

=Jack Cultus JaCk::
s-nah-en-itas.”
INMLZ-name-DIRFP1 ERG

The policeman said, “There’s one Indian, Cultus Jack is what they
call him.”

33
“wa7 ka-sdm7a-ts-a saw’t.”>”

[cird-white.person-mouth{CIrg fellow
“That fellow can speak English.”

“tdkem=t'u7 kwas ka-xilh-a.”
all=fxc1] DPET+HNMLZ+[PFV+posy [cIRd-do-cIRg
“He can do everything.”

**The absence of any determiner or existential enclitic on saw’t indicates that it is
being treated here as a epithet.
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(22) tsicw-min-em e=ts74 ta=wa7=z0s-cal,
get.thereRLTfpasy to=this[viy PET=[PFv=get.tied.up{acT
nilh=tu7 s=tsin-em, “nka7
EoR-EXC] FMIZ-say+BIFAS  where
lhas pixem’  (kw=s...)
coM+PFVi+BsBTY  hunt PET=fML7Z
kw=s=Paul Spintlum.”

PET=NMLZ=Paul Spintum
Cultus Jack was approached by the policeman and was asked,
“Where does Paul Spintlum hunt?”

(23) “0,” tstun-as=ku7, “l=kw7G-wna, kekdw’
o say+DIR-BERG=RQUOT at=thatINVI§-precisely [REDfar
ti7 dku7 tsa
thaty1§ to+there [NVI§ PET+NMLZ+[PFV+BPOSS+EXIY
wa7.”
be

He said, “Oh, over that way, it’s a long way to where he stays.”

(24)  (tsat=ku7 wa7 lh...) tsut=ku7
say=RQUOT [(PFV] comy say=RQUOT
ta=wa7=zus-cal, “wa7=lhkan

BER-ErgecdedupfcT  [rr-Ea6E
kens-kwin.”
want.to-take+DIR

The policeman said, “I want to get him.”
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(25)

(26)

(27)

wa7  tstin-em kw=s=Cultus Jack, “cw7aoz
sayDIRFAS] PET-RMIZ-Cultus Jack
dku7 kwidsu tsicw
to+there [INVI§ PET+NMLZ+PFV+ESd posy get.there
I=ku=sq’it.”
at=pET}=day
Cultus Jack told the policeman, “Don’t get there during the day.”
“4oy=tu7  t7 kwas psil’,
NEG=Exc1] that[vl§ PET+NMLZ+[PFV+gPosy daybreak
wa7  psil, ts7as  ma<7>eg’, ni[lh]
daybreak come daybreak<fNCH> [coH
s=qwatsdts=s pixem’.”

NMLZ=leave=fpOsy hunt

“It’s not even dawn yet when he leaves to go hunting.”

“[Ih]=[cuz’]=acw nas  4ku7,
[coMB=going.to=pkdB]Y] go  to+thereNVI§
nilh=t'u7 s=tsicw=su
coB=Excl  NMLZ=get.there=pjsqfposq
dku7 I=kw=s-kéla7-s
to+there [INVI§  at=pET=NMLZ-first-gposg
kw=s=mi<7>eg’=s.”
PET-FALE-daybreak <ENCH> P05
“When you go there, you have to get there before daylight.”
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(28) nilh  s=tsut=s ta=wa7=z1s-cal, “dma,
coy NMLZ=say=fposy PET=fPFvi=get.tied.upjacT good
cuy’ ready-s-tum’ ku=ts'qdxa7.”

going.to ready-CAUSHPI.ERG PET=horse

The policeman said, “Good, we’ll get some horses ready.”

2 14ni7 ku=time wa7  tsgixa7=tu7 wa7
9 q
at+thereJaB§  PET=time horse=fxc1]
qwézeez.
get.used*FRED]

At that time, it was just horses that were used.

(30) cw7a0  kdti7 kwa=kdoh.
NEG  around+there V1§ [PET+[PFV=car

There weren’t any cars.

(31) lhl4ti7=k’a, k’a nds=t’u7=tu’
from+there y19§=EPIg go=EXCI]=REM
kwis=k’a, three o’clock=k’a
DET+HNMLZ+[PFV+fPOsS=EPI§ three o'clock=EPIg
sxék=t’u7 nilh s=qelilim’=i, ke-kdw’
maybe=EXc] [EoT NMLZ-hury- oSy [REDHar
ti7 (s...)  kw=s-lheqw.

that.1g DPET=FTAT ride.horse
Before 3 o’clock in the morning, Cultus Jack and Jack McMillan
(the policeman) were hurrying around getting ready to go, it was
along way to ride on horseback.
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(32)

(33)

(34)

(35)

(36)

kin=as=k’a kwas in’was hours
whether=gsBjVi=EP1y DPET+NMLZ+PFV+gposy two  hours
séq’ulh, kalhds hours kw=s=lheqw=s.
half three hours PET=NMLZ=ride.horse=fposg

It took maybe 2 1/2 or 3 hours to ride there.

tsicw=wit dku7, nilh=ti7 sqwéqwrel’-s
get.there=fp1] to+thereiNvig [cof=that[vid tell'lCREDHPoss
ts7a ta=7ucwalmicw=a s=Cultus
this /1§ PET=indigenous.person=Fx1§ NMLZ=Cultus
Jack, wa7 ti7 qdyt=hem’=tu7.
Jack that[v1§ reach.the.top=ANTI=EXCI|

They got there. That’s what this Indian Cultus Jack said, that he
and Jack McMillan made it to the top.

(plan  wa7) plan wa7 swat wa7 es=[s]p’dm
already already be  who have=firewood
|=ta=pil7=a latdont.

at=pPET=one=EXIy tent
There was already someone who had a campfire going at one of the
tents.

nilh=s=t'u7 q’wel-ci[t]-tsut ta...
EOR-FMIZ-EXCY] get.cooked-INTHRER

This person was cooking something for himself...

tsut  ts7a ta=wa7=zus-cal, “nka7
say  this[yI§ PET=[PFV]=get.tied.upfacy where
ku=latdont-s s=Paul Spintlum?”

DET=tentfposy NMLZ=Paul Spintum

And the policeman asked, “Where is Paul Spintlum’s tent?”
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(37) tsun-em=ku?7, “lata7, ldta7 kisem
say+DIR-BPAs§=RQUOT at+there[vid at+therefyi§ back.area
I=t7u, nilh=ti7 latidont-s.”

at=that[v1§ [coP=that[vi§ tentfgposg

He told the policeman, “Over in the back, that’s his tent.”

(38) nilh=tu7=tu7 s=qwatsdts=s
[coB=Exci=REM NMLZ=leave=}poss
ta=wa7=zus-cal, tqw-dw’s=wit
DET=[PFvi=get.tied.up{aCT]  together-collective=fp1]
é=ta... ta=wa7=qayt-s.
to=pET PET=[PFV=reach.the.top-fposy
Then the policeman set off, and they both got to the top of the

hill.
(39) tsicw dta7 ta.. tsut ta=wa7=zls-cal,
get.there to+there[v1g say  [DET=[PFV}=get.tied.upjacT
qwil’ut dku7 ta=lationt=a,
speak.seriously  to+there INVI§  DET=tent=EX1g
“snti=ha s=Paul Spintlum?”
PG NDER=[d NMLZ=Paul  Spintum
tsin-em=ku?7, “iy, s7ents.”

say +BTR JFASI-QT0T yes fqDE]

The policeman got there and was talking into the tent, “Are you
Paul Spintlum?” and he was told, “Yes, that’s me.”
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(40)  “wa7=lhkidcw=ha zewit-en-ts? s7ents
FF-Has-A  beknown PEEE  HENDE
ti=wa7=s=Jack McMillan, 7
PET=[PFVi=NMLZ=]Jack McMillan  thatf1g
ta=wa7=zUs-cal. qwen-min-tsi-lhkan.”
BET-EPr-gec ied.up T waneREA-B5G pEHEGE]

“Do you know me? I am Jack McMillan, the policeman. I want

»

you.
(41) tsut=ku7  s=Paul Spintlum, “dma, ctz’=lhkan
say=QUOT NMLZ=Paul Spintlum good going.to=[fsG.5B]
yax kéla7.”

get.dressed first
Then Paul Spintlum said, “Okay, ’'m going to get dressed first.”

(42)  nilh 1447 s=t’4l-lec=s
cod  at+thereyi§  NMLZ=stop{aUT]=fpoOsy
ta=wa7=zts-cal [[]=ta=sk’é¢m’ts=a.

DET=[PFVi=get.tied.up{aCT at=pET=door=Exiq

The policeman stopped outside the door of the tent.

(43)  nilh  ldku7 s=yax=s, tsukw
ol at+there[Nvi§ NMLZ=get.dressed=gposg finish
s=yax=s, s=kwin-as

NMLZ=get.dressed=fposy NMLZ=take+DIR-BERG
[ta]=swelmin’k-s=a,  lham’-dl’ts-n-as.
pPET=gun-gposg=Ex1y put.into-rockDIR-BERG
Paul got finished dressing, then he got his gun and loaded it.
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(44)

(4s)

(46)

(47)

nilh=t'u7  n-lag’-ts-dn’-as ta=latdont-s=a,
EoR-EXcy EoeHife mouth BIHERG PET-tenc fFos§-EX
wa7 lati7 s-t'4l-lec ta=plismen=[a].

scrtheref FTiT-scop 0 BER-policeman—EXTS
He lifted the opening of his tent door, and the policeman was
standing there.

nilh=t'u7  ta=s-tilh-lec=s=a e=t74,
con=fxc1] PET=pTAT-stand{aAUT=gpOss=EX1§ to=that[vig
kel'q e=t70 ka-ké-kew’-a
back.up  to=thatfl§ [CIRG{REDfarcIRg
elh tstin-as ta=plismen=a,
and.then say+PIRBERG PET=policeman=EXIs
“cuy ts7as  kwan-ts

go.on  come takeHDIRsG [0B]
lh=x4t’-min’-ts=acw.”
EoN-waneREHEQ65-BF G5

Since the policeman was standing there, Paul Spintlum backed
away a little before he told him, “Come on and get me if you want

»

me.
wa7  es-kwil’-qs-cit-as.

BTAT-aim-point {NEHEERG

Paul had the gun aimed at him.

cw7a0 kw=s=qwets-flc=s ta=plismen=[a].
DET=NMLZ=move-AUT=fPOsy PET=policeman=ExI1y

The policeman didn’t move.
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(48)

(49)

(s0)

nilh=t'u7  s=t’dk=s=t'u7 kel'q, cw72a0
[cog=fxc1] NMLZ=continue=gposg§=Exc1] back.up
14¢i7 kwas ke-kdw’
at+there[V1§ DET+NMLZ+[PFV+gPosy [RED'far
nilh=t'u7 s=ka-lhticw-[almen]-a
[cog=Exc1] NMLZ=[IRd-bushes-almost{cIRg
I=ki=sreprip=a.
at=PI] DET=TREDtree=
So Paul just continued to back up, and it was not very far until he
had almost disappeared amongst the trees.

ka-lhtdcw-almen-a ita7, nilh
[cird-bushes-almost{cIRd ~ to+there[v1y  [cof
s=tsin-as ta=wa7=zUs-cal,
RLZsay+DTRERG  PET-EPF=getdied up et
nilh=ti7 wa7  s=Jack McMillan:

[cof=that 1y NMmLZ=]Jack McMillan
He had nearly disappeared into the bush, and then he told the po-
liceman, Jack McMillan:

tstn-as Jack, “nkd7=as
say+DIR-BERG Jack where=fJsB]V|

lh=7ats’x-en-tsin=as **

EoR=get scen i BG 55] +Q ERG-GFeY

l=ta=lhecw*lhticw=a, nilh=tu7
at=pET=TRED'bush=Ex1y  [cof=EXCI|
s=cliz’=su s-zuqw  sqaycw.”

NMLZ=going.to=plsgposy FTAT-die man
He told Jack, “If I see you anywhere in the bush, you’ll be a dead

»

man.
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(s1)

(53)

nilh s=lhl4ti7 s=qwatsdts=i pan’t
cof NMLZ=from+thereyi§ NMLZ=leave=fp1l[posy return
mata7 s=Jack, s=Cultus Jack.

again NMLZ=Jack NMLZ=Cultus Jack

So they set out to go back, he and Cultus Jack.

tsicw=tu7 ti7 ta=wa7=zus-cal
get.there=REM  thatfly PET=[PFV]=get.tied.up-acT
e=t7U-wna... tiown=a, tsicw
to=that[vig-precisely ~ town=fx1§  get.there
ta=judge=a.

DET]=judge=EXIY

The policeman got back to town and went to the judge.

nilh=cu7 s=kelh-en-ds
CoT-Exa]  REz-come.off BTHEER
ta=q’'wéylaps-ts=a, nilh=tu7

BET-badge PO  EoR-EXCH
s=q’min-n-as...
NMLZ=throw.down-DIR-BERG

He took off his badge, threw it down...

**With regards to the form [h=7ats’x-en-tsin =as above, we note that the combina-
tion of -£szz2 and =as has not been attested previously. We assume that -tsin here consists
of a contracted sequence of the 2nd person singular object suffix -£si(72) and the first per-
son singular subject suffix -a%, as independently attested in e.g., Ama ta s7dtsxentsina
‘T’'m happy to see you’. The third person subjunctive enclitic =as is then added to this
sequence, presumably on analogy with passive plus third person subjunctive forms, as in
(Ama ka) Ih7ats’xentsimas (It would be good) if we saw you/if you were seen.”

**The word q’wdylaps is cognate with Shuswap sg’wél’eps, which according to
Mona Jules (p.c.) refers to a ‘broach’, but which could also be used to mean ‘badge’. Sam

180



The Outlaws: Moses Paul and Paul Spintlum

(s4)  ..s=tstin-as=ku? ta=judge=a,
Riiz-say +OTHERG-a007  BE-judge T
[qwal’...] “(kwanlh) kwdm
report get

kwa=n4ik’-en-ts-acw,

PET+[PFi=get.changed PIR-f5 G PBj HF 4 ERG -

ti7 kwenswi x4t’-min’
thatvi§ DPET+SGPOSS+HNMLZ+[PFY want{RLT]
ts7a kw=n=s=cuz’.”

this 1§ PET=fsGPOoSS=NMLZ=going.to

...and he told the judge, “Get someone to replace me, I don’t want

to do this anymore.”
(55) nilh=tu7=tu7 s=kiw-lec=s
[cos=ExcI1l=REM NMLZ=far-AUT=fPOsY
kw=s-zs-cal.
DET=FTAT-get.tied.upacT

So he quit being a policeman.

(56) nilh=cu7=tu7 S=CW7a0y=s ka7
[coB=EXCI=REM [NMLZ=NEG=BPOSs around+there[1g
ku=7ak-min’-tanemwitas sas

DET=pay.attention-RLT-JPLoBJ+NTY NMLZ+HPFV+§Poss
kdn-em=wit.
do.what-MID}=fp1]

Then nobody paid attention to what the outlaws were up to.

Mitchell translates this word as badge in a different version of this story, recorded by
Randy Bouchard. Desmond Peters, Sr. says that it means ‘harness,’, or ‘shoulder holster,’
and is what law officers wore while on duty: it held gun, ammunition, and a badge of
office. Dez (who does not glottalize the gw) notes that throwing down your gwdylaps
meant to resign your commission.
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(57) nas e=t7d na=sqapts=a, 1911 47
go to=that[viy [ABY[PET=spring=fxX1§ 1om  that[vig
ts7a ku=time l=tsa xil-em=wit
this T DET-time  ai-PETNIZ4EFY  doSD-
ati7.
to+there 1§

That was in 1911 during the springtime, when they were doing that.

Johnny Pollard’s Story: One Policeman Dead, One Wounded

(s8)  nds=tu7 zdnucwem, gqapts.
go=REM nextyear  spring

The next spring came around.

(s9)  papt  liku7 lhas Clinton=a
always at+thereiNvi§ [ComMi+[PFV+fsB]Y Clinton=EX1g
lhas wa7 i=wa7=assize, wa7
CoMB+[PFVi+BsB]V be  PIDET=[PFVj=assize
tstin-itas ku=c47 skothdws.
say+DIRBPIERG [DET=high court
That’s when they always hold what they call high court assizes in
Clinton.
(60) l=t7G=k’a lhas May, siqulh=k’a
at=that[vi§=gr1y [coMH+[PFV+gsB]Y] May half=Er1q
ta=May=ha p’aZcw.
[DET=May=EX1§ more.than
It was a little past the beginning of May, halfway through May, a
little past.
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(61)

(62)

(63)

put=tu’ laku7 wa7 i:wa7=/9ig17
exactly=Exc1] at+thereNVi§ be P1lpET=fPFY|=high
court, ca7 skothidws.
court high court

They were just having high court, where they have the high courts.

nilh=tu7 S... viq=ku7 ati7
Eor-Exeq] artive-RUOT  to+there TS
ta=pd-pl7=a lhliku7 talhd7
DET=[REDone=Ex1y from+there[NVI§ other.side
s-nkakwem’-s ta=Clinton=a,
RSz upscream oSy pER-Clinton—EXT
iti7 lh=ts74s=as.

to+there V1§ [CoMB=come=fsB]V|

Then someone arrived from over on the other side upstream from
Clinton, that’s where he came from.

nilh=ku7=tu7 s=tsut=s, “wa7 aw’t
con=RQuoT=ExXCl [NMLZ=say=gposy [PFY behind
s=Paul Spintlum  1=kw74-wna
NMLZ=Paul Spintlum  at=thisfNVig-precisely
muta7  s=Moses Paul  1=kw7a
and NMLZ=Moses Paul at=this[iNVI{
l=ta=n-kK’cw-dnk=a I=kw7a!”

at=pET}=Lod-hole-hillside=gx1g at=thisNVI]
He said, “Paul Spintlum and Moses Paul are back over there in a

hollow in the sidehill!”
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(64)  “do=ti7 lhl4ti7 kwas
NEG=that[vi§ from+there[viy PDPET+NMLZA+[PFV+fPoOsy
pa7cw lhel=kw74 two mile=ka
more.than  from=that[NVI§ two mile=EPIg
lhl4ti7 Clinton=a!”

from+therev1§ Clinton=

“It isn’t more than two miles from Clinton!”

(6s) nilh=s=t’u7 lhldea7 s=qelilim=s
EOR-FMIZ-EXC] acrchereffT§  RMLZ-hurry 0SS
i=sdm7=a, tsut, “cu:y, cuy  nas

PIDET=white.person=EXI§ say go.on go.on go
kwin-tanemwit!”
take+ BT DR} FTERG
Then the white people started hurrying around, and they said,

“Come on, let’s go get them!”

(66) n-7dn’was i=wa7=zls-cal, pa-pla7
fod-two  PIpET=fPFvi=get.tied.up{acT [RED}one
14ti7 I=kw7u askrdop=a,
at+there[vi§  at=thatNvi§  Ashcroft=fX1g
ta=pa-pl7=a wa7 zts-cal, elh nilh
PET=[REDone=Ex1y [PFV tiefacT] and.then [cof
ti7 lhlati7 ta=tsitsel=a wa7
that[vi§ from+therey1§ PET=new=EXIY
zus-cal 147 pelhtiq’t=a. (Ih)

tieaCT] at+there[vi§ Kelley.Creek=EX1g

There were two policemen, one was from Ashcroft, and the new
policeman was from Kelley Creek.
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(67)

(68)

(69)

nilh=tu7 kati7 wa7...
cog=fxci]  around+therefyi§  be
i=kati7-mec=4=t"u7, wa7
PIDET=around+there [v1s-people=EX19§=EXC1] [PFY
t=s=cw7it=[s]=[a] liku7 wa7
PET-NMIZ=many=JFOSS-EXTY at-+there [NVIY
gaw’p, nilh iz’ wa7  jurys.

gather [col those[v1g jury

And there were a bunch of people from all around there, there
were a lot gathered there because they made up the juries.

wi7=lhkan zewit-en 14ti7

[PFV=fsdfB]  be.known{pIy at+there V19
i=n-k’'win*k’'wen=4s=a=k’a.
FIL5ET-E0G FRED how.many BT~ EXTS-EPTy

I knew several of them that were there.

nilh &7 ta=wa7=s=Johnny Pélat=telh
cof thatjvid PET=[PFV=NMLZ=]Johnny Pollard=at.this.time
14¢i7 wa7, lhldku7-mec t7u

at+there[y1§ be  from+there [NVI§-people that[vig
ti=pelhtiq’t=a.
pET=Kelley.Creek=Ex15
A guy called Johnny Pollard was there, he was from Clinton.



Qagqgis muta7 sPaul Spintlum

(70)

(73)

186

wa7, nilh 7 wa7 (lh..) nek’wlh-7dlkst-min=Ilhkan
coy thatjig fellow-work-RLT=f[sG.5B]
ti7, pindni7 kw=s-qemp-s, wa7
that[vi§ at.that.time pPET=NMLZ-hot-gposy [PFV
qwal-en-ts-as ati7 tdkem
reportDIRJSG [OBJ-BERG  to+therey1g all
ku=szdyten-i 14ti7.

pPET=doingsfp1lposy at+there.y1g

I'worked with him that summer, that’s when he told me everything

that happened to them.

“nilh s=qwatsdts=kalh,” tsut,

Gof  FEZ-laveOFoSy  say
“qem’qem’p-dlmen=lhkalh lh=tékem=at.”
[FRED ten-almost=ffsG 58] comp=all=ffp1].5B]1

“We left,” Johnny said, “there were nine of us in all.”

“tdkem=lhkalh,” tsut, “es=welmin’k.”

all=jp1].5B] say  have=gun
He said, “We all had guns.”

“tsicw=kalh,” tsut, “ati7 l4ti7
get.there=[p1lsB] say  to+therefiy at+there[v1g
l=ta=ts’{l.h=a ku=n-k’ew-ink.”

at=pET=like=Ex1y PET=L0d-hole-hillside
He said, “So we got to where there was kind of a basin in the side-

hill.”

“sreperdp, cw7it i=kew-kwikws=a sreperéer’p.”
[fREDf'tree many PIPET=RED'small=EX1§ [REDtrec’CRED"

“There were trees, lots of little trees.”
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(75)

(76)

(77)

(78)

(79)

“nilh=ku7=tu7 s=tsut=s, tsut
[cop=QUOT=EXCL| INMLZ=say=BPOS§ say
ta=wa7=zus-cal, nilh=ti7 wa7
DPET=[rFVi=get.tied.up{acT [cOF=that 1]
skukwpi7:”
chief

“Then the policeman said, the one who was in command:”

«c

s7ents,  cdz’=lhkalh I=ts7a, wa7 s-tak
fSGINDEH going.to=jp1FB] at=this[v1g FTAT-go.along
izd zehiw’s, n-ke'kalhis e=t74
these.j1§ middle  LOd-[REDthree to=that[vig
ku=t’4k xdw'en’=a.”
pPET=go.along below=EXIg
“ ‘Me and these guys, we’ll be going here in the middle, and three
will go down below.”’

“n-kalhds e=t7a ci7=a, n-xwe7 xw7utsin
fod-three to=thatjvi§ high=fx1§ [Lod{rReDfour
e=t74 ci7=a.”

to=that[vi§ high=EX1§
“ “Three of you up high, four of you up high.” ”

“(tsilotslekst,) qem’qem’p-dlmen=wit.”
frRED five [FRED ten-almost=fp1]
“There were nine of them in all.”

“nilh  s=qwatsdts=i.”

Eof [iz-leave- LS

“They set out.”
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(80)

(81)

(82)

188

nilh ti7 e=ts74
fcoy that.v1g to=this[v1g
ta=wa7=sqwe*qw*el’-en-ts-4s
DET=[rFVi=tellCRED*PIR- G 0BJ-BER]
ta=wa7=s=Johnny Polat.
PET=[PFV=NMLZ=]Johnny Pollard
This is what Johnny Pollard told me.

wa7 tsut, “t’ak=kalh e=t74 ci7=a.”
say  go.along=[[p1lsB] to=that[1g high=FX1g
He said, “We were going along above the others.”
“put=kalh=k’i=t’u7,” tsut, “l4ti7 ts’ila
exactly=fP1lsBJ=EPIS=ExC1] say  at+therefv1ig like
ku=siq’ulh.”
DPET=half

He said, “We must’ve gotten about halfway there.”
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(83) “nilh,” tsut, “s=qan’im-ens-an
Eof sy  FEZ-hcarbEHEGERG
ku=t’éqw-p=a lita7,

VIS -cxplode [NCH-EXT  ac+there S
l=t74-wna I=ta=nk’ecw-tlm’ecw=[a],
at=that[vig-precisely ~ at=pET=hole-land=EX1g

in'was  ku=téqw-p-s,
two  PEf-explode NGRS
lha7+lha7-min’-twal’
[CRED*close.together-RLT-RECH
kwa=t'éqw-p-s.”
BETHFRI-explode [NCTHFOSS
Then he said, “T heard shots over there in a dip in the ground, two
shots, close together.”

(84) “nilh=s=t'u7,” tsut, “4ta7
cof=NMLZ=EXCI]  say to+there V1
s=nexw*ntxw=kalh.”
RLZ-FRED gallop—fFT 053

He said, “Then we galloped towards there.”

(8s) “tsicw siw-em=lhkalh,” tsut, “4ta7 wa7
get.there move.over-MID=Jp1lsB] say  to+therefvig
lhqw-ile.”
ride.horse-aUT

He said, “We went off to the side, there was one of them getting
on his horse.”
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(86)

(87)

190

“kalhds,” tsut, “l4ti7 t$qixa7 wa7  es-géts,
three say  at+there[vi horse fTAT-tie
wa7  lhqw-ilc ta=pd-pl7=a, wa7
ride.horse-AUT  DET=[REDone=Ex1y [PFY]
lhqw-ilc ta=wa7=cik’-en-as

ride.horse-AUT  [DET=[PFV]=miss.a.target-DIR-GERG
i=n-kK’'wwatdn’-s=a.”
POET o sirrup-AFos3-ETy
He said, “Three horses were tied up, one person was getting on a
horse, but he missed his stirrups.”

“lhqw-ilc,” tsat=t'u7, “snilh ita7,” tsut,
ride.horse-aUT say=EXC1] BSG[INDEH to+there[Vi§ say
“swas qus-cit-em.”

NMLZ+[PFV+fpOsy shoot-INDHPL.ERG

He said, “He got on a horse, and he was the one whom we shot
g

at.”




The Outlaws: Moses Paul and Paul Spintlum

(88) “wi7 k’win=as=k’,” tsut, “s7ents
and.so  how.many=jsBjVj=EP1§ say  [sGINDEH
kw=n=s=qus-em, doy=t’u7
PET=ls g Posg=NMLZ=shoot-MID  NEG=EXCI|
kati7 n-[s]-tsut
around+theref1§ [5G [poss-NMLZ-think
kwas t'ila  wa7
DPET+HNMLZ+HPFV+EPposy  like
n-kelh-k-dn’-em’ nilh=t'u7

Lod-come.oft-back-DIRfPAsy [Cof=EXCI|

»

ta=s=texw-sqdxa7=s=[a]...

BEf-RLZ-staighe-animal-Fos3-EXT3
“I got several shots off, but I don’t think the the horse could have
been unsaddled, because he was able to steer it...”

(89) “...cw74oy=t'u7 lhldd7 keskdw’=s, nilh=t'u7
REG-EXC  from+chere /Ty [REDHfar-jFosy Eof-Exc
ses cw7it  i=sreprrip=a.”

NMLZ+[PFV[+fPosy many PIPET=TRED tree=EXIS

“...and it wasn’t far until he reached a thicket of trees.”

(90) “Cak=tu7,” tsut, “wa’7 tak cwel*cwelp-dn-as,
continue=REM say continue [TRED!revolveDIR-BERG
cw7ao  kwas txw-ilc,

NEG DET+NMLZA+[PFV+fposy  straight{auT]
cwelrcwelp-ile=tu7=tu7.”
[fREDrevolve AUT=EXCI=REM
“He kept on,” he said, “He kept on turning his horse around. He
didn’t go straight, he kept turning.”
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(o1)

(92)

192

t'u7  4doz=hem’=ti7 kwas nilh
Excl NEG=paNTI=that[vi§ PET+NMLZ+[PFV+gPosy [con
lh=lak iz’.
from=be.there those[v1g

But in fact, he wasn’t one of them (the outlaws).

s7icwlh=ku7=t'u7 ti7.
different=QuoT=fxc1] thatj1g

He was someone else.

n-pzin-as, wa7 laci7
fod-meet+pPIRGERG at+there V1§
sqweqweel’-en-ts-ds, k’dmalh
tellCRED*DIRs G oBJ-HERG however
ta=pd-pl7=a lh=I14k=iz’=k’a

DET=[REDone=EX1§ from=Dbe.there=those [vI§=[EPIg
nilh=as=mdlh=ti7

FoR=FBv-RDRORT =that T3

s=Qdqs, ta=cw740z=a
NMLZ=Qdqis[Moses.Paul] PET=NEG=EXIS
l4di7 kw=s=wa7=s.

at+there [vi§ PET=NMLZ=be=pposg
He came across them, he (Johnny Pollard) told me, and Moses Paul
must have been one of them, but Moses Paul wasn’t actually there.
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(94)  n-s7icwlh kati7
fLod-different around-+there y1g
ken=kw=s=t"dk=s=tu7, k’4malh
around=PET=NMLZ=go.along=fP0ss=REM however
nilh=as=t’u7 ti7 ti=wa7=s=Paul
[coB=fsByvi=EXCI] that[vi§ PET=[PFVi=NMLZ=Paul
Spintlum  14ti7 wa7, tu7
Spintlum  at+therey1§  be but
lati7=hém’=t’u7 lhes

at+there [VI§=ANTI=EXCI] [COMB+[PFV+EsBTV|
wa7, es-kits-lec,
be STAT-get.laid.down-{aUT
sq ut-dlqw-s=a
one.side-treefPOsg=EX1g
ta=szik=a.
pPET=log=EXI1q

Moses Paul had gone someplace else, but Paul Spintlum must have

been there, he was laying down on one side of a log.

(95) nilh=ti7 qus-en-tali ni=plismen=a
cog=thatviy shoot-pIRNTY [aABYPET=policeman=FEXIs
ku=stéxw.
DET=real

He’s the one that shot the policeman for sure.
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(96)

(97)

194

nilh=malh ti7 stexw  sqwéqwrel’
cod=ppHORT  thatfviy  real tell"CRED*
kw=s=qus-cit-as ku=plismen
PET-RMIZshoot (NBERG ~ BET-policeman
14ti7 lh... tsukw=t'u7  l4ti7
at+there[vi§ and.then finish=EXCI] at+there 19
lh=law-an-ém=as 14ti7,
EOMH-gec hung BIFHPASI-HTY  ac+ there S
lh=plén=as aylh  wa7 cin’.

coMB=already=fFB]V then long.time
And that’s the truth, that Paul Spintlum shot the policeman, and

that was the only reason why he would be hung, though it was a
long time before he was hung.

[nilh] [s]=t’iq=s ldku7, vig-s-tum’,
cof [NMLZ=arrive=gposy at+there [NVI§ arrive{CAUS-FpAsY
nilh  s=nexw-sqaxa7-min-em ta=pd-pl7=a
Eof FIz=gallop-horse RUHGFASY DER-fRED-one=EXT
plismen, nilh s=qdm’-aka7
policeman  [co§  [NMLZ=get.hit-hand
ta=pd-pl7=a.
DET|=IRED*One=EXIY

So he (the dead policeman) arrived, he was brought in, and then

one other policeman was brought in at a gallop, because that one

had been hit in the hand.
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Paul Spintlum’s Story: Tracking the Outlaws

(98)

(99)

(100)

(101)

nilh s=gew’p={ 14ti7,
Eofl  FML-gatherfFIFOSY  acthere iy
ta=kvpmen=a.

DET=government=[EXIg

Then the government met.

k’wi4lh-cal ki=ts'qdx7=a,
call.on{acT coL1] pET=horse=[EX1Y
i=saddle-horse-s=a ken-tdkem, tikem=tu7
PI.DET=saddle.horse-gposs=Ex1g around-all all=fExci]
wa7  ka-teq-s-twitas-a saddle-horse.
c1rd-touch-caAU-fPp1 ERG{CIRG saddle.horse
They hired horses, saddlehorses from all over, all of the saddle
horses they could get hold of.

cw7it i=wa7=qwéz, k’walh-cal
many  PI.DET=[PFVi=get.used call.on-acT
ki=wa7=n-k’wen’-cen-ilhtsa7, cw7it sama7.

CoLl] pET=PFV|=L0od-look-foot-meat many white.people
They used a lot of them, and they hired a lot of white people as

trackers.

cw7int=tu7 liku7 i=wa7=wa7 sdma7.
many=EXc1| at+there [NVi§ PIpET=[PFv]=be white.people

There were lots of white people there.
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(102)  k’wilh-cal=wit ki=7ucwalmicw=a,
call.on-jacTj=fp1] [coL1pET=indigenous.person=
n-q’ém’qem’p tcwalmicw lhel=kw7d
[LodTRED'ten indigenous.person from=that.
ta=k’emlips=a i=wa7 viq

PET-Kamloops=EXT FLBET-IFF] arrive
n-kK’wen’-cen-4lhtsa7.

fod-look-foot-meat

They hired ten Indians from Kamloops, who came as trackers.
(103)  nilh s=7aylh=s, cuy’=s kal-en-itas,
EO8 NAMLZ-then—FOS§ goingto—GF0y chascDIRAFERG
n-k’wen’-cen-4n’-itas.
Lod-look-foot-PIRGPI]ERG

So then they went after them (the outlaws), and they were tracking

them.
(104) wi7=ku7 tsut=wit  wi=snilh, wa7
Fr-RmoT  sy-@  Fi-Haioe
ats’x-en-ftas i=wa7=n-k’wen’-cen-4lhts’a7.

get.seen-DIR-BPIERG PIPET=[PFVi=L0d-look-foot-meat
I heard that Moses Paul and Paul Spintlum said themselves that

they could see the trackers following them.

(105)  lédku7=malh nilh=ti7 wa7 necnactim’.
at+there [NVI§=ADHORT| [COF=that1g ridged[Chasm]

They were at Necnactdm’.
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(106)

(107)

(108)

(109)

Chasm=hem’ ta=wa7=s-nah-en-itas

Chasm—f¥T]  BER-PF-Faiizname BT ERG
i=sdm7=a, nilh 7.
PI.DETI=white.person=EX1§ [coH thatf1g

Chasm is what the white people call it, that’s it.

wd7=ku7 s=7ats’x-s-twitas (i...)
fPFvi=QuoT [NMLZ=get.seen{CAUS-HPIERG [P1DET]
kati7 wa7  n-k’'wen’-cen-dlhts’[a7],
around+there V1§ Lod-look-foot-meat
ao  kwas pipt=wit  wa7
NEG DET+HNMLZ+[PFV+gPosy always=fp1]
s-lheqw.
STAT-ride.horse

They were watching the trackers, but they weren’t always on their
horses.

wi7=tu7  kat7 n-mitq=wit,  legw-ilc
[PFVi=EXCI around+there[y1 [Eod-walk=fp1] hide{aUT
ken-tikem.
around-all

They were travelling by foot, and hiding all over the place.

ats’x-en-ftas=ku7 ta=wa7=n-k’wen’-cen-4lhtsa7,
get.scen PTRFERG-RU0T BET-Erri-EodHlook foormeat
gets-en-4s 14ti7 ta=(n)ts’qdxa7-s=a.

tie-DIR-PERG at+there[vi§ [PET=horsefposs=Exig

I heard that they saw one of the trackers tie up his horse.
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(110)

(1)

(12)

(13)

nilh=t'u7 s=qwatsits=[s]=tu7 dku7
coR=fxcy [NMLZ=leave=fpoS§=REM to-+thereINVIg
cal’-us.

come.over-hill

Then the tracker set off to look over the brow of a hill.

lhqw-il(e)c ta=pa-pl7=a, tsicw
ride.horse-aAUT  DET=[REDone= get.there
lhqw-le=wit.

ride.horse-pUT=fp1]

One of the outlaws got on his horse, and then they got on the
horses.

[lh]eqw-ilc-min-as i=tsqaxa7-s=a=t'u’
ride.horse-AUT-RLT-BERG  PI.pET=horse-fposs=ExX1§=EXCI|
nilh  s=q’dy-lec=i (s)

@ =r un.away-zﬂ_
[e]=t=[t]rdpsten=[a].
pBI=pET=binoculars=fx1g

They jumped on the tracker’s horses, and they ran off with the

binoculars.

wi7=lhkan l4ti7 k’'wezis-em  pindni7

[PFVi=fsd.fB] at+there[y1§ work{MiD  at.that.time
ts7a |=t=sktkwtsa-s=a

thisfjl§  at=pET=downstreamgposg=Ex1g
ta=pelhtiq’t=a.
PET=Kelley.Creeck=EX1g

I was working there, downstream from Kelley Creek.
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(14)  [ka]-qan’im-s=kan-a

IRG hear FAUS-5q 5} £1Rq

kw=s=naq’w-cit-ém=tu7 kwa...
PET-RMZstcal (NGHPASI-REM  PET+FEY
k’wen’-cen-dlhts’a7, ku=tripsten-s muta7

look-foot-meat pPET=binocularsfposy and
ku=ts'qdxa7-s.
BET-horse 7053
I heard that something was stolen from the tracker, his binoculars
and his horse.

Tom Evans’ Story: A Close Call in Jack Pine Country

(5)  nilh=ti7 ken-tdkem liku7 lhas
[coB=that[vi§ around-all at+there[NVi§ [COMH+HPFV+FsBIV]

kal-en-itas, k’wan’-cen-dn-itas, cw7it  cw7it
chase-pIRPIERG look-foot-DIRfPIERG many many
CW7it.
many

So they kept chasing and tracking them all over the place, there
were a lot of them.
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(116)

(117)

ts’ila  kdd7 ku7... ti7
like  around+therefiy  thatfinvid  thatvig

ku=pdla7  tmicw, ku=xetspqiqen’kst  mile

DET=one land DET=hundred mile

ken=tswisa wa7=wit
around=pPET+NMLZ+[PFV+fPOSI+EXI§ be=fpI]
ken=t7a sqwém*qwem=a
around=that[vi§ [TRED'mountain=EXI1g
ken-tdkem.
around-all

That one area must be something like one hundred miles, where
they were, and there were mountains all over.

wa7  tsut na=pa-pl7=a sdma7 wa7
say RBSDET-IREDone=fXT§ white.person
zZewat-en-an, sqwe'qweel’-min-as, wa7 tsut,

be.known-DIR-SG.ERG tellCRED-RLT-BERG [PFV say

» 36

“s7ents...
DY

One of the white people that I knew told about it, he said, “I...”

%See stanza (119) for a continuation of stanza (117). Stanza (u8) is an aside, interrupt-
ing the flow of the narrative by helping to contextualize where Sam Mitchell was at the

time.
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(118)

(119)

wi7=lhkalh K’weztis-em  l=kw74-wna
[PFvi=jp1lsB]  work-MID| at=that INv1g-precisely

sqém’'gem’=a, nilh

Upper.Bridge.River.Valley=EX1g fcon
s=tsicw-ts-min-itas nelh...

- =get.there-mouth-RLT-BPI.ERG  those [sBY

)

wa7  outlaw.
those- [PFV outlaw

We were working up in the Bridge River valley when they brought
news about those outlaws.

nilh  ses sqwéqweel’  ts7a
o RNMLA+[PFVi+gPosy  tell'lCRED’ this.jr1g
ta=pd-pl7=a sima?, tsut, “s7ents
DPET=[REDone=Ex1y white.person say [5G NDEQ
ta=pd-pl7=a wa7  n-k’'wen’-cen-dlhts’a7,”

PET=[REDone=fEx1y [PFV [Lod-look-foot-meat
wa7 tsut, “n-tsil'tslekst=kalh.”
say  EOCHERED five~[P0§5]

This one white person said, “I was one of the trackers,” he said,

“There were five of us.”
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(rz0)  “t’dk=kalh,” tsut  4ti7, “4ts’x-en-em
go.along=lp1lsB] say to+therefiy get.seenpIR-PI.ERG
14ti7 wa7  es=[s]p’dm, wa7,”  tsut,
at+there V1§ have=firewood be say
“ta=n-k’{x-men=a, wa7  l4ti7
PET-[0Gfy S-EXN be  acttherefs
piken=a l=na=n-k’ix-men=a,

bacon=fx1y at=[ABY PET=LOd-fry-INJ=EX1§
na=747s7=a.”
B4 DET]=egg=fX1g

He said, “We were going along, and we saw someone that had a
fire, and there was a frying pan there, and bacon and eggs in it.”

(zr)  “nilh,”  wut,  “s=74ts’x-en-em
o sy  [FMIZ-getscenBHETERG
kw=s=q’ey*q’dy-lec=s=t’u7
DET|=NMLZ=[RED'run.away-AUT=gPOSS=EXCI]
lhl4ti7 n-lheqw.”
from+therey1§ Lod-ride.horse

“Then,” he said, “We saw them escaping on horseback.”

(r22)  wa7 tsut, “wi=snilh.”
sy FO-FQINDED

He said, “It was them.”
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(23)  “nilh,”  tsut, “s=kal-en-tinemwit

EoR sy [viz-chase bR B ERG

iku7 ti7 i=wa7=tstin-em
to+there INvVI§ thatj1y PIPET=[PFVi=say+DIR-IPLERG
wa7  ti7 ku=tmicw, lh=tdkem=as
thacf§  pER-land  EoMT-all-fETY
14ti7 kekaw’, qwlit=t'u7.”

at+there V1§ [RED!far jack.pine=EXCI
He said, “Then we chased after them through what we call Jack
Pine country’, which is all around there for a great distance.”

(124) stk-alqw iz
STAT-close.together-timber those.v1g
ken=ki=ntkw=a, ts’fla  ku=legw-lig’w
around=pI]pET=other=Ex1y like PET=TRED'spaced
ken=ki=ntdkw=a, t’'u7 wa7=hém’=t’'u7
around=p1]pET=other=Ex1y but [PFV=ANTI=EXCI]|
ka-t’dk-a i=ts'qdx7=a.

Eic-go.along EIRE FIDEH-horse—EXTS
It is brushy in places, and there are spaces between trees in other
places, but a horse can go through there anyways.

(rz5)  kal-en-itas kK’'win’-c[en], wa7
chaseDIR-fPI.ERG look-foot
ats’x-cen-dn-itas, wa7  tsut pinéni7
get.seen-foot{DIR-GPIERG say  at.that.time
kwas gap, wa7  kwis.

DPET+NMLZ+[PFV[+fPOsy evening rain
They were following him where they could see the tracks, he said,
and it was getting towards evening and raining.
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(126)

(127)

(128)

204

“psil’,” tsut, nilh=t'u7 ses tsut,
daybreak say [coB=fxci NMLZA+fPFV+fposy say
“[ka]-hdl’h-a ta=st’ak-men-i=ha.”

g show-ETRd pETi=track {vs B FOSS=Ex

“In the morning,” he said, “their tracks showed up.”

nilh  s=tsut=s, “kal-en-tdnemwit,
cod NMLZ=say=fposy chase-pIR-fp1loBj+ipL.ERG
tsat=kalh=t"u7 kwas

say=fp1l fBj=EXCI] = PET+NMLZ+[PFV+PoOss
ka-7ats’x-s-tanemwit-a

TR get.seen-EATS 1) 5] 1) ERGHCTRd

(I=kw=s) l=kw=s=hal’h=i
«-BET-FNT] at-DET-FZ-show-F1FOS
ku=s=t’4k=i
BER-RZ-go.along- POy
ke'ki<7>ew’, nexw nuxw,

[REDfar<[NCH> [rREDgallop

cwelsctlvel.”

[FRE run.away FRED
He said, “We followed them. We thought that we would be able
to see them galloping a little bit further in the distance, escaping.”

“t’ak=kalh=t'u7,” tsut, “tsicw=kalh
go.along=fpP1sBJ=ExC1]  say get.there=[fp1]5B]
ta=sqwem-ulm’ecw=a.”

PET=mountain-land=EX1g

He said, “We went along and got to a knoll in the ground.”
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(129)

(130)

(131)

“ts’fla ti7 ku=s-gwél kita7
like thatjyiy PET=pTAT-burnt around+therefig
ku=sqwem-tlm’ecw, 14ti7 ta=k’ér’h=a.”

pPET=mountain-land at+there[vl§ PET=rock=EXIg

“It was kind of burnt around there, and there was a rock.”

wa7 tsut,  “l4ti7 ta=tsqdx7=a,”
say at+therevly  [DET=horse=
ptak=t’u7 s=tsut=s  l4ti7, “e=t71,

passed.by=EXC1] say=gposy at+theref1§ to=thatf1g
nilh=t'u7 n-s-tweiw=a,
cog=Exc1 [fqpos§NMLZ-both.sides FRED=EXIS
s-tek’-dlqw
STAT-close.together-timber
n-s-tw*iw=a.”
G FOSSHRTZ both.sides FRE-EXTS
Hesaid, “And there was a horse,” and after that he said, “The brush
was really thick on both sides of me.”

nilh=u7  tut l4ti7, lhliti7=tu7 tsut,
[coB=Exc1 say at+there[viy from+there[vid=FXc1 say
“nilh=t’'u7 n=[s]=tsut-dnwas s7ents.”

con=Exc1l [sd[poss=NMLZ=say-inside [fSG.INDE}

That’s when he said, “I started thinking.”
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(132)

(133)

(134)

206

“plin=t’u7 ldkw7a ts7a cuz’ kén’ en’
already=Exc1] at+therefiNnvig thisf1§ going.to bump+fRED
n-tixwats=a,” wa7  tsut, “n-tixwats=a,
fsdposs-chest=Ex1§ [PFV say [5G poss-chest=Ex1q
qts-eprep ép n-skwt’tis=a.”
get.strained-INCH'FRED'FRED [5G POSS-face=EXIY

“I felt my chest start to pound and my face was twitching.”

“nflh=tu7,”  tsut, “s=qwets-dn-an
Eof-Exc] sy  NLZ-movelRHFGERG
n-ts'qix7=a, ni[lh=tu7]
flsgposg-horse=Ex1g fcon=Exci]
n=s=pelk’-Gs-em.”

i3 Poss=NMLZ=get.turned.around-face-MID

He said, “Then I got my horse going, and I turned around.”

“nilh=t'u7,” tsut, “s=ka-t'dl=s-a
[coB=Excy  say NMLZ=[CIRd-stop=PBPOSIICIR]
i=n-[n]k’sdytken=a
P ER-a Foss-friend XT3
I=t=s-74w’t=a.”
at=pET=NMLZ-behind=fEX1g
He said, “My friends had stopped behind.”




The Outlaws: Moses Paul and Paul Spintlum

(135) “nilh=tu7,” tsut, “s=tsun-tanfhan,
EOR-EXC) sy  [Z-suyDRFLOTHEGERG
‘14ti7=t"u7 lh... lati7=t'u7
at+there VI§=EXCI| at+there VI§=EXCI|
lh=t’4l=as kw=n=s=cuz’
Gont-stop-5ETY DET-IFaosI-RiTZ-going o
kal-en iz... kw=s=Paul

chasepIR  thoseyi§ DPET=NMLZ=Paul
Spintlum,  lh=xat’-min=4lap
Spintdum  [coMB=want-RLT=pJP1.5B] 1
kw=s=t"dk=Iap,
PET-FEg-go.along-FFLFoSS
nilh=t’u7
FoR-xe]
s=tdk=lap.”
RZgo.along—BFIFoSS
Then he said, “Then I told them, “That’s where I’'m going to stop

chasing them... chasing Paul Spintlum, if you want to keep going,
then you just keep going.

> »

(136)  “cwZdoy=t'u7 kwas
NEG=ExXCI] DET+NMLZ+[PFV+FPOsy
nas-min’-ci[ t]-tanemwit
goRLTHNDH 1] OB +fp1] ERG
i=ts'qax7-{=ha.”
P1.DET=horse-fp1] pOoSI=EXIY

“We never even went to get their horses.”
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(137)

(138)

(139)

208

“nilh=t’'u7  s=p’dn’t=kalh lhl4ti7.
fcog=fxci] =return=fp1lposy from+there 1
nilh=tu7 n=s=pan’t, nilh=tu7
con=Exc1 [sqposs=NMLZ=return [COB=EXCI|
s=pan’t=s i=nukw=a.”

=return=gposy PI.pET=other=
“We went back from there. I went back, and then the others went

back.”

“lhwal-en-ém=t’u7 lati7
get.abandoned-PIRHPI ERG=EXCI]  at+there[v1§
i=ts'qdx7-i=ha, wia7=tu7 l4ti7.”

PI.pET=horsefp1lpOosg=EX1§ be=EXCI at+there1g

“We just left their horses there.”

“nilh s=p’an’t=kalh,
Gl Fid-recum-OFOS
n-pel[k’]-cen-an-tsat=kalh...”

fLod-get.turned.around-foot-DIR-REFI=}P1].5B]

“Then we went back from there, we retraced our footsteps...”
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(140)  “...tsicw=kalh dku7
get.there=fp1]5B] to+there INVIg
[l]=na=s=7ats’x-en-ém=a
ac~ B8, BET-RMLZ g scen BT PILERG-EXT
kwas es=[s]p’dm, wa7

DPET+HNMLZHPFV+POsy have=firewood be

laci7 ta=pé-pl7=a ts'qixa’,
at+there[V1§ PDET=[REDone=fX1§ horse
nilh=ti7 pakhés-i=k’a.”

Eom-thac /13 pack horse-FFIFOTS-EPTS
“...we got to where we had seen the campfire, and there was one
horse there, it must’'ve been their packhorse.”

(141)  “kwan-ci[t]-tdinemwit lhl4ti7,
takeIND-fPL.oB]HPERG  from+there.j1g
dts’x-en-em i=szdcen-s=a

get.seenDIRPPILERG Il DET=pack-fPoSI=EXIY
ta=pakhoés-i=ha.”
pPET=pack.horse-gp1] pos§=Ex1q

“We took their pack horse from there, and we looked inside its

pack.”
(142) “wd7=wit i=s7ilhen=[a], tdkem ku=swin’acws
be=fp1l  pPUpET=food=fEx1g all DET=different.kinds
s7ilhen l4ti7 lak...”

food  at+there[vi§ be.there
“They had food in there, all kinds of food...”

(143)  “..pelenilh”  i=candy=ha.”
including.others PIpET=candy=EX1g

“...Including candy.”
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(144)

(145)

(146)

“nilh=tu7 ti7 s=tsukw=s kwin-em
EOT-EXCy thacTy FMIZ-finish-fF0s take+DI-FLER]
ta=pakhds=a.”

pET=pack.horse=

“So we only took the packhorse.”

I=ts7a i=qus-ci[t]-tim=as
at=this[y1§ ~ whenPAsT=shoot{IND-fPAss=FsB]V
ta=kél7=a plismen [w]a7
pET=first= policeman
kwan*en-s-twitas 14¢i7

take*FREDHCAUS-HPIERG  at+there 1y
ta=pakhds=a.
pPET=pack.horse=Ex1Y
They must have taken that packhorse when the first policeman got
shot.
ts’fla=t’u7  dk=iz’ s-tsut-i
like=gxcC1] be.towards.there=those.v1§ |NMLZ-saygp1]pos9
ku=l4k.
DPET=be.there

It was just like that, they said.

*’The word p’elenilh is hitherto unrecorded, and the gloss ‘including others’ comes
from Desmond Peters, Sr.
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(147)

(148)

(149)

tsut=t'u7  4dku7 (ps...) wa7 iz
say=ExCI]  to+there [NVI be  thoselvig
pt-d’k-em swinacws s7ilhen:  canned

cover-surface-MIp  differentkinds  food canned

stuff, kan, i=kdn=a, i=candy=ha.
stuff can PIpET=can=Ex1y PIpET=candy=EXIS

They said there was all kind of food covered up: canned stuff, even

candy.

tdkem=t'u7  swin’acws s7ilhen, doz=tu7

all=fxc1] different.kinds  food NEG=EXCI]
kwas tiyt=wit.

DET+NMLZ+[PFV+gPosy hungry=pp1]
There was all kinds of food, so they didn’t get hungry.

lh=nk47=as lhas
comd=where=fsB]V  [COMB+PFV+EsBTV|
kwan*en-s-twitas, wa7=wit=k’i=t’u7

ok FREDHCATS FLERG  be-GP0-EPS-xc
[es]=nk’sdytken  kwas
have=relative DET+HNMLZ+[PFV+gPOss
kwan*en-s-twitas iz’.
take*FREDHCAUS-JPIERG those 1

I don’t know where they got the food from, they must’ve had rel-

o

atives who they got it from.
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Pavilion Person’s Story: Disguised as Women

(150)  pindni7=hem’ ku=time, ao
at.that.time=pNT]  PET=time
kddi7 kwas

around-+therey1§  PET+HNMLZ+[PFV+EPOsS
kwimeem i=7ucwalmicw=a
getfRED  PIpET=indigenous.person=EXIs
ku=qus-em-dl’ts lhas
pPET=shootMID-rock  [COMB+HPFV+ESBIV
ken[s]-tecwp=wit ku=qus-em-al’ts
want.to-buy=pp1]  PET=shootmip-rock
ken=ki=stéh=a.
around=pPI] PET|=store=EXI
At that time, Indians couldn’t get bullets when they tried to buy
them from the store.
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(151)  i=lhldku7-mec=[a],
P1].pET}=from+there [NVIg-people=EX1g

i=pelhtiq’t-mec=a muta7
p1DET=Kelley.Creek-people=Ex1y  and
e=t7u (i... e=t7u i=n...)
to=that[vi§ PIPET to=thatji§ PIpET=
i=Canoe Creek-emc=a muta7
PIDET=canoe creek-person=ExX1§ and
dku7 i=wa7=wd7
to+there[Nvi§  PI.PET=[PFVj=be
Ucwalmicw dku7
indigenous.person  to+there [INVIg
ta=wa7=tsin-itas wa7
PET-FF-say-+BIR- ARG
Big Bar...
Big Bar

The Indians from those places, those from Kelley Creek, from Ca-
noe Creek, from what they call Big Bar...
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(152)  ..cw7doy=tu7 kati7 kwas
NEG=ExCcI| around+there[vi§ PET+NMLZA+[PFV+gPosy
kwimrem=wit ku=qus-m-dl’ts lhas

getFRED=fP1] PET=shoot-MID-rock [COMB+PFV+BSBIV
ken[s]-tecwp=wit  ku=n-qus-em-al’ts

want.to-buy=gp1]  PET=Lod-shootMIiD-rock

ken=kw71 askrdop=a,
around=that. Ashcroft=
lhas tsicw=wit tecwp.

coMB+iPFV+BsB]Y get.there=pgp1] buy
...they couldn’t get any bullets when they tried to buy them around
Ashcroft, where they’d go to buy things.

(153)  tsukw=tu7 ken=ts74 wi=snimulh ~ wa7 kwim‘em
finish=ExXci1] around=this.y1§ PI=§PIINDEY [PFV] getFRED
ku=qus-m-dl’'ts=a, pindni7.

pPET=shoot{MID-rock=EX1q at.that.time

We were the only ones around here that could get any bullets.

(154)  nilh=d7 wa7  szdyten-i pindni7 wa7
[con=thatvig doingsfP1posy at.that.time
s=Qdgs.

NMLZ=Q4qis[Moses.Paul ]

That’s what Moses Paul and them were doing at that time.

214



The Outlaws: Moses Paul and Paul Spintlum

(155)

(156)

(157)

(158)

tsama=t’u7 aylh ta=kvpmen=a,
tryhard=Exci]  then  pET=government=
kin=a[s]=k’a kwas dn’was
whether=fsBJVi=EPI§ DET+NMLZ+[PFV[+fposy two
t'4dnam’ten, nilh=t'u7 s=tsukw=s,

months coB=Excy [NMLZ=finish=gposs
nilh=cu7  s=tsukw=i.
[con=Exc1 NMLZ=finish=pp1posy

The government tried (to catch them) for maybe two months, and

then they just quit.

doy=t'u7  kwas n-pzan-itas.
NEG=EXCI] DET+NMLZ+[PFV+fposy Eod-meet+pPIR-FPLERG
They didn’t catch up with them.

k’'wilh-cal=wit  lhel=kw7u talh7-dlqw=a
callon-acT=fp1] from=thatNVI§ other.side-tree=
i=ntkw=a sdma7 wa7  tiq.

PI.DET=other=EX1d white.person arrive

They hired some other white guys from the States who came.

nilh=ku7 cuz’ kwan<en-s-tili.
FOI-RUOT goingto take-FREDHEAUSNTY

It was said that they would catch them.
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(159)

(160)

216

ka]-xek-s-twitas-4=t’u7
[

FRG countEAUS 7 ERGHETRG-EXCT

kw=s=cw7it-7dl=s szdyten, nilh=t'u7
BER-RZ-many 0005 doings  GoR-ERCH
s=tsukw=s.

RMLZ}-finish~GFOs3
But then they figured out it would cost too much, so that stopped,

too.

nilh=t’u7 s=lheqp-dlqw-em=s
Eof-Excl  FMiZ-stuck.on-tree STT-GFOSY
ta=k¥pmen=a ku=xw7utsin s-thousands
pPET=government=EX1y [PET=four NMLZ-thousands
ku=kwan*en-s-tanemwitas.
DET=takeFRED-CAUS-GPLOB]+NTS

The government posted a sign for a $4000 reward for any one who

caught them.
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(161)  nilh=tu7 ti7 s=wa’7=s lheqp-dlqw,
cog=fxc1] thatjviy [NMLZ=be=fposy stuck.on-tree
wi7=malh s-7ats’x i=t’liz’=a,
[PFV=ADHORT [TAT-get.seen PIDET=canoe=EXIS
(i=wd7..)  i=ferry=ha, (i=wd7...)
PIBET-be PUPET-fory-EXI [FLBET-be
tswa i=wa7=t"4q’,
DET+NMLZ+[PFY PLDET=[PFV]=cross.over
muta7  i=ntqwixw=a wa7
and P1DET=bridge=Ex19
es-74ts’x.
STAT-get.seen

The sign stayed up, and the boats, the ferries where people were
crossing, and the bridges were watched.

(162)  wa7 viq=wit kati7
arrive=pp1] around+there [v1g

ken=ki=nk’saytken-i=ha,

around=pI1] pETj=relative-gp1]posg=ExI1q

ken=ts74-wna ts’k’wéylacw=a,
around=this.y1s-precisely  Pavilion=
lata7 wa7 alkst ta=wa7=sqwé-qw-el’.

at+there V1§ work DET=[PFV=tellCRED!
The outlaws got to where their relatives were, around Pavilion,
which is where the person who told me this was working.
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(163)  wi7=lhkan zewdit-en nelh,

[PFvi=fsd.B]  beknown-pi  thosefaBs
ta=wa7=s=Charlie Harry muta7 s=Felix,
PET=[PFVi=NMLZ=Charliec Harry and NMLZ=Felix

iti7=tu7 s=tiq=wit, wa7
to+there VI§=EXCI] =arrive=fp1]
iz’ lita7 es=tsftcw.

those [v1§ at+there[vi§ have=house

I'knew them: they were Charlie Harry and Felix, and that’s where
the outlaws went, where their houses were.

(164)  lhas gap, wa7  ts7as
[coMB+IPFVi+BSB]V|  evening came
sqweqw el’-min-itas i=wa7=szdyten-i.

tellCRED R FPERG FIBET-fPri=doings B Fos

In the evening, they would come around and talk about what they

were doing.
(165)  qweqwrel’-min-itas i=wa7=n-k’wen’-cen-lhts’a7,
tell'lCRED"RLT-BPL.ERG PIDET=[PFV]=L0od-look-foot-meat
wa7=tu7  s-7ats’x-s-twitas ku7.

[PFV=Exc1] pTAT-get.seen{CAUS-HPI.ERG thatINVIY

They talked about the trackers and how they kept watch on them.
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(166)  tsicw=wit ken=ki=ca7-tn-dl'us=a,
get.there=fp1]  around=p1].pET}=up.high-INg-eye=[EXIS
s-7ats’x-s-twitas iz, t’ak=wit
STAT-get.seen{CAUS-BPIERG  those V1§ go.along=Rp1|
kadi7.
around-+there V1§
They went to the high lookouts to keep watch on them as they
went by.
(167) ao kwas kas-[s]-twitas
PET+NMLZ+[PFV+gposy  do.how{CAUSHPI.ERG
kwas cuz’

DET+HNMLZ+IPFV+BPOSS going.to

s=qus-cit-itas.
Rz~ shoot (TGP ERG

They couldn’t find any way to shoot them.

168 lhas wendn=wit ku=ts'qixa’7, wi7=t'u7
q q
[CoMB+IPFVi+BSB]Y want=fpI| pPET=horse  [PFV=ExcI]

neq’'w-sqdxa7=wit, naq’w-ens-twitas, tsicw=wit

steal-horse=fp1] steal-DIRBPIERG  get.there=fp1]

ken=ki=stiipvl=a, naq’w-ens-twitas
around=pPI] pET=stable= steal-DIR-fPI.ERG
i=ts'qix7=a.

PI.pET=horse=
When the outlaws needed some horses, they stole them, they went
around to the stables and they stole horses.
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(169) tila  ku=t’d7-e(l)n-a[s] kw=n-pzin-tanemwit,
like  PEf-incuicPIRERG PEA-Log mecc JFLFASS
nilh=t'u7 s=tak-min’-[as] ** ti7
GoR-EXel FMTZ-goalong REHEERG  chacFTg
ta=sts'qdx7=a, nilh  [lh]=ldw=as
BEf-horse—EX [Fof [Fon-gechung—Gary
ta=sdotvl=a, nilh=tu7 n-matq

PEf-saddle—fXTy EoR-Exc] [ogwalk
e=ki=n-qvl-6lm’ecw=a.
to=PIpET=L0d-bad-land=EX1g

When they kind of sensed they were being caught up with, then
they’d lead the horse, and when the saddle had been hung up, they
walked through the badlands.

(170)  cw74oy=s=ku7 ka-t’dk-a
NEG=fposd=QuoT C1Rd-go.along{CIRG
ku=wa7=s-lhéqw.
DET=[PFVi=fTAT-ride.horse

You can’t ride horses in there.

(r71)  kwan lhl4i7, ts74s=wit=ku7 n-matq.
take+PIR from+there 1§ begin=fp1l=QuoT [Lod-walk
They took their saddles off there and started walking.

**The translation of ts’/la ku t’d7enas as ‘they kind of sensed it’ is speculative,
and based on Desmond Peters’ suggestion of t47en ‘to sense s.t.”. The word given as
st’akmin’as in this stanza sounds phonetically like st'zkemin.
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(172)

(173)

(174)

(175)

vigq=wit a7 e=t703-wna
arrive=gp1]  to+there[vi§  to=thatv1§-precisely
ta=wa7=tstin-em wa7  qéqlel’cen.

B fFF-say BTG [ Qiqelten
They got to what we call Q’dg’el’cen.

wa7 l4ta7 s=t’l4z’
at+there 1 have=canoe
i=7ucwalmicw=a, lhl4ta7-mec
PIpET=indigenous.person=EX1§ from+therej1g-people
i=wi7... tsicw=wit ts’aw-cal
PUBET-PFY  getthere=]  washhey
ta=x7{lh=a lhas nukw.

DET=other.side=EX1y [COMB+[PFV+fsB]V other
TheIndian people had a canoe there, and they went across the river
to pan for gold sometimes.

wa7 ti7 naq'w-[a]wlh-en-itas

thatjid  steal-conveyancepIR-gPI]ERG
ta=t’ldz’=a.

The outlaws stole that canoe.

vaq’=wit ita7, lha7-gs.

cross.over=fp1] to+there /1§ close.to-point

They crossed over the river and they got to the other side.
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(r76)  nilh=ku7=tu7 s=tsut=s ta=pa-pl7=a,
coB=uoT=Exc1] NMLZ=say=fposy [DET=[REDone=
“cliz’-min-em i=nk’saytken-lhkélh=a.”

going.to.be-RLTHPIERG PI.DET=relativefp1] pOsS=EXIS

Then one of them said, “Let’s go stay with our relatives.”

b

(r77) cuz tsun-tanemwit ta=wi7=tu’
goingto  say+DIRFIFAS]  PEI-FR-REM
qwez-cit-itas ta.. qwey-en-tas

get.used-IND-§P1.ERG get.used-DIRBPI.ERG
iz [t]a=tliz’=a.

those V1§ PET=canoe=EXIS
They were going to tell the ones whose canoe they had stolen that
they had just used it.
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(178)  nilh=t'u7  s=weq w-en-itas

[coB=fxc1] NMLZ=get.carried.away.by.water-pIR-fP1.ERG

ta=t’liz’=a ku=kwin-ita[s],
PEf-canoc-fXT  DET-tke JFLERG
kelh-en-itas ta=lép=a, nilh=tu7
come.of PTFIERG PET-rope-fXT For-xcE
s=weq w=s
NMLZ=get.carried.away.by.water=gposs
ta=t’l4z’=a, tsut=wit=ku?7,

PET=canoe= say=fp1l=QuoT

[(P®)

tak=as=mdlh=ti7
go.along—ET-EDHORT-hac 3
weq'w.”
get.carried.away.by.water
So they just let the canoe drift downriver so they could get it, they

took the rope and untied it and let it go down the river, they said,
“Just let it keep drifting.”

(1r79) nilh  s=tdk=i 1hl4ti7,
cod NMLZ=go.along=pp1lposy from+therefig
vig=wit ati7 nxwisten=a,
arrive=fp1]  to+therey1§  Bridge.River=EXI1g
i=wa7=lhl4dta7 lhwas
P1.pET]=be=from+there v1y [cOMH+[PFV+fsB]
S=tSitcw.

have=house

They left there and got to Bridge River, where there were people
there with houses.
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(180) wa7=ku7 lid7 i=sq’wits-em=a.
be=lQuoT] at+therey1y PI]pET=clothes.get.washed-MID=EX1q

There was some laundry hanging.

(181)  ats’x-en-itas, tsicw dta7.
get.seenDIR-BPI.ERG get.there to+there[V1g

They saw it, and went there.

(182)  kwim*em=wit ki=st’dnwen=a, in’was st’dnwen.
get’FRED=P]] [cOLIpETj=skirt=Ex1y two  skirt

They took two skirts.

(183)  nilh  s=ts74s=i, tsicw=wit e=ts74
cof NMLZ=come=fp1l[poss get.there=fp1] to=thisy1g
s-ci7-s=a ta=Lzllooet=a.

NMLZ-aboveJposs=Ex1§ pET=Lillooet=EX1y

Then they came to a place above Lillooet.

(184) wi7=wit kdt7 [lh]=psil’=as.
be=gp1]  around+there[vi§ [coMB=daybreak=fsB]V|

They were around there at dawn.

(185)  gap.

evening

And then they hung around there until it was nighttime again.

(186)  lad7 ta=tsinemen=a wa7  es=stdh,
at+there[v1§ PET=Chinese.person=EXIg have=store
nilh=ni7 wa7 Svntéh.

Eof=that iBY Svntéh

There was a Chinese person with a store, that was Svnt6h.
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(187)

(188)

(189)

(190)

(191)

wa7  s-cwak tu  tem o’clock t=sit.st=a.
fTaT-get.woken untl ten oclock PET=night=EX1g
Svntéh stayed open until 10 o’clock at night.

tsiew=wit=ku7 dta7 taw’-ts-am’.
get.there=fpos§=QUoT to+there[vi§ buy-mouth-MID

They went there to buy some food.

tsukw  s=taw’-ts-dm’=i, nilh
finish  RMLZ-buy-mouch ID-GFIFS o
s=ts74s=i lhl4ta7 (lhim-un’...)
NMLZ=come=fp1posy from+therey1§ put.on{pIy
lhecw-en-itas i=st’dnwen=a,

put.on-DIR-PPI.ERG  PI.DET=skirt=EXIS
es-zec zacen=wit.
AT ERED pack=GT]

When they had finished buying groceries, they came out, put on
skirts, and packed their groceries on their backs.

ts74s=wit 1=ts7a ntqwixw=a.

come=fp1] at=this[vi§ bridge=EXIs

They got to the bridge.

wi7=ku7  lati7 i=sdm7=a,

be=QUoT at+there[vi§ PIpET=white.people=EXIY
n-7dan’was wa7  s-7ats’x-s-tali, wi7=t'u7

Eod-two BTt getscen EAUSNTY [PFVi-XCy
ka-ni'n’k’-a.
iR} changeERED- £

There were two white people taking turns watching.
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(192)

(193)

(194)

226

sucw| t]-en-itas ta=pa-pl7=a, nilh=ni7
recognize PTHGFLERG PET-[REDone—fXTy FoT-thac/isy
wa7  s=Joe Russell.

NMLZ=Joe Russell

The outlaws recognized one of them, and it was Joe Russell.

nilh s=cdk=i.

Fon Faiz=go.along=(1] o5

So they kept going.

tsicw=wit e=kw70G-wna e=kw734

get.there=fp1]  to=thatINVI§-precisely  to=thisINVI]
es=Téyka.

NMLZ=Mosquito.Jim
They got to Tayka’s place (Mosquito Jim).
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(195)  nilh=ni7, nilh=ni7 paotenh-i, kekdw’
coB=that|aBy [coB=that[aBy partnerffp1lposy [REDfar
ti7 lhel=tswisa
thatyiy  from=pET+NMLZ+[PFV+gPOsI+EXIY
s=tsitcw 1=ki... ldku7

have=house  at=pIpET  at+there NV
I=ki=7ucwalmicw-dlm’ecw=a
at=p1] pET=indigenous.person-land=EXI1y
cacel’p=a, Kekéyka7 — wa7
Fountain=fx1§  Kekéyka7  be
ti7 tsa
that[vi§ DET+HNMLZ+[PFV+FPOsI+EXIY
xdw'en’=a.

below=

Téyka was their partner, he had a house far away from the Fountain
reserve, and Kekéyka lived below that.

(196)  pipt=ku7 dku7 lhas
always=QuoT  to+thereINVI§  [COMH+PFVI+BSB]VY]
tsicw=wit s-tsitcw-em.

get.there=fp1] STAT-houseMID|

That’s where they always went to camp.
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(197) “ﬁ,”:ku7 tsﬁn‘itas kw:s:Téyka,
oh=QuoT say+PIRFPIERG [DPET=NMLZ=Mosquito.Jim
“elh qwendn ku=siotvl,  tsitsel wa7 e=t7u

if want DET=saddle new be  to=that[vig

I=kw7u s-law na=pél7=a,
at=that[Nvi§ [TAT-get.hung [ABY[PET=0ne=
tsukw=t'u7 kw=[s]=nds=tsu kwan.”

finish=Exc1] PET=NMLZ=go=pfsdposy take

“Oh,” they told Téayka, “If you want a saddle, there’s a new one

hanging down there, just go and get it.”

(198)  tsut kw=s=Téyka, “ats’x-ci[ t]-tsdl-em=kelh,
say DET=NMLZ=Mosquito.Jim get.seen-INDHfsG[PASS=FUT
sucwt-ci[ t]-tsdl-em=kelh.”

recognize-INDH-SG.PASS=FUT]

Téyka said, “They’ll see it is mine and recognize it is mine.”
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(199)  nilh=ti7 wa7 szdyten-i
Eo-tha T3 doings P03
kati7, kati7 ken=Kki...

around+there V1§ around+there[vi§ around=pIpET]
ken=ki=nk’saytken-i=ha
around=p1]pET=relative-gp1]POS§=EXI1

lhas tsicw=wit
Comi+PFV+EsB]V  get.there=fp1]
kati7 lhus
around-+therey1  [COMB+IPFV+E5BTV
tsicw=wit tsitcw-em.

get.there=fp1] house-MID|

That’s what they were doing around there with their relatives,
where they went to stay.

(200) cw7a0  kid7 wa7  trdoka, cw7a0
NEG around+there V1§ tracker [NEG
kati7 kwas
around-+therey1§  PET+HNMLZ+[PFV+jPosy
aldn-itas.

feel +pIR-GP1.ERG

There weren’t any trackers around, and the outlaws didn’t sense
that they were anywhere near.

(201)  wa7 n-mitq=wit, wa7=t'u7 cwil’-em=wit
Lod-travel=gp1] [PFV=Exc1 look.for{MID=fpI]
ku=wa7=s-lhéqw-lheqw.
DET=PFV|=F TAT-TREDride.horse

The trackers were travelling around and watching for riders.
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(202)

(203)

(204)

230

wa7  n-tsut-dnwas=wit kwas
fLod-say-inside=gp1] PET+NMLZA+[PFV+jposq
s-lheqwrlheqw=wit papt, tu7 cw7doz=ku7
STATHrRED!ride.horse=fp1] always but NEG=QUoT
kwas papt=wit wa7
DET+HNMLZ+[PFV+fposy  always=fp1]
s-lheqw.
STAT-ride.horse

They thought that the outlaws would be riding horseback the

whole time, but I heard they weren’t.

tsukw=t'u7 lhas cuz’ ka<7>ew’=wit
finish=Fxc1] [coMH+[PFV+fsB]Y going.to far< >=Hp1]
lhwas s-Theqw=wit.

[coMH+PFVi+sBTY FTATride.horse=fp1]
They rode on horses only when they needed to get far away from
the trackers.

ptak 1hl4ti7, nilh=tu7
passed.by  from+thereyi§  [coB=ExcI|
s=tig’'w=s=t’u7 ta=ts'qdx7=a,
nilh=tu7 s=law=s
EOT-EXel  FMIZ-gethung=§Fosg
ta=siotvl=a.

pPET=saddle=EX1g
After that, they just let the horse go and hung the saddle up.
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Paul Spintlum’s Story: The Murdered Chinaman

(205) cw7it  nelh (kwas...)
many  those]AB§  DET+NMLZ+[PFV+fPosq
kwas es=szdyten  kdti7.

DET+NMLZ+[PFV+gPOsy have=doings around+therefr1g

There were a lot of things that happened to them.

(206)  ta=pdl7=a szdyten-i... liku7
PET=one=Ex1y  doingsfpposy at+thereNVvIg
pelhtiq’t=a n-kukwtsa-s laku7
Kelley.Creek=EX1§ [Lod-downriver-gposg at+there NVIg
lhas... wa7 ta=tsinemen=a
comi+rFvi+gsB]Y] be  pET=Chinese.person=EXIS
kal-em ku=sp’dms=a.

get.made-MID| [NVI§pDET=firewood=EXI1q
One thing they did, it was downriver from Kelley Creek where
there was a Chinaman who made firewood.

(207)  nilh=ku7=tu7 s=tsut=i, “cuy  nas,”
coB=RuoT=ExCl NMLZ=say=fppos§ go.on go
tstin-as [ta]=snuk’wa7-s=[a], “cuy  nas

sayDTREERG PET-friend FOS3-EXH goon go
xel’-ts-min.”
beg.for-mouth{RLT]

They said, “Go and ask him for some food.”

(208)  cw7do=ti7 zewat-en-itas
NEG=that[v1g be.known-pIRfPIERG
ta=tsinemen=a.
PET=Chinese.person=EXIS
They didn’t know the Chinaman.
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(209) wa7 ti7 zewat-en-tinemwit a7
that[vi§ beknown-pIRfp1lpasy to+therefvig
ta=tsinemen=a, gélgel Xzum

pPET=Chinese.person= strong  big
ku=tsdnemen.

PET=Chinese.person

But the Chinaman knew who they were, he was a big strong Chi-

naman.
(210) nilh  s=7ulhcw=s ta=pd-pl7=a,
fof [NMLZ=enter=fposy [DET=[REDone=EXI1qg
tsun-em=ku?7, “cuy  um’-en-timulh
say+HDIR-fpAs§=[QuoT go.on  be.givenDIRfp1]oB]

ku=s7ilhen, dm’-en-ts ku=s7ilhen!”
pPET=food be.given-pIR-fsG.oB] PET=food
One of them went inside and told the Chinaman, “Come on, give

'”

us some food, give me some food

(21m)  “laoys muta7 ku=stdim’=t’u7 kati7.”
rice  and  pET=what=Exc1] around+therefv1g

“Rice and whatever else.”

(2r2)  ats’x-en-ém=t’u’ ta=tsdnemen=a,
get.seenDIR-BPAsY=ExXCI] PET=Chinese.person=
sucwt-en-em, nilh s=kwin-em.

recognize DI AT 07 FAA=take + DR PASY

The Chinaman saw him and recognized him, so he grabbed him.
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(213)  kwan-twdl’-s-tum’ lati7,
take+PIR{RECH{CAUS-BPASY at+there V14
n-q’min-ulm’ecw-dn-em 14¢i7
fod-throw.down-land-DIRfPAsy  at+there V1]
lhas nilh s=cwil’-em=s
[comi+PFVi+sB]Y o NMLZ=look.for-|MID=fposy
ta=tsinemen=a ku=lép

pPET=Chinese.person=EX1§  [PET=rope
ku=zts-c-un-em.
DET=get.tied.up-foot-DIR-FPAsY
They wrestled around and he was thrown to the ground by the
Chinaman, who looked around for a rope to tie him up with.

(214)  nilh kw=s=we7dw=s, wa7 ta=sndk’wa7-s=a
corf peT=NMLZ=shout=fposy be pPET=friendfposs=EXI1§
lI=kw7u dlts'q7=a.

at=thatINVI§ outside=

He hollered to his friend who was outside.

(215)  weZ7aw-en-ds=ku7, “s=plan
shoutpIRBERG=QUOT NMLZ=already
q’dw’-en-ts-as
get.beaten.in.a.contest-pIR- G 0BJ-ERG
ta=tsinemen=a!”
PET=Chinese.person=

He shouted to him, “The Chinaman has overpowered me!”

(216)  ulhcw lhldku?7 snik’wa7-s=[a].
enter from+therefINVI§ friend-fposs=Ex1g

His friend went inside.
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(217)

(218)

234

i=tsinemen=a sntsa
P1pET=Chinese.person=Ex1y NMLZ+at+DPET+ +PFV]
wi7=wit, papt=t’u7 wa7
b always=EXcy
s-Ket[cw] kati7

FTAT-get.severed  around+there[v1g
i=si*s*qem’-men-i=ha
PIET-splicvood ERED- (N3 FLFOSS-EXTS

ku=kwikws tamin.

PET=small axe

The Chinese people around there, they always split their firewood
with a little axe.

tlhcw=tu7 dku7 kw=s... swéta7...
enter=EXC1] to+there[NVI§ [PET=NMLZ what’s.his.name
Moses P...,  swéta7 ti7 s=Paul
Moses.Paul ~ what’s.his.name that[vl§ NMLZ=Paul
Spintlum.
Spintlum

Who was it...Moses P.., no, it was Paul Spintlum who went inside.
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(219)  4ts’x-en-as plan wa7
get.seen-DIR-BERG already
n-p’its’-lum’ew-[a]n-em [ta]=sntk’wa7-s=a,
Lod-press.down-land-pIR-fPAss PET=friend-fposs=EXI1g
nilh  s=kwién-as ta=tamin=[a],

Eof NMIZ-tuke/PIRAERG  DF-axe—EXTy
n-t'uts-lagin-n-as
Lod-get.chopped-top.of.head DIR-FERG

ta=tsinemen=a,
DET=Chinese.person=EXI1g
ka-lhvp’-a [s]nilh.
c1rd-flop.over{CIRG BSGINDEH
He saw his friend was already pinned to the ground, so he took the

axe and chopped the Chinaman in the head, and he flopped over.

*>The stress pattern on 7p’its lum’cw/aJnem is unexpected: it should be on the penul-
timate @ vowel, which is not clearly audible.
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(220)  zewat-en-tinemwit wi=snilh
be.known PTHFIPEHHETER] Pi-faNDEY
ts7a ti7 ku=xilh-[ts]-tal’i,
thisft§  thatyi§  [PET=get.doneCAUS-NTY
tsut=wit=t'u’7 wi=snilh
ay-FI-EXC]  Fi-BQiNDE
kwas wi=snilh
PET+HNMLZ+[PFV[+fposy PU=FsGINDEY
ts7a ti7
this 1y that[v1g
ku=xilh-[ts]-tal’i, nilh=ti7
PET-get.donc EATHVE Eof-thatffig
ti7texw
correct

kw=s=k’az-4k7-am=i.
BET-RAZdestroy-hand M- oSS
We know it was them that did, it, because they said so themselves,
so it was true, they were the murderers.

(221)  sqwal-n-ém=t’u7 ta=pdotna-s=a ka
reportDIRPPASY=EXCI] [DET=partnerfPOSS=EXIY
lh=cw740z=as kwas wa7

coMH=NEG=BfB]Y PET+NMLZA+[PFV[+fPosy be
s-UqW-aws=wit...
BTAT-together-collective=fp1]

It was reported by his partner that if they hadn’t been together...
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(222)  ..nilh=cu7 ti7
Eof-BXc] chacf
s=qaw’-en-¢ém=t’u’
NMLZ=get.beaten.in.a.contest{DIR-GPASY=EXCI|
ta=tsinemen=a,

PET=Chinese.person=

zes*zUs-c-un-em, nilh=tu7
[EREDFget.tied.up-fooc PIHFAS] EOT-EXCY
ti7 s=nas sqwal’-min-em.

that T FNTZ-go  reporcRIFHFASY
...then the Chinaman would have beaten him, tied him up, and
then gone and squealed on him.

(223)  nilh zam’ s=n-74n’was
fcog after.all NMLZ=LOd-two
i=n-t’uts-lagin-n-as.
when pAsT=Lod-get.chopped-top.of. headpIR-BERG

So there were two of them when they chopped his head.

(224) nilh=hem’ ti7 tsuw7-i
EoR-ENT  thucf  ownFLFOSS
sqwéqweel’, kwas

telllCRED PET+NMLZ+[PFV+Hjposq
n-t'uts-lagin-n-as,
fLod-get.chopped-top.of.headDIR-BERG
t’uts-lagin-n-ftas
get.chopped-top.of.head-pIR-fPI.ERG
ta=tsinemen=a wi=snilh.
pPET=Chinese.person=Ex1§ PI=g5G[NDEH

That’s their own story, that they chopped the Chinaman in the

head themselves.
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Paul Spintlum’s Capture

(225)

(226)

(227)

238

wi7=hem’, wi7=wit=malh ken=ts74, ts’fla
[PFV]=ANT] be=fpI=ADHORT around=thisj1y like
ku=pid<7>cw.
DET=give.up<[NCH>
They stayed around here and got kind of bored.

pa<7>cw=wit ken=ts74, nilh=tu7
give.up<INCH>=fp1]  around=thisy1§ [coF=Exc]]
s=ts’item elh... ti7
NMLZ=go.towards and.then that[v1g
ti=wa7=s=Paul Spintlum, ’ila 7

DET=fPFV]=NMLZ=Paul Spintlum like thatf1g
kw=s=nlhakdp-mec.
DET=NMLZ=Thompson-person

They got bored around here, so they went towards... Paul
Spintlum was kind of a Thompson Indian.

nilh=t'u7 s=ts’ftem=i (ku...)
Eof-EXey  RLZ-go-cowards—FILFOSS
dku7 Merritt=a, cw7it  dku7

to+there INvi§ Merritt=fX1§ many to+therefNvIig
i=7ucwalmicw=a.
PIlpET=indigenous.person=EXIg

So they went towards Merritt, there are a lot of Indians there.
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(228)

(229)

(230)

(231)

tsut  ta=ntkw=a n=s=qan’im,
sy PEf-other—EXT  [QFOS§-RAMIZ-hear
xil-em=wit=ku7=tu7 lh=t’4q’=wit=as
do-MID=fPI]=QUOT=REM [COMP=cross.over=gPI=FsB]V]
laku7 Spence’s  Bridge

at+there[INvI§ ~ Spence’s  Bridge
|=ta=ntqwixw=a.
at=pET=bridge=Ex19
Another person I heard from said they did the same thing when
they crossed the bridge at Spence’s Bridge.

qelhm*émeen’ ku=smulhats
oldCRED" PET=woman
i=s-ydx-s=a
PIDET-RMIZ get.drcsscd JFOSI-EXY
ta=pé-pl7=a, gelhm*émen’ sqaycw.
DET=IREDone=EX1§ old*CRED! man

One was dressed as an old woman, and the other dressed as an old

man.

tak=wi7 sip’.
go.along=EMPH ben

They went along, bent over.

lan wa7  gap.
already evening
It was already night.
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(232)  tsun-tanemwit=ku7
say--DTR P FASS-RU0T
ta=wa7=s-(7ats’x-s-tinem[wit]...)

DET=[PFV=FTAT-get.secen{CAUS-PI] PASY

ats’x-s-tali lati7 s-kin=as
get.seen{CAUSNTS at+there[vi§ FTAT-whether=f5B]V
kw=s=taq’=s icwlh.

DETI=NMLZ=cross.over=j different
They (the outlaws, in disguise) were told by the person watching
the bridge to look out for any stranger crossing.

(233)  “ciy=malh, cuy nas f{lhen,” wa7
go.on=ADHORT] go.on go  eat
um’-en-tinemwit=ku7 ta=pal7=a

be.given FIRFPIFASS-GU0T  pET-one-EXTS
sqlaw’,  “nas ilhen (wa7) 4d7,

money  go eat to+there. 1§

plan=lhkal’dp=k’a wa7  tayt
already~FL5E}-EPTS hungry
lhel=kw74 lh=ts74s=al’ap.”

from=this.INvi§ [coMB=come=pJp1][5B]V]
The watcher said to Moses Paul and Paul Spintlum (in disguise),

“Go and eat!” They were given a dollar. “Go and eat! You guys
must be hungry from where you came from.”

(234)  tsun-tanemwit=t’u7, wa7=hém’=iz’
say+DIRBPIPAsy=Exc1]  [PFV=[aANT]=those V1]
wi=snilh.

PG NDED

That’s what they were told, but it was really them.
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(235)  nilh=tu7 s=t’4q’=i, tsicw=wit
coB=fxc1 [NMLZ=cross.over=pgp1lposy get.there=fp1I|
aku7 ken=ki=nk’saytken-i=ha,
to+there INVI§ around=pI1lpET=relativefp1] POSI=EXIY
lhliku7=malh zam’
from+there [NVI§=ADHORT after.all
(e)lh=kwan-tanemwitas e=s=0ld
GOt cake+ PIR-IPPEITY pBI-FNEZ-Old
Major.
Major

So they crossed over and went to stay with their relatives, and that’s
where they were taken in by Old Major.

(236)  nilh=ni7... s=plin=s=k’a wa7  four
[coB=that|aB§ [NMLZ=already=fpos§=Er1§ [PFV four
years — ati7 kwas
years  to+there[v1§ PET+HNMLZ+PFV+jPoss
s-xil-em-i, kiku7
NMLZ-do-MIDH-fpLpOosy  around+there fINvig
lhas wa’.

comi+PFVi+fsB]V be

It had been four years that they had been doing that, when they
were staying around there.

(237)  stdm’=as=k’a ku=year, 1915=k’a 16 pinani7?
what=BsB]V]=EPI§ PETj=year 1915=EPI§ 16 at.that.time

What year was that, 1915 or 16 at that time?
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(238)

(239)

(240)

242

ka  lh=pa7cw=is l4ti7 sxek wa7,
coMmB=more.than=ffB]V at+there[vi§ maybe be
nilh=t'u7  stexw wa7 d7 kdn-em
[con=Excr real be that[vl§ do.what-MID
pinani7 kw=s=1912 lh=kel7=4s
atthat.time PET=NMLZ=1912 [COMB=first=f5B]}
zuqw-s-twitas na=plismen=a.

dic EAUSJPIERG B3 DET=policeman=FXTy

Maybe it’s a little bit later than that, it was 1912 when they killed
the policeman.

ldku7=malh aylh  lhwas
at+there [NVI§=ADHORT] then [COMB+[PFV+gPOSY
kwan-tanemwitas e=s=Major.

take+DIR PIOB}+RTS BBI-FAIZ=Major

So that’s when Major took them in.

S-7ats’x-cal=hém’=ni7
RSz ge. scen G- T that 53
na=skwitsits-s=a, dcwalmicw-ts.
ABY pET=namefPposg=EX1g indigenous.person-mouth

S74ts’xcal (“Watchman’) was his Indian name.
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(241) “a0 kw=s,” tsut, “cw7ao
PEI-fMIE sy G
kw=n=s=cuz’ kwan
DPET=lsGPosg=NMLZ=going.to  take+pIR
(i...) i=wa7=s-x4q’-s
PIpET PUPET=[PFV=NMLZ-payfposy
ta=kvpmen=a, wa7  tsin-itas

BEf-government—EX [FRY soy-pIRFTER]
wa7  reward.”

reward

Old Major said, “I'm not going to take money from the govern-
»
ment.

<

(242) “cuz qwez-n-ém [ta]=n-tsuw7=a
going.to get.used-PIR-PIERG PET=fsGPoss-own=EXIs
sqlaw’  k’wélh-cal ~ ku=léwya.”
money call.on{acT pET=lawyer

“We’re going to use my own money and hire a lawyer.”

(243) nilh=t’u7  ay[lh] k[w]=s=xil-em=s.
EoR-EXC] then  DET-RATE-doMID-GFOSS
So that’s what he did.

Court Evidence

(244) cu7 ldw=tu7 ta=pd-pl7=a.
but gethung=REM PET=[REDone=EXIg

But one of the outlaws got hung anyways.
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(245)  tsukw=t'u7 ti7 [ku]=law-an-tdli,
finish=fxc1]  thatjvi§ [pET=get.hungpIR{NTY
tsukw=t"u7 ti7... sqwal’-en-ds=t'u7

finish=Fxc1]  that1d reportpIR-fERG=EXCI|
kw=s=7ucwalmicw=s

PET=NMLZ=indigenous.person=fposy

n-pzdn-as i=(kwa)tsakw=as
Eod-meet+pIRHERG  when PASTi=finish=FFB]V
lati7 lh=zaqw-s=as

at+there[viy  [comp=dieCAUS=fsB]V
ta=plismen=a.
DET=policeman=
The hangman was the only one whom he (Spintlum) told that he
met an Indian after he had killed the policeman.

(246)  ti7=hem’ kw=s=Qdgqis,
thatVI§=ANT]  PET=NMLZ=Qdqis[Moses.Paul]

cw7ao0  lati7 kw=s=wi7=s,

NEG at+there[vi§  PET=NMLZ=be=fposg
nkid7=as=k’a lh=tsicw=as, wa7
where=ffBJV=EPI§ [coMB=get.there=fsB7V|

klh-aw’s-ilc=wit lhas
take.oft-collectiveAUT=fp1] [COMP+PFVI+fsB]
nukw.
other

But Moses Paul, he wasn’t there, he was someplace else, sometimes

they split up.
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(247)

(248)

(249)

(250)

qwatsdts=k’a=malh 14ti7 kw=s=Paul
leave=EP1§=[ADHORT  at+there[vi§ PET=NMLZ=Paul
Spintlum.
Spintlum

Paul Spintlum must have left from there.

nilh=tu7 S... wi7=k’a  dku7
Eor-Exe b corrtheref VTS
ku=wa7=Meadow Lake liku7, Beaver

DET=[PFV=Meadow Lake at+there[Nvi§ Beaver

Dam n-scwikwekw.
Dam [sGposg-heart

He went to Meadow Lake, or Beaver Dam, I think.

tak iku7 ta=lhxwilus-em=a cwilh.
go.along to+there [NVi§ PDPET=shortcutMID=EX1§ road

A shortcut road runs along there.

nilh  ldku? s=tak=s n-matq,
con at+there[NVI§ NMLZ=go.along=fpos§ [Lod-walk
nilh n-pzén-as ta=7ucwalmicw=a,
ol [Lod-meet+PIRPERG [PET=indigenous.person=EXIg
lhlaku7-mec ti7.

from+there INVIg-people that[v1g

He was walking along, and he met a person from there.

245



Qagqgis muta7 sPaul Spintlum

(251)

(252)

(253)

246

nilh=t'u7 [s]=sqwdl’-en-as, tsun-as,
cof=fxcy] NmLZ=reportDIRHERG  say+DIR-HERG
“qus-cit=kdn=tu?7 na=plismen=a
shoot-IND=[sG 5BJ=REM [ABYPET=policeman=[EXIs
I=kw7a.”

at=this INVI

He told him, “I shot a policeman over there.”

nilh=malh ti7 ku=7tcwalmicw...
coB=ADHORT that[vl§ [PET=indigenous.person
sqwal’, kw=s=tsun-em aku7
report PET=NMLZ=say+DIRBPAS] to+therefNVIg
s=Paul Spintlum  kw=s=qus-cit-as
RSLZ-Paul Spintlum  BER-FMIZ-shoo {D-EERG
ku=7tGcwalmicw, kéku7

pPET=indigenous.person  around+there [NVI§
plismen,  kwa=zds-cal.
policeman PET+[PFV=get.tied.upjacT
That was the Indian who testified that Paul Spintlum told him that
he had shot someone, a policeman.

tsukw=t'u7 ti7 cman’dn’-s
finish=fxc1]  that[y1§  opponent-gposg
i=tsicw=as [ta]=kothdws=a.

when PAST=get.there=fsB]V] PET=court=EXIS
He was the only one who testified against him when it came to
trial.
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George Carson’s Story: How Cultus Jack Got His Name

(254)

(255)

cw7it  kw=s=kothdws=i, ni[lh] s=Henderson,
many BER-RT-cour—FIFOT ol FmEA-Henderson
wa7 s=Stewart Henderson muta7 s=Costello,

NMLZ=Stewart Henderson and  NMLZ=Costello

old Henry Costello, nilh iz’ lawyer
old Henry Costello [cof those[vid lawyer
k’'wilh-an’as,  sjudge-cal.
callon BIRERG FTTHjudge AT
There were a lot of trials, and Stewart Henderson and Old Henry

Costello were the lawyers he (Old Major) hired, they were the
judges.

k’win=as=k’a ku=skothiws,
how.many=gsBV]=EPI1g [DET=court
i=ken-tdkem=a lh=tsicw=wit=as
PIDET=around-all=Ex1d [coMB=get.there=fp1=fsB]V|
kothdws, k'win=as=k’a ku=sappeals,
court how.many=gsBJV|=EPI§ DET=appeals
wa7  tsun-itas, |=kw7t=malh

sayDTR-GFLERG ac-cha[NVIS-RDHORT
wesminsth=a.
Westminster=EX1g

There were a lot of trials, people came from all over for the tri-
als, and there were many “appeals”, as they call them, over at New
Westminster.
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(256)

(257)

(259)

(260)

248

nilh=ti7 nukw sqwé-qweel’-s s=George
coB=thatyiy other tellfcREDfposy NMLZ=George
Carson, ni=wa7=tuwitnes.

Carson  [ABSDET=[PFV]=witness

That’s another story, from George Carson, who was a witness.

tsicw-ts-min-em=ku? kw=s=Cultus Jack.
get.there-mouth-RLT-gpass=QuoT PET=NMLZ=Cultus Jack

Cultus Jack was brought to testify.

tstin-em=ku7 kw=s=Cultus Jack:
say+PIRBPAS§=QUuoT PET=NMLZ=Cultus Jack
They said to Cultus Jack:

“Cultus  Jack, sima7  tilh-lec, sqwal’
Cultus Jack come  stand-AUT  report

ku=szdyten-su.”
BET-doings 3053

“Cultus Jack, come here, stand up, report on what you were do-

ing.

»

nilh=ku7=tu7 s=tsut=s ta=judge=a:
con=RuoT=ExcH NMLZ=say=gposy DET=judge=EXIg
They say that this is what the judge said:
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(261)

(262)

(263)

(264)

“Cultus ~ Jack, cw74ioz=ha=ti7 kw=s...

Cultus Jack  NEG=[Qg=thatjvi§ pET=NMLZ
cw740z=ha=ti7 kw=s=qvl=s,
REG-R=thacf§  PET-FMIZ-bid-fFoss

l=ku=s7ucwalmicw-ts kwa=Cultus?”

at=pET=indigenous.person-mouth PET+[PFV}=Cultus
The judge said, “Cultus Jack, doesn’t ‘cultus’ mean ‘bad’ in your

language?”

tsut=ku7  kw=s=Cultus Jack, “oh yes, yes, judge,
say=QUOT PET=NMLZ=Cultus Jack oh yes yes judge
sure, that’s ‘bad’”
sure that’s bad

And Cultus Jack said, “Oh, yes, yes, judge, sure, that’s ‘bad’.”

tsun-em=ku7 ta=judge=a, “kin-em
soy ‘TR EAT-TOT  DET-judge X doawhac i
sas nilh izd um’-en-itas

NMLZ+[PFV+Posy [coH these[vi§ be.given-pIR-gP1l.ERG
skwitsits-su?”
name-gfsg.posy
And the judge asked him, “Why did they give you that name?”

muta7  s=tstn-as ta=judge=a, “u,
and  FOMG-say+DIRERG  PEf-judge ST oh
i=win tw’iw’t, pipt=kan

when PASTI=[PFVI+lsGsB]V boy always=[fsG s8]
wa7 n’4ds-min’ i=smelh*mulhats=a.”
gofTT  PPET-FRED woman=EX
And he told the judge, “Oh, when I was a boy, I always used to

chase women.”
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(265)  “nilh=t'u7 s=tsin-ts-as
cof=fxct  NMLZ=say+DIR-dOB]-HERG
i=[n]-nk’sdytken=a, ‘Cultus  Jack’”

PUPET=fG poss relative=Ex1d Cultus Jack

“That’s why my relatives call me Cultus Jack.”

(266)  4ti7 lh=tsem’p=ds=ti7. (0*
to+therevly [comB=get.finished=ffsBJvi=that

That’s where it ends.

**The final (¢) indicates a word which was started and not finished, due to the record-
ing being broken off.
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CHAPTER IO

Big Frank
Big Frank

10.1 English (as told by Sam Mitchell himself)

I’'m gonna tell another story about this big Indian. When he gets a few
drinks he gets kind of rough, and he was a really big man. And he doesn’t
care for, it seems, for nobody, whether it’s a policeman or anybody else.

This time he was drinking and went into this little town, this town they
call here Lillooet. And them days it wasn’t too many people, and these guys,
the policeman and there were some other white guys, they were playing crib
in this one particular hotel. And somebody come in and he says, he said
“The Colt is raising heck down at the other end.” This man, this Indian,
they call him Big Frank. Or he’s nicknamed him The Colt, I don’t know
how he got the name, but they always called him The Colt. And from this
one particular guy, it was there, he told me the story after, and this police-
man, his name was Bob Hume. He got up, he put his coat on, and he said,
well he swore, and he says, “I’'m gonna fix that, that fellow this time that he
wouldn’t bother anybody anymore.”

So he went out and that’s the story that I get from this man, this white
man that was sitting there playing crib with him. He says he went for quite

251



Big Frank

awhile, he says, oh, half an hour or more. He says he come back, he took his
coat off, he sit down at the table, and he start to play crib. Then he repeated
the word, he says, “I fixed him, he’ll never bother anybody anymore.”

Now, after that, this Indian that the policeman shot, he knew, he says,
“I'seen Bob Hume coming.” That, this is his story, the Indian that was shot
by the policeman. The policeman, he didn’t, when he came back, he didn’t
tell anybody that he shot him, but he says, “I just fixed him, he wouldn’t
bother anybody anymore.”

But this is the Indian’s story, the one, the big Indian that was shot by
the policeman. He says, “I seen him, I know it’s Bob Hume coming,” he
says, well, he was feeling good, and he says, “If you wanna fight, well...”
He doesn’t give a damn if you kick him in the head, and it doesn’t matter
what you do to him, he don’t feel it. And he said, before he come too close
enough, he says, “I seen him, he took his coat off.” That’s what, that’s the
Indian’s story. “He took his coat off and,” he says, “he swung his coat.” And
he says, “I was just,” well all he figures, just to grab that white man and he’ll
just twist him up. And he says, “He throwed his coat on my face.” Then
he says, “The next thing I heard sort of a concussion in my head.” And he
says, “Then I feel it.” He says, “I pushed his coat off of my head,” and he
says, “I seen him walking away.” He says, “I feel something, my head was
hot.” So he says, “I know he shot me in the head.”

And he told me this story himself, this Big Frank, and he says, “You see
right here is where he hit me.” From his right ear. There’s a little nubble on
the ear, just where the ear, where you can hear. That part of it was off, but
the bullet never come out no place.

Well anyways, he said, and that’s his story, he says, “I wentand I went...”
towards his home, it was about two miles from this town, there was another
reservation there. But he had to swim a pretty good size, well, you'd call it,
almost call it a river, yet it’s still pretty high. And he says, “I swum that river
and when I got to the other side,” he says, “I hang onto the bushes and I
got cooled down. When I cooled down, well I climbed the bank and I went
home. So when I got to my house, I went to sleep.”

After that, this policeman, he was listening around, I guess, when The
Colt’s funeral will be, but somebody told, he was asking around, somebody
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told him, “He’s not dead, he’s walking around!” At the same time, this
policeman, he quit the police force and he went away. This year would be
around aboug, I figure around about 1902, 1902 or 3, somewheres around
then. This policeman he was, he come from his home town in the first
place, around Westminster. And this railroad, it’s here now, come in here
about 19—, it started about 1912 or 13. And this, this Bob Hume came up on
this town, he knew this town in the first place, butit’s..., this railroad comes
through a pretty rough country between Squamish and into Lillooet, that’s
where it first started to open out in these ranches. So Bob Hume come here
as a printer. And that’s this Indian, that’s his story. He told me this story
himself.

He says, “I was sitting right here, and,” he says, “this white man come
along and he stood in front of me and he said, he says to me, he says, “You’re
Big Frank?,”” he says, “I told him, Yes, that’s what some people calls me.”
And the white man says, “You know me?” “No, I don’t know you.” And
the white man says, said to this Indian, “You know Bob Hume?” And the
Indian says, “Oh, yeah, yeah, Bob Hume. You Bob Hume, eh? You the man

>

shoot me right here, you see?.” This is his own story to me. He says, “Bob
Hume, you the man shoot me right here. Now Bob Hume, I'm getting
old,” he says, “I no mad you, you shoot me, you no kill me. I no mad you,
Bob.” That’s the story he repeat to me. He’s a relation of mine and I know
him well. And he told us, he told Bob Hume, he says, “You shoot me right
here in my ear? That bullet, he stop here, behind my head, he not come
out.” And Bob Hume says, “Okay, Frank.” (Hey she cans, hey she cans to
me, shesh cans, okay.ﬂ) He says, Bob Hume says, Come on.”

So he says, “I follow this white man, and he take me to the store and
he told the storekeeper, he says, “You dress this man up. Two suits of un-
derwear, right up.” And this man is a big man, takes lots of clothes. And
he says, ‘He gave me a suit of clothes, a pair of shoes, hat, and everything
else.” He says, ‘Oh, Frank, okay Frank.” He says, “I told him, “Thank you,
Bob. Thank you, Bob.” He says, ‘Okay, I'll wear that till I die.”” And he
says, well, he says “He shoot me, and he didn’t kill me. What’s the use of

'The passage in parentheses is unclear.
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getting mad? That’s quite a while ago. That’s about, over, that’s about over
ten years ago by this, before I meet again, you see? From the time he shot
him before I meet again. Maybe ten, eleven years.”

So that’s a pretty good story. This story I know by myself because I was
told from the man that was shot. And the men, the people that knew when
the policeman went out... (I'm gonna finish here...). And I’ll repeat that
again in Indian, later.
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10.2 St’at’'imcets

Ill go and repeat this in Indian now, the way this, Big Frank, when the
policeman was coming. Tsut:

“Tsatkan, 4ts’xenlhkan ta plismena, nilh ti7 sBob Hume,” o... Nilh
ststinas sBob Hume, “Ts74skacw ha ts’niqwents?”

This story about Big Frank, I'm gonna use the Indian language he uses
and some will be mixed with English. Idon’t know how far I went. When
he seen the policeman coming and he said to him, “Bob Hume? That’s you
Bob Hume, you gonna fight?” And he said in his own language:

“Ta sdw’ta,” tsut, “ta sdw’ta, ts7as t'u7 lhlita7, nilh t’'u7 skelhenis ti
kapuahsa. Nilh t'u7 nstsut, ‘Cuz’ ts’'niqwentsas.”” He seen the policeman
take his coat off and he said he’s going to fight me. He doesn’t care how
much you hit bim, that’s why you club him with a stick, he don’t feel it.

“T’iqalmen t'u7,” tsut, “nilh tu7 sts’dq’usentsas ta kapihsa. He
throwed his coat on my face,” and be says, “the next thing I know,” that’s
when he felt that he was shot in the head. “Ta séw’ta nqusqwan’tsas,” tsut.

“Kelhenlhkdn,” tsut, “kelhenlhkan, cikin’lhkan ta kaptha, plan qwat-
sits.” He said when he throw the coat down, he seen the policeman walk-
ing away. In his own language, and he says:

“Ts74skan t'u7 ldkw7a nsel’kpus. Aldnlhkan na nq’umqgena kw
sél'leks.” Now when he was shot through the ear he didn’t fell down,
so he must’ve stood up but he felt it. He says, “I felt my ear was hot.” So
then, the best thing he could do, he says: “Cty’lhkan txwal’. I'm going
home.” So he went home, he went though the trail and he, when he got to
this river, that’s Cayoose Creek, that’s when he swum this river and...

Tsut, “Kamdllhkana lta qu7a. Lha7qskdn, nilh t'u7 14ti7 nstekwe-
qwam’ lki mulca. I hang onto the bushes. After awhile I got cooled
down. Kinda cleared up. Ka7amalhkdna. Nilh t'u7 ns7txwal’. Tsicwkan
ntsitcwa, nilh nskitslec.”

Right there, he, when he got to his people, he never even told anybody
in that house what happened. He was laying around for a few days and
his head got cleared up, but his own story, he told me himself. He said
only in the summertime when it’s hot, he says, “I can feel that thing, that

2
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lead behind my head. That gets very hot.” And he’s... that lead stayed in
his head until he died, around, I think the old fellow he passed away in
1919 if I remember right, 'm not very far off- That’s a pretty good story,
that part, and that part is....
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10.3 English (Direct Translation)

Ill go and repeat this in Indian now, the way this, Big Frank, when the
policeman was coming. He said:

“I thought, I saw a policeman, that was Bob Hume.” He said to Bob
Hume, “Are you gonna come fight me?”

This story about Big Frank I'm gonna use the Indian language he uses
and some will be mixed with English. 1don’t know how far [ went. When
he seen the policeman coming and he said to him “Bob Hume? That’s you
Bob Hume, you gonna fight?” And he said in his own language:

“This guy,” he said, “This guy comes over, and then he takes his coat
off. Then I said, ‘He’s going to fight me.” ” He seen the policeman take his
coat off and he said, “He’s going to fight me.” He doesn’t care how much
you hit him, that’s why you club him with a stick, be don’t feel it.

“He had almost reached me,” he said, “and then he threw his coat in
my face. He throwed his coat on my face,” and he says, “the next thing I
know,” that’s when he felt that he was shot in the head, “the guy shot me
in the head,” he said.

“I took off the coat,” he said, “I took off the coat, I pushed the coat
away, he had already left.” He said when he throw the coat down, he seen
the policeman walking away. In his own language, and he says:

“I started feeling kind of dizzy. I felt my head get dizzy.” Now when
he was shot through the ear he didn’t fell down, so he must’ve stood up
but he felt it. He says, “I felt my ear was hot.” So then, the best thing he
could do, he says: “I'm going home. I'm going home.” So he went home,
he went though the trail and he, when he got to this river, that’s Cayoose
Creek, that’s when be swum this river and...

He said, “I got into the water. I got across to the other side, then I
cooled my head in the bushes. I hang onto the bushes. After awhile I got
cooled down. Kinda cleared up. 1 felt better. So I went home. I went to
my house, then I laid down.”

Right there, he, when he got to his people, he never even told anybody
in that house what happened. He was laying around for a few days and
his head got cleared up, but his own story, he told me himself. He said,
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“Only in the summertime when it’s hot,” he says, “I can feel that thing,
that lead behind my head. That gets very hot.” And he’s... that lead stayed
in his head until be died, around, I think the old fellow he passed away in
1919 if I remember right, 'm not very far off. That’s a pretty good story,
that part, and that part is....
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10.4
(1)

()

(4)

(s)

Interlinear Gloss

Ill go and repeat this in Indian now, the way this, Big Frank,
when the policeman was coming.

tsut, “tsdat=kan, 4ts’x-en=lhkan ta=plismen=a,
say  say=J5qfB] get.seen{DIR=}sG.5B] DET=policeman=EXIg
nilh=ti7 s=Bob Hume,” o::...

con=thatji§ NMLZ=Bob Hume oh

He said, “I thought, I saw a policeman, that was Bob Hume.”

[nilh] s=tstn-as s=Bob Hume, (s)
Eofl  [iZ-syDIERG NuiZ-Bob Hume
“ts7ds=kacw  ha ts’niqw-en-ts?”
come=fa5E] | fightBIHTOE]

He said to Bob Hume, “Are you gonna come fight me?”

This story about Big Frank I'm gonna use the Indian language he
uses and some will be mixed with English. I don’t know how far
I went. When he seen the policeman coming and he said to him,

“Bob Hume? That’s you Bob Hume, you gonna fight” And he
said in his own language:

“ta=sdw’t=a,” tsut, “ta=siw’t=a,’ ts74s=t’u7
DET=slave=EX1§ say  pET=slave=EX1§ come=fEXcI]
lhlita7, nilh=¢tu7 s=kelh-en-4s
fromthere GOR-EXC] RMIA-come.off TR ERG
ti=kapth-s=a.”

“This guy,” he said, “This guy comes over, and then he takes his

coat off.”
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(6)

(7)

(8)

260

“nilh=t'u7 n=s=tsut, ‘cuz’
Eof-Exc]  QPOSS-RNZ-say  goingo
ts’niqw-en-ts-as.””
fightpIR§5G PBjHERG
“Then I said, ‘He’s going to fight me.’

»

He seen the policeman take his coat off and he said, “He’s going
to fight me.” He doesn’t care how much you bit him, that’s why
you club him with a stick, he don’t feel it.

“tig-almen=t’u7,” tsut, “nilh=tu7
arrive-almost= say con=ExcI|
s=ts’dq’-us-en-ts-as
RAMTZ=throw-fce BT 5a PEHERG
ta=kapih-s=a.”

“He had almost reached me,” he said, “and then he threw his coat
in my face.”

“He throwed his coat on my face,” and he says, “the next thing I
know,” that’s when he felt that he was shot in the head...

“ta=sdw’t=a n-qus-qw-an’-ts-as,” tsut.
DET=slave=EX1y [L0d-shoot-head-pIR-GOBJHERG say
“The guy shot me in the head,” he said.
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(1)

(12)

(13)

(14)

(15)

(16)

(17)

“kelh-en=lhkén,” tsut, “kelh-en=lhkdn,
come.oft-pIR=fGfB] say come.oft{DIR=fsG B8]
cik-in’=lhkan ta=kapth=a, plan

get.pushed-PIR=[GFB)] PET=coat=Ex1§ already

qwatsdts.”
leave

“I took oft the coat,” he said, “I took off the coat, I pushed the coat
away, he had already left.”

He said when he throw the coat down, he seen the policeman
walking away. In his own language, and he says:

“ts74s=kan=t’u7 lakw7a n-sel’k-p-us.”
begin=ffsd.sBJ=EXC1] at+thereINVI§ [L0d-dizzy-INCH-face
“I started feeling kind of dizzy.”

“alan=lhkan na=n-q'imgen=a

feelPTR-fE]  FBIDET-QFOST head TS
kw=s=sél’*I’*ek=s.”
BT AT dizoy ERED 053

“I felt my head get dizzy.”

Now when he was shot through the ear he didn’t fell down, so he

must’ve stood up but be felt it. He says, “I felt my ear was hot.”
So then, the best thing he could do, he says:

“cay’=lhkan txwal’.”

going.to=fsG.fB] go.home

“I'm going home.”

“I'm going home.” So he went home, he went though the trail

and he, when he got to this river, that’s Cayoose Creek, that’s
when be swum this river and...
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(18)

(22)

(24)

262

tsut, “ka-mul=lhkan-a l=ta=qd7=a.”
say  [CIRd-be.in.water=ffsg[sBJ-CIR] at=]pET=water=EXIg

He said, “I got into the water.”

“lha7-gs=kén, nilh=tu7 14¢i7
close.to-point=jsgB]  [coB=EXCI]  at+theref1g
n=s=tekw-eqw-4m’
lis G [posg=NMLZ=calm.down-head-MID]
I=ki=mulc=a.”
at=p1] PET=stick=EX1
“I got across to the other side, then I cooled my head in the

bushes.”

“I hang onto the bushes. After awhile I got cooled down. Kinda
cleared up.”

“ka-7ama=lhkin-a.”
[c1rd-good=[fd SBJ{CIRG

“I felt better.”

“nilh=tu7 n=s=7a4xwal’.”
con=Exc1] [5G [poss=NMLZ=go.home

“So I went home.”

“tsicw=kan n-tsitcw=a, ni[lh]
get.there=[sg 8] [5G Poss-house=Ex1y [cof
n=s=kits-lec.”

g posg=NMLZ=get.laid.down-AUT]

“I went to my house, then I laid down.”
Right there, he, when he got to his people, he never even told

anybody in that house what happened. He was laying around
for a few days and his head got cleared up, but his own story, he
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told me himself. He said, “Only in the summertime when it’s
hot,” he says, “I can feel that thing, that lead behind my head.

That gets very hot.” And he’s... that lead stayed in his head until
he died, around, I think the old fellow he passed away in 1919 if
I remember right, I'm not very far off. That’s a pretty good story,

that part, and that part is ...
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CHAPTER II

lwas tig’'way’a i ucwalmicwa laku7
Kamloopsa
When the Indians Ran Foot Races at

Kamloops

1.1 English (as told by Sam Mitchell himself)

I’'m gonna tell a little story about the Indians, they always gather. So this
time there was a gathering in Kamloops, and when a bunch of Indians get
together there’s some kind of a game or foot race or lahal game of some kind.
There’s always some kind of a sports.

This time, somebody had a whole plug of tobacco. Tobacco, for Indi-
ans, is always valuable. So they bet a stick, put the plug of tobacco up, and
this was not a short distance, it’s... the way they tell about it, it sounds to me
as if it’s about a mile in a circle, a track about a mile long.

So quite a few Indians get together and we run. The first one, well, the
prize was stuck on a stick right on the track. The first one comes, gets it,
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you see. On this... one, one big Indian, he’s a big clumsy bugger and they
say he’s a... nobody knows he can run, but he joined the crowd.

Everybody started, there were some pretty good runners. And when
they come around, the first one, he was gonna grab for the tobacco, he
missed it, and this big clumsy, big Indian, he was the second one and he
got ahold of the tobacco, so he got the prize. Now I'm gonna repeat it in
Indian.
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1.2 St’at'imcets

Lhas aI'lus i ucwalmicwa, papt t’'u7 wa7 wa7 i wa7 tig’'wdy’a, i wa7 lhek-
méw’as, stim’as t'u7 ku szdyten. Wa7 sqil’qel’twit kwas wa7 kwa ts’ila wa7
kwa cman’, cmin’mintwal’ kwas, well, any game, it’s different. Yeah,
s7icwlh t'u7 kwas s7icwlhtlm’ecw.

S7icwlhdlm’ecw iz4, nilh t’u7 ti7 sreps ta pal7dw’scena sman’c. Lhek’w
lta mulca ti7 t.sman’ca, rep l4ti7 lta st’dksa wa7 cuz’ q’ilhil.

Nilh t'u7 s.... xzum ti7 ts7a ku sqaycw, wa7 ts’fla ku xmank ku
s74ts’xtens. Nilh t'u7 s7ulhcws. Nilh sqlelhq’ilhili. Cw7it ldti7 wa7 gélgel
wa7 q’flhil. Wa7 tsinem wi snimulh wa7 “tig’way’abdn”.

T’ak ku7 tu7 ta kél7a tu7, cuz’ kwinas ta smin’ca, nilh t'u7
scik’aka7minas. K’4malh ts7a ta xztima (wa7 qldw’em ku kul wa7 kwanen(])
nilh ti7 1ha7lh7amc, kwinas t.smdn’ca, kaxpék’wsasa. Nilh t'u7 snilh ta
t’ciima.

"This section of the recording is unclear. It is worth noting however that the word
“clumsy”, which is prominent at this point in the story in Sam Mitchell’s English ren-
dition, has no direct correspondent in our transcription of the St’at’imcets, and so it is
possible that Sam uses a form similar to gvldoka7 ‘clumsy’ here.
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1.3  English (Direct Translation)

When the people get together, there are always footraces, and lahal, and all
kinds of activities. They enjoy it when there are kind of like competitions,
they compete against each other, well, any game, it’s different. Yeab, it’s
different in different places.

These people were from a different place, so they put up a plug of to-
bacco. The tobacco was pinned to a stick which was set up in the path of
the runners.

There was this big man who kind of looked really heavy. So he entered
the race. Then they ran. There were a lot of strong runners there. We call
them the “running men”.

The first one that went by, he was going to take the tobacco, but then he
missed it with his hand. But the big money maker there, he was the closest
person, he took the tobacco, he caught it. And it was him that won.
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1.4 Interlinear Gloss

(1) lhas allus
[coMB+IPFV+BSBIV gatherfRED
i=7ucwalmicw=a, pipt=t’u7 wa7
P1].pET]=indigenous.person=Ex1y always=ExcI]|
wa7  (i=wd7...) i=wa7=tig’'wiy’a,
be PI.DET=[PFV PIDET=[PFV}=foot.race
i=wa7=lhekm4w’as, stim’=as=t’u7

FLBET-rri-playlahal  what-GBT-EXc
ku=szdyten.
pPET=doings
When the people get together, there are always footraces, and lahal,
and all kinds of activities.

(2) wa7  s-qilqel’t=wit kwas
[PFV] FTAT{TRED have.fun=fp1] PDET+NMLZ+[PFV+fPOsq
wa7 kwa=ts’ila wa7 kwa=cmin’...

be pPETHPFv=like be PET+[PFV=enemy

They enjoy it when there are kind of like competitions...

(3) ...cman’-min-twal’  kwas, well, any
enemy-RLT-RECH  DET+NMLZ+[PFV+gPosy well any
game, it]s] different.

game it’s  different

...they compete against each other, well, any game, it’s different.

269



Iwas tig'way’a i ucwalmicwa laku7 Kamloopsa

(4)

(s)

()

(7)

270

yeah,  s7icwlh=t'u7 kwas
yeah  different=fxc1i] PET+NMLZ+PFVi+gPosy
s7icwlh-tlm’ecw.

different-land

Yeah, it’s different in different places.

s7icwlh-Glm’ecw iz, nilh=t"47=ti7
different-land these[vi§  [coB=Excil=that[vig
s=rep=s ta=... pal7-dw’scen=a
NMLZ=get.stood.up=fPos§ DET=... one-knee=EXI1§
sman’c.
tobacco

These people were from a different place, so they put up a plug of
tobacco.

lhek’w |=ta=mulc=a ti7
get.poked  to=pET=stick=fx19  thatjv1g
t[a]=smin’c=a, rep 14ti7
DET=tobacco=EX1§ getstood.up  at+there[VIg
|=ta=s=t’4k=s=a wa7 cuz’
at=PET=NMLZ=go.along=fposd=fx19 [PFV going.to
q’ilhil.
run

The tobacco was pinned to a stick which was set up in the path of
the runners.

nilh=tu7  s.. xzum  ti7 ts7a ku=sqdycw,
EoR-Exc big  thacfT§ chisfT§ PEf-man
wa7 ts'fla ku=xmink ku=s-74ts’x-ten-s.
like BEf-heary BER-FMIZ-gec.seen NS0T
There was this big man who kind of looked really heavy.



When the Indians Ran Foot Races at Kamloops

(8) nilh=cu7  s=7ulhcw=s.
[COR=EXCIL] NMLZ=enter=

So he entered the race.

(9) nilh  s=qelh-q’ilhil=i.
o NMLZ=TRED‘run=fp1poss
Then they ran.

(10) cw7it  l4dd7 wa7 gélgel wa7 qlilhil.
many at+there V19 strong run

There were a lot of strong runners there.

(1) wa7  tsin-em wi=snimulh ~ wa7 tg'way’a-bin.
say+DIRPL.ERG PI=}P1].INDEH foot.race-man

We call them the “running men”.

(12) tik=ku7=tu7 ta=kél7=a=tu7, cuz’
goalong-RUCT-EXCY  PET-frsc-EXI-EXC]  going.o
kwin-as ta=smdn’c=a, nilh=tu7

take+BTREERG  PET-tobacco-fXT Eor-EXcl
s=cik’-aka7-min-as.
[NMLZ=miss.a.target-hand-RLT-§ERG
The first one that went by, he was going to take the tobacco, but
then he missed it with his hand.
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(13) kK’dmalh  ts7a ta=xzim=a... wa7  gliw’-em
however this[vi§ pPET=big=Ex1g money-MID|
ku=kul... nilh=ti7 [h47:1h7-amc,
pDET=gold [coB=that[vl§ [REDclose.to-person
kwin-as t=smain’c=a,
take+DIRBERG [DET=tobacco=EXIg
ka-xpék’w-s-as-a.”

C1Rd-catch.something-CAUS-BERGHCIRG

But the big money maker there, he was the closest person, he took
the tobacco, he caught it.

(14) nilh=t'u7  snilh ta=t’cim=a.
Eot-Excy [FOINDE] pEf-win-EXH

And it was him that won.

*The first half of this stanza has eluded all attempts at an accurate transcription and
analysis. This is our best possible guess as to what Sam Mitchell is saying.
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CHAPTER 12

Johnny Milgaw
Johnny Milgaw

12.1  English (as told by Sam Mitchell himself)

I’m gonna tell about how, so, people how ignorant some of us Indians
around here, about this fellow, him and his wife used to go down in the
States and pick berries, picking the berry fields. And this time, when they
go to town, from Vashon Island into Seattle, well, Mary goes on his own,
her own, and Johnny goes on his own.

And this particular Monday morning, Mary woke up, no Johnny, so
she thought he must be in jail. Maybe he wouldn’t be able to bail out. So,
she takes the bus into Seattle, and when she got to Seattle, she got a cab into
the jailhouse.

When she got to the jailhouse, she asked for Johnny Milgaw, and these
people in there, they said, “No Johnny Milgaw here.” And he says, well
she bust in and she says, “You all open the doors for me, maybe he come
in under a different name.” So they opened the door for her. No Johnny
Milgaw there.

And she went around all day, looking for him all over. Now these peo-
ple, these Indians, they’ve been married for about so years, and she fig-
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ured herself, she think it over and she says, well, she said to herself, that’s
her story, she figured, [s]hef] says, “Johnny’s not dead, maybe some of our
friends from home might’ve come and maybe he went home. He’ll be back,
see.”

So, she said she went to work, she went to work and on the seventh day
when she come back from work, she had her cabin locked, and there was
her Johnny sitting on the front of the cabin.

Well, the first words she said to him, [s]he says, “Where you been?”

And Johnny says, “I went to heaven.”

And she told him, [s]he says, “It’ll be just like you to go to heaven.”

Well Johnny said, “Well, the last thing I know I was standing on the
street with my partners, I had two partners, two drinking partners, and I
don’t know what happened from there.”

“When I come to, when I wake up, this place where I was laying, every-
thing was white, and the girls that was going around had little white caps,
and everything was white and they started calling me by name.” And he
wondered how they found out his name, his name was Johnny Milgaw, so
he thought, “Sure, this place, everything, you look down, down the whole
ward, everything is white.” And he started insist to go home. And these....

Now, this man has never been in a hospital in his life, he’s never seen a
hospital in his life, and that he thought sure he was in heaven, if anything
else could’ve happened..., but he felt himself, he was alright, he seemed to
be normal, he can eat, and he... Finally on the seventh day, they let him go.
He thought he was pretty high up, but when he got out of there he was still
on the ground. But ’'m gonna repeat this in Indian, after.f

On this last word, I said here, I forgot to bring that up on the English.
About three weeks later, after he come out of the hospital there, he got
ahold of, he got a, on the mail, one big envelope, brown envelope. And

!Sam Mitchell often uses the English pronouns ‘he’ and ‘she’ interchangeably,
which is unsurprising given that Salish pronouns do not encode a gender distinction. We
include the ‘s’ in ‘she’ in brackets here to help the reader disambiguate the storyline.

*Sam Mitchell told the English material following this paragraph only after giving
his St’at’imcets rendition, however since what follows is a continuation of the story, it
seemed appropriate to include this material here.
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he opened it, there was a cheque in it. He didn’t know what it was, and he
passed it around. He couldn’t read, this man couldn’t read. And he passed
it around to the boys that can read, and he told him, “That’s your name,
Johnny Milgaw. Over two hundred dollars, from some insurance outfit.”
He didn’t even know what insurance was, but, finally his wife told him,
[s]he says, “You just as well cash it, everybody says that’s your name. Maybe
that’s gonna be your fare back to heaven, if you get that money cashed!”

But what happened, he was standing on the street, on the, direct from
the alleyway when a car backed out. And that’s where he got hit. Them
partners, when he did cash his cheque, his partners, he never did find them.
I guess he was the only one that went to heaven and come back. This is
quite a story, and this is true.
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2.2 St’at’'imcets

Now I'm gonna repeat this in Indian. Lts7alhwas t'u7 wa7 Saturday, nilh
t'u7 ses izd tiowen. Tsicwwit ta tiowna, nilh €u7 ti7 ses tu7 tak sfohnny,
kentswésa Cu7 hém’ t'u7 vak, xilem kw sMary. Tsicw s7axwal’s sMary, nilh
t'u7 s7axwal’s.

Psil’ 14ti7, cw7ao0z kiti7 kw sJohnny kwas wa7. Nilh t'u7 stsut.s, “Nka7
tu7 k’a?” Nlhdm’lec l4ti7 ta busa, tsicw ta Seattlea, kK’wélhcal ta taxiha et7d
nk’47mena.

Sawlhenminas l4ta7 ta Jobnnysa. Tstinem ku7, “Aoz kiti7 lts7a ku
Johnny Milgaw.” Tsut ku7, “Ha ets74 ta wa7 skndku7? kazaq’ilskdna
kelh laku? lhwas ku wa7 lku s7icwlh skwétsits.” Zaq’il ku7 dku7 s7ulhcw.
Cw7aoy t'u7 kéti7 ku Johnny.

Nilh skati7 swas cwil'em, kénta tdowna, kentsisa zewdtenas kwas tsicw.
Cw7aoy t'u7 kdti7 kwas dts’xenas. Nilh ku7 t'u7 ts7as ntsutinwas, aoz
kati7 kwas tu7 zuqw, kwas xan’. Cw7aoz kiti7, wa7 ka td7 t'u7 kents74
ku sntk’wa7s ku 4ts’xenas. “Xek txwal’ k4 tu7. Tiq sxeks kalalas.”

Nilh t'u7 sqwatsdtss, nilh tu7 stsicws, nilh sstarts kwas k’weztasem,
q’'wldw’em. Nas tu7 tsulhaka? sq’it, i tsulhdk7a ets74 sq’it, ts74s ku7 axwal’,
wa7 14ti7 sq'il'q kw sJohnny, sk’ém’tssa na cabiniha.

Nilh ku7 €u7 ststinas sJohnny, “Nka7 lhucw tsicw?”

Tsut ku7 kw sJohnny, “Aku7 ci7a tmicw lhtsicwan.”

“O,” tstnas ku7, “Ts’ila7dl tawa7 snwa ta wa7 nas kdku7 c47a tmicw.”

Tsut ku7 kw sfobnny, “Ta dw’ta wa7 zewdtenan, wi7lhkalh 14ti7 lta
streeta muta7 nelh wa7 npvtpdotna, nelh sim7a, n74n’was. Wa7lhkalh t'u7
tu7 lita7 qwel'qwal’él’'t. Cw7aoy t'u7 kiti7 kw szewdtenan muta7 lhliti7
ku hu7 stam’.”

“TIs74skan tu7 cwak, tcasemlhkan. Lts7a ltenswd skitslec lta
nguy’ttena, tikem t'u7 stam’ peq. I smelhmdlhatsa kati7 wa7 mdm’teq,
peq tu7 sydxiha. Kantsutanwaskdna nilh k’a wi7 ts7a wa7 cd7a tmicw.
Tsukw t'u7 ta wa7 ka7ats’xsdna kénki piktsha, kdti7 lhas tsaewit ku lisdos
kwas estaq’a7el’. Tsukw t'u7 lts7a sxlun’s, cw7ao kdti7 kwas estaq’d7el’
izd. Nahentsilitas ta skwdtsitsa. Ao kw nszewiten lhstdm’as t'u7 kwas ze-
watet.stwitas. “T’u7 plinlhkan t'u7 wa7 amawil’c,” wi7lhkan tsuntanihan,
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‘Plinlhkan t'u7 amawil’c, Ciz’lhkan txwal’.” Tsuntsalitas aylh, ‘Cuy malh
tuxwal’) Uts’qa7lhkan 1hl4ti7 £'u7 lts7a t'u7 lea streeta lhwd7an. Texw u7
ta gélgela ntsutdnwas, wa7 ku wendcw t’u7, tsicwkan ku cd7a tmicw.”

“S7aw’t.s 1hlati7, nas k’a tu7 kalhds xetspdsqet. Kwdmemlhkan ta
pipha. Cw7ao kdti7 kwenswd zewdten ku ats’xal’ikst. Nilh t’'u7 shal’acitkan
kati7 ta twéww'eta wa7 kareada. Tsuntsalitas, ‘Tsuwa7sd t’u7 ti skwitsitsa
14ti7 ta smétsa. P’a7cw lkw7dwna wa7 nxetspqgigen’kst.s.” Wi7lhkan tsut,
‘Cw7ao0 ti7 kiti7 kwenswi gwe7ez’min.””

Wa7 tstinem, “Tsuwa7sd t'u? ti7 skwatsits.”
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12.3  English (Direct Translation)

Now I'm gonna repeat this in Indian. It was a Saturday, and so these peo-
ple went to town. They went to town, and Johnny went wherever it was he
was going, and Mary did too. It was time for Mary to go home, so she went
home.

In the morning, Johnny wasn’t there. She thought, “Where is he?” She
got into a bus and went to Seattle, then she hired a taxi and went to the jail.

She asked for her Johnny. She was told, “There’s no Johnny Milgaw
around here”. She said, “Is there anyone around in there? I'll peek in there
to see if he’s there under another name.” She peeked in to see who was
inside. Johnny wasn’t around anywhere.

She wentlooking around for him, around town, wherever it was known
that Johnny went. She never saw him. She began to figure out that he
hadn’t gotten killed, and he didn’t get hurt. No, there would have been
some friend of his around who would have seen him. “So maybe he went
home. He’ll maybe arrive there in a bit.”

So she took oft, and started working, she was picking berries. Seven
days went by, and on the seventh day, when she came home, Johnny was
sitting there in the door of their cabin.

She told Johnny, “Where have you been?”

Johnny said, “I went to heaven.”

She said, “Oh, it’s just like you to go to heaven.”

Johnny said, “The last thing I knew, we were in the street and I was with
my partners, some white people, there were two of them. We were chatting.
After that, I knew nothing more.”

“I woke up and looked around. Where I was laying in bed, everything
was white. The women there who were walking around, they were dressed
in white. I thought this must be heaven. The only thing I could see from
the pictures, was that they said that angels had wings. That’s all that was
missing, they didn’thave any wings. They called me by name. I didn’tknow
how they found out my name. ‘I'm better now,” I was telling them, ‘I'm
okay now, I'm going home.” So they told me, ‘Go home.” I went outside
and I was in the street. I was pretty sure I had been in heaven.”
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“After that, about three weeks went by. I gotaletter. I didn’tknow how
to read, so I showed it to some young guy that could read. They told me,
‘It’s your name that’s written there. There’s more than a hundred dollars in
here.” Isaid, ‘I didn’t go to any trouble for that.” ”

They told him, “Well, that’s your name.”
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2.4

(1)
(2)

)

280

Interlinear Gloss

Now I'm gonna repeat this in Indian.

l=ts7a lhwés=t'u7 wa7  Saturday,
at=thisv1§ [COMB+HIPFV+fsB]VI=ExXC1] [PFY Saturday
nilh=t'u7  ses iz tdowen.

con=Excl NMLZ+[PFV[+§Poss these[vI§ go.to.town

It was a Saturday, and so these people went to town.

tsicw=wit ta=tdown=a, nilh=tu7

get.there=fp1] PET=town=EXx1y [CoP=ExcI|

ti7 sés=t’u7

thaty1y NMLZ+[PFV+EPOSS=EXC]]

tak s=Johnny,
go.along NMLZ=]Johnny
ken=tswasa=t’'u7=hém’=t'u7
around=PET+NMLZ+[PFV+JPOSS+EXIS=EXCI=ANTI=EXCI|
tak, xilem  kw=s=Mary.
goalong dofiiD} PET-RMIZ-Mary
They went to town, and Johnny went wherever it was he was go-

ing, and Mary did too.

tsicw s=7lxwal’=s s=Mary, nilh=cu7
get.here FMIZ-go home=fF05] RAIZ-Mary FoR-EXcI
s=7txwal’=s.
RMZZ-go home=F0s3

It was time for Mary to go home, so she went home.
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(s)

(6)

(7)

(8)

(9)

psil’ 14ti7, cw7aoz  kati7
daylight  at+therevig around-+there v1g
kw=s=Johnny kwas wa’7.

DPET=NMLZ=]Johnny PET+NMLZ+[PFV+gPosy be

In the morning, Johnny wasn’t there.

nilh=t'u7  s=tsut=s, “nkd7=tu7=k’a?”
[cog=fxc1] NMLZ=say=gposy where=REM=[EPIg
She thought, “Where is he?”

n-lhdm’-lec l4¢i7 ta=bus=a, tsicw
fod-putintofaUT at+there[vi§ [PET=bus=Ex1§ get.there
ta=Seattle=a, k’'wilh-cal  ta=taxi=ha
pPET=Seattle=EX1§ callonfaCT [PET=taxi=EX1g
e=t74 n-k’47-men=a.

to=that[vl§ [Lod-get.stuck-INg=EXI19

She got into a bus and went to Seattle, then she hired a taxi and
went to the jail.

sawlhen-min-as lata7 ta=Johnny-s=a.
ask.question-RLT-gERG at+there V1§ PET=]Johnny-fPoss=EXIs
She asked for her Johnny.

tsun-em=ku?7, “aoz kati7 I=ts7a
say+DIR-PPAs§=QuoT NEJ around+therevig§ at=this[vig
ku=Johnny  Milgaw.”
PET=Johnny Milgaw

She was told, “There’s no Johnny Milgaw around here.”
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(10) tsut=ku7, “ha e=ts74
say=RQUOT [ to=this.v1g
ta=wa7=s=kn=4ku7?
pPET=be=NMLZ=around=there INVIg
[ka]-zaq’il-s=kén-a=k[elh]
IR peck.in XTI~ a5E} EIRG-FOT
liku7 lhwas ku=w47
at+there [NVI§ [COMB+IPFV+§SB]V [PET=be
[l]=ku=s7icwlh  skwdtsits.”

at=pET=different name

She said, “Is there anyone around in there? I'll peek in there to see
if he’s there under another name.”

II zéq’il=ku7 dku7 s-7ulhcw.
q
peek.in=QUOT [PET=to+there INVI§ [NMLZ-enter

She peeked in to see who was inside.

(12) cw74doy=t'u7 kiti7 ku=Johnny.
NEG=ExXc1] around+there[vl§ DET=]Johnny

Johnny wasn’t around anywhere.
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(13) nilh  s=kdti7 swas
cod NMLZ=around+therevi§ NMLZ+HPFV+fposy
cwil’-em, ken=ta=tidown=a,
look.for-MID around=PET=town=EXIS
ken=tsdsa
around=pPET+NMLZ+HPFV+fPosI+EXIY
zewdt-en-as kwas
be.known-pPIR-BERG DPET+NMLZ+PFV+gPOss
tsicw.
get.there

She went looking around for him, around town, wherever it was
known that Johnny went.

(14) cw74doy=tu7 kati7 kwas
NEG=EXCI]  around-+there V1§ DET+HNMLZ+[PFV+gPOSS
ats’x-en-as.
get.seen-DIR-BERG
She never saw him.
(15) nilh=ku7=t'u7 ts7as  n-tsut-inwas aoz
coR=RQUoT=EXCI] begin [Od-say-inside |NEG
kati7 kwis=tu7 zZuqw,
around+there y1§ DET+HNMLZ+[PFV+gPosg=REM die
kwas xan’

DET+NMLZ+[PFVi+gPOsy get.hurt
She began to figure out that he hadn’t gotten killed, and he didn’t
get hurt.
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(16)

(17)

(19)

284

cw7aoz  kiti7, wa7=ka=t47=t'u7
NEG around+there[viy  [PFV=[RR=REM=EXCI|
ken=ts74 ku=snuk’wa7-s

around=this.f'1g DET=friend-gposy
ku=74ts’x-en-as.
No, there would have been some friend of his around who would

have seen him.

“xek  uxwal’=k’i=tu7.”

maybe go.home=EPI§=REM

“So maybe he went home.”

“Ciq  s-xek-s kaldl=as.”
arrive  [NMLZ-maybegPosy soon=fsB]V]

“He’ll maybe arrive there in a bit.”

nilh=tu7 (ta=s...) s=qwatsats=s,
coB=Exci PET=NMLZ |NMLZ=leave=ffposq
nilh=tu7 s=tsicw=s, nilh  s=...
Eof-EXcy NiZ-gerthere=fF0sy  Eof
start=s kwas k’wezts-em,

start=fposy PET+NMLZ+[PFV+gPosy work-MID
q'wlaw’-em.
pick.berries-MID]

So she took off, and started working, she was picking berries.
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(20)

(21)

(22)

(23)

nas=tu7 tsdalhaka7 sq’it, i=tsulhik7=a e=ts74
go=REM seven day  pIpET=seven=Ex1y to=this[vig
sq’it, ts74s=ku7  dxwal..

day come=QUoOT go.home

Seven days went by, and on the seventh day, when she came home...

.owa7  lad7 s-q’il’-q
at+there vl [TAT}-get.put.onto.something-bottom
kw=s=Johnny, sk’ém’ts-s=a

PET=NMLZ=]Johnny  door-fposg=Ex1g
na=cabin-i=ha.
[BS [DETj=cabin-fp1| pOSS=EXI]

.. Johnny was sitting there in the door of their cabin.

nilh=ku7=tu7 s=tsin-as s=Johnny(s),’
Con=RQuoT=ExXcl NMLZ=say+DIR-BERG [NMLZ=]Johnny
“nka7 lhucw tsicw?”

where [COMB+[PFVI+ESG.SB]V get.there
She told Johnny, “Where have you been?”

tsut=ku7  kw=s=Johnny, “4ku7 (u)
2007 BER-RZ-Johnny  co+there fKVTY
ci7=a tmicw lh=tsicw=an.”

high=Fx1d land  [coMB=get.there=ffsG[sB]V]

Johnny said, “I went to heaven.”

*The s after ‘Johnny’ is unexpected. It is possibly a 3rd person possessive pronoun, i.e.

‘her Johnny’, as in stanza (8), however in that case a determiner is predicted to surface
before ‘Johnny.” We leave the s unanalyzed, for this reason.
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(24)

(25)

(26)

(27)

286

“0,” tstn-as=ku7, “ts’ila-70]  ta=wa7=sntiwa
oh  sayDIHERG-RUGT like-really PET-iPFyi-FGNDER
ta=wa7=nds  kdiku7 ci7=a tmicw.”

DET=[PFVi=go around+there[Nvi§ high=Ex1gd land

She said, “Oh, it’s just like you to go to heaven.”

tstut=ku7  kw=s=Johnny, “ta=74w’t=a wa7
say=RQUOT [PET=NMLZ=]Johnny pPET=behind=Ex1g
zewdt-en-an...”
be.known-DIR-SG.ERG
Johnny said, “The last thing I knew...”

“wé7=lhkalh l4ti7 |=[ta]=street=a muta7
[PFVi=fP1sB] at+therevi§ at=pET=street=fxX1§ and
(nelh...) nelh=wa7=n-pvt-piotna,
p1aBYpET PIABYPET=[PFV=lsd POS{TRED partner
nelh=sim7=a, n-74n’was.”

P1ABS DETI=white.person=FX1§ [od-two
“We were in the street and I was with my partners, some white peo-
ple, there were two of them.”
“wa7=lhkalh=t’47=tu7  ldta7 qwel*qwal’*¢lt.”
FFY- 8]~ EXCI-REN] actherefTy RS talk ERED

“We were chatting.”
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(28) “cw7doy=t'u7 kati7
NEG=Exc1] around+there [v1g
kw=s=zewit-en-an muta7
DPET=NMLZ=be.known-DIR-fSGERG  again
lhlati7 ku=hu7 stam’.”

from+there.y1§ PET=more what

“After that, I knew nothing more.”

(29)  “ts74s=kan=t’u7 cwak, tcis-em=lhkan.”
come=[fsGsBj=EXCI get.woken look-MID=}sG[B]

“I woke up and looked around.”

(30) “I=ts7a |=tensw4
at=this V1§ at=PETHISG POSY+HNMLZ+[PFV|
s-kits-lec |=ta=n-gy’t-ten=a,

ST get lid.down AU at=DET-E0Gslecp{NG-ES
tikem=tu7 stam’ peq.”
all=gxcyl  what white

“Where I was laying in bed, everything was white.”

(31) “i=smelh*mulhats=a kati7
PIDET=RED*woman= around+there V1§
wa7 mé-m’teq, péq=tu7

walk-CRED white=
s-ydx-i=ha.”
NMLZ-get.dressed-fp1]posg=Ex1g

“The women there who were walking around, they were dressed
in white.”
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(32)

(33)

(34)

288

“[ka]-n-tsut-anwas=kdn-a nilh=k’a=wi7 ts7a
CIRdLod-say-inside=fqfBJHCIR]  [COR=FPI§=EMPH ~thisV1d
wa7 cd7=a tmicw.”

[rFv high=Fx1d land

“I thought this must be heaven.”

“tsukw=t'u7 ta=wa7=ka-7ats’x-s-4n-a

finish=[XC]  ET=[PFi=CrRd gerscen A0S fiq ERG £

ken=ki=piktsh=a, kiti7
around=pPI] PET=picture= around+there V1§
lhas tsut=wit  ku=lisdos
coMB+IPFVi+BSB]V  say=gp1]  [DET=angel
kwas es=taq’d7el’.”

DET+NMLZ+[PFV+fPOosy have=wings

“The only thing I could see from the pictures, was that they said
that angels had wings.”

“tsukw=t'u7 l=ts7a s-xlun’-s, cw7a0
finish=fxc1] at=thisjyiy NMLZ-lackfposy [NEG
kati7 kwas es=taq’d7el’

around+there y1§ PET+HNMLZ+[PFVi+JPOsy have=wings

»

izd.
these.v1g

“That’ all that was missing, they didn’t have any wings.”

“nah-en-tsil-itas ta=skwitsits=a.”
name THFQPEHEFLERG BET-name-EXTS
“They called me by name.”
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(36) “ao0 kw=n=[s]=zewdit-en
-G Foss-finiTz-be known s
lh=stdm’=as=t'u7 kwas

comi=what=fsBJVi=EXC1] PET+NMLZ+[PFV+gPOsy
zewateet-s-twitas.”
beknown FREDHEATS R

“I didn’t know how they found out my name.”

(37) “tu7  plin=lhkan=t'u7 wa7  ama-wil’c,
already=ffsd sBJ=ExC1| good-become
wi7=lhkan tsun-tanfhan,

PF-Fa5s]  su-+DREIOTHEAER
‘plin=lhkan=cu7 ama-wil,
already=ffsd sBJ=EXC1]  good-become

cuz’=lhkan Uxwal’.””

going.to=fsG.sB] go.home

“ ‘T'm better now,” I was telling them, ‘T’'m okay now, 'm going

home.” ”

(38) “tsun-tsal-itas aylh, ‘ciy=malh txwal’.””

say+DIR-sG.oBJ-PLERG now go.on=ADHORT go.home

“So they told me, ‘Go home.” ”

(39) “ats'qa7=lhkan lhlti7=tu7 I=ts74=t"u7
go.outside=ffsg.fB] from+there [VI§=EXCI| at=this.y1§=EXCI]
|=ta=street=a lh=wi7=an.”

at=pET=street=fXT [EoMT=be={FGFENY

“I went outside and I was in the street.”
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(40)  “téxw=t'u7  rta=gélgel=a n-tsut-inwas,  wa’
really=Exc1] [PET=strong=Ex1y [L0d-say-inside
ku=wendcw=t'u7, tsicw=kan ku=ci7=a
DET=true=EXcC1]  get.there=[sgfB)] PET=high=FxI1]
tmicw.”
land

“I was pretty sure I had been in heaven.”
(41) “s-74wW’t-s lhl4ti7, nds=k’a=tu7  kalhds
NMLZ-behind-fposs from+thereyi§ go=EPI§=REM three

xetspsqet.”
weeks

“After that, about three weeks went by.”

(42)  “kwdmrem=lhkan ta=piph=a.”
e FRED-EARE] BET-paper—EXTy

“Igotaletter.”

(43)  “cw7ao0  kéd7 kwenswi
NEG around-+there V1§ PET+HGPOS+HNMLZ+PFY]
zewit-en ku=7ats’x-al’tkst.”

be.known-pIR [PET=get.seen-sheet

“I didn’t know how to read.”

(44)  “nilh=tu7  s=hala-cit=kan kddi7
coB=Excy] NMLZ=show-IND=[§GfB] around+there[v1g
ta=twéwwet=a wa7 ka-read-a.”

pPET=boys=Ex1§ [PFV [CIRd-read{cIRd

“So I'showed it to some young guy that could read.”
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(45)

(46)

(47)

(48)

“tsun-tsal-itas, ‘tsuwa7-su=t’u7
sayDTHSPTHEIER]  own HQFOSI-EXCE
ti=skwdtsits=a 14ti7

PET=name=EX1q at+there 1y

2]

ta=s-méts=a.”
PET-FTT gecwriccen—XTg

“They told me, ‘It’s your name that’s written there.” ”

«c

pa7cw l=kw74-wna wa7
more.than at=this. -precisely
n-xetspqiqen’kst-s.””
Lod-one.hundred-gposg

“ “There’s more than a hundred dollars in here.” ”

“wia7=lhkan  tsut, ‘cw7do=ti7 kati7
[PFV=fsdB] say [NEG=thatfyi§ around+therevig
kwenswi gwe<7>ez’-min.”

DET+HfsG POSI+HNMLZ+[PFY trouble< >-RLT]

“I'said, ‘Tdidn’t go to any trouble for that.” ”

wa7  tsin-em, “tsuwa7-su=t’'u7 ti7

oy PIRAAS]  own BFQFOSI-ERC  thacF3
[ku]=skwidtsits.”
PET=name

They told him, “Well, that’s your name.”
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CHAPTER I3

Sp’aoy

Frank Gott

13.1 English (as told by Sam Mitchell himself)

I’ll tell another story about... this happened in 1933. Thappened to be work-
ing up Pavilion and I know when it happened. This happened in Septem-
ber about first opened season.

This old guy, he’s an Indian but he’s a non-status Indian, his name is
Frank Gott. He’s a pretty good shot and he got another young fellow to
go with. Lots of, there’s always young guys wants to go if some old guys go
and hunt. So he went up Bridge River, going up Bridge River on horseback,
and that’s about, oh, about 25 miles up the river, up on this Bridge River.

So him and Frank Gott and one of the Miller boys, I think that fellow
is still alive, he was about 13 or 14 then, they got up there and they made
a camp, and next day they went and hunt. Well, first deer they get, they...
Frank Gott shoot them, they killed two.

In the meantime, there’s a game warden in Lillooet here, and them days
it wasn’t too many people around, and he heard somebody said that Frank
Gott went hunting. This Frank Perry, that’s the game warden, he says... he
says, “I'm going up Bridge River and ’'m gonna get that Frank Gott.” And
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this is a story that’s passed around I heard. And his wife told him, “You
better watch out, that old guy, he’s gonna get you somedays.” And he just
laughed and he says, “I’ll get him this time. I know he wouldn’t go on up
in the mountain to get a buck. He’ll get anything he’ll get.”

So anyways he walked up, and it’s a long walk, it’s about 25 miles up
this... This game warden, he never has a horse, and he just walks, he’s a pretty
good walker.

Anyways he got up there and he seen Frank Gott’s camp downriver.
Good place there, that’s the boy’s story. And, he went up to Frank Gott
and he says, “What’ve you got?”

“Oh, I've got some meat.”

“Let me see, I want to see it.” It’s Frank Gott, he’s got his meat sacked
up and he was ready to come down.

And Frank says, Gottsaid, “Well,” he says, (this game warden went right
up, his name is also Frank, he’s Frank Perry), and “Oh,” he says, “I'm gonna
see it.” And it’s already sacked up and tied.

Frank Gott told him, “Leave it alone. We’re gonna pack up.”

And he just laughed at Frank Gott, and the old guy got his gun right
there, he just reached down and just “bang! bang!”, he dropped him right
there. He never got around to open the sack.

So, Frank Gott, he wrote a note, and he told the boy, this Miller boy,
he says, “Leave the meat there,” he says, “get on your horse and go down.”
Up there, there’s no phone, it’s just the road up there. And he give the boy
anote, and he says, “You go down Lillooet and you give that note to them,
them cops down there. I'm going up the hill, they can come and look for
me. I wouldn’t be very far.” So this boy did.

Next day, there’s a whole bunch of policemens went up, and when they
seen Frank Gott, they shot him. They shot him in the leg.

And anyways he, by that time they gota truck. Well, they trucked Frank
Perry down, the game warden that was shot. They killed Frank Gortt, too.
And, they truck him down, he wasn’t dead right away, but Lytton, it’s a
long ways, it’s about... From where they shot Frank Gott, it’s about 75 miles
to Lytton, that’s the nearest hospital. But the old fellow, he died, he was
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getting pretty old anyways. He was round about 60 or more. Before he got
to Lytton, he passed out and he...

That was the end of that game warden shooting, and Frank Gott.

This game warden, he was pretty rough too, he was always getting
somebody else. I heard one time that he went up Bridge River and some
women give him a dinner, and it was a fish what she fished from the creek.
And it was under-sized and she put, he put her in jail because that fish wasn’t
big enough. And that was what the woman cooked for her, for him to eat
for dinner. So he was that bad. So anyways, he got killed.
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3.2 St’at’'imcets

Cuy’lhkan ts7a sqwéqwel’'min ta pdl7a szdyten Its7a.

Wa7 lts7a ta pipl7a lil'tem’, plan wa7 lil'tem’, nilh ti7 wa7 sFrank
Gott. sSp’doy hem’ ta skwitsitssa lta ucwalmicwa, ti7 ku dcwalmicw skwiét-
sitss. Nilh stsut.s, “Ndskan pixem
pixem’, Its7a ku tmicw, Its7a ntak ets74wna x7ilha. Et76 sgdptena, nilh t'u7

b

,” splans wa7 tsicw tswiasa nlig’wts i wa7

ses kéla7 lati7 lhwas nlig’wts. Ts’fla ku 4n’was xetspdsqet tswésa kéla7 lati7
lhwas nlig’wts, elh wa7 nlig’wts ets74wna, ntdka wi snimulh.

Nilh t'u7 tu7 sqwatsdtss, k’walhan’as [4ti7 ta twiw’ta, pdpla7 twéww'et.
Nilh t'u7 sqwatsitsi slhéqwlheqw ekw7d nkdkwem’a ekw7dwna, nilh
ti7 wa7 tsinem lta nqwal’uttenlhkilha ekw7dwna wa7 “mulc.” Nilh
ti7 wa7 mulc skwatsitstlm’ecws lki ucwalmicwa. Wa7 nxusendtkwa?
laku7, nilh ti7 wa7 nqwiqwsitkwa7 4dta7 ta wa7 ncwi7tsin 4ti7 ta stéxwa
nxusendtkwa?, tu7 wa7 nqwiqwsitkwa?, nilh wa7 ti7 wa7 mulc ldta7.
T 4k.wit lhelts7dwna, kekdw’ ti7 lhelts74. An’was ka sqem’ps wi tsilkst
mile. Tsicwwit dku7, nilh stsftewemi. Psil’, nilh sqwatsatsi pixem’.

Wa7 ti7 lts7a ta wa7 s7ats’xstdli i ts'{7a. Nilh wa7 sFrank Perry. Nilh
ku7 cu7 stsut.s, “Ctz’lhkan ndsmin’ kw sFrank Gott. Kan kwan, wa7 tu7
ti7 takem wa7 qusenas kiku7.” Nilh ti7 t.s74w’ta sqwéqwel’ 14ti7, tsut ku7,
tsinem ku7 wa7 t.sem74msa, “Tay, tsukws malh, cuy’ ti7 kwdnen, cuy’ nka7
ku sq’it, cuy’ ti7 kwanenstimihas.” O, nilh ku7 t47 t'u7 snq’san’ks, “Cuy,”
tsut ku7, “Néskan.” Nilh c'u7 sqwatsitss lhlti7.

Nmatq ku7, wa7 ti7 nmatq papt. Gélgel ku matq. Kekdw’ ti7 dku7
kwan.

Tsicw dku7, ats’xenas 14ti7 ltswisa esntsitcwtensa sFrank. Nilh ldca7
stsicws, plan wa7 nlhdm’alhmeci ts’i7a lki nq’ts’alhmeca. Nilh t'u7 ti7 sctz’i
ts7as muta7 ta wa7 snak’wa7s.

Nilh stsicws 4ta7 ts7a ta wa7 s7ats’xstdli i ts’{7a. Nilh ku7 t’'u7 ststinem,
tstinas ts7a ta ucwalmicwa, “Caz’lhkan 4ts’xen iz’.”

Tsdnem, “Cw740zas.”

Nilh t’u7 4ta7 sq’'wemilcs, kwinas ta cwik’tensa, nilh sk’etcwtsdn’as iz’,
plan wa7 szusts.

Tsunem ku7 ets74 sSp’aoy, “Tsukws!”
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Nilh ku7 tu7 snq’san’ktsenas. Texw t'u7 ti7 ts7a wa7 xwem kwa
qusem. Nilh ku7 ta stsollecminasa t.swelmin’ksa, nilh sTham’4l’tsenas, nilh
ststinas, “Tsukws!”

Nq’san’kminas ka7 t'u7, nilh 'u7 ldd7 sqascitem, “Pexw! pexw!”
An’was 14ti7 £u7 nilh ©u7 nesqdm’em’s.

Nilh 14ti7 skits. Nilh stsinas ta twiw’ta wa7 sntik’wa7s, metscil 14ti7,
nilh ststinas, “Cuy nas sqwal’, nas sqwal’min’ dku?7. Sqwal’ lidku7 tdowna,
t.sxilhtsana, lts7a kelh Ihwi7an Iht'igmin’tsélitas.”

Nilh slhqwilcs ta twéww'eta 1hliti7 t’'u7 nilh Ihldku7 nuxwsqdxa7s.
T’iq ets74, cwits’in’as ta pipha.

Nilh sqelildim’s i sim7a, gelilim’wit. T’iq i cw7ita, k’wink’wends k’a
ku game warden. Ats'xenwalhenitas ldku7 kw sSp’aoy, Frank Gott, nilh
squscititas.

Tsicw ta trucka, lham’4nitas, lham’4nitas ldku7. Nilh... aoy t'u7 kw
stsicws ku Lyttona, nilh ti7 K'ik’t7dm wa7 hospital. Nilh szuqws 14ti7
tsdw’tswa. Nilh l4ti7 lhlep’witas ts’ila stqwaw’s.

Nilh ti7, sqweqwel’minan ti7. Lts7a ku... 14ti7 ku time, wéna7, s1933.
September k’a pindni7. Nkd7as kéla7 tu7 wa7 nlig'wts t'u7 ssiq’ulh
Septemberha, 14ti7 ku time. Ati7 Ihxilemas 4ti7.
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13.3 English (Direct Translation)

I’'m gonna tell about one thing that happened here.

There was this one old guy, he was already pretty old, that was Frank
Gott[| Sp’aoy was his name in the Indian language, his Indian name. He
said, “I'm going hunting,” because it was already time to open the hunting
season on the other side of the river.f] On the west side (of the Fraser), that’s
where it opens first. It opens there about two weeks earlier than on our side
of the river.

He went and he hired a young person, a boyf] Then they left riding
on horseback upriver (north) to that place that we call Mulc ("wood’) in
our language. Mulc is the place name the Indians use. There’s a swift creek
there, and a small one, and at the confluence of the really swift one and the
small one, that’s where Mulc is. They set off from right around here, it’s far
from here. Twenty-five miles.] They got over there and set up camp. Next
morning they went hunting.

There was this game warden around. That was Frank Perry[] So he
said, “I'm gonna go and get Frank Gott. I’'m gonna get him because he’s
shooting everything around there.” The story went around afterwards that
Frank Perry’s wife said to him, “Hey, leave it alone, he’ll get caught someday,
but he’ll get you.” Oh, then he laughed and said, “Okay, I'm going.” Then
he left from there.

He left, walking, he always walked. He was a strong walker. He went
for along way to get him.

'ClarK (1986, 62) says that Gott was already 62 at the time of his service during the
First World War, which means that he was in his early 8os at the time of the events in
this story.

*Sam Mitchell lived in Fountain, on the east side of the Fraser River, which had to
wait an extra two weeks for hunting season to open.

’ClarK (1986, 63) states that Gott went hunting with two young men from Lillooet,
Jimmy Dalton and 14-year old Raymond Miller.

“ClarK (1986, 63) places their camp at 26 miles from Lillooet, up Bridge River.

°Frank Perry’s actual name is Albert Farey (ClarK, (986, 63), who had previously
fined Frank Gott for shooting a bear out of season in 1930.
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He got there and saw where Frank Gott had his camp. When he got
there, the deer were already stuffed into gunny sacks. They were about to
come (back down the mountain), Frank and his hunting partner.

Well, this game warden went over there. He told the Indian, “I am go-
ing to have a look at those.”[]

Frank Gott told him, “Don’t.”

Then the game warden squatted down, he took his knife, and he cut
open the mouths of the gunny sacks, which had already been tied up.

Frank Gott told the game warden, “Stop!”

Then the game warden just laughed in his face. Now this guy Frank
Gortt is real quick to draw. He reached for his gun, he loaded it, and he told
the game warden, “Stop!”

The game warden laughed at him again and then Frank Gott shot him,
“Pow! Pow!” He got hit twice and then he fell backwards.

He was laying there. Frank Gott told his companion, the young person,
he wrote something down and told him, “Go report what happened. Go
tell them in town what I have done, I'll be here when they come to get me.”]]

So the boy got on his horse and galloped offf| When he arrived there he
handed over the letter.

Then the white folks hurried, they hurried. Many came, a whole bunch
of game wardens. They expected to find Frank Gott there, and they shot
him f]

°Farey was looking for the deer tags, at that time a newly instituted hunting regula-
tion in British Columbia (ClarKk, (986, 63).

"ClarK (1986, 63) states that “Gott handed his gun to Dalton, then said to Miller:
“You can have my horse, I’m done for.” ”

*It was either Miller or Dalton (or both) that rode Gott’s horse to the nearest settle-
ment, Moha, to alert the authorities (ClarK, (986, 63).

’According to [ClarK (1986, 64), Gott was confronted by Game Wardens Robert
Robertson and Joseph Quesnel. After narrowly avoiding a direct shoot-out with the
game wardens, Gott attempts to flee through a rock cut, and was brought down by a
bullet which ricocheted off of a rock wall, wounding him in the leg.
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A truck came, they put him in it, they put him in there. They didn’t
get to Lytton, it’s the nearest place with a hospital. So the poor fellow died
there[] They kind of got buried together (Frank Gott and Frank Perry).[]

That’s it, what I've told a story about. The time when this happened
was in, when was it? 1933.[] Must’ve been September at that time. It was
halfway through September when the hunting season was opened. That’s
when that happened.

'°It was actually a protracted case of tuberculosis which killed Gott, rather than the
superficial leg wound (Clark, (986, 64).

'Carl Alexander (p.c.) says that they are buried next to a black tank on the east side
of the Fraser River, visible from the Lillooet Friendship Centre.

“The actual year was 1932.
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13.4
(1)

(2)

(3)

(4)

Interlinear Gloss

cay’=lhkan ts7a sqwéqweel-min ta=pil7=a
going.to=fsg.sB] this.y1y tellCRED!-RLY] [PET=one=EXIg
szdyten l=ts7a.

doings at=this 1

I’'m gonna tell about one thing that happened here.

wa7 I=ts7a ta=pd-pl7=a litem’, plan
at=thisy1§ PET=[REDone=Ex1y adult already
wa7 lil'tem’, nilh=ti7 wa7 s=Frank Gott.

adulc  [cof=thatjig NMLZ=Frank Gott
There was this one old guy, he was already pretty old, that was
Frank Gott.
s=Sp’doy=hem’ [ta]=skwitsits-s=a
RSMLZ-Sp'aoy Frank Gote] -BNT] PET-name fFos3-Ty
l=ta=7ucwalmicw=a, ti7
at=pET=indigenous.person=EX1§  that[V1g
[ku]=tcwalmicw skwitsits-s.
DET=indigenous.person namefposy

Sp’aoy was his name in the Indian language, his Indian name.

nilh  s=tsut=s, “nds=kan  pixem’,”...
cof NMLZ=say=gposy go=ffsdsB] hunt

He said, “I'm going hunting,”...
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(s) ...[s]=plan=s wa’ tsicw
NMLZ=already=fposg get.there
tswisa n-lig’wts
DET+HNMLZHIPFVHBPOSS+HEXIY LOg-open
i=wa7=pixem’, |=ts7a ku=tmicw,
PI.PET=[PFvi=hunt at=thisy1§ [PET=land
I=ts7a n-tak e=ts74-wna
at=thisy1§ [Lod-side to=this.1g-precisely
x7{lh=a.

across.the.water=

...because it was already time to open the hunting season on the
other side of the river.

(6) e=t74 sgdp-ten=a, nilh=t'u7
to=thatfT§  evening {NS-XT§  [COB-EXCT
ses kéla7 14ti7
NMLZ+HipFV[+fposy  first at+there V1§
lhwas n-lig’wts.

[COMD+IPFV+BSB]V| [LOd-open

On the west side (of the Fraser), that’s where it opens first.
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(7) ts’fla  ku=pd[la7], dn’was xetspisqet
like pET=o0ne two weeks
tswisa kéla7  liti7
DET+NMLZ+[PFVi+gPOsg+EX1IY first  at+there V1§
lhwas n-lig'wts,  elh wa7
coMi+PFVi+BsB]Y [ELOd-open and.then
n-lig'wts  e=ts74-wna, n-tik=a

fLod-open to=this.[y1g-precisely [Lod-side=EXI1q
wi=snimulh.
Fi-f0 o

It opens there about two weeks eatlier than on our side of the river.

(8) nilh=t’u7=tu7 s=qwatsits=[s], k’wilh-cal,
[cof=ExcCI=REM NMLZ=leave= call.on{acT
k’walh-an’-as l4ti7 ta=twiw’t=a,

call.on-pIR-fERG at+thereyI§ [PET=youth=EXI1g
papla7  twéwwet.
[REDrone boy
He (Frank Gott) went and he hired a young person, a boy.

(9) nilh=t'u7  s=qwatsdts=i s-Théqwlheqw
[coB=Exc1 NMmLZ=leave=pP1lp0osy FTAT{TREDride.horse
e=kw7u nkikwem’=a e=kw70-wna...

to=that[INVI§ upriver=EX1§ to=thatfINVIg-precisely
Then they left riding on horseback upriver (north) to...

303



Sp’aoy

(10) ...nflh=ti7 wa7  tsun-em wa7...
Fot-that 13 say+DIR- T ERG
wa7.... nilh=ti7 wa7  tsin-em

Eot-thac 73 say TR ERG
I=[ta]=n-qwal’ut-ten-lhkilh=a
2c~BET-£0G speak [N FOS3-EXTS

e=kw74-wna wa7  “mulc.”
to=this.[NVI§-precisely wood

..that place that we call Mulc (‘wood’) in our language.

(1) nilh=ti7 wa7  mulc  skwatsits-ulm’ecw-s
[coB=that1g stick  name-land-gposg
I=ki=7ucwalmicw=a.
at=p1] pET=indigenous.person=EX1g

Mulc (‘wood’) is the place name the Indians use.

(r2) wa7 n-xusen-itkwa7 liku7, nilh=ti7 wa7

be [ELod-swift-water at+there[NVI§ [COP=that[vig
n-qwiqws-dtkwa7 4ta7 ta=wa7=ncwi7tsin
fod-small-water  to+there[v1§ [PET=[PFV}=confluence
ati7 (ta=n-...) ta=stéxw=a
torthere Ty PER-EOG  BET-rea—fT
n-xusen-dtkwa7, tu7 wa7 n-qwiqws-dtkwa7,
fod-swift-water [Exc1 [PFY [od-small-water
nilh wa7 47 wa7 mulc ldta7.
o be thatfig stick at+there.1g
There’s a swift creek there, and a small one, and at the confluence of
the really swift one (Bridge River) and the small one, that’s where

Mulcis.
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(13)

(14)

(15)

(16)

(17)

(18)

t'ak=wit lhel=ts74-wna, ke*kdw’=ti7
go.along=pp1] from=this.y1g-precisely [REDfar=that.v1g
lhel=ts74.
from=this.v1g

They set off from right around here, it’s far from here.

dn’was=k’a [s]-qlem’p-s wi=tsilkst mile.
two=Er1y NMLZ-ten-fposy and=five mile

Twenty-five miles.

tsicw=wit iku7, nilh

get.there=fp1] to+there INVIg fcoy
s=tsitcw-em=i.
REZ-house ST PO FOSS

They got over there and set up camp.

psil’, nilh s=qwatsdts=i pixem’.
daybreak [cof NMLZ=leave=ffp1l[posy hunt

Next morning they went hunting.

wa7=ti7 I=ts7a ta=wa7=s-7ats’x-s-tali
be=thacf ac—chis 1§ PET-EPRI-FTAT-get.scen EATHVTS
i=ts’{7=a.

P1.pET]=deer=

There was this game warden around.

nilh wa7 s=Frank Perry.
coy [rFY NMLZ=Frank DPerry

That was Frank Perry.

YCarl Alexander notes that nxusendtkwa? is the Bridge River, which accords with

where (1986) places the event.
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(19)

(20)

(21)

306

nilh=ku7=tu7 s=tsut=s, “caz’=lhkan
coB=uoT=Exc1] NMLZ=say=fposy going.to=ffsq[sB]
nas-min’  kw=[s]=Frank Gott.”

goRLT PET=NMLZ=Frank Gott
So he (Frank Perry) said, “I'm gonna go and get Frank Gott.”

“kan kwan, wi7=tu7=ti7 tdkem wa7
Ba5E cakepH [PR-EXCI-thacfds al
qus-en-as kéku7.”

shoot-DIRBERG around+there [NVIS
“I'm gonna get him because he’s shooting everything around
there.”

nilh=ti7 t=s-74w’t=[a] sqwéqweel’
[cop=thatiy [pPET=NMLZ-behind=EX1§ tellCRED!
14ti7, tsut=ku7, tsin-em=ku7 wa7
at+there[vi§ say=QUoT| say+DPIR-fPAsS=RQUOT [PFV]
t=sem74m-s=a, “tay, tsukw-s=malh,
pET=wife-gposg§=Ex1y hey finish{caAUS=]ADHORT]
cay’=ti7 kwénven...  cuy’
going.to=thaty1§ takeFRED  going.to
nka7 ku=sq’it, cay’=ti7
where PET=day going.to=thatfr1§
kwan*en-s-tiumi-has.”
cake FREHEADS 850 BEHERD
The story went around afterwards that Frank Perry’s wife said to
him, “Hey, leave it alone, he’ll get caught someday, but he’ll get

»

you.




Frank Gott

(22)

(23)

(24)

(25)

(26)

(27)

o, nilh=ku7=t47=t'u7
o oB=RuoT=REM=FExcI|
[s]=n-q’s-an’k=s, “cuy,”  tsat=ku7,

NMLZ=[L0d-laugh-stomach=fpos§ go.on say=QuoT
(n...) “nds=kan.”
go=iF g pE]
Oh, then he laughed and said, “Okay, I'm going.”

nilh=t'u7  s=qwatsits=s lhl4ti7.
[con=Exc1 NMLZ=leave=fposy from+there[V1g
Then he left from there.

n-mitq=ku?, wia7=ti7 n-matq  papt.
fod-walk=QuoT [PFV]=that[vl§ [Lod-walk always
He left, walking, he always walked.

gélgel ku=mitq.
strong  DET=walk

He was a strong walker.

keskdw’=ti7 dku7 kwan.
[REDfar=that V1§ to+thereINVI§ get.something

He went for a long way to get him.

tsicw dku7, its’x-en-as
get.there  to+thereINVI§  get.seenDIR-JERG
14ti7 l=tswisa
at+there V1§  at=PET+NMLZ+[PFV+BPOSS+EXIY
es=n-tsitcw-ten-s=a s=Frank.

have=Lod-houseINg-fposs=Ex1§ NMLZ=Frank

He got there and saw where Frank Gott had his camp.
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(28)

(30)
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nilh  l4ta7 s=tsicw=s, plan
cog at+thereyly [NMLZ=get.there=fposy already
wa7  n-lhdm’-alhmec i=ts’{7=a...

Lod-putinto-sack  PIDET=deer=EXIs
I=ki=n-q’ts’-dlhmec=a.
at=p1.pET=L0od-woven-sack=EXIY

When he got there, the deer were already stuffed into gunny sacks.

nilh=c’u7=ti7 s=ciz’=i ts7as  muta7
EOT-EXCT~that 7T FMLZ-going.o-FPTFOSY begin again
(ta...) ta=wa7=snuk’wa7-s.
PET-FRI-friend 753
They were about to come (back down the mountain), Frank and
his hunting partner.

nilh  s=tsicw=s ita7 ts7a
od NMLZ=get.there=fposy to+there[vi§ this[VIg
ta=wa7=s-7ats’x-s-tli i=ts’{7=a.

DPET=[PFV}=FTAT-get.seen{CAUS-NTY P1pET=deer=[EXIs

Well, this game warden went over there.

nilh=ku7=tu7 s=tstin-em, tstin-as
cor=RuoT=Excr] NMLZ=say+DIRfFpAsY say+DIRHERG
ts7a ta=7ucwalmicw=a, “ctz’=lhkan
this[viy pPET=indigenous.person=Ex1y going.to=ffsg.sB]
ats’x-en iz.”

get.seen{DIR  those. 1

He told the Indian (Frank Gott), “I am going to have a look at
those.”



Frank Gott

(32)

(33)

(34)

(35)

(36)

tstin-em, “cw740z=as.”
say+DIR-Bpasy NEG=FsB]Y

Frank Gott told him, “Don’t.”

nilh=(s)tu7 4ta7 s=q 'wem-ilc=s,
EOT-EXC] cto-there T RMIZ-ger.curled.up ATT-GFOS
kwin-as ta=cwik’-ten-s=a,
take+DIRAERG  PET-butcher [NS F05§-EX
nilh=s... s=k’etcw-ts-4n’-as
coB=NMLZ NMLZ=get.severed-mouth-DIRBERG
iz, plan wa7  s-Zus-ts.

those. V1§ already BTAT}-get.tied.up-mouth

Then the game warden squatted down, he took his knife, and he
cut open the mouths of the gunny sacks, which had already been

tied up.

tstin-em=ku? (ta..)  e=ts74

say+pIR-fpas§=RuoT to=this V1§
s=Spaoy, “tsukw-s!”

NMLZ=Sp’aoy[Frank.Gott] finish-{CAUY

Frank Gott told the game warden, “Stop!”

nilh=ku7=tu7 s=n-q’s-an’k-ds-en-as.
coB=RuoT=Excl NMLZ=Lod-laugh-stomach-face-DIR-BER]

Then the game warden just laughed in his face.

téxw=t’u7=ti7 ts7a wa7 xwem
really=Excy=thatjyt§  thisf1§ fast
kwa=qus-em.
BER+{PFY=shoor i

Now this guy Frank Gott is real quick to draw.
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(37)

(38)

(39)

(40)
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nilh=ku7 ta=s=tsol-lec-min-as=a
cos=uoT pET= =reach.forAUTHRLT-BERG=EX1Y
t=swelmin’k-s=a, nilh
pPET=gun-fposg=Ex1s fcon
s=lham’-dI’ts-en-[as], nilh
NMLZ=put.into-rock-DIR-ERG  [coF
s=tsun-as, “tsukw-s!”

RaiiZ=say IR fERG finish RT3

He reached for his gun, he loaded it, and he told the game warden,
“Stop!”

n-q’s-an’k-min-as=ka7=t'u7, nilh=t"u7
EoHlaugh-scomach R ERG-GU0T-EXC]  Eoi-EXe
lati7 s=qus-cit-em, “pexw! plexw!”

at+there[vi§ NMLZ=shootND-jpAsy pow  pow
The game warden laughed at him again and then Frank Gott shot
him, “pow! pow!”
dn’was  lati7 tu7 nilh=t'u7
two  acethereffT3 GoR-Excl
n-tsgam’em’=s.
fod-fall.backwards FRED=FPOs9

He got hit twice and then he fell backwards.

nilh  l4t7 s-kits.
[cod at+thereyi§ [TAT-get.laid.down

He was laying there.



Frank Gott

(41)

(42)

(43)

nilh  s=tstn-as ta=twiw’t=a wa7
EoF NAMLZ-suy+BIERG  PET-youth-EX
snuk’wa7-s... mets-cil 14ti7, nilh
friendfposy  get.written-facT at+thereyi§ [coH
s=tsuin-as, “cuy nas sqwal’, nas sqwdl-min’
speak+DIR-PERG go.on go report go report{RLI
aku7.”
to+there INVIY

Frank Gott told his companion, the young person, he wrote some-
thing down and told him, “Go report what happened.”

“sqwal’ laku7 tiown=a,
report at+there INVIY town=,
t=s=x{lh-ts-an=a,
PE-fiNiTz-ger done AU Q ERG-EXTY
l=ts74=kelh lh=w47=an
s—this FT9-FUT  FoMi-be-fIfETY
lh=t"iq-min’-tsél-itas.”
GO -arrive IR G SEHFLERT

“Go tell them in town what I have done, T'll be here when they
come to get me.”

nilh  s=lhqw-ile=s ta=twéww et=a
Eof  RMLZ-ridehorse KUT-§F0sy  BET-boy-EXIS
lhléti7=tu7 nilh  Ihldku?7

from+there.y1§=Exc1] [coH from+there [NV
nuxw-sqdxa7=s.

gallop-horse=j
So the boy got on his horse and galloped off.
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(44)

(46)

(48)

312

viq  e=ts74, cwits’-in’-as ta=piph=a.
arrive to=this.v1y hand.over-pIR-fERG PET=paper=Ex1g

When he arrived there he handed over the letter.

nilh  s=qelilim’=s i=sdm7=a,

tod NMLZ=hurry=gposy PIDET=white.person=EXIg
qelilim’=wit.
hurry=gp1]

Then the white folks hurried, they hurried.

t'iq i=cw7{t=a, k’win‘k’'wen=4s=k’a

arrive  PIDET=many=EX1§ [RED*how.many=fsBJV]=EPIq
ku=game  warden.

pET=game warden

Many came, a whole bunch of game wardens.

ats’x-enwa[lh]-en-itas liku7
get.seen-go.to-DIR-fPIERG at+there INVIY
kw=s=Sp’aoy, Frank Gott, nilh

PET=NMLZ=Sp’aoy[Frank.Gott] Frank Gott [cof
s=qus-cit-itas.
RAMZ=shoot {NTHFIERG
They expected to find Frank Gott there, and they shot him.

tsicw ta=truck=a, lham’-4n-itas,
get.there  PET=truck=Ex1y put.into-pPIR-fPIERG
lham’-4n-itas ldku7.

put.into-DIR-JPI.ERG at+there [NVI§

A truck came, they put him in it, they put him in there.



Frank Gott

(49)

(s0)

(s1)

(52)

nilh...  doy=t’u7 kw=s=tsicw=s
tol  NEG=ExXCI [PET=NMLZ=get.there=gposy
ku=_Lytton=a, nilh=ti7 Kik’t7-dm  wa7
pPET=Lytton=FX1§ [cOoP=thaty1 close-most
hospital.
hospital

They didn’t get to Lytton, it’s the nearest place with a hospital.

nilh s=zuqw=s 14ti7 tsaw’ tswa.
ol NMLZ=die=gposy at+therey1§ DPET+slave+EXIY
So the poor fellow died there.

nilh 47 (Ih lhus...)
cod at+thereyiy [coMy  [cCOMB+IPFV+ESBTY
lh=lep’=wit=as ts'fla
[coMB=get.buried=gp1]=fsB7V] like
s-UqwW-aw’s.

STAT-together-collective
They kind of got buried together (Frank Gott and Frank Perry).

nilh 47, sqwe qwel’-min-an ti7. I=ts7a
con that[vid tell{CRED-RLTSGERG that[y1g at=this[vig
ku... (lad7 ku...) 1447 ku=time,

DET at+there i1y at+there v PET=time
[w]éna7, s-1933.
whatwas.it [NMLZ-1933

That’s it, what I've told a story about. The time when this hap-
pened was in, when was it? 1933.
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(53)

(54)

(ss)

314

September=k’a  pinani7.
September=[EP1g at.that.time

Must’ve been September at that time.

nki7=as kéla7=tu7 wa7 n-lig'wts=t’u7 s=sdq’ulh
where=ffB]V first=EXC1] [PFV Lod-open=EXCI NMLZ=half
September=ha,  lati7 ku=time.

September=EX1q at+there[vi§ [DET=time
It was halfway through September when the hunting season was
opened.
a7 lh=xil-em=as 4d7.
to+therevly [coMB=doMID=RsB]Y to+therevig
That’s when that happened.



CHAPTER 14

Zuqwsas nelh wa7 sit.stem na qvla
ucwalmicw
The Man Who Murdered the Campers

4.1  English (as told by Sam Mitchell himself)

I’ll start on another story that... This fellow was supposed to be hung, too.
This fellow was known amongst the Indians, he was bad. That’s all he does
is, all he had in his head was to kill.

And he come along, and there was a family camped near the river some
place. These couple, they had three girls and themselves. So they made a
fire near the, near the river on a bench where this wood... That’s the way
the old Indians used to travel, there wherever they stopped they make a fire
and camp. This could be in the summertime. And this fellow happened
to peep over from the hill on the... And these people were laying facing the
fire, but the fire was out, just about down, a few sparks.

And the whole five of them were laying... in my language we call it
q’aq’aq’m’ekst, well, it’s like a spoon, they laying one way together. When
he’s... when he fired a shot right on the man’s chest, and the bullet went
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right through the four of them. And the fifth one, the youngest girl on the
far side, the bullet landed on her chest, but it didn’t go in, but it was there.

And that was the man that was supposed to be also hung here in Lil-
looet. I heard that from my own dad who told about this story.
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4.2 St’at’imcets

Nilh ts7a ku dewalmicw... Il repeat it now in Indian. Qvl ku7 ti7 ts7a
ku dcwalmicw, lta nqwal’uttenlhkilha wa? tstnitas nk’san’k. Tsukw t'u7
ku stem’tétem’s ku swat, stam’ t'u7 kéti7, tsetsukwa kapihs hem’s tu7 lati7
t'u7 lhzuqwstum’ihas, kwancitsihas.

Nilh malh t'u7 skalhexwmindsa iz4 14ti7 i tsitcwemd k’a. Wa7 k’a wi7
kiti7 kentikem k’a t’'u7 swas cwilemmin, kan kw skakwansasa. Nilh t’u7
ti7 tsetsikwa t'u7 wa7 szdytens kwas ziiqwsas ku swat t'u7, stim’as tu7.
Kalhexwmindsa izd kwelh ucwalmicw iz, k’a wé7wit esldp’ ku stdm’as. Nilh
t'u7 squscitas.

Nisileslekstwit lkw7a nq’dqem’ekstwal’ ta lil’tem’a sqaycw, nilh et7a
slha7 14ti7 t.sem74msa, lhliti7 i stsmédl’ttha ku dw’ta.  Tikem k’a
t'u7 nqaqaqem’ekstwal’wit. Nilh u7 s7ulhcws ta seqwsmal’tsa lhélta
sqdtsez7a ekw74 t.sem74msa t’u ptak et7a lki n74n’wasa smelhmém’lhats,
smelhmulhats. Tsicw éta s7alelna7ul’a, lts7a dku7 ta tixwatssa, kwtékwtsa
lhkak’47asa ta qwsmal’tsa, nilh Cu7 scw7aoys kw ska7dlhcwsa.

Nilh ku7 miélh ti7 elh cuz’ cwak ti7 aylh... i cwidkas t'u7, wa7 t’u7
méwal’. Nilh tu7 s74ts’xenas i slalil’tem’sa kw spldni wa7 xwayt muta7
keckécsa. Nilh ti7 sqwal’. Wa7 ti7 ta qwsmal’tsa esxélq lts7a ta tixwatssa, ta
kwtékwtsa.

Nilh ti7 na nsqitsez7a sqwéqwel’s. Sqweqwel’'minas, wa7 tsut, i kwé-
nenstum, i kwénemas aylh. Nilh ti7, nilh ti7 t’it law, l4ti7 t’'u7 wa7 lts7a Lil-
looeta, ti7 ku sqaycw. Qvl k’a 47 ti7 ku tewalmicw. Ati7 lhtsem’pis ti7
ku sqwéqwel’, ti7 ta wa7 law liti7 Hangman’s Tree. Ati7 Ih74dw’tas kwas
zewitenan ku stexw kw ntsutdnwas, cw7it t'u7 wa7 siwentsas kwas skd-
nas swendcws t'u7. T’u7 stexwkan t'u7 qan’imens, lhélki skelkékel7a wa7
sqwéqwel’ ku n74n’was ku law 14ti7.
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4.3 English (Direct Translation)

There was this Indian... I'll repeat it now in Indian. They say this Indian
was bad, in our language they call it nk’san’k. Just for someone’s clothing,
anything at all, even just their coat, he’d kill you and take it oft you.

And so it was that he came upon some people that must have been
camping. He must have been looking all over for them, so he could get
them. That’s all he ever did, he’'d kill anyone for anything. He came upon
these Indians, and they must’ve had blankets or something. So he shot
them.

There were five of them sleeping belly-to-back, the elder man and his
wife were close together, and their children were behind. They must have
all been lying belly-to-back with one another. The bullet entered the father,
went into his wife, and passed right through the two girls. The bullet went
into the youngest one’s chest, into the hollow of her breastbone where it
got stuck, but it never got in.

And then she began to wake up... and when she woke up, she was still
alive. She saw that her parents and her older sisters were all dead. That’s
the story. That bullet was still lodged in her chest, in the hollow of her
breastbone.

That was my father’s story. He was told that, he said, when the mur-
derer was captured, when they gothim. That man also gothungin Lillooet.
He must’ve been a bad person. That’s where the story ends, when the man
got hung at Hangman’s Tree. Last I knew was that it was true, I think; a
lot of people asked me about it, whether it was true. But I definitely heard
from the elders who said that there were two people that were hung there.
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|44 Interlinear Gloss

(1) nilh ts7a ku=7tcwalmicw... LIl repeat it now
con thisy1§ DET=indigenous.person T'll repeat it now

in Indian.

in Indian

There was this Indian... I'll repeat it now in Indian.

(2) qul=ku7=ti7 ts7a ku=7tcwalmicw,
bad=QUoT=thatj1y thisy1§ PET=indigenous.person
|=ta=n-qwal’ut-ten-lhkalh=a wa7
at=pET=Lod-speak-INg{p1lposg=Ex1q  [PFV]
tstin-itas n-k’s-an’k.

say+DIRBPI.ERG [L0d-bad-inside

They say this Indian was bad, in our language they call it nk’san’k
(‘high-tempered, gets mad easily’).

(3) tsukw=t'u7  ku=s... stem’tétem’s  ku=swit,
finish-Exel] BER-RWiZ clothing 0% pEi-who
stam’=t’u7 k4ti7, tsetstkwa
what=EXcC1]  around+there[vI§  just
kapuh-s=hém’=s=t’u7 ! l4ti7=tu7

coatfpos§=ANTI=gposs=EXCI| at+there[vid=fxcI|
lh=zuqw-s-tum’i-has,
Eon=dic-EAT3 i r} g
kwan-ci[t]-tsi-has.
take N QP ERG

Just for someone’s clothing, anything at all, even just their coat,

he’d kill you and take it oft you.
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(4) ni[lh]=malh=tu7

Fo-RproRT=FxC]

s=ka-lhexw-min-4s-a izd
NMLZ=[cIRd-come.up.suddenly-RLT-HERGCIR] thesev1g
14ti7 i=tsitcw-em=4=k’a.

at+there[y1§ PIPET=house-MID=EX13=EPIg

And so it was that he came upon some people that must have been

camping.
(s) wa7=ka=wi7 kiti7 ken-takem=k’4=t'u7
[PFV]=EPI1§=EMPH around+there[vi§ around-all=EPId=ExcCI|
swas cwil’-em-min,
INMLZ+[PFV[+BPOSY look.for-MIDHRLT|
(kwas...) kan

DETHNMLZHPFV+BPOSsY whether

kw=s=ka-kwin-s-as-a.
PET=NMLZ=[cIRd-take-CAUI-FERG-CIR]

He must have been looking all over for them, so he could get them.

'The co-occurrence of two 3rd person suffixes in kapuh-s=hém’=s=t"u7 is unex-
pected.
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(6)

(7)

(8)

nilh=tu7 ti7 tsetsukwa=t'u7  wa7
EOR-EXcl] thacf§  jusi—Xel
szdyten-s (kwas...)
doings-fposy  PET+NMLZ+[PFVi+gPoOsY
kwas zZ4qw-s-as

DPET+NMLZ+[PFV+fposy  dieCAUSHERG
ku=swit=t'u7, [ku]=stdim’=as=tu7.
PEf-who=EXCl] DETi-whar—fFBIV-EXc]

That’s all he ever did, he’d kill anyone for anything.

[ka]-lhexw-min-ds-a izd (n)
[c1IrRg-come.up.suddenlyRLIPERGICIRG  these. 1
kwelh=ucwalmicw(s) iz’, k’a
PIINVI§pET=indigenous.person  those V1
wi7=wit es=[s]lip’ ku=stdm’=as.

[PFVi=gP1] have=blankets [DET=what=pFB]V
He came upon these Indians, and they must’ve had blankets or
something.
nilh=t'u7  s=qus-cit-as.
[con=Exc1 NMLZ=shoot-IND-gERG

So he shot them.
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(9) n-tsil-tslekst=wit I=kw7a
Lod{rRED five=fp1] at=this [NV
n-q’4-q’*em’-ek-s-twal’ (i=s....)
Lod-join"lCRED*-backCAUS-RECH  PIDET=NMLZ
ta=lil'tem’=a sqaycw, nilh  e=t74d...
pPET=adult=fx1y man cog to=thatfvig
[s]-lha7 l4ti7
BTAT-close.together  at+there 1y
t=sem74m-s=a, lhl4ti7

pPET=wife-gpos§=Ex1y from+there V1
i=stsmal’t-i=ha
P1DET=childrengp1]pOsg=ExI19
ku=7iw’t=a.
VIS BET-behind BT
There were five of them sleeping belly-to-back, the elder man and
his wife were close together, and their children were behind.

(10) tikem=k’a=t'u7 n-q’a*q’aqem’-ek-s-twil’=wit.
all=EPIS=EXCI] [LOJ{REDjoin*CRED!-back{CAUS-RECH=}PI]

They must have all been lying belly-to-back with one another.
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(1) nilh=u7  s=7ulhcw=s ta=seqws-m-dl’ts=a
[cog=fxc1] NMLZ=enter=gposs [PET=shootMID-rock=EX1q
(lhel=ta...) lhel=[ta]=sqdtsez7=a e=kw74
from=pET from=pET=father=EX1§ to=thisNVI]

t=sem74m-s=a tu  ptak e=t7u
pPET=wife-gpos§=EX1y until passed.by to=that[v1g
I=ki=n-74n’was=a smelh*mé*m’lhats,
at=pI PET=L0d-two=EXI§ [[RED'woman‘CRED"
smelh*mulhats.
[fRED*woman

The bullet entered the father, went into his wife, and passed right
through the two girls.

(12) tsicw e=ta=s7al*el*'na[7]-7al’=a,
get.there  to=pPET=youngCRED!*-most=EXIY
l=ts7a iku7 ta=tdxwats-s=a,
at=thisv1§ to+there [NVI§ PET=chestfposg=Ex1g
kwtékwt-s=a (Ih...)

hollow.of.breastbonefposg=Ex1y [comy
lh=ka-k’47=as-a
oNTErRd-get.stuck-BFTHEIRG
ta=qws-m-dl’ts=a,
DPET=shoot-MID-rock=EX1g
nilh=t'u7 s=CcwW7a0y=s
[COR=EXCI| |NMLZ=NEG=fPOSY
kw=s=ka-7alhcw=s-a.
PET=NMLZ=[CIRd-enter=gPoss-CIRd
The bullet went into the youngest one’s chest, into the hollow of
her breastbone where it got stuck, but it never got in.
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(13)

(14)

(15)

nilh=ku7=mdlh=ti7 elh cuz’ cwak
coB=QuoT=aADHORT=that[vi§ and.then going.to get.woken
ti7 aylh... i=cwik=as t'u7,

thatvi§ then  whenpAsT=getwoken=fsB]V
wa7=t'u7  méwal’.
PF-EXC] alive
And then she began to wake up... and when she woke up, she was

still alive.

nilh=tu7 s=74ts’x-en-as
EOT-EXC  IZ-getscon DIHERG
i=slalil’tem’-s=a
PIET-parents J053-EXT
kw=s=plin=i wa7  xwayt
BET-RATZ-alrcady-FFI0SS perish
muta7 [i]=keckéc-s=a.’
and  PBET-sicers FOSI-EXTS
When she woke up still alive, she saw that her parents and her older
sisters were all dead.

nilh=ti7 sqwal’.
[coB=that1g report
That’s the story.
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(16)

(17)

(18)

wa7  t7 ta=qws-m-al’ts=a
be thatjyiy  PET=shootMID-rock=Ex1y
es-x¢lq I=ts7a

STATHit.into.something at=this.['1§
ta=tdxwats-s=a,
DET=chest-fposd=EX19

ta=kwtékwt-s=a

pPET=hollow.of.breastbonefposg=Ex1g

Thatbullet was still lodged in her chest, in the hollow of her breast-
bone.

nilh=ti7 na=n-sqdtsez’7=a

Fol-thacfTy  RBIDET-aFOSH father=EXTg
sqwéqweel’...-s.
el ERED 053

That was my father’s story.

sqweqwel’-min-as, wa7 tsut,
telllCRED*RLTBERG [lPFV] say
i.. kwin*en-s-tum,
when pasT take’FREDHCAUS-BpASY
i=kwin-em=as aylh.
when PAsT=take+DIR-fPASS=fsB]V then
He was told that, he said, when he [the murderer] was captured,
when they got him.
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(19)

(21)
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nilh=ti7, nilh=ti7 t'it law,
coB=thatjiy [coB=thatjviy also  get.hung
l4ti7=tu7 wa7 l=ts7a Lillooet=a,
at+there VI§=EXCI] be  at=thisy1 Lillooet=EXIg
ti7 ku=sqdycw.

thaty1§ pPET=man

That man also got hung in Lillooet.

qvl=k’a=t'a7=ti7 ku=7tcwalmicw.
bad=EpP1g§=FxXci]=thaty1§ PET=indigenous.person

He must’ve been a bad person.

a7 lh=tsem’p=ds ti7
to+there vy  [coMP=get.finished=ffB]Y  thatig
ku=sqwé-qwrel’, t7 ta=wa7=ldw
DET=tellCRED}*  that[vl§ PET=[PFV=get.hung
14ti7 Hangman’s Tree.
at+there 1§ Hangman’s Tree

That’s where the story ends, when the man got hung at Hangman’s

Tree.
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(22) a7 lh=74w’t=as kwas
to+there vl [coMB=behind=psBjY DET+HNMLZA+[PFV+gPOss
zewdt-en-an ku=stéxw  (kw=s...)
be.known BIHEGERG  pEf-real  PET-RLZ
kw=n-tsut-4nwas, cw7{t=t"u7 wa7
PET-Eod-say-inside  many=EXc
sdw-en-ts-as kwas
ask-DIRG[0BJ-ERG PET+HNMLZ+HPFV+Poss
s-kdn=as

T whether—55
s=wendcw=s=t"u’.

Last I knew was that it was true, I think; a lot of people asked me
about it, whether it was true.

(23) tu’ stexw=kdn=c'u7 gan’im-ens,
but real=fsd.sBj=EXCI| hear-pIR
lhel=[ki]=skel*ké-keel7=a wa7  sqwéqweel’
from=p1] pET=TREDfirstCRED]*=EX1§ [PFY tellCRED
ku=n-74n’was ku=liw 14¢i7.

pPET=Lod-two PET=get.hung at+there[vig

But I definitely heard from the elders who said there were two peo-
ple that were hung there.
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CHAPTER I§

| n7icwcwez’minemas ta
qg'wexq'wixusa ku Laoyam

The Woman who Mistook a Black Man for
the Devil

I5.1 English (as told by Sam Mitchell himself)

I’'m gonna tell another story about when the, well, I'll have to go back to
when the missionaries come, when the priests come. They had pictures
about the angels with the wings, and then The Devil with horns and tails
and black.

So, anyways, the Indians up here, they never seen such people as
coloured people, you see. But when the miners went through, that is the
white man miners, then the Chinamans, then there was one or... a few
coloured people went through.

And this Indian women, it’s further up from here, it’s about, we’ll say
about 6o or 75 miles north of this town, little town of Lillooet, and this
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woman, well, her people start to learn how to mine. So they seen how these
white people were mining.

So she stayed in a camp and she was cooking, making bannock, and
[s]he seen this person come along. And it was black. And the only thing
she ever seen in pictures was supposed to be The Devil with the... black,
coloured, well, it’ll be coloured people, but with horns, but this one didn’t
have no horns on, or a tail. So, when she seen this she thought sure, in this
language, this Shuswap language, they call it tseq’emin’ten. In my language,
we call it laoydm, well, that’s The Devil.

So, she kneeled down and she prayed and prayed and prayed and
prayed. She learned, already learned how to pray. She looked around, this
man was still sitting there, the other side of the fire. And she prayed again,
and prayed again. She thought, sure, that was The Devil. And this man
was still there. Well, she thought on her prayer she was gonna get rid of this
man she thought, which she thought was The Devil. After awhile, this man
turned around and told her, he says, “You alright?” He says, “You can pray,
that’s good.”[|

That’s the way this, how stupid this Indian woman was and she thought
the colored people were all the devils. And this story was true and has been
told down for years and years and everybody laughs about it.

!Sam Mitchell told the English material following this paragraph after giving his
St’at’imcets rendition.
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5.2 St’at’'imcets

Now I'm gonna tell it in Indian. And, in my language, Ill mix the
Shuswap language in it because that’s the words she used, and... Wa7 ku7
t'u7 47 cuz’ q’'wel’tsenantsut.

Nilh t'u7 s74ts’xenas, ts7as liti7 ta ucwalmicwa, t'u7 stexw t'u7
q'wexq'wix. Nilh ku7 tu7 stsuts, that’s the Shuswap langnage, ri
tseq’emin’ten. Tsukw t'u7 ti7 wa7 4ts’xenas lki piktsha ku laoydm kwa
q'wexq'wix, esqwel'qwél’acken. Ri tseq’emin’ten, the Shuswap language,
tseq’emin’ten, that’s a laoyam.

So she kneeled and, ob, nilh ku7 scit’ilqgam’s, nilh sldmcals. Ld::mcal
ku7. Kakvlsasd ku7, wa7 t'u7 l4ti7 smitsa7q ta wa7 tstinas kw slaoydm.
Nik’enas 14ti7 sldimecals, nilh ’'u7 snilh t'u7 muta7 14ti7 sl4::mcals. Kakvlsasi
ku7, wa::7 €u7 liti7. Nilh ku7 t'u7 stsinems, “Stexwkicw t'u7 4dma,
wi7lhkacw ldimcal.” K’4malh wa7 snilh ntsutinwas kwas ti7 nilh ta wi7
dts’xenas lki piktsha: wa7 laoydm, tsukw t’u7 t.s7{cwa7sa sqwél’acken.

Tsukw wa7 aylh lit7 nilh st’igi qelhcdl i wa7 ts'dw'cal. Wa7 ti7
lati7. Nilh t'u7 s7um’enitas. I sqiyqeycwa, wa7 ti7 zewatenitas stim’as,
ucwalmicw ti7, tu7 tsukw t'u7 tsa q'wexq’wixus. Ts7a ta dmha smulhats,
tsukw t'u7 wa7 zewdtenas ku wa7 dts’xenas ku piktsa kwas q’'wexq'wixus
ku laoydm. Tseq’emin’ten in the Shuswap language.

T.swa7 ti7 14ti7 aylh nilh t'u7 ’iq i sqdyqeycwa, nilh t'u7 s7um’enitas ku
s7ilhens, tstikwal’ts t’u7, nilh Cu7 tu7 sqwatsitss, elh cuz’ aylh lti7 sqwe-
qwel’minas i szdytensa, ts7a ta smadlhatsa. Tsut, “I kel74n 4ts’xen, tsttkan
47 ti7 kw snilhts wendcw ku wa7 tstnitas wa7 tseq’emin’ten,” that’s
laoyam, “nilh lts7dwna nslimcal. K’winas k’a kw stsem’psin kw nslamcal
kwas t'u7 wa7 ldti7 nxwesxwisana7mintsas. Tstntsas aylh, ‘Amalhkacw,
wa7lhkacw lamcal.””
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15.3 English (Direct Translation)

Now I'm gonna tell it in Indian. And, in my language, Ill mix the
Shuswap language in it because that’s the words she used, and... There
was this woman, she was going to cook something for herself.

Then she saw a person coming, and he was really black. So she thought
it was the Devil, that’s 7i tseq’emin’ten in the Shuswap language. The only
thing that she had seen in the pictures that was black and had horns was the
Devil. Ri tseq’emin’ten in the Shuswap language, tseq’emin’ten, that’s a
laoyam.

So she kneeled down and prayed. She prayed hard. She glanced over
and he was still sitting there, the one she thought was the Devil. She
changed her prayers and she prayed hard again. She glanced over again and
he was still there. He just told her, “You’re really good, you’re praying.” But
she thought that he was the one she had seen in pictures: he was the Devil,
only without any horns.

Then the people who were panning for gold around there finished up
and came to put their stuff away. And there he was. So they gave him some-
thing to eat. The men knew what he was, he was a person, but it was just
that he had a black face. But this good woman, the only thing she knew with
a black face from the pictures was the Devil. Tseq’emin’ten in the Shuswap
language.

Since he was there when the men came, they gave him some of their
food, and when he finished it, he left, and then this woman started telling
them what happened to her. She said, “When I first saw him, I thought for
sure that he was what they call the Devil, so I prayed. I finished my prayers a
few times, but he was still there smiling at me. Finally he said, “You’re good,

> »

you’re praying.
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15.4
(1)

(2)

)

(4)

Interlinear Gloss

Now I'm gonna tell it in Indian. And, in my language, I'll
mix the Shuswap language in it because that’s the words she used,
and...

wé7=ku7=t'u7 l4ti7 (cuz’...) cuz

[PFV=RQUOT=EXCI] at+thereyI1§ going.to going.to
q’wel-tsen-an-tsut.
get.cooked-mouth-PIR-REFI|

There was this woman, she was going to cook something for her-

self.

nilh=t'u7  s=7its’x-en-as, ts7as  lati7
Con=Excy] NMLZ=get.scenDIR-JERG come at+there. 1§
ta=7ucwalmicw=a, tu’ stéxw=t'u7
pET=indigenous.person=EX1g real=ExcI]
q’'wex*q wix.
fREDblack

Then she saw a person coming, and he was really black.

nilh=ku7=tu7 s=tsut=s, that’s the Shuswap
con=QuoT=Exc1] NMLZ=say=fposy that’s the Shuswap
language, ri  tseq’emin’ten.’
language devil
So she thought it was the Devil, that’s 7z tseq’emin’ten in the
Shuswap language.

*The transcription of 7i tseq’emin’ten is courtesy of Marianne Ignace (p.c.), cf.
\/tsq’ “cast ofP in Kuipers (1983). Sam Mitchell pronounces Scwapmecets /ts/ as retracted

fs/.
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(s) tsukw=t’u7 ti[7] wa7  dts’x-en-as
finish=fxc1]  thatv1g get.seen-DIR-PERG
I=ki=piktsh=a (kwa...) ku=laoyim
at=PI1 pET=picture=EX1§ DPET+HPFY [DPET=devil
kwa=q'wex*q'wix, es=[s]qwel*qwial’acken.

PET+PFv=REDblack have=REG-horn

The only thing that she had seen in the pictures that was black and

had horns was the Devil.

(6) ri  tseq'emin’ten, the Shuswap language, tseq’emin’ten,

devil the Shuswap language devil

that’s a laoydm.
that’s a devil

Ri tseq’emin’ten in the Shuswap language, tseq’emin’ten, that’s a

laoydam.

(7) so she kneeled and, obh, nilh=ku7
so she kneeled and oh con=RuoT
s=cit’il-q-am’=[s], nilh
NMLZ=kneel-bottomMID=fposy  [coy
s=ldm-cal=s.
RSME7=pray ECT-§Fos3
So she kneeled down and prayed.

(8) l4::m-cal=ku7.
prayAcT=RQuUoT
She prayed hard.
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(9)

(10)

(1)

(12)

ka-kvl-s-as-d=ku7, wi7=t'u7
cird-glancefcaudfErRG{CIRd=lQUuoT  [PFV=ExcI|
14¢i7 s-mitsa7q ta=wa7=tsiin-as

at+there[V1§ [FTAT-sit  PET= =say+DIR-BERG
kw=s=laoyim.
PET-fiNLE=devil
She glanced over and he was still sitting there, the one she thought
was the Devil.

ndk’-en-as 14¢i7
get.changed-DIRBERG at+there 1§
[ku]=s-ldm-cal-s, nilh=t’u7
DET=NMLZ-pray AcTfposy  om=ExcT]
snilh=t’u7 muta7  l4ti7

BsG.INDER=EXCI]  again at+there 1§
s=l4::m-cal=s.
NMLZ=pray-{acT=fposq
She changed her prayers and she prayed hard again.
ka-kvl-s-as-4=ku?7, wian7=tu7 l4ti7.
[cird-glance{CAUS-BERGHCIRG=QUOT be=ExcCI] at+there V1

She glanced over again and he was still there.

nilh=ku7=tu7 s=tsin-em=s,’

[coB=RuoT=Excl NMLZ=say+PIRBPAss=fposs
“stexw=kdcw=t'u7 4ma, wi7=lhkacw lim-cal.”
real=p[sg.BJ=ExXC1] good [PFVi=pd[B] pray-AcT

He just told her, “You’re really good, you’re praying.”
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(13) kK’dmalh  wa7 snilh n-tsut-dnwas
however BSGINDER  [Lod-say-inside
kwas ti7
PETHNMLZHPFV+BPOSsY that.v1g
nilh ta=wa7=4ts’x-en-as
Eof  BER-PF-get.scen DIRHEERG
I=ki=piktsh=a: wa7
sc~FLBET-picture—ESTy
laoyam, tsukw=t"u7
devil finish=Exc1]

t=s=7i[c]wa7=s=a
BET-FATZ-without-fFoS3-EXTS
s=[s]qwdl’acken.
have=horn

But she thought that he was the one she had seen in pictures: he
was the Devil, only without any horns.

(14) tsukw wa7 aylh 147 nilh [s]=tiq=i
finish then at+there 1§ [col NMLZ=arrive=fp1l[posg
qelh-[c]al i=wa7=ts’dw’-cal.

get.covered.up{aCT PIPET=fPFV]=get.washed-ACT]
Then the people who were panning for gold around there finished

up and came to put their stuff away.

(15) wa7 ti7 l4ti7.
be  that[1id at+thereig

And there he was.

*The form sts#nems is unusual since possessive inflection does not usually co-occur

on a verb with passive suffixes (Davis, 200G).
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(16)

(17)

(18)

(19)

nilh=tu7  s=7um’-en-itas.
For-Excl] Fiiz-be.givenDIRHEFILER]

So they gave him something (to eat).

i=sqdy*qeycw=a, wa7 ti7
PIDET=TRED'man=Fx1y  [PFV that[v1g
zewat-en-itas stdm’=as,
be.known-pI1R-fp1lER]G what=gsB]1
ucwalmicw=ti7, tu’7 tsukw=t'u7
indigenous.person=that[vi§ but finish=FxcI|
tsa q'wex*q'wix-us.

DET+NMLZ+[PFV+EXIY [TREDblack-face
The men knew what he was, he was a person, but it was just that

he had a black face.

ts7a [ta]=dmh=a smulhats=(a), tsukw=tu7
this[viy [PET=good=Ex1§ woman=Ex1§ finish=ExcI|
wa7  zewdit-en-as ku=wa7=4ts’x-en-as
beknown BTRERG PET-FPFYi-get.sccn PTRHGERG
ku=piktsa kwas
DET=picture  DETHNMLZ+[PFV+gPOSS
q'wexq'wix-us  ku=laoydm.
TREDblack-face PET=devil
But this good woman, the only thing she knew with a black face
from the pictures was the Devil.

tseq’emin’ten in the Shuswap language.
devil in the shuswap language

Iseq’emin’ten in the Shuswap language.
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(20) t=s=wd7=ti7 l4ti7 aylh  nilh=t’u7
PET=NMLZ=be=that{v1§ at+therefvi§ then [cop=ExcI|
t'iq i=sqdy*qeycw=a, nilh=tu7
arrive  POPET-FREDman—EXS  [Fof-EXcy
s=74m’-en-itas ku=s7ilhen-s,
RMIZ-be.given PIHEFLERG  BET-food 0SS
tsukw-al’ts=t’u7, nilh=t'u7=tu7

finish-food=FXC1]  [EOR-EXCI-REM
S=qWatsats=s...

Since he was there when the men came, they gave him some of their

food, and when he finished it, he left...

(21) ...elh cuz’ aylh  ladi7 sqwe qweel’-min-as
and.then going.to then at+there[v1§ tellCRED!-RLTHER]
i=szdyten-s=a, ts7a ta=smulhats=a.

P1DET=doingsfposg=FExX1g this 1§ PET=woman=EXIg

...and then this woman started telling them what happened to her.
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(22) tsut, “i=kel7=dn ts’x-en,
say when pasT=first=fsdsB]V|  get.secen{DIR
tsut=kan=t"47=ti7 kw=s=nilh=ts

say=lfs G fBJ=EXCI=that[y1§ PET=NMLZ=[cof=fposq
wendcw ku=wa7=tstin-itas

tue  DEI-ERsay b 1 ERG

wa7 tseq’emin’ten,”  that’s
devil that’s

laoydm, “nilh  l=ts74-wna
devil cog  at=thisjig-precisely
n=s=ldm-cal.”
i G poss=NMLZ=pray-AcT]
She said, “When I first saw him, I thought for sure that he was what
they call the Devil, so I prayed.”

(23) “kK’'win=as=k’a
how.many=fsB]Vi=[EP1
kw=s=tsem’p-s-in
PET-fiNTz=ge finished EAUH O ERG
kw=n=s=l4m-cal

PET=f5d Pos§=NMLZ=pray-acT]

kwds=t'u7
DET+NMLZHIPFV+BPOSS=EXCI/
wa7 14¢i7

be at+there V1§
n-xwes*xwis-an[a7 ]-min-ts-as.”
EocHFREDsmile-car R G6THERG

“I finished my prayers a few times, but he was still there smiling at

»

me.

339



| n7icwecwez’minemas ta q'wexq'wixusa ku Laoyam

(24) “tstin-ts-as aylh, ‘4dma=lhkacw, wd7=lhkacw
say+DPIR-sGoBJERG then good=pkG k8] [PFV=pfsd.sB]
ldim-cal.”
pray-acT
“Finally he said, “You’re good, you’re praying.”’

2]
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A

ABS

ACT

ADHORT

ANTI

APPL

AUT

CAUS

CIRC

COLL

COMP

Ccor

CRED

first person
second person
third person
paragogic “a”
absent

active intransitivizer
adhortative
antithetical

applicative transitivizer

autonomous
intransitivizer
causative transitivizer

circumstantial modal
collective
complementizer
copula

consonant
reduplication

DET
DIR
DIST
EMPH
EPIS
ERG
EST
EXCL
EXIS
FRED
FUT
IMP
IMPF
INCH
IND
INDEP
INS

INTJ
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Abbreviations

determiner

directive transitivizer
distal

emphatic

epistemic modal
ergative

established

exclusive
assertion-of-existence
final reduplication
future

imperative
imperfective
inchoative

indirective applicative
independent pronoun
instrumental

interjection



INVIS
IPFV
IRED
IRR
LOC
MID
NEG
NMLZ
NTS
OBJ
OBL
oocC
PASS
PAST
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invisible
imperfective

initial reduplication
irrealis

locative

middle intransitivizer
negative
nominalizer
non-topical subject
object

oblique
out-of-control
passive

past tense marker

PL
POSS

QUOT
RECP
REFL
REM
RLT
SBJ
SBJV
SG
STAT
TRED
VIS

plural

possessive
question
quotative
reciprocal

reflexive

remote in time
relational applicative
subject
subjunctive
singular

stative

total reduplication

visible



Appendix Il
Conversion chart from
van Eijk orthography to

Americanist Phonemic Alphabet

Notes on the version of the van Eijk orthography employed here:

(i) Where a sequence of two adjacent consonants may be confused with
a digraph (a single sound represented by a sequence of two letters),
a period is inserted between them. Thus we have c.walh ‘road’ ver-
sus cwak ‘get woken’, t’iq.wit ‘they arrived’ versus ¢’ 1gwt ‘fire crack-
les’, ts’il. hal’gwem’ ‘resembling’ versus ts’elhts’alh ‘cool’, and stsut.s
‘what someone says’ versus ts#tsin ‘mouth’.

(if) Underlined consonants are retracted, that is, produced with the
tongue root pulled back and down.

(iii) Non-retracted s is pronounced like the sh in ‘ship’, retracted s like
the s in ‘sip’; non-retracted ts is pronounced like the ¢ in ‘catch’,
retracted £s like the £s in ‘cats’.

(iv) Vowels may also be retracted: the system here recognizes four under-
lying plain vowels (4, e, i, #) and four retracted vowels (a0, v, ii, 0).
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Table 1: Conversion chart, van Eijk to Americanist Phonemic Alphabet

van Eijk APA. van Eijk APA.
p p q q
p’ p q q
m m qw q"
m’ h qw q"
t t X X
ts c XW x"
ts ¢ g ¢
ts’ ¢ g ¢
t’ ¢ gw i
s N gw Gw
s s w w
n n w N4
n’ n y y
¢ ¥ y j
lh { z z
l | 7 z
r i h h
1 1 7 ?
r 1 a a
k k a0 a
' k e 3
kw k" v B
k'w k¥ i i
c X i i
W X" u u
r y o u
¢ i
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(v)

(vi)

(vii)

Vowels are automatically retracted immediately before back conso-
nants (g, ¢, qw, g’'w, X, XW, g, gW, g, g'w), and to a lesser extent im-
mediately afterwards; non-retracted vowels are written in these envi-
ronments, since retraction is predictable. Thus we write ¢z rather
than t’iiq for ‘arrive here’, even though the vowel is pronounced as
1.

The glottal stop (7) is ‘transparent’ to retraction - that is, for the pur-
poses of retraction, we treat it as though it wasn’t there. Thus we
write 72/i7x rather than #n/ii7x for ‘water clears up’, even though the
vowel is pronounced as 7.

Particularly in clitics and suffixes, schwa (e) is frequently deleted.
Thus kelh ‘will, might’ is often pronounced klh, and t’elh ‘at
this/that moment in time’ is often pronounced ¢’h. By conven-
tion, the schwa is uniformly represented in these forms within the
St’at’imcets-only versions. When not pronounced, the schwa is not
represented in these forms within the Interlinear Gloss versions.
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